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Introduction

Malcolm H. Murfett

Devising any kind of operational strategy to cope with the turbulent
years of the twentieth century was never going to be an easy undertaking
and the British found this out to their cost both before and after World
War II. It’s easy enough to be an armchair critic — particularly after the
fact — but policymakers are neither similarly placed nor blessed with
the inestimable advantages of hindsight, so they must plot their future
moves more in hope than certainty of success. This volume is devoted to
reviewing the complexity of this decision-making process and showing
why it’s relatively easy for states to lose their way as they grope for a
safe passage forward when confronted by mounting international crises
and the antics of a few desperate men with considerable power at their
disposal. We often talk of the ‘fog of war’ without acknowledging that
there’s a peace-time equivalent. It’s a mistake to do so.

Professor David Dilks knows this only too well. His historical research
has spanned the challenging inter-war era and beyond through the
unremitting struggle of World War II to those dark and brooding years of
the Cold War. He understands the complexity of geostrategic affairs and
appreciates that these policy issues have often been rendered for press
and public consumption alike into the lowest common denominator.
Arguably, the most contentious example of this policy simplification
was seen in the case of appeasement. This was never a simple matter
of black and white, as it has often been portrayed. David Dilks saw it
as being far more nuanced than that. He has made this point repeat-
edly over his entire career, but his message that Chamberlain was not a
hopelessly naive politician has been drowned out by the political and
historical clamour that vilified the prime minister for trusting Hitler for
so long when others, notably Churchill and Eden, were far swifter in
rejecting all that the Austro-German dictator stood for.
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This volume has been written as a tribute to Professor Dilks. By no
means all the contributors (former students and colleagues of David'’s)
are as sympathetic to Chamberlain as he is, but we all acknowledge that
far too often historical issues are depicted as inevitable (when they are
not) and obviously apparent from the outset to anyone with a degree
of intelligence (ditto). It’s our hope that this volume will capture the
difficulties that British policymakers faced in trying to cope with some
of the more intractable issues that arose both before and after World War
II and which legitimately gave them such cause for concern.

Antony Best opens this volume with a fascinating essay on the British
Empire’s changing image of East Asia from the beginning of the twenti-
eth century to the outbreak of the Pacific War in 1941. From a negative
impression of a weak and feckless China in 1900, the British began to
form a more nuanced and sympathetic opinion of the former ‘Mid-
dle Kingdom’ by the early 1930s, seeing it as a victim of bludgeoning
imperialist forces. By the same token the British attitude to the Japanese
went in the opposite direction. From hailing the latter as a dynamic
state that had integrated modern Western ideas in an Oriental setting
and welcoming it as an ally in 1902, the British Empire’s relationship
with Japan began to cool appreciably during World War I and in the
years leading up to the Washington Conference of 1921-22. A sense of
disillusionment grew once it became clear that the Japanese had every
intention of becoming a bold player in the region with a blue-water
navy that couldn’t be relied upon to support British interests. This atti-
tude hardened perceptibly as the 1920s wore on and increased in fervour
once Taisho democracy was jettisoned in favour of a more militaristic
approach illustrated by the Mukden incident and the founding of the
puppet state of Manchukuo. Thereafter, the Japanese were seen as a pow-
erful regional adversary and with good reason in London and the other
Commonwealth capitals.

From the chaos and enmity of World War I and the baleful conse-
quences of that tragic event culminating in the Ruhr invasion and the
wretchedness of hyperinflation, came a kind of short term political sal-
vation in the shape of the Locarno agreement. Fashioning a political
understanding linking the British, French and Germans in 1925 was
a work of diplomatic art since the prospects of gaining such an out-
come were far from serene. No wonder it was dubbed a ‘honeymoon’ by
some expansive commentators, while even dourer spirits were inclined
to see it as a welcome return to normalcy. Unfortunately, an enduring
European love affair it was not and once the rigours of the Great Depres-
sion descended upon the continent after the Wall Street Crash the once
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heady relationship fell apart as the German banking system hovered on
the brink of bankruptcy and popular sympathy expressed at the bal-
lot box lurched towards embracing Hitlerian extremism and a swift end
to the Versailles Settlement. In such an intemperate atmosphere of sim-
mering distrust, it was hardly any wonder that a proposed political truce
between Berlin, London and Paris fell apart. Frank Magee’s chapter on
this ill-fated initiative vividly demonstrates just how far Locarno’s diplo-
matic compact was fraying around the edges by 1931. Europe was in
need of another Stresemann but what it got was Hitler. Locarno held no
magic hold over this naturalized German from across the Austrian bor-
der. It wouldn't be restored. It was seen by him as part of the illegitimate
Versailles system that ought to be swept away and with his march into
the Rhineland on 7 March 1936 it was.

By the time Franklin Roosevelt reached the White House in March
1933 the problems facing the British government were already daunting.
Stalwart allies were in remarkably short supply and potential enemies
were jostling for an ever increasing piece of the action on the world’s
stage. FDR may have been a patrician but he wasn’t one in thrall to the
British. Anglophile though he may have been, these tendencies were
kept in check by his recognition that the French weren’t entirely far
from the mark in describing the British as ‘perfidious Albion’. It was a
charge that Herbert Hoover’s Secretary of State Henry Stimson would
have echoed after his clashes with Sir John Simon, the British For-
eign Secretary, in the aftermath of the Mukden incident. As a result,
Anglo-American relations — often poor in the 1920s — had fallen upon
hard times yet again. Unfortunately, by the time Hoover’s presidential
bid for a second term had collapsed in the face of the worsening eco-
nomic slump, the Japanese had revealed what post-Taisho democracy
was going to be like and Hitler was newly installed in the Reichskanzlei
in Berlin and already using brutish methods to enforce his will over the
state. Apart from recognizing the danger posed by a resurgent Germany,
the National government in London was deeply divided on what to do
for the best in dealing with the awkward and unreliable Americans and
the strident and assertive Japanese. Peter Bell’s essay ‘Leaving us in the
Lurch’ captures this dilemma by illuminating the complex nature of
policymaking in 1933-34 as well as the growing influence of Neville
Chamberlain, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, upon those deliber-
ations in Whitehall between the ministers of MacDonald’s National
government and their chief advisors.

In his chapter on Chamberlain and the Continental Commitment,
George Peden underlines the important involvement of the much
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misunderstood and often reviled Chancellor and subsequent Prime
Minister on defence matters throughout the 1930s. As the economic
mouthpiece of the National government from 1931-37, Chamberlain
naturally had firm ideas on what Britain could afford militarily, but his
remit moved well beyond demanding ministerial economies of scale to
envelop strategic matters in which he was unschooled. If this should
have caused him pause for thought, it didn’t seem to do so. In fact,
he was quite strident in his beliefs. For instance, it became very evident
from the outset of his time at the Treasury that Chamberlain was uncon-
vinced that the army represented value for money and that Britain
should not make any continental commitment to send an expeditionary
force to the aid of France and Belgium in the event of war as it had
done at the outset of World War I. What may have been appropriate in
1914 looked overblown to him by the early to mid-1930s. Chamberlain
had become a Trenchard ally; he thought the former Chief of the Air
Staff made a lot of sense when it came to discussing the strategic use of
air power and the endearing idea for all accountants and economists
that the RAF provided more ‘bang for its buck’ than the other two
services did. Chamberlain was also influenced by Basil Liddell Hart’s
views on the value of the bomber in prosecuting British defence inter-
ests in Western Europe. While conceding that the Royal Navy had
an appropriate role to play in shoring up imperial defence overseas,
Chamberlain was more taciturn over the utility of the army and saw
it as playing only a subordinate role in any continental war that might
be fought in the short term. He maintained a reluctance to embrace
the continental commitment until quite late in the proceedings, but
once appeasement became a broken reed in March 1939 with the Nazi
takeover of the rump of Czechoslovakia the architect of the failed pol-
icy shifted gears in the most remarkable fashion as Professor Peden
masterfully illustrates.

Geoff Waddington’s view of the interwar period is beautifully encap-
sulated in the opening sentence of his chapter: ‘Of all the dilemmas
that plagued the British Foreign Office during the interwar years none
was more onerous or enduring than that which has passed into the
history books as the “German problem”.” His assertion matches that
of Anthony Eden whose forlorn quest it was to maintain peace for
the foreseeable future with European dictators who saw no reason for
restraint and had little love of diplomacy when force could be applied
to the problem at hand. Eden’s dilemma was acute; coming into office
after the shambles of the Hoare-Laval pact had been exposed and its
authors vilified, he faced a German dictator whose confidence was rising
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perceptibly as events began flowing his way with a vengeance. After
the Saar plebiscite had been overwhelmingly secured and the Anglo-
German Naval Agreement had been freely negotiated, Hitler was even
more obdurate than usual. Eden and the Foreign Office pinned their far
from lofty hopes on eliminating the demilitarized zone in the Rhineland
as a means of effecting an improvement in relations between London
and Berlin. Unfortunately, the talks on arranging such a deal proceeded
at a snail’s pace until Germany rendered the scheme entirely redundant
by marching into the Rhineland and reclaiming the entire territory for
the Reich on 7 March 1936. It was a devastating blow for the British and
French; it contravened both the Treaty of Versailles and that of Locarno,
while reaffirming the notion that Europe was set upon a very dangerous
course and one in which resort to yet another continental war could
not be ruled out. Although Ribbentrop thereafter raised the spectre of an
Anglo-German alliance, both Eden and the leading members of the For-
eign Office were very wary of such a prospect and what it might entail.
After the opening of the Spanish Civil War and the establishment of the
Anti-Comintern Pact, however, this initiative looked increasingly woe-
begone. It didn’t stop Chamberlain from trying to resurrect it once he
came to power in May 1937, but Eden’s sympathy for appeasing Hitler —
never remotely strong — receded as the German Chancellor’s price for
such an accommodation grew ever more unsavoury.

John Young's chapter on Harold Nicolson is noteworthy because it
reveals the dilemma and quandary of a talented and sensitive British
politician, former diplomat and man of letters in confronting the robust
challenge posed by the German and Italian dictators in the 1930s. That
Nicolson, a National Labour MP, was trumped in the face of such a
determined onslaught shouldn’t surprise us. He was not alone in seek-
ing an effective way forward. It proved to be a tortuous path. After all,
appeasement wasn’t resorted to for its equity, but because it appeared to
offer the possibility of ‘peace for our time’ once the League of Nations
had foundered after the Abyssinian invasion. Appeasement didn’t prove
to be the answer, of course, but Chamberlain naturally hoped that it
would. Nicolson loathed all forms of dictatorship and didn’t approve
of appeasement because it provided a diplomatic gloss to violent con-
duct. He didn’t trust Chamberlain and looked for leadership from Eden,
but the former Foreign Secretary who promised much in early 1938 ulti-
mately proved to be a disappointment. Churchill’s circle didn’t appeal
either for whatever reason and so Nicolson was left to plough an incon-
sistent furrow - fearing war and yet hoping for allies should his fears of
Hitler’s megalomania prove justified.
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As an example of just how difficult it was to form a coherent and
effective British foreign and defence policy in the twentieth century, the
case of Singapore is both instructive and revealing. It can also be read
as an intermittent commentary on the much-hyped ‘Special Relation-
ship’ that is supposed to exist between the UK and the US. In ‘Another
Jewel Forsaken’ I demonstrate that bringing the Anglo-Japanese Alliance
to an end in deference to American wishes after World War I didn’t do
the British any favours whatsoever. For that matter the quid pro quo
given to the Japanese — a monopoly position in the Western Pacific -
in order for them to sign the 5-Power Naval Limitation Treaty (February
1922) - wasn’t exactly a bonus feature for His Majesty’s Government
(HMG) either. That, alas, wasn’t the end of the chain of bad news.
Worse was to follow. As a means of trying to combat the relatively
unfavourable geo-strategic circumstances the British expected to find
themselves in during the medium to long term, the Admiralty managed
to indulge the Royal Navy in a comforting piece of wishful thinking
when it came to defending HMG's interests east of Suez. In forging the
‘Singapore Strategy’, the Admiralty supported the construction of a first
class naval base one degree north of the equator that would become
home to the Main Fleet which would hypothetically be sent out east
should the Japanese declare war on the British Empire. Unfortunately,
the base was poorly sited, logistically and structurally deficient, and
crucially indefensible against enemy forces both in the air and on the
ground. Field Marshal Jan Smuts was never convinced by the ‘Singapore
Strategy’ and his prescient warnings about the unlikelihood of the Main
Fleet steaming out to Southeast Asia for weeks or months at a time ought
to have been shared by successive Australasian governments, but some-
how the penny didn’t seem to drop in either Canberra or Wellington.
It only seemed to do so in late 1941 when war was finally at hand.
Although Churchill’s National government did eventually send a ‘fly-
ing squadron’ to Singapore it proved, sadly, to be more a magnet rather
than a deterrent to the Japanese. After the destruction of Force Z on
10 December 1941, the writing was clearly on the wall for British inter-
ests in Southeast Asia. When the Japanese duly completed their 70-day
invasion of Malaya and Singapore on 15 February 1942, the colonial
population as well as chastened British policymakers were shocked and
the Commonwealth dominions were aghast. A sense of being palpa-
bly let down by the ‘mother country’ was acutely felt by all those who
had to endure the painful 42-month Japanese occupation of Singapore
before the Pacific War came to an abrupt end and the island was turned
back over to the British in September 1945. Thereafter the problem of
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what to do about this equatorial island and the rest of the British territo-
ries in Southeast Asia became an unexpectedly expensive challenge for
Attlee’s government and its successors in Whitehall during the follow-
ing two decades. From the Malayan Emergency (1948-60) to Konfrontasi
(1963-66), the British and their Commonwealth partners found them-
selves pouring far more money into defending their hold over the region
than the cost-benefit statistics suggested they should. Macmillan was
alive to the situation from the time he succeeded Eden after the Suez
debacle of late 1956. A ‘wind of change’ was already blowing strongly in
Southeast Asia several years before it was associated with Africa. While
recognizing the need to withdraw from the region was meritorious on
Macmillan’s behalf, designing an appropriate exit strategy in the Cold
War era proved to be a far more arduous proposition than he had ever
imagined. It was left to Wilson'’s administration to orchestrate this much
criticized manoeuvre abandoning Singapore and flying in the face of
US policy in Vietnam. Ratting on promises freely given in the past was
not a noble way of treating friends or influencing people. Once again,
therefore, another Singaporean episode had ended controversially with
the UK accused of actively dissembling in order to secure its national
objectives. It is hardly a new trick or one that’s confined to HMG, but it
looked disconcertingly self-serving which, of course, it was!

In picking up one of the threads of the strategic dilemma that the
British faced in Southeast Asia when it came to maintaining the ‘Special
Relationship’, Brian Farrell carefully traces the idea of collective secu-
rity in the region from the days of the ‘domino theory’ in the 1950s
to the explosive issue of Indonesian Konfrontasi from 1963 to 1966.
It soon became obvious that London and Washington saw the momen-
tous issues of dealing with the Cold War while trying to manage change
in Southeast Asia in markedly different ways. Whereas the Americans
believed that the existential threat posed by the communists had to be
contained by surface engagement in Vietnam, the British were not at all
convinced that committing ground forces against Ho Chi Minh'’s Peo-
ple’s Army of Vietnam (PAVN) and Viet Cong was the most sensible way
of diminishing the latent threat posed by Mao’s PRC. These diametri-
cally opposed views caused irritation on both sides of the Atlantic and
fomented problems with both the Australians and New Zealanders for
whom the Far East was the ‘near north’. As Professor Farrell bluntly con-
cedes: “The price for refusing to intervene in Vietnam was the Manila
Pact....” This led to the birth of the Southeast Asia Treaty Organization
(SEATO) which provided the only direct link between all the Western
Powers with interests in the region. As SEATO planned for the direst
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of scenarios, the British were grappling the Malayan Emergency. Once
the Malayan Communist Party’s (MCP’s) resistance had been finally
broken, Macmillan’s government — cognizant of the emerging force of
nationalism — began applying a ‘Grand Design’ to its former empire sub-
jects in Southeast Asia. This was much easier said than done. Not all the
territories wished to be subsumed within a ‘Greater Malaysia’ and the
Malay ruler Tunku Abdul Rahman was far from convinced that having
Singapore in the mix would be beneficial to the new enlarged Malaysia.
Unfortunately, matters didn’t end there; the ‘Grand Design’ enraged
the Indonesian President Sukarno who saw it as yet another piece of
neo-colonialism which he was determined to sink without trace; and
it frustrated the Philippine nationalists who still entertained visions of
incorporating British North Borneo (Sabah) into their republic. When
Sukarno proceeded beyond verbal criticism to the encouragement of
violence against Malaysia, the tricky Anglo-American partnership in
Southeast Asia was tested still further, not least because the US had been
hoping to keep him from moving into a communist orbit. Crucially
for the British, Sukarno overplayed his hand allowing a modus vivendi
to be struck between Washington and London on tackling Konfrontasi.
It was just as well since this gave the British a decent excuse for staying
out of the Vietnam imbroglio. Harold Wilson’s accession to power in
mid-October 1964 and the PRC’s detonation of its first thermo-nuclear
device within a day of the changing of guard in Downing Street rein-
forced the impression that the ‘Special Relationship’” was now needed
more than ever. Wilson’s government beset with economic woes from
the outset and determined not to give into devaluation, couldn’t afford
an open-ended commitment to defence spending. It would have to start
cutting back and its role east of Suez looked particularly vulnerable if it
could only bring Konfrontasi to an end. It was a strategic response that
provided only short-term comfort to those of its allies with medium to
long-term concerns in the region.

Bonus item

When this project was first mooted a few years back I had hoped that
this volume would move into the post-war world of propaganda, com-
munications and intelligence in addition to foreign and defence policy.
Unfortunately Phil Taylor’s sad and untimely death in December 2010
left a massive hole to fill. Out of respect for Phil I haven’t endeavoured
to try to replace him. He was a one-off and a Leeds man from first to last.
Other less tragic events conspired to ensure that a planned contribution
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from Nick Cull fell by the wayside leaving Richard Aldrich alone to
perform a cameo and admittedly tangential role in this festschrift. His
paper on the role of Teddy Poulden and GCHQ’s influence upon the
rather woebegone British computer industry is offered as a bonus item
to David Dilks and our readers with a warning that sometimes British is
not always best!



1

Professor David Neville Dilks,
MA (Oxon), FRHistS, FRSL (1938-)

An Appreciation from Afar

Malcolm H. Murfett

I need to state at the outset that I owe a huge debt of gratitude to David
Dilks for the significant impact he had on my life at Leeds and Oxford
in the 1970s and at Singapore ever since. Without David’s influence
and periodic intervention, my professional career would have almost
certainly turned out quite differently.

Despite the fact that he has performed a number of cameo roles at
various stages of my life, I have to confess I don’t begin to know what
really makes him tick. He is an elusive fellow who guards his privacy
almost inordinately well. For someone who has been in the spotlight
for much of his life, he was rather embarrassed at the thought that I was
going to prepare an essay on him for this volume and hoped it would
be a brief affair. I laughed as only a prolix fellow should and gave him
no such guarantee.

I think it would be entirely appropriate to call David a ‘high Tory’ —
someone who early on in his career found a congenial home in the cor-
ridors of the Conservative and Unionist Party working closely with a
number of the leading luminaries of that institution — some of whom
had reached the top of the greasy pole in British politics in the post-
war world. It's clear that Anthony Eden, Harold Macmillan, Lord Home
and RAB Butler trusted him and with good reason since he never let
them down. Secrets that he became aware of were never divulged —
at least not by him. David’s moral integrity wasn’t compromised. His
sphinx-like persona gave nothing away. If Robert Blake was the older
generation’s official historian of the party, David was seen by many as
his natural successor. His two volume study of another stalwart of the

10
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party — Lord Curzon - and his magisterial work on the much maligned
figure of Neville Chamberlain, together with the scholarly grasp he
acquired of Churchill’s turbulent career, made him a natural choice
for that role until university administration lured him away from the
archives and began to take up an overwhelming amount of his time.
Tertiary administration’s gain was, alas, historical scholarship’s loss.

A Baring Scholar at Hertford College, Oxford (1956-59), David’s inter-
ests in International History were fostered by his two spells at the
hothouse of St Antony’s (1959-60, 1961-62) and by his early undergrad-
uate teaching assignments at the LSE. These were busy and productive
years as he spent the decade working as a research assistant on the mem-
oirs of Eden (1960-62), Marshal of the RAF Lord Tedder (1963-65) and
Macmillan (1964-70). There was much to do. Access to closed archival
papers is usually fascinating and always a great privilege, but the staple
of fact checking, draft writing, editing and endless amounts of reading
that comes with it does so at a great cost to the individual’s free time
and often saps his energy. Working for prominent figures with a story to
tell is rarely as easy as it sounds. Some can be considerable task masters
and research assistants need as much enthusiasm and self-confidence
as endurance and resilience to ride out the storms that occasionally
erupt when material that they may have presented doesn’t go down
well with their host and paymaster! On balance, however, David gained
vastly from the experience. He was seen as a safe pair of hands: bright,
scholarly and agreeable, but far from being a cloying sycophant.

Working on several fronts appealed to David. As he devilled in the
archives for biographical details, he was gathering a mass of material
for his projected manuscript on the tenure of the rather superior Lord
Curzon as the Governor-General and Viceroy of India, and editing the
diaries of Sir Alexander Cadogan, the analytically shrewd and depend-
able former Permanent Under-Secretary of State at the Foreign Office.
All of this hyperactivity was going on while he was moving through the
lecturing ranks at the LSE. This fine institution proved to be an ideal
launching pad for his assault in 1970 on the new position of Professor
of International History and Politics (IHP) at the University of Leeds.
Despite his unflagging energy and commitment to the cause, David at
only 32 was hardly a cast iron certainty for a professorship at a well-
established university in West Yorkshire that might have been expected
to appoint a more seasoned academic with bags of administrative expe-
rience on his record. Although he had only eight years of university
service to his name by this stage, David did have youth, flair and that
key asset ‘potential’ on his side. When linked to an impressive maturity
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and a clear vision of where he wanted IHP to go, his inexperience no
longer became an impediment to securing this post but actually a virtue.
In 1970 professorships were not usually doled out to tall young willowy
men of promise, but Leeds bucked the trend.

It helped that David was (and still is) very suave and engaging; with
a compelling delivery and an ability to convince even the most scep-
tical that his views are worth listening to and deserving of attention.
I rarely agreed with some of the positions he adopted and failed to
see what there was to admire in Chamberlain’s faulty grasp of for-
eign and defence issues, but David could fashion a heroic defence of
the fallen ‘anti-hero’ of Munich like no other. His championing of
Chamberlain was remarkable because it won him few favours among
his peer group. Appeasement seemed as bankrupt in the 1970s as the
Kreditanstalt had been in 1931. As for his students, we marvelled at
how he seemed to turn black into white with the finesse of a mas-
ter illusionist. In the face of overwhelming criticism of appeasement,
David was stoically unmoved. He was convinced that history had given
Chamberlain a raw deal and it was his task to enlighten the new wave
of emerging historians that all was not what it may have seemed to
have been back in the mid-to-late 1930s. His earnest conviction that
Chamberlain had grasped the overall reality of the situation rather than
merely a few straws of it certainly helped to underline the necessity for
each of us to recognise that there is always another side to the argument
no matter how stacked the odds are against it.

I invariably found him an amusing raconteur; an individual who
could be relied upon to discover unfamiliar and yet captivating vignettes
in the public records about the ‘great and the good’ which could then
be used to enliven his lectures and improve their accessibility no matter
whether his audience was student-orientated or non-university based.
He had little difficulty in identifying the absurdities of life and the feck-
lessness of the human condition. As a tutor, I found him somewhat
intimidating — a bit like an iceberg that you didn’t mess with but steered
around. Collisions were out of the question. I can only recall having
him as my tutor in the first year of the IHP programme and it was soon
entirely evident that he seemed to know so much more than I did about
everything! It was extremely galling. [ wasn’t used to slipping under the
radar screen, but tangling with David in his pomp when I hadn’t read
everything on the subject seemed like a very bad idea to me at the time
and still does!

Whether in class or not, David could be always relied upon to inveigh
against the smug, self-satisfied tyranny of the Oxbridge-London ‘golden
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triangle’ which he felt looked down on the other tertiary institutions in
the UK. Despite the fact that he had passed through two of the three elite
universities himself and had recently been a visiting fellow at All Souls,
he genuinely thought that the ‘golden triangle’ — for all of its wonder-
ful endowments — didn’t have a monopoly on scholarly brilliance and
its apparent disdain for the other academic outposts dotted about the
country was both very demeaning and extremely unfair to them. In his
view, Leeds and other universities like it weren’t there just to make up
the numbers even if they were woefully underestimated and critically
under-funded by the British Establishment.

While the iniquities of the British university system with its uneven
pattern of resources could immediately gain his undivided attention,
another touchstone of David’s passion lay in fostering links with the
Commonwealth. While he was at LSE, he became a consultant to the
Secretary-General of the Commonwealth (1968-75) and the founding
member and first chairman of the Commonwealth Youth Exchange
Council (1968-73), both roles he took to Leeds with him in 1970.
During this time he also developed a close rapport with a number of
leading figures within the Canadian higher education system and solidi-
fied these links by initially establishing the Canadian Studies Committee
at Leeds and becoming its chairman for a decade as it proceeded from an
informal grouping to a fully-fledged, University-funded body (1974-84).
He also took on the additional role of advisor to all overseas students
who joined the School of History at Leeds in the 16 years after 1975.
In this role he lent an ear to the homesick and eased the financial bur-
dens of others who found themselves struggling to keep afloat in an
increasingly expensive UK on inadequate funding. While he was not
one to crow about his achievements in these fields, he was quietly appre-
ciated by those who came to see him with their problems and benefited
from his kindness and consideration. These administrative roles were
not undertaken by him to add an extra line or two to his burgeon-
ing curriculum vitae. After all, in the days before annual league tables
and the quinquennial Research Assessment Exercise became a way of
life for British universities, tenured professors of his ilk weren’t obliged
to prove that they were instrumental in bringing extra value-added to
their schools or departments. David helped because he wanted to. It was
understated as usual with him. He wanted no publicity or fuss. He still
doesn’t.

At Leeds he was synonymous with the advancement of the IHP degree.
He was its lightning rod and from the outset its admissions tutor. This
enabled him to take a punt on the unorthodox - the ‘second-chance’,
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mature students — as well as the gifted younger candidates who had
jumped through the examination hoops at school with great facility
and on time. Not surprisingly, IHP had an edge to it and rapidly became
a flagship programme within the School of History. In establishing
the BA in International History and Politics he was aided by a set of
excellent, if occasionally highly idiosyncratic, colleagues with eclectic
tastes. They made for a vibrant community of scholars. Steering such an
assorted group with considerable abilities and egos to match would have
been challenging for anyone. Whether David was inclusive or exclu-
sive in the running of the department and as chairman of the School
(1974-79) is better answered by those who were there at the time.

Whatever went on in the professional domain, however, he always
had the loyal and consistent support of his family and a close knit circle
of friends to rely upon. In particular, his wife Jill knew the score and
had seen it all before since her father, the celebrated academic and pro-
lific historian W.N. Medlicott, had been the former Stevenson Professor
of International History at the LSE. Jill could therefore provide both a
reality check and a calming influence if and when things began to go
awry as they occasionally must have done over the years. Anyone who
has had to deal with us on a long-term basis knows that academics can
be notoriously difficult characters at the best of times — our insecurities
often reign supreme regardless of how high our personal IQs may be.
In any case, university politics is often contentious and frustrating, so
a retreat to a lovely home environment after tangling with the levers
of bureaucracy all day long becomes crucial if sanity is to be preserved.
Jill clearly provided that oasis for David and the strong bonds of their
marriage (1963-) and the joy that came from witnessing the growing
exploits of their only child Richard (born in 1979) illuminated their
family life together and put everything else into a welcome sense of
perspective.

Even at the best of times tertiary administration is an acquired taste;
endless amounts of times stuck in committees arguing the toss about
procedural items, government interference, policy matters, faculty bud-
gets, and funding initiatives would test the patience of Job and drive
most people to despair. Somehow David acquired the taste for navigat-
ing his way through the swirling shoals that lie in wait for even the most
intrepid of administrative helmsmen. His motivation was laudable in
that he sought to try to make the university he served more responsive
to change and better able to cope with the compelling demands of the
modern world. It wasn'’t a case of mere survival, by the 1970s that wasn't
good enough any longer. David was hardly alone in recognizing that
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any institute of higher education needed to shake off the lethargy and
complacency that may have arisen in the wake of the Robbins Report
(1963) and the expansion of the tertiary sector to take account of the
‘baby boomer’ generation that would be beating a path to its door from
then onwards. It was evident that all centres of higher learning needed
to improve at all levels if they were to become more appreciated in a
hyper-competitive world. David quite naturally wanted to attract the
best students and staff to Leeds and subsequently to Hull and knew
it wouldn’t happen unless the university actively courted them and
showed that it was a place worth coming to. He saw it as his task to
try to lay the groundwork for that desired objective. It would require
more than talk to bring this about but policy guidelines needed to be
drawn up to facilitate progress in these fields and that was where David
felt he could contribute in a meaningful capacity. While at Leeds he
was Dean of the Faculty of Arts (1975-77); he had two spells on the
Planning Committee of the Senate (1977-79 and 1981-84), the latter
period coinciding with his chairmanship of its Research Policy Commit-
tee; and if that wasn’t enough, he was also a member of the Council of
the University (1977-79) and six other university committees ranging
from industrial relations to military education.

Amazingly, that was not all. He also performed a number of non-
university roles, in particular on the Advisory Council on Public Records
(1977-85), the Central Council of the Royal Commonwealth Society
(1982-85) and the Universities Funding Council in London (1988-91).
In addition, he was a trustee of the memorial trusts established for two
Privy Councillors and Companions of Honour he greatly admired: Baron
Boyle of Handsworth (better known as Sir Edward Boyle) and Viscount
Boyd of Merton (the former Alan Lennox-Boyd). Both had reached Cab-
inet rank - the former for education and the latter for the colonies — but
had become disenchanted with the daily grind of knockabout politics
and sought solace in organ music and scholarly pastimes (Boyle) and
mapping out the fortunes of Arthur Guinness & Sons (Boyd). David’s
trustee work extended across a variety of other areas to embrace the
Imperial War Museum, the Royal Commonwealth Society Library, the
Heskel & Mary Nathaniel Trust, and the Young Historians Scheme. Wor-
thy though these causes were, it remains a mystery to me how he
found the time to conduct these extra-curricula activities and yet still
keep his head above water. But there was more because he was also
a Freeman and subsequently a Liveryman of the Goldsmiths’ Com-
pany — one of the 12 great livery companies in the City of London.
Need I go on?
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When David arrived at Leeds in 1970, the Brotherton Library already
had a very fine collection of printed works and published sources which
it had built up assiduously over the years. Working closely with the
librarian, however, he identified a whole range of additional public and
private collections in the realm of international history that could be
purchased in microform to complement the library’s existing holdings.
His efforts in this regard helped to ensure that an impressive array of
primary research materials was made available for project work at all
levels of the IHP scholarly community. David also played a vital role in
raising £250,000 as a precursor to acquiring the vast Liddle Collection
of materials on World War I — the largest of its kind in existence — for
the Brotherton.

Supported by an increasingly strong research environment, he super-
vised a raft of MPhil and PhD theses on a diverse range of topics covering
many aspects of modern foreign and Commonwealth affairs. It was not
unusual for him to have eight or nine graduate students working on
their dissertations at any one time. In the ultra-competitive era of the
1980s British universities were expected to vie for the best students not
only domestically but internationally. David saw this as an ideal oppor-
tunity to draw on the strengths and attractions of Leeds to reach out to
a much wider audience. Using his high profile position on the British
National Committee on the History of the Second World War (1983-
2005) and as a founder member of the Study Group on Intelligence
(1982-91) to great effect, he began organizing a series of stellar confer-
ences throughout the decade in which a cast of leading academics from
Europe, the US, and the wider world beyond were persuaded to come to
Leeds to thrash out a number of hugely contentious issues within the
realm of modern international history. These proved to be intellectually
engaging affairs and showed Leeds in a very positive light. Building on
this momentum, he became instrumental in promoting the establish-
ment of the MA in Modern International Studies. An advanced degree
by course work and dissertation, the new Masters course proved to be
a very attractive magnet drawing students from around the globe to
Leeds in the post-1989 period. Already postgraduate admissions tutor
since 1985, he was the natural candidate to become appointed director
of the Institute for International Studies in 1989, a post he retained until
Hull hove into view in 1991.

I never thought that David would end his career at Leeds even though
he had done so much to raise its profile as a cool place to do history at
university. I imagined that he would ultimately return to the ‘golden
triangle’ as a master or warden of a college. I was wrong. A vacancy as
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vice-chancellor arose at the University of Hull and David, already some-
thing of an institution at Leeds, opted to apply for it. After two decades
in West Yorkshire, he was ready to face another challenge. Going to
Humberside would prove to be all of that and more. By the time of his
appointment David could draw upon a vast well of university adminis-
tration. Much of that, of course, had been devoted to preserving the
interests of the historical discipline from administrative intervention
and the impact of government policy. Now he was directly in the fir-
ing line on behalf of the entire university. He couldn’t seek to protect
one discipline or faculty over another. History would have to take a back
seat for the duration.

Funding issues were, naturally, of paramount importance in higher
education in the 1990s. A university could have a great strategic plan
for the future but the ability to implement it was almost always driven
by the financial health of the institution. New sources of revenue were
therefore vital if a university was to move forward in this new and rather
unsatisfactory ‘bums on seats’ era. Vice-Chancellors like David were
forced to spend a good deal of their time on financial matters, making
earnest appeals to alumni as well as potential donors to sponsor a mul-
tiplicity of academic initiatives and infrastructural needs. It was often a
‘fire fighting’ exercise in which some success on one front was mitigated
by failure to arrest its depressing negative momentum on another. Even
at the best of times administrators are rarely beloved by academics who
accuse them of being divorced from the reality of the classroom, lecture
theatre or laboratory and obsessed by the minutiae of box ticking, form
filling and number crunching. Sitting on the top of this unforgiving
pyramidal structure are the well-heeled Vice-Chancellors who chair high
powered committees, meet visiting dignitaries and preside over matric-
ulation and graduation ceremonies. In the past they were often seen
as being largely inaccessible figures surrounded by an equally remote
entourage who lived ‘inside the academic tent’” with them. In recent
years they were encouraged to get out more and David didn’t need any
cue to follow suit. As a result, he travelled abroad extensively presiding
at degree days and cultivating links with an extensive cast of govern-
ment officials, business executives and potential or actual benefactors
who could be used to Hull’s advantage. In my experience, however,
teaching staff don’t have to be querulous and disputatious to consider
all bureaucrats - elite or otherwise — as a frictional element in their lives.
Rarely are they embraced for their foresight or initiative, let alone the
formal work that they do. David’s time at Hull, therefore, was hardly
likely to be a bed of roses. I'm sure he realised that from the beginning
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as he began negotiating the congested M62 from Leeds out to the East
Riding of Yorkshire.

Nonetheless, whatever difficulties the staff might have posed for him,
the students at Hull during the 1990s were consistently known for hav-
ing a great time, being very satisfied with their courses, and finding little
difficulty in getting jobs once they graduated. Such very positive student
feedback suggests that Hull had got its act together under David'’s reso-
lute leadership. This was independently confirmed by The Times Good
University Guide which saw Hull vaulting more than 20 places up its
ranking list during the eight years that he remained at the helm in Uni-
versity House (1991-99). A marked improvement of this nature was no
mean feat in a restless tertiary sector. Moreover, it wasn’t a marketing
ploy devised by the public relations unit on campus or some spurious
claim on a website; the fact was that Hull’s fortunes were distinctly and
officially ‘on the up’. While there are many causes for this startling
progress, team work obviously played a vital part. Although I know
David shrinks from gratuitous displays of self-promotion, as the team
leader at Hull even he ought to derive a certain quiet satisfaction from
this substantial achievement.

Despite the fact that much of his time at Hull was taken up on offi-
cial duties, the historian in him refused to disappear entirely from the
scene. Formal lectures and occasional publishing ventures offered him
an abiding connection to the discipline and there was always his work as
vice-president of the International Committee for the History of the Sec-
ond World War (1990-92) and thereafter the presidency of that august
body over the course of the next eight years (1992-2000) to ensure that
university administration didn’t claim all of his attention. His work in
the field of international history was recognized by the award of the
Meédaille de Vermeil of the Académie Francaise in 1994 and by an Hon-
orary Doctorate of History which was conferred on him by the Russian
Academy of Sciences in Moscow in 1996.

If one imagined he would retreat to pottering about his garden in
Adel or gliding around the Dales in his Bentley upon his retirement
from Hull in 1999, David had other ideas. He had already worked on
a series of critically well-acclaimed programmes for both the BBC and
Granada Television before he left Leeds and his historical expertise was
to be tapped once more in the post-Hull era. In the autumn of 2001
he was engaged as a consultant for the television play ‘A Lonely War’
which revolved around Churchill’s life during the 1930s. David provided
detailed guidance about the draft text of the play, as well as more general
interpretations of Churchill’s activities and relations with his friends and
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parliamentary colleagues. It was broadcast in 2002 with Albert Finney
and Vanessa Redgrave in the leading roles. He performed a similar role
in the 2009 documentary drama ‘Into the Storm’ which was concerned
with Churchill’s wartime premiership from 1940 to 1945.

Notwithstanding his other academic accomplishments, David has
produced a corpus of historical studies worthy of close attention.
It essentially falls into six main and often-overarching subject areas,
namely, the making and impact of British foreign policy in the twentieth
century; the life and times of Neville Chamberlain; the role of Churchill
both in and out of power; Colonial and Commonwealth affairs and the
so-called ‘End of Empire’; the world of Intelligence and its application
to policy making; and the road to World War II and its diplomatic and
political aftermath.

Whatever the merits of his examination of the Raj in the 1920s, the
meticulous editing of the Cadogan diaries, let alone his fascination
with Anglo-Canadian affairs, David will be most frequently associ-
ated with being an apologist for appeasement and its architect Neville
Chamberlain. This has been unfashionable from the winter of 1938-39,
but David has consistently maintained that history has been profoundly
unkind to the former Lord Mayor of Birmingham. Chamberlain’s critics
have always blamed him for being duped by Hitler and for being will-
ing to accept peace at almost any price. David doesn’t believe he was
that naive, misguided or cynically detached from the fate of those who
would be enslaved by the forces of Nazism. Regardless of Chamberlain’s
understandable horror of war, anti-appeasement sentiment has endured
in the UK with apologists for the concept of negotiating with dictators
in very short supply. Given the number of historians who have plun-
dered the field of appeasement studies, one wonders just what defence
can be mounted by David in his second and concluding volume of the
Chamberlain biography which British and European historians await
with some avidity. We all know that Chamberlain’s critics have never
forgiven him for supposedly being out of his depth in foreign affairs
and for living in a fantasy world in which ruthless dictators can be
relied upon to keep their word to him. At its basic level, however,
this is far too simplistic and sweeping an indictment, even if it has
stubbornly persisted for more than seven decades. While David has pre-
sented certain aspects of the other side of this story in a number of
persuasive articles and lectures, the collective wisdom needs to be drawn
together before an informed, retrospective judgement can be satisfacto-
rily passed on Chamberlain’s embattled premiership. Let us hope David
can summon up the requisite energy in his retirement to complete
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the poignant study of a much derided premier who is still so much
associated with him.

David’s impact can also be felt in his growing body of illuminating
work on Churchill, the quality of which deservedly won him the Emery
Reves Award in 2006 and which can be strikingly seen in both ‘The Great
Dominion’: Winston Churchill in Canada 1900-1954 (2005) and his latest
volume Churchill and Company: Allies and Rivals in War and Peace (2012);
his pioneering studies in the world of intelligence, in collaboration with
Christopher Andrew, which helped to bring attention to bear on a cru-
cial determinant in the vital area of policy formulation; and in the rich
contributions he has made to the diplomatic history of World War II
and the re-orientation of British foreign policy towards Europe and the
Commonwealth in the turbulent era of the Cold War.

Looking back on David’s career, I am struck not only by the sheer
magnitude of the administrative workload he absorbed, but also by the
extensive teaching and academic roles he performed at the LSE and
Leeds, as well as for the wider tertiary world. How this was all fitted in
with his extensive research activities is anyone’s guess. Clearly, he mas-
tered the knack of academic juggling to an exemplary degree, but didn’t
the constraints of time apply to him as well as the rest of us? Perhaps
the key to what he did and to who he is lies in Churchill’s summing up
of Russia in October 1939: ‘It is a riddle, wrapped in a mystery, inside
an enigma.” David may not agree, even ruefully, that this observation
is appropriate to him personally; but in my privileged position of being
the editor of his festschrift, I'm prepared to take that risk!
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The British Empire’s Image
of East Asia, 1900-41

Politics, Ideology and International Order

Antony Best

In recent years historians have become increasingly interested in trying
to understand the nature of the interaction between the West and East
Asia during the imperialist age. In the light of the advances made over
the past three decades by post-colonial history, much of this new work
has dwelt on the impact that the arrival of Western ideas had on the
countries of East Asia and the consequent cultural, economic and even
linguistic challenges that the latter faced.! However, the danger with this
focus on the ‘victims’ of imperialism is that the interests and ambitions
of the imperial powers themselves tend to be forgotten or at best treated
as if imperialist behaviour, wherever it took place in the world, was con-
stant.? Another problem, which is linked to this, is the assumption that
the imperial powers had fairly static and uniform views of those that
they controlled and/or interacted with. That this mental straitjacket
should exist is rather surprising, for it is surely self-evident that polit-
ical events and the evolution of any observer’s ideological and cultural
beliefs have a transformative effect on the way in which s/he views the
world.? In order to demonstrate how Western views of Eastern societies
and polities could evolve, this chapter looks at the changing images that
Britain had of East Asia in the period between 1900 and 1941 and relates
how these were influenced both by events and ideological innovations,
and how perception in turn had an effect on the political and diplomatic
process.

During the first half of the twentieth century East Asia played a signif-
icant role in world affairs for a variety of reasons. In economic terms, in
China it possessed a country whose potential to become a great market
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led to much international investment, while in Japan it had a state
that was emerging as an important exporter of consumer goods, most
notably cotton textiles. In regard to world politics and strategy, Japan's
emergence as the first non-Western Great Power acted as both an inspi-
ration and a threat, while China’s resurgent nationalism and chronic
political instability created interest in its development but also fear of
its becoming a power vacuum. The realm of culture also played a part
in the region’s prominence, for its rich tradition in the arts provided
both an inspiration to the avant-garde and a foil to those who sought to
proclaim the moral and cultural superiority of the West. Another aspect
that cannot be forgotten is that the very fact that the region was rapidly
modernizing led to concern in the West that if Asia should ever polit-
ically unite it might present a challenge to the former’s dominance of
international politics. Even if that did not occur, its rapidly burgeoning
population caused concern, for there seemed to be no simple solution
to this Malthusian crisis, which could bring in its wake dire politi-
cal and economic consequences. East Asia was then a volatile region,
whose future evolution had ramifications not just for the countries that
bordered on the Pacific but for the world as a whole.

Among the European Great Powers, Britain was the state with the
greatest interest in East Asia. Aside from the factors outlined above, it
had its own specific concerns in regard to East Asia, for it had a con-
siderable economic stake in China itself and possessed a number of
territories that bordered on the region. In China it attempted to uphold
its commercial presence through supporting the fragile ‘open door’ and
its attendant institutions, which were beset with potential enemies.*
In regard to its colonies in South and Southeast Asia, Britain sought
to defend them from any direct strategic threat that might emerge from
East Asia. In addition, however, it was conscious of the indirect influ-
ence that events in the latter region might have on its possessions. For
example, it was all too aware that the successful modernization of the
countries in East Asia and their emergence as a force in world politics
might undermine the prestige of European rule. Thus in the period
under review much concern was caused by developments such as the
mobilization of overseas Chinese opinion to support the Guomindang
(GMD) and the steady growth of Japanese trade with India and Malaya.>
In addition, East Asia demanded attention for, while it might have been
the ‘Far East’ for Britain, it was the ‘near north’ for the White Domin-
ions of Australia and New Zealand, who feared both the arrival of Asian
immigrants and the threat of Japanese military expansion.
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Armed with these myriad concerns, British observers, both official and
private, made a close study of East Asia in this period looking for signs
of stability and disorder in a bid to read the future. To a degree it may
be said that the foundations of the British perception of the region lay
in certain set stereotypes. It is important to note though that the clichés
adopted by the British tended to concentrate on specific countries and
nationalities rather than treating all ‘Orientals’ as essentially similar.
This reflected the nature of the British interaction with the region, for it
was clear to most observers that the states and peoples that made up the
region were reacting in different ways to the arrival of Western impe-
rialism and thus posed different problems and opportunities. As Rotem
Kowner has observed in regard to the development of racial science, this
tendency to treat the Chinese and Japanese as races in their own right
went back to the mid-nineteenth century, when already their different
approaches to the West began to be apparent.®

The place to begin in any survey of the images that the British had of
the individual East Asian countries is with China, for, as noted above,
trade with this country was Britain’s primary motivation for taking an
interest in the region. As Nicholas Clifford has outlined in his excellent
study of British and American travel writing, most observers tended to
treat China as an entity whose once great civilization had lost its way
and sunk into decadence. Visitors to China were thus more often than
not struck by the decay of its cities, palaces and temples, a facet which
was reinforced by the constant references to the ubiquitous dirt of the
country.” Thus, for example, in 1927 the journalist and former foreign
editor of The Times, Sir Valentine Chirol, recalled in his memoirs his first
visit to Peking in 1895:

all my senses seemed to be assailed at the same time — my nose by
the most pungent and unsavoury smells, my ears by the discordant
din of a strange and uncouth tongue, my eyes by weird and often
revolting sights.®

Six years later in 1933, the poetically inclined and rather precious
Canadian diplomat, Kenneth Kirkwood, noted, during his tour of China:
‘To me sadness was the dominant note in Peking. The sadness of faded
glory, forgotten splendour, wasting, rotting, decaying beauty.”” As Robert
Bickers has observed, so prevalent were those images of China and so
similar the vocabulary used that it is hard not to believe that most vis-
itors to the country had already, through familiarity with the discourse
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on all things Chinese, decided what they were going to experience
before they had even arrived!'”

Reinforcing this image of decline were certain patterns of behaviour
that were commonly associated with the Chinese. One of these was
the belief that while the Chinese people shared a culture they did not
possess any real sense of patriotism and thus were constitutionally ill-
prepared to introduce a far-going policy of reform in order to deliver
their country from the West. Exacerbating this apparent lack of public
spirit was the perception in British circles that the Chinese displayed a
marked indifference to Western knowledge, which not surprisingly in its
turn fostered an image of both their misplaced arrogance and profound
ignorance. Another problem that further emphasized the essential pas-
sivity of the Chinese population was, of course, its association with
the smoking of opium. The high levels of opium use and addiction
in China could do little but reinforce the perception that the country
had succumbed to narcotics and was content to sleep and dream while
modernity left it far behind. Redeeming features undoubtedly existed in
the population’s capacity for hard work and shrewdness in business, but
no observer was left oblivious to the massive changes that China needed
to throw off the weight of its history. At the same time, however, this
impression of China as a country stuck in the past placed it in a position
where some were inspired to take a keen paternal interest in shaping its
future. Its weakness thus both repelled and attracted.!

The way in which visitors reacted to Japan tended to be quite differ-
ent. Japan was clearly not in a state of terminal decay. Indeed, most of
the visitors who came to Japan saw it as possessing an advanced civi-
lization and a vigorous society that was inquisitive about learning from
the best of Western practice. Indeed, as Akira Iriye has noted, it was
praised at a relatively early stage for its having so rapidly leapt from a
state approximating the European Middle Ages to something approach-
ing modernity.'? Underlining this positive impression was the relative
order, good manners and cleanliness that greeted visitors in Japan. This
was seen as standing in marked contrast to Chinese customs. Thus the
Australian scientist and internationalist, Ian Clunies Ross noted on his
arrival in Peking in 1930 after having spent the past few months in
Japan:

As we never thought possible one plunges back into the dirt, the
squalor, the picturesqueness and the incompetence of the Middle
Ages. We have never realised how unfair it is to lump the Orient
and its peoples in one. Japan is as different from that China we have
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glimpsed as England is from India & the Japanese we feel are as some-
thing known & kindly with whom we are as much at home as here
we are alien and apart.!?

To some what was particularly beguiling was the mixture of modernity
and tradition that existed in Japan. One aspect of the country that par-
ticularly entranced new arrivals was the discovery that Japanese women
still wore kimono out-of-doors. As both Sir lan Hamilton, one of the
British military observers of the Russo-Japanese War, and the Canadian
politician, Sir Vincent Massey, observed, in 1904 and 1931 respectively,
the effect was to make one feel that one had walked into a Japanese
painting.'* However, the very fact that Japan had proved to be such an
apt pupil of Western ways meant that its ambitions for the future were
sometimes treated with suspicion. For example, Japanese migrants in
South-East Asia and the Dominions were wont to be seen as spies and
as an underground vanguard preparing the way for invasion." Thus,
while China was viewed as mired in the past, Japan was treated with
some circumspection for possibly having learnt too well.

It is, however, important to see that, although these stereotypes were
powerful, they were not uniformly accepted among all British observers.
After all, the image adopted by any one observer depended to a consid-
erable degree on his or her relative experience and outlook: the intrepid
explorer, the devoted missionary, the dilettante traveller, the aesthete,
the journalist, and the long-term resident merchant or banker would all
have their own version of the truth to relate. Nor were the images of
China and Japan necessarily static. Indeed, considering that these were
years of marked political and economic turbulence including events
such as the Boxer rebellion, the Russo-Japanese War, the collapse of
Imperial China and the crises of the 1930s, it is no surprise to find that,
although certain stereotypes lingered, perceptions were subject to con-
siderable change. Moreover, as attitudes towards race, modernity and
internationalism rapidly evolved in the West, so opinions on the ‘East’
came increasingly to be defined by the observer’s ideological standpoint.

The stereotypical images of the countries of Fast Asia had their roots
in the nineteenth century, but only really came into their own in the
1890s after Japan defeated China in the war of 1894-95. That conflict
naturally cast doubt on China’s viability as a state and thus brought to
an end the period in which Britain had, as James Hevia has noted in his
recent book, focused its efforts on the pedagogical exercise of trying to
bring the Chinese government to accept modernity.'® From 1895 it was
clear that Japan was the coming power in the East, although opinions



26 The British Empire’s Image of East Asia, 1900-41

differed in British circles about whether this constituted a threat or an
opportunity. Resentful of Japanese high-handedness in Korea, a minor-
ity already talked of a ‘yellow peril’ and warned of the threat posed
by ‘a people... energetic, crafty, unscrupulous, hating of the white race,
and imbued with a sense of their coming greatness as a nation’.!” Most
observers though were more positive, largely because they saw Japan,
which had proved its worth in war, as a possible balance to Russian
ambitions in the region and as a state that would help to preserve the
‘open door’ in China. Thus it was the 1890s that sealed the stereo-
type that Japan represented progress, while China became a symbol of
‘Oriental’ backwardness.

Eventually the sense that the national interests of Britain and Japan
complemented each other led to the countries signing an alliance in
January 1902. Over the next few years Britain’s faith in Japan was amply
rewarded by the strategic benefits that the former accrued when its
ally defeated Russia in 1905. As Colin Holmes and Hamish Ion have
observed, Japan'’s victory over Russia and its general impression of vital-
ity and discipline had a dramatic effect on British thinking.'® Wracked
with insecurity after the hard-won campaign against the Boers, British
politicians and publicists were deeply impressed by Japan’s resilience
and martial spirit, feeling that these were qualities that Britain some-
how had lost. No less a figure than Lord Curzon, the viceroy to India,
observed in 1905 that:

we could not have done what the Japanese have done: for as a nation
we are growing stale, flaccid, and nerveless. In point of national
ardour and power of self-sacrifice the Japs [sic] stand about where
we did at Agincourt."

Japan was thus not just a state that should be admired because of the
progress it had made since 1868, but one that could in itself act as an
example to Britain. This belief that Japan had become a beacon of mod-
ernization in Asia was reflected in the following years in the writings of
a number of visitors and observers. Most famously this complimentary
view was adopted by Sidney and Beatrice Webb, whose visit to East Asia
in 1911 led them to contrast Japan’s modernity with what they saw as
the hopeless feudal backwardness of Korea and China.?® Reinforcing this
trait was the tendency, as seen in Curzon’s comment, to draw parallels
between the histories of the two countries and to emphasize their sim-
ilarity of outlook by referring to the alliance as an association between
‘two island empires’.
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This admiration for Japan’s achievements led, moreover, to a marked
change in how it was treated at the diplomatic level. In October 1905
Britain announced its decision to raise the status of its diplomatic
representation in Japan from a legation to an embassy. In doing so,
it indicated that it now perceived Japan to be one of the highest-
ranking countries on a par with the Great Powers in Europe and the
United States. This privileged treatment of Japan was also reflected in
the development of the relationship between the British and Japanese
royal courts. In 1906 a British mission to Japan led by Prince Arthur of
Connaught bestowed the Order of the Garter on Emperor Meiji and the
same honour was granted to his successor in 1912.2! The sense of trust
that developed in the diplomatic sphere is neatly reflected in the rec-
ollections of one British diplomat, Thomas Hohler, who served in the
Tokyo legation at the time of the Russo-Japanese War. In his memoirs
Hohler observed: ‘People talk of the gulf which separates the European
from the Japanese, but I found them to be a good deal more like us than
many other foreigners.’??

However, as noted above, Japan’s remarkable progress in the 1900s
came at a price, for some in Britain saw the former’s advancement as
an unwelcome factor in international politics. Once again a minority
reacted by indulging in ‘yellow peril’ rhetoric, which warned of Japan’s
pretensions to lead Asia and the possibility of racial war in the future.
As Akira Iikura has noted, these sentiments, although they held appeal
in continental Europe, were not particularly widespread in Britain.?
They did though find a home in the British Dominions bordering the
Pacific where fears of Japanese immigration became more concrete than
they had been in the 1890s. A more important strain of thinking in
Britain was that Japan, having emerged as the major regional power in
East Asia, might now pose a threat to British interests. In other words,
the awareness existed that with Russia’s defeat the balance of power in
the region had changed and that Japan was now capable of challenging
any of the Western Powers.

Allied to this recognition of Japan’s improved standing was the sense
that the Japanese had by no means satiated their ambitions and that
they aimed at the steady accumulation of influence over China. These
fears were particularly prevalent among the British trading community
in China, which began to see Japan as a rival that was undercutting
the interests of its own ally.** Some in Britain, including the pushy
young seventh Earl Stanhope who was looking for a cause to cham-
pion, and, perhaps more surprisingly, the erstwhile Japanophile Ian
Hamilton sympathized with their concerns. The latter, indeed, went as
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far as to declare, with his usual tendency towards hyperbole, that, ‘we
have no more deadly enemies in the world than our Japanese allies.’*
In addition, concern about Japanese ambitions was expressed within the
wider British Empire. In Australia the government of Alfred Deakin per-
ceived Japan as a potential menace to its security, which in turn led to a
debate over whether the newly formed federation ought to have its own
navy.?® Similar concerns were expressed in Canada, where Lord Grey,
the Governor-General, noted to the Prime Minister Sir Wilfrid Laurier
he feared that the Japanese might be able to strike against the unde-
fended coast of British Columbia.?”” However, others were dismissive of
the Japanese threat by contending that Japan’s talent was overwhelm-
ingly focused on merely copying the West and that it had no initiative
of its own. Thus, for example, in 1912 when the young Philip Kerr (later
as Lord Lothian to be British ambassador in Washington in 1939-40)
visited Japan, he observed: ‘In truth most people at home are quite
unnecessarily afraid of the Japs [sic]. Their reputation I fancy will rapidly
decline. They are quite competent imitators of the West, but no more.’?®

Thus even in the years preceding World War I, when the alliance
was supposed to be at its height, an ambivalent image of Japan existed
within British circles. The Japanese victory in the conflict against Russia
in 1905 had confirmed that Britain had chosen correctly three years ear-
lier when it had sought an ally in order to deal with the Russian menace,
but this did not mean that Britain had unshakeable faith in Japan. Iron-
ically, British doubts were entertained about its ally precisely because
Japan had been so successful. Modernization thus may have made Japan
an equal to the West, but in this process it had merely replaced its former
image of weakness for a new one of lingering distrust.

Japan’s rise to international prominence not surprisingly led to ques-
tions about whether China would follow in its wake. Some in the late
1900s claimed to witness shoots of recovery, most notably the Australian
journalist G.E. Morrison who worked as Peking correspondent of The
Times. In 1910 Morrison gave a talk to the Author’s Club in London on
the subject of “The Awakening of China’ in which he drew a favourable
picture of the recent reforms made in the areas of education and com-
munications. His assertions attracted some interest, but this was in the
main limited to those, such as Stanhope, who had already begun to
evince suspicion of Japan’s ambitions.? Moreover, any immediate hope
in China’s resuscitation was rendered premature when in 1911-12 a rev-
olution swept the Manchu monarchy from power replacing it with a
weak and divided republic. As the new state struggled, and failed, to
achieve national unity over the following years, the stereotype of China
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as a country that was lost in slumber as the world progressed around
it was reinforced. Apparently not even the adoption of republicanism
could stir China into real reform and modernization.

The next event that precipitated change in the way in which East Asia
was perceived was World War 1. In regard to British perceptions of Japan,
that conflict led to both a deepening of the doubts about its ambitions
and a broadening of the constituency that accepted the need for suspi-
cion. This sense of unease arose largely out of the belief that Japan was
cynically using the power vacuum in East Asia created by the war to pur-
sue its own national interests; a tendency that was symbolized above all
else by the ‘twenty-one demands’ that it attempted to impose on China
in 1915. As one observer commented, in exerting such pressure on the
Chinese: ‘The Japs [sic] do not seem to be playing the game.”** Another
disturbing development was the rise of vocal pan-Asianism in Japan,
in which radical right-wing pressure groups called on the government
to do much more to liberate their Asian brothers from the European
colonial yoke. Japan’s wartime behaviour confirmed the British trad-
ing community in China in its distrust, but also, unlike in the pre-war
period, this suspicion also spread to the British diplomatic corps. Indeed,
by the end of World War I it was difficult to find many diplomats with
East Asian experience who believed that the alliance should be main-
tained.?! In public, British statesmen continued to express faith in their
Japanese ally, but, as one Australian observer discovered to his satisfac-
tion, this represented expediency rather than ‘any particular affection
for our Eastern neighbours’.?

Reinforcing this heightened suspicion of Japan was the fact that the
nature of international politics was changing. With the American entry
into World War I, the conflict against Germany shifted from being one
of clashing national interests to one designed to extinguish German
militarism and build a world based on democracy and internationalist
principles. This shift towards a more overtly moralistic diplomacy had
global implications. In East Asia it quickly began to merge with the con-
sistently held Anglo-American belief that the ‘open door’ constituted
the best way to manage international rivalries and encourage Chinese
reform.** The obvious consequence of such thinking was that as Japan
stood as the greatest danger to the future of the ‘open door’, it came
to be viewed as a potentially hostile state. Moreover, it did not help
matters that the Imperial Japanese Army (IJA) showed a marked propen-
sity to involve itself in high politics and to attempt to inculcate society
with its values. This led its critics to say that Japan was imbued with
distinctively German traits and to christen it the ‘Prussia of the East’.
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This criticism, which, in particular, stressed the IJA’s past training at the
hands of German advisers, was heard in both British and American cir-
cles, and led to speculation that in the future Japan might be drawn
towards an alliance with Germany.3*

The problem, however, was that although critics of Japan existed
in both conservative and liberal circles within the British Empire, the
increasing ideological divide between these two groups meant that they
did not necessarily worry about the same things or seek similar solu-
tions. On the conservative side of the spectrum, Australia played a
complicating role in deciding the empire’s attitude towards Japan. Con-
cerned about preserving the ‘White Australia’ policy, the Australian
Prime Minister William Morris Hughes, took the leading part at the
Paris Peace Conference of 1919 in wrecking Japan's attempt to have a
racial equality clause drawn into the League of Nations Covenant. How-
ever, just two years later in 1921, at an Imperial Conference in London,
Hughes emerged, perhaps surprisingly, as the chief proponent of main-
taining the Anglo-Japanese Alliance. He did not, of course, do this out
of any newfound love for Japan; it was rather the case that he saw the
alliance as the best practical means of containing its ambitions and thus
preserving ‘White Australia’. The Japan that he feared can thus be cate-
gorized as one that posed both a racial and strategic threat to his country
and which had to be kept in its proper place as Britain’s junior partner
in Asia.*

In both of these years, 1919 and 1921, Hughes took the opposite path
to that espoused by the liberal internationalists who were also attempt-
ing to influence British foreign policy in this period. Their critical image
of Japan rested on its perceived tendency towards imperialism and mil-
itarism, which was seen as dangerously anachronistic. As such, these
figures, argued that the Japanese alliance should be terminated and that
Britain should instead align its foreign policy in the Pacific with that
of the United States. Thus, for example, Austin Harrison, the liberal
editor of the English Review, argued in the run-up to the Washington
Conference of 1921, at which the future of the alliance was bound to be
discussed, that:

The conference will give us the opportunity to declare our policy,
above all to prove whether we have learnt any lesson from the war,
whether we are to remain the ‘flaming second’ of Japan, or to move
constrictively and culturally at the side of America as the example of
world-peace.3¢
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A corollary to this position was that if in future Japan was denied the
strategic protection that was explicit in the alliance it might possibly
be persuaded that it had more to gain from internationalist cooperation
with the West than from continuing to pursue a policy of imperialist
expansion. A crucial element in this argument, and one that was partic-
ularly evident among the intellectuals and publicists who contributed
to The Round Table journal, was that Britain needed to avoid any com-
plete severance of its ties with Japan lest this merely exacerbate racial
tensions between Asia and the West, which clearly could only have the
most unfortunate consequences for the British Empire. The alliance,
it was argued, had acted as a useful bridge between the races and this
advantage should not be cast aside, thus any future arrangement had to
reassure Japan and Asia in general that it was not being slighted on racial
grounds.?” Thus the optimum solution was for the United States to be
persuaded to adhere to a drastically watered-down version of the alliance
that would bring internationalist principles into East Asia without at the
same time offending Japan.

The irony of the situation was that both the conservative and lib-
eral critics of Japan achieved only half of their goals. Hughes defeated
racial equality but could not preserve the alliance: the liberals were able
to bring about a multilateral order based on internationalist principles
at the Washington Conference of 1921-22, but this contained nothing
that explicitly bridged the racial divide. Moreover, only two years after
the end of the conference the United States in its Immigration Act of
1924 aggravated the racial problem by introducing the total exclusion
of Japanese immigrants.?® In retrospect, one might say that this repre-
sented the worst of all possible worlds, for Japan had been deprived of
its security alliance but at the same time still nursed the grievance that
it was being treated as an inferior for racial reasons. Moreover, as many
recognised at the time, the danger was that the latter of these issues
could become a serious problem as Japan was entering into a particu-
larly difficult period where its population growth threatened to out-run
its economy and resources.*” Thus, while the Japanese threat subsided in
the 1920s, it was not felt that it had disappeared entirely and a number
of observers continued to write about the possibility that at some future
date a ‘real Armageddon will be fought between the white and yellow
peoples’.#°

Just as World War I and the internationalist moment led to a change in
the way in which Japan was perceived, so it had a similar effect on how
some in the West treated China. Despite the fact that the latter country
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descended from 1916 to 1928 into the chaos of the warlord years, there
was increasing hope among liberals that it might finally be on the verge
of moving along the road towards modernization. An important stim-
ulus to this sense of optimism was the appearance of a new, young,
Western-educated intelligentsia in China who spoke the language of
reform and internationalism. British commentators felt that this group
had to be encouraged, for they were in a sense the West’s own creation.*!
Even the arrival of radical anti-imperialist nationalism in the Chinese
treaty ports around the mid-1920s did not entirely dent this faith in
‘Young China’, for liberal observers of the scene had little sympathy
with those who wished to preserve Western privileges and, in particular,
looked down on the anachronistic views of the British trading commu-
nity. One such figure was Basil Riley, a young Australian, who was sent
out to Shanghai by The Times in 1927. In a letter to Harold Williams, the
director of the Foreign Department at The Times, Riley observed:

a really big upheaval is needed here in Shanghai. The rigidity of mind
is trying & the amount of utter bunk dealt out to newcomers by
alleged leaders of the British community is just appalling. One might
be in the nineteenth century.*?

Influenced by such views, the former prime minister David Lloyd George
wrote in the foreword to a book of essays on China by the Manchester
Guardian journalist, Arthur Ransome, that was published in 1927, the
year of greatest tension between Britain and China, that, ‘Chinese
nationalism is essentially a just cause’ and that ‘we must at all costs
avoid the impression that the Nationalists are our enemies.’*
Accordingly, as Nicholas Clifford has noted, these years also marked
the arrival in China of a new kind of visitor, one who sought to find
evidence of the country’s progress and to speculate about its future.
Included among their number were Ransome, Peter Fleming and Gerald
Yorke and their conclusions, which were relatively positive, seem to
have reached a sizeable audience in Britain.** However, China’s image
was not just changed by those who visited its shores, but also by the
increasing willingness of Chinese intellectuals to engage with their
Western counterparts. For example, in 1926 the prominent Chinese
philosopher, Hu Shih, engaged in a successful and high-profile visit
to London in which he presented a paper to the British Institute of
International Affairs on the theme of reform and education in China.*®
In addition, it is noteworthy that the private papers of British interna-
tionalists for the interwar years often reveal them to have been in regular
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contact with one or more Chinese intellectual. In part this seems to have
arisen from the genuine Chinese enthusiasm for the League of Nations,
but, in addition, it is worth noting the significance of the establishment
in 1925 of the Institute of Pacific Relations (IPR) by American Christians
and philanthropists. The IPR provided with its biannual (later trien-
nial) conferences a new forum for discussion of regional events, which
allowed Chinese intellectuals to make personal contact with their British
and American counterparts. For example, it is notable that the private
papers of Sir Charles Webster, who attended the IPR conferences in 1927
and 1929, and Sir Arnold Toynbee, who attended in 1931, both con-
tain letters from Chinese correspondents in the mid-to-late-1930s asking
them to use their influence to help China in its struggle with Japan.*
Strangely, there is little evidence that Japanese intellectuals attempted
to use correspondence in this manner.

This interest in China also had its cultural side. Some intellectuals,
such as Bertrand Russell and Harold Acton, were now drawn to visit
China because, in the wake of World War I, they were wracked with
doubt about the future of Western civilization. They thus sought to find
a balm in Chinese culture before it too was snuffed out by the unfor-
giving weight of ‘progress’.*” Others, however, looked to the process of
modernization as hopefully finally bringing about the rejuvenation of
China as a civilization and thus putting it back on a par with the West.
It is perhaps in this sense that we can understand the immense success
of the exhibition of Chinese art that took place at the Royal Academy
in London in the autumn and winter of 1935-36, for this seemed to
confirm China’s re-emergence from its own ‘dark ages’.*

It would, however, be a mistake to see the interwar period as an age
in which the previous British sympathy for Japan was simply replaced
by affection for China. As I have noted elsewhere, there were sharp divi-
sions among British opinion-makers during these years, which to a large
degree reflected the increasingly serious ideological dispute between lib-
erals and conservatives over how to approach international politics.*
Conservatives in this period were deeply sceptical about the ideas asso-
ciated with internationalism, such as the emphasis put on collective
security rather than national interest and the preference for concilia-
tion rather than the demonstration of force. They, therefore, tended to
view events in East Asia from a very different perspective. In regard to
China, they had little faith in its rejuvenation for, relying on the tra-
ditional stereotypes of the country, they entertained profound doubts
about whether the GMD could ever bring about unity or introduce
adequate governance. As one conservative journal, the English Review,
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observed in 1927 Chinese nationalism was no more than its traditional
xenophobia and that:

Of ‘patriotic ideals’, consciously and unselfishly pursued towards def-
inite ends of national security and progress, of any genuine determi-
nation to help China win her rightful place in the comity of nations,
as Japan has done, by discipline, efficiency and honest administrative
reforms, there has never been, and there is not, any sign.>°

Accordingly, they saw no reason to revise British treaty rights and saw
the Chinese threats of unilateral abrogation that were made between
1925 and 1931 as lacking any legal or practical basis. Indeed, their
desired response to Chinese infringements of treaty rights was to revert
to ‘gunboat diplomacy’.

Moreover, as indicated in the quotation above, the right within British
politics continued to be considerably impressed by Japan. In part, this
can be seen as a reflection of an assumed similarity between Britain and
Japan both in terms of institutions and outlook. Japan, after all, still pos-
sessed a monarchy, which China did not. Japan was a state that put a
high premium on patriotism, discipline and service, which were all traits
that were highly attractive to British conservatives. Beyond that, how-
ever, was another important factor, and one which went to the heart of
the ideological dispute in Britain. This was the idea on the right that the
alliance with Japan, which had secured British interests in the Pacific
for two decades, had been needlessly sacrificed at the Washington Con-
ference in the name of internationalism and Anglo-American solidarity.
It had been replaced by reliance on the League of Nations and the United
States which, it was contended, would surely be of little assistance at
Britain’s moment of crisis. The support for Japan has, therefore, to be
understood as one front in a much broader war that was taking place
between the opponents and advocates of ‘new diplomacy’.>!

The fact that these competing images of Japan and China existed is
important for they help to make sense of the vagaries of British foreign
policy towards East Asia in the 1930s. In that decade the British govern-
ment reacted to the growing confrontation between Japan and China
by trying to keep a middle distance between the two protagonists and
avoiding controversy. It did so in part for strategic reasons, but, in addi-
tion, its lack of any definite initiative needs to be seen in the light of the
fact that there was no domestic consensus on how to deal with this sit-
uation. The right presented Japanese grievances against China as being
similar to Britain’s, castigated the League for its unwise intervention into
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the Manchurian crisis and even called for a new alliance with Japan.
Meanwhile the left watched for any signs of heresy against internation-
alism and talked of ‘democratic’ China struggling to resist ‘fascist’ Japan.
Thus, for example, in May 1937, when rumours about the possibility
of Anglo-Japanese talks surfaced at Westminster the Labour politician,
Philip Noel-Baker, noted to an academic friend, ‘The Government are
now trying to patch up an Imperialist deal with the fascist dictatorship
in Japan for sharing the swag in China on precisely the lines your note
predicted ... ”? Faced with such a febrile environment the government
was placed in an exceedingly difficult position which only heightened
its natural reticence.

What is also interesting about the 1930s is that some of the more
extreme and abstract arguments of the previous decades that were con-
nected to racially derived images seem to have been forgotten. Clearly
now Japanese expansion posed a direct threat to British interests, but,
surprisingly, there was little talk within Britain of any future conflict
constituting a race war. Why this was so is not entirely clear, especially
as Japanese trade competition did lead to a short-lived recrudescence
of ‘yellow peril’ rhetoric.®®* One explanation might be that while some
Japanese commentators espoused pan-Asian ideas their credentials were
hardly burnished by Japan’s domineering attitude towards the Chinese,
which reached its peak with the outbreak of the Sino-Japanese War
in July 1937 and the appalling massacres that followed in December
that year in Nanjing.>* In addition, one needs to recollect that Japan'’s
rhetoric about its being unjustly discriminated against by the status
quo powers was the same as that emanating from two European pow-
ers, Germany and Italy. This then was an alliance of the ‘have-not’ late
industrializing states rather than a racial combination.

This chapter has presented a rough sketch of the evolution of British
images of East Asia in the first four decades of the twentieth century
and much more might be said. However, what is apparent from this
still incomplete picture is that the stereotypes that existed in British
minds were to an extent malleable and that opinion was far from uni-
form. In particular, this was the case in the interwar period. During
these latter years conservatives continued to base their images of East
Asia very largely on the shop-worn clichés of the previous generation,
in which Japan was largely eulogized and China damned with criti-
cism. This was, though, as much due to political expediency, in the
sense of having a stick to beat the left with, as it was to any sense of
conviction. However, the shift on the left after 1918 towards a more
internationalist perspective on foreign affairs and the adoption of an
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increasingly critical attitude towards imperialism led to a marked change
in attitudes, whereby China rather than Japan became the preferred
symbol of modernity. This in part reflected some of the real changes
that were taking place in the region, but must also be understood as
a more abstract intellectual choice that expressed the left’s aspirations
for the region and for world politics more broadly. After all, to claim
in the 1930s that Japan was fascist, but not to see that Jiang Jieshi’s
GMD regime flirted with fascism in the form of the Blue Shirts and
the espousal of the New Life movement was nothing more than an
exercise in wilful myopia.>® However, Japan had aligned itself with the
Axis powers and in that sense it logically followed that one could draw
direct parallels between the suffering of the Chinese people as victims
of Japanese aggression and those of Republican Spain at the hands of
Franco and his allies.

What the above hopefully does is to underline the degree to which
historians must be careful in studying images as part of international
and imperial history. It is clearly vital to understand how one country
viewed another if one is to make any sense of the policy-making pro-
cess. At the same time, however, one has to acknowledge that, while
particular tropes often maintain their resonance over time, they can
also be subject to revision. Clearly events can change how one coun-
try perceives another; for many in Britain the alliance with Japan was
never the same after World War I due to their knowledge that the
Japanese had not been the most loyal of allies. In addition, however,
ideas and ideologies evolve and this too affects perception. In the period
after the Paris Peace Conference and the establishment of the League
of Nations it was inevitable that some Britons would now judge other
states on how loyally they committed themselves to the tenets of inter-
nationalism. In 1931 Japan failed that test, while China passed and was
seen by the League enthusiasts as the victim of Japanese aggression.
It is also, however, important to remember in a discipline that seems
increasingly obsessed with Orientalism and ideas of ‘the Other’, that
images of foreign peoples are not simply tools used by the observers to
define national identity, they are also used as weapons within national
discourse where they become exemplars of policies or attitudes that par-
ticular parties or factions support or deprecate. The example of how the
British viewed Japan and China is a case in point, for in reality the argu-
ments used tell one not so much about British identity as about the
ideological divisions that were, almost fatally, paralysing the political
process while the country was faced with the challenge from what
became the Tripartite Powers.
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The Struggle to Maintain Locarno
Diplomacy

Britain and the Idea of a Political Truce
in 1931

Frank Magee

As far as British policy makers were concerned the central issue in
European diplomacy since the end of World War I was how to deal with
the German problem and the associated question of French security.
It was hoped in London that Britain’s adherence to the Treaty of Locarno
in 1925 had gone a long way to satisfy French anxieties; anxieties that
had to be addressed if the preferred option in London - some revision
of the Treaty of Versailles in Germany’s favour — could be tackled. The
early 1920s had demonstrated how difficult it was for Britain to persuade
France to accept British policy in Europe without some kind of security
commitment over and above the somewhat nebulous obligations out-
lined in the Covenant of the League of Nations. The Anglo-American
guarantee offered to France during the Paris Peace Conference had
lapsed when the United States Senate refused to ratify the Peace treaty
with Germany. Further attempts to provide for French security through
a bilateral Anglo-French alliance failed due to Lloyd George’s refusal
to undertake commitments in Eastern Europe to underpin the Cordon
Sanitaire of states around Germany which France had constructed as a
makeweight against German revival. Conscious of its global commit-
ments, Britain after 1918 was more anxious to limit its commitments
than extend them, especially into areas such as Eastern Europe which
were not perceived to be areas of vital British interest. Security initiatives
through the agency of the League of Nations, such as the Draft Treaty of
Mutual Guarantee and the Geneva Protocol, were similarly dashed upon
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the rocks of Britain’s unwillingness to undertake further, and apparently
unlimited responsibility for international security.!

The continuing refusal, however, to make a further contribution to
the security of France, while it obviously limited Britain’s commitments,
also had the effect of straining Anglo-French relations almost to break-
ing point on a number of occasions — most notably at the time of the
Ruhr Crisis in 1923 — and completely handicapped British policy makers
when trying to persuade the French to adopt a line more acceptable to
Whitehall. The conclusion of the Treaty of Locarno, which, in theory at
least, provided a British guarantee to France and an obligation to act if
the demilitarised Rhineland were ‘flagrantly’ violated, went some way to
satisfy French fears of a revived Germany. The Treaty of Locarno also had
the effect, which was seen as a distinct advantage in London, of making
France wary of weakening the new found commitment from Britain.
Thus, Locarno gave the British government a much greater influence
over French policy than had formerly been the case. From 1925 to 1930,
therefore, and especially during Sir Austen Chamberlain’s period as For-
eign Secretary, Anglo-French relations developed a closeness which had
all too evidently been lacking in the immediate post-war period. With
renewed confidence in Britain’s attachment to France, and with gentle
coaxing from London, after Locarno French leaders found it possible
to agree to ameliorate some of the provisions of Versailles. In 1927 the
Inter-Allied Military Control Commission was wound up and in 1929
at The Hague Conference, Briand, the French Foreign Minister, agreed
to abandon the military occupation of the two remaining Rhineland
zones in return for Germany’s acceptance of the Young Plan.> More-
over, Britain had gained distinct advantages as a result of the Rhineland
Pact which it wished to retain. Not only did Britain have a much
greater influence over France than in the immediate post-war period,
but political stability also brought with it the hope of improved trade.
Locarno also added to Britain’s own security by obliging the German
Army to remain to the east of the Rhine and by encouraging continuing
Franco-German reconciliation.

The deepening economic crisis that gathered momentum after 1929,
however, served to derail further efforts at Franco-German detente. The
collapse of the Grand Coalition in Germany and its replacement by a
Cabinet led by Dr. Briining and reliant upon Article 48 of the Consti-
tution to govern, created unease. The amazing emergence of the Nazis
from a tiny splinter party on the radical Right into the second largest
party in the Reichstag in September 1930 turned that unease into anxi-
ety. The trend in German political rhetoric to vehement denunciations
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of Versailles made French governments less willing to concede to the
German point of view. Naturally, the movement of opinion in France
and the growing right-wing radicalism in Germany, threatened British
hopes of continuing Franco-German detente and therefore the political
stability of Europe. At the end of June 1930 the German government
had issued a manifesto promising with reference to the Saarland, ‘to
do all that lies in us to assure that their desire for reunion may soon
be realised’.® The election campaign for the new Reichstag due to meet
in September 1930, gave further evidence of the further nationalistic
shift in German opinion. The Minister for the Occupied Territories,
Treviranus, had declared, ‘Now the East demands the unification of all
German people.”* The question of the revision of the recently agreed
Young Plan was also much to the fore in the election campaign and
remained a feature of international relations during the rest of 1930 and
into1931. If these developments were not sufficient to create Franco-
German tension, then the attempt by Germany and Austria to conclude
a Customs Union, announced to an unprepared world in March 1931,
confirmed the worst fears of French leaders. Despite the repeated asser-
tions of German and Austrian ministers that the proposal was merely an
attempt to alleviate the impact of the depression, French ministers took
it to be the first step towards the Anschluss. As a consequence of this
latest German move, Franco-German relations descended to a new low.’

It was against this background that the idea of a political mora-
torium, or political truce as it was called in the Foreign Office, first
appeared in early June 1931. The idea emerged from a letter which
Sir Eric Drummond, the Secretary-General of the League of Nations, sent
to Philip Noel-Baker, the Parliamentary Under-Secretary to the Foreign
Secretary, recording a conversation with Comert, the Press Director of
the League Secretariat.

Following visits to Vienna, Budapest and Berlin, Comert had become
convinced that the severity of the economic crisis facing European coun-
tries was of such magnitude that the question of treaty revision, which
had dominated European diplomacy since the end of the Great War,
was being pushed by responsible people firmly into the background.
Firmly in the foreground, on the other hand, Comert argued, was the
fear of social unrest caused by the economic depression. He suggested
that one way of lowering unemployment in Central and Eastern Europe,
and thus lessening the potential for revolutionary outbreaks, would be
for the French to inject a large amount of capital into the German econ-
omy. He fully realised the reluctance of France to do this for fear of a
revived Germany pressing its demands for treaty revision with renewed
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vigour. To allay French anxieties on this point, Comert suggested that
Germany, as a quid pro quo for the help she would receive, should agree
to a political truce for ten years. Comert believed that this would be
a very reasonable request since, in his view, the principal question of
the next ten years in Europe would be the maintenance of social and
economic stability.®

The initial response in the Foreign Office to Comert’s idea of a polit-
ical truce between Britain, France, Germany and Italy was to doubt
its feasibility. With Britain wishing to see peace and tranquillity on
the continent, and France wishing to maintain her position of supe-
riority over Germany, no difficulty was envisaged in the acceptance
by these two countries of a political truce. Indeed, even Italy, with
her ‘somewhat indeterminate’ aims, aspiring perhaps to expansion in
the Mediterranean and influence in the Danube Basin, was thought to
represent no obstacle to such a truce since Italy, the Permanent Under-
Secretary Sir Robert Vansittart asserted, ‘requires ten years to grow’.’
The central problem was, of course, the probable attitude of Germany.
Both Nichols, a member of the Foreign Office’s Central Department, and
his departmental head, Orme Sargent, doubted whether any German
statesman would make a bargain on the basis of economic help for the
abandonment of ten years of such issues as the Polish Corridor, the cus-
toms union with Austria, or disarmament. Vansittart, on the other hand,
was not inclined to agree with his colleagues. He replied to their views
on 16 June:

It is not at all impossible for the idea to be linked up with any thor-
oughgoing reparations concession to Germany. She should be made,
if possible, to pay a fair price for that. Nothing short of that will serve,
and even so it may be difficult: but it must be borne in mind, for if
ever the French and the Americans were to play up this might well
be one of the conditions they would be disposed to lay down.?

Vansittart’s assessment of future developments was to be fully borne out
by events. On 20 June 1931 President Hoover, worried about American
financial exposure in Germany and the possibility that independent
action by the latter might raise the issue of war debt payments to the
United States, announced his proposal to place a moratorium on inter-
national debts for one year in an effort to relieve the financial crisis
threatening to engulf the world.” The French, however, refused to accept
the Hoover Moratorium without modification and pressure was applied
in Berlin by London and Washington to persuade the Germans to make
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some contribution for the debt relief they would be receiving. In Paris
during his conversation on 15 July 1931 Arthur Henderson, the Foreign
Secretary, was told by Laval, the French Prime Minister, that no sub-
stantial French help would be rendered to Germany without political
conditions. Henderson, who had gone to Paris with a copy of a mem-
orandum by Noel-Baker dealing with the question of a political truce,
suggested the idea of a truce to Laval and almost certainly intended to
press the idea on the Germans during his planned visit to Berlin later
the same summer.

In his memorandum, Noel-Baker painted a highly pessimistic picture
of the position in the ‘storm centre’ of Europe: Germany. If Germany
collapsed it would bring the countries of Central Europe down with it,
and ‘London, as the financial centre with the greatest commitments in
Germany, would be seriously affected’.!® Even if the Reich surmounted
its present financial crisis, Noel-Baker argued that without a revival in
trade, German unemployment, currently at more than four million,
would rise to seven or eight million in the approaching winter; but
‘long before that happens the country must have fallen under a Hitler
or Communist dictatorship’. The economic and political results of such
a development would be disastrous and

almost certainly involve the withdrawal of Germany from the League
[of Nations|, the failure of the Disarmament Conference, and a
complete set-back to the whole cause of European co-operation.!

Faced with this stark scenario, Noel-Baker stressed Europe’s need for a
German economic revival to forestall the forces of revolution inside
Germany and throughout Central and Eastern Europe. No country could
view the possibility of a continuation of the economic crisis without
alarm; therefore governments ‘must desire to take every measure pos-
sible to bring about the stimulation of investment and the revival of
trade’.!? For this to take place the major countries of Europe, together
with the Central Banks, had to adopt a policy of ‘concerted economic
co-operation’, and secondly, confidence had to be restored. For that to
happen, ‘the fear of political and social unrest, and above all the fear
of war’ had to be removed. In short, the essential prerequisite was for
‘friendly relations and understanding between Germany and France’ to
be re-established which lay at the heart of Britain’s Locarno diplomacy."

French good faith in German intentions had been shaken by the
customs union crisis, the growth of the Nazi Party and continuing
propaganda regarding the Polish Corridor. ‘In order to re-establish
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French confidence and French support for M. Briand’s policy’, Noel-
Baker wrote,

it is plain that Germany must give some kind of reassurance to France
that she does not intend to break up the peace treaty system by faits
accomplis or by violence, but only to secure modifications in her
favour as and when they can be attained by mutual consent.!*

Such a declaration, Noel-Baker realised, could not be imposed upon
Germany; it would have to take the form of a general declaration under-
taken by all the major European countries. If the Briining government
issued such a declaration unilaterally, such was the internal political sit-
uation inside Germany, it ‘would be swept from power, leaving the road
open to Hitler and the Communist parties’.!s

Noel-Baker argued that for Briining to accept the declaration of a polit-
ical truce, even in a multilateral form, public opinion in Germany would
have to be brought round by certain concessions. He highlighted a num-
ber of areas where such concessions might be made. In regard to disar-
mament, Noel-Baker suggested that the European powers should declare
their intention of making the Disarmament Conference, due to meet
in February 1932, succeed, with the aim of producing real reductions
and applying the same system of regulation and measures of disarma-
ment to all countries. Such a policy would, Noel-Baker hoped, lessen
the ‘inferiority complex’ the Germans were taken to feel.'® He further
suggested that a financial bargain might bring about the reunion of the
Saarland with Germany before the plebiscite due in January 1935. Here,
Noel-Baker felt, the French had much to gain in terms of German good
will at minimum cost to themselves. After all, it was highly likely that
the plebiscite would produce a result favouring a return to the Reich."
Noel-Baker’s other ideas on concessions to German public opinion dealt
with a possible private assurance that reparations would be scaled down
in proportion to the fall in prices; the possibility of a further declara-
tion from European countries affirming their determination to see the
rights of minorities effectively protected; and, finally, the transforma-
tion of the Austro-German customs union proposal ‘into something
which would be free from political objection and which would be of
economic value to Europe as a whole’.!® Should this policy of economic
co-operation and political truce fail, Noel-Baker believed Germany could
look forward to economic collapse, ‘with communism probably added
to the miseries’; while France would face ‘a Germany inspired by
undying hatred and determined sooner or later to seek revenge’."
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These ideas were given added impetus by the negotiations that were
proceeding in Paris between the French and the Americans regard-
ing the implementation of the Hoover moratorium. These negotiations
were particularly galling to the British for a number of reasons. First,
it appeared that while Laval fiddled Europe’s financial structure was
crashing down: Germany was struck by a banking crisis in early July,
a crisis whose shock waves would eventually undermine London as the
next weak link in the chain. Second, it was undoubtedly exasperating
for the British to be forced to play a passive role in negotiations the
outcome of which was of the utmost interest to them. Third, France
was comparatively immune from the ravages of the slump at this stage.
Unemployment was low, the franc stable and the Bank of France held
gold reserves second only to the Federal Reserve in New York.? In Britain
unemployment was rising and a run on the gold reserves of the Bank
of England in July and August was about to produce a collapse. Despite
this weak hand, the British nevertheless applied pressure in Washington,
Paris and Berlin in order to try to secure their interests. The British, and
in particular the Prime Minister and the Chancellor of the Exchequer,
were worried that the Americans would concede too much to the
French; that the French would demand too much and thus wreck the
effectiveness of Hoover’s proposal, and that the Germans, by refusing
to offer anything as a quid pro quo for the benefits of the moratorium,
would encourage the French to stand firm.

Britain was the first of the world’s major nations to accept Hoover’s
proposal wholeheartedly. It was hoped that an immediate statement in
the House of Commons announcing Britain’s adherence to the Hoover
scheme would add to the beneficial psychological impact of the move,
and by outlining British losses of between £11 and £12.6 million per
annum, the French would be encouraged to accept their proposed losses.
It was further thought that such an announcement would anticipate
‘any possible announcement by a foreign Government which might
jeopardize the scheme’.?! Although it was considered possible that the
French might raise difficulties it was not certain at this stage. However,
should that prove to be the case the Cabinet agreed that the Americans
were better placed than the British to persuade Paris.??

The French were not slow in bringing forward their objections.
As early as 22 June Berthelot, the head of the Quai d’Orsay, had warned
Sir Walter Layton, the owner of The Economist, and J.R. Cahill, the Com-
mercial Counsellor at the British Embassy in Paris, ‘that France would
undoubtedly accept [the Hoover Moratorium] in principle, though the
scheme would require adaption’.?* Berthelot pointed out that the loss of



48 The Struggle to Maintain Locarno Diplomacy

the unconditional annuities when the budget was already heading for a
deficit would prove ‘a serious matter for France’. His principal objection,
however, centred on the fear that ‘Germany would never resume pay-
ment once [it had been] definitely suspended.’** Nevertheless, he was
confident of ways being found to render Germany help while securing
the principle of continuing reparations payments.> In short, this was
the line to which France held in the summer of 1931.

The Foreign Office was sympathetic to French difficulties, particu-
larly in relation to public opinion and the hostility in the Chamber
to unilateral concessions in Germany’s favour. However, if the French
held out against the American initiative then public opinion across
the Atlantic might become increasingly critical of the President’s move
and force him to withdraw the offer. Naturally, the position of Europe
‘would be immeasurably worse’ should events take this turn.?® Accord-
ingly Sargent suggested that Germany, the only country from whom
no sacrifice was called, should make a contribution to the success of
the negotiations in Paris. Sargent thought Germany might be asked to
abandon the customs union with Austria and promise ‘not to revive
it’. Germany might agree to an investigation of its economic position
and thus satisfy the French of the desperate nature of Germany’s con-
dition. Further, Germany could suspend expenditure on the pocket
battleship Deutschland, and she might also promise not to relax the
provisions of the June emergency decrees following the moratorium.
These suggestions were adopted and sent to Lindsay in Washington
with the purpose of providing the American administration with ‘some
ideas which would promote the U[nited] S[tates’] chances of obtaining
French assent and also of obtaining some very legitimate return from
Germany for all the help and consideration — not wholly deserved -
which she is getting.”?” The Foreign Office deprecated the attachment
by France of political conditions to the acceptance of the Hoover Mora-
torium, but suggested that the voluntary abandonment of the customs
union and some reduction in Germany’s military budget would facili-
tate the common goal.?® The French viewed concessions by Germany as
integral to their acceptance of the Hoover Moratorium. In essence the
French agreed to suspend the conditional and unconditional annuities
of the Young Plan provided that the French share of the unconditional
annuity was deposited by the Germans at the Bank for International
Settlements, with the money being used to render financial assistance
to Germany and other countries in Central and Eastern Europe. France
also sought an undertaking from Berlin to uphold and observe inter-
national treaties.?” Although the German government had, without the
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prompting of any other power, declared its intention not to alter the
‘total financial results of the emergency decree’, this was not sufficient
for the French, or indeed the British, though it was seen as helpful in
London, as indeed was Briining’s suggestion of a meeting of French and
German ministers.*

The French insistence that Germany should still pay a proportion of
the unconditional annuity in the moratorium year was utterly rejected
by the Treasury in London. Germany was not in a position to pay. The
Treasury also found statements of French losses which had appeared in
the French press to be exaggerated.

The choice for France is not between getting full payment and no
payment, but between suspension of all payments and continu-
ing to meet her debt liabilities while not receiving payments from
Germany.®!

While Mellon, the Amercian Treasury Secretary, and Walter Edge, the
American Ambassador in Paris, were negotiating with the French, the
Foreign Office, which was not in total agreement with the Treasury’s
case, concentrated its efforts on persuading the Germans to make their
contribution in order to facilitate agreement in Paris.*?

In the knowledge that the Hoover Administration shared the British
government’s view that Germany should make a contribution to the set-
tlement of the dispute in Paris, Henderson wasted no time in telegraph-
ing to Newton in Berlin suggesting ‘that they [the German government]
could make no better contribution to the restoration of international
confidence’ than by allowing the Austro-German customs union to
drop.* On discovering that Sackett, the American Ambassador in Berlin,
had received instructions to support Britain’s view of the customs union,
and to point out to German ministers the ‘inadvisability of proceeding
with the construction of the battleships”’ Newton was told to support
Sackett’s representations on this latter point, while Henderson himself
tackled the German Ambassador in London von Neurath.**

These representations in Berlin had assumed a more particular
urgency following the breakdown of the Franco-American talks on
28 June. At the Cabinet meeting on 1 July Henderson gave his col-
leagues a summary of the continuing difficulties being experienced in
Paris. The Foreign Secretary could think of only one way of putting pres-
sure on the French to come to terms over the moratorium. Washington
had requested London to make forceful representations in Paris sup-
porting the stand taken by the administration. The Cabinet decided
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this was impossible and would be ineffective; however, it agreed with
Henderson that an international conference might be an effective way
of ‘putting pressure on France’.® Accordingly both Washington and
Paris were sounded on the feasibility of calling a conference in London
which both accepted in principle, though Briand, the French Foreign
Minister, pleaded for it to be held in Paris.*® Clearly, if the conference
moved to France part of the object of calling it would be defeated. In the
following few weeks the French continually resisted calls for a confer-
ence in London and indeed attempted to turn an informal gathering of
French, German, American and British ministers into an alternative con-
ference in mid-July. The resumption of Franco-American talks in Paris
put all talk of a conference in London temporarily into abeyance.

Anglo-American representations in Berlin about the customs union
and the battleships proved forlorn. Curtius, the German Foreign Minis-
ter, told Sackett on 30 June that the replacement of ships was unavoid-
able. Moreover, if the German government acceded to the request,
Hindenburg would resign. This argument was regarded as ‘poor sob
stuff’ in London.*” The Americans and the British returned to the
charge but it proved impossible to move the Germans. The most that
could be wrung from Berlin was a statement that the financial relief
gained by Germany from the moratorium would not be used to increase
armaments expenditure.3®

On the night of the 6-7 July agreement was at last reached in Paris.
Almost all of France’s desiderata had been met, perhaps not surpris-
ingly since it was deemed essential that France join in the moratorium
and there appeared to be few means available to pressurize her. All
inter-governmental debts were postponed except for the unconditional
annuities. These were to be paid by the Germans to the Bank of Inter-
national Settlements (BIS) in the form of German railway bonds. The
suspended payments were to be repaid in ten instalments beginning
on 1 July 1932. Of course, although this was only a Franco-American
agreement, it could affect the rights of other Powers signatory to the
Young Plan and this necessitated a meeting of those Powers which
was eventually held in London. But the fact that France had now
reached an understanding with the Americans made it very difficult
for others, especially the British, to stand out against it as Vansittart
noted.* This settlement did not alleviate Germany’s plight. In early
July a banking crisis almost toppled the German economy over the
precipice.

The run on German credit had been magnified by the government’s
emergency decree of 6 June. Investors, German and foreign, anticipated
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a major upheaval affecting German finance. Indeed, had it not been
for President Hoover’s intervention, Briining had already decided to call
for a moratorium under the Young Plan. Hoover’s announcement did
much initially to steady the jittery Berlin markets.** However, the atti-
tude of France and the prolonged negotiations in Paris had dissipated
the good effect of the announcement. Moreover, the news on 3 July that
the Norddeutsch Wollkimmerei was unable to meet its creditors, princi-
pally the Danat Bank saw the resumption of withdrawals from Germany
and the movement of German funds abroad.

On 9 and 10 July the President of the Reichsbank, Hans Luther, made
‘secret’ flights to London, Paris and Basle, in an effort to gain fur-
ther credits, but to no avail. London was unable to extend any further
help, being already over committed in Central Europe, while the Bank
of France was willing to extend further credits but only if Germany
accepted political conditions such as the abandonment of the customs
union, and the cancellation of any further work on the battleships.
The Briining government could not have met these conditions even if
it wished to, which it did not. Luther, therefore, was forced to return
home empty-handed to deal with the ramifications of the collapse of
the Danat Bank on 12 July, to be followed by government imposed bank
holidays on 14 and 15 July.*!

Against this background of mounting financial panic, with the pos-
sibility of a German collapse which ‘would carry with it most of the
countries in Central Europe and involve obvious risks of social and
political disorders’, the discussions between London and Paris for the
convening of the London Conference took place.*> Throughout these
discussions, as through the Conference itself, the strength of the French
position was clear. This fact alone, of course, was sufficient to produce
tension in London, exacerbated by disagreements between the Foreign
Office and the Treasury, and between MacDonald, the Prime Minister,
and Henderson. It was probably unfortunate that the Foreign Secre-
tary should have been in Paris fulfilling a long standing engagement
to visit the Colonial Exhibition, and in his capacity as President of
the forthcoming World Disarmament Conference, when the discussions
over the London Conference were at their height. Undoubtedly the dis-
tance between Henderson and MacDonald added to the difficulties, but
not as much as the fact that they were pursuing policies independently
of one another. The impending visit of MacDonald and Henderson to
Berlin, announced on 19 June and due to take place between 17-19
July, injected a further element of confusion into the proceedings taking
place in Paris.
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As soon as he arrived in the French capital on the evening of 14 July,
Henderson received word that the Americans were pressing for an
immediate convening of the London Conference.** The next morning
MacDonald telephoned Henderson and suggested that the ministerial
visit to Berlin be postponed and replaced by a conference in London.**
The French were not impressed by the idea of an immediate meeting
in London. ‘A Conference’, Briand told Henderson, ‘without a pro-
gramme, without a definite object, is to court failure’.*> With Stimson,
the American Secretary of State, Henderson and the French minis-
ters already in Paris, Briand thought ‘certain common decisions’ could
be reached in ‘a kind of conference’. However, before any such con-
ference could take place, Laval insisted upon ‘substantial guarantees’
from Germany, specially the abandonment of the customs union with
Austria, and the postponement of the second battleship.*

Henderson agreed with Laval over these issues and had already raised
them with Neurath in London and through Newton with Curtius in
Berlin. Indeed he had gone further. On 9 July Henderson contacted
A.L. Kennedy at The Times and requested a leader pressing Germany
to postpone the customs union and the battleship during the Hoover
year.*” The Foreign Secretary was prepared to go further. He now wanted
Germany to accept ‘a political moratorium of five and even ten years.
We must put an end to all these discussions.’*® Laval, unsurprisingly,
leapt at this suggestion:

Certainly, we might arrange for a political moratorium which would
last as long as we are helping Germany - that is, for the period of the
loan.*

Henderson was completely satisfied, ‘I agree with you’, he told Laval.
‘There is nothing between us.”*°

In pursuance of this new course Henderson proposed that he and
MacDonald should stick to their timetable and visit Berlin. Following
the visit Henderson would return to Paris to report to the French gov-
ernment on the situation in Berlin and the attitude of Briining. While
in Berlin he would also attempt to persuade the German ministers to go
to Paris. Laval insisted throughout his talks with Henderson that France
would help Germany - principally by offering a long-term loan - only if
German ministers travelled to Paris and agreed to political concessions.
In short, Laval would not go to London unless Briining visited Paris first.
Henderson, who was under pressure from MacDonald to get the French
to attend the London Conference immediately, conceived of the Berlin
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visit as a useful means of persuading the Germans to go to Paris and
thereby facilitate the convening of the London Conference. He also had
another motive. In his talks with Laval he had suggested the idea of a
political moratorium. It is highly likely that he intended to press the
idea on the Germans in Berlin.*!

The idea of a political moratorium now became central to Henderson'’s
policy. Finding the French Prime Minister strongly in favour of the pro-
posal, the Foreign Secretary, contrary to the British Prime Minister’s
own intentions, decided to visit Berlin himself alone, first to induce
the German Chancellor and Foreign Minister to go to Paris before the
London Conference — an essential prerequisite the French demanded to
ensure their own attendance at the London Conference — and second,
to suggest the idea of a political truce to Briining. In this way Henderson
no doubt hoped to produce a measure of Franco-German reconciliation
so essential for the further appeasement of Europe, especially with the
Disarmament Conference due to open in February 1932. His plans, how-
ever, were thwarted by Downing Street which feared that the Foreign
Secretary was exceeding his remit and prejudicing MacDonald’s own
policy.

The financial position in London was becoming more acute as the
days passed. On 15 July London had lost £3 million sterling, and
on 16 July a further £4.5 million was lost. In these circumstances
MacDonald telegraphed to Henderson demanding ‘immediate action’
in order to convene the London Conference.’? Despite Henderson'’s
request, Laval would not accept an invitation to the London Conference
unless the German ministers first visited Paris. Henderson decided to
travel to Berlin the following day to hurry the departure of Briining and
Curtius.* His decision, however, was pre-empted by the news that in the
early hours of 16 July London had issued the invitations for the Confer-
ence to open on Monday, 20 July at 6.00 pm. The telegram containing
the news continued:

[The] Prime Minister and Mr. Henderson will go to Berlin as arranged
on Friday, returning in time for [the] Conference of Ministers on
Monday, when it is hoped Dr. Briining will accompany them.

MacDonald was most anxious to prevent two possibilities. First, he
wanted to prevent the German ministers from travelling to Paris and
being bullied by the French. Second, he wished to prevent the Paris
conversations turning into an alternative London Conference. To these
ends the Prime Minister had hurriedly issued the invitations to the
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London Conference. He had also telephoned to the British Ambassador
in Berlin, Sir Horace Rumbold, at about 9.30 pm on Thursday 16 July
to request him to tell Chancellor Briining that, in the Prime Minister’s
opinion, ‘the Germans would be unable to accomplish anything useful
if they went to Paris first before seeing our Ministers.”>®> MacDonald also
refused Henderson'’s request to send Leith-Ross, the Treasury’s Controller
of Finance, to Paris for the preliminary conversations.>®

When he received the Prime Minister’s message, Rumbold hastened
to Briining who was with Curtius, and the State Secretary to the For-
eign Ministry, von Biilow. A rather embarrassing conversation followed.
The Germans had learnt from their Ambassador in Paris, Leopold von
Hoesch, who had been summoned to the British Embassy in Paris in the
early hours of the morning by Henderson, that the Foreign Secretary was
urging the German ministers to travel to Paris at once to have prelimi-
nary talks before the London Conference met, with the French, himself
and the American Secretary of State, Stimson. Rumbold returned to the
Embassy and telephoned MacDonald ‘and explained the difficulty in
which the Germans were’.’” In the meantime MacDonald had received
news from the Berliner Tageblatt, announcing the cancellation of the
British ministerial visit to Berlin. In these circumstances the Prime Min-
ister instructed Rumbold to return to the Chancellor and inform him
officially that the visit had been postponed.®® MacDonald was beside
himself as he confided to his diary on 16 July:

A day of confusion. Henderson’s vanity has overcome him. He is
working to keep everyone ‘off his grass’ except himself. Telephones to
Paris and Berlin reveal that he has cancelled the Berlin visit without
consulting me or the Germans. He has assured me that the Germans
have agreed whilst our Ambassador at Berlin tells direct from Briining
that they have not and [the] German Ambassador has called to tell
me that Briining is in consternation and that the cancellation will
do harm. Henderson says proposal to cancel was made by German
Ambassador in Paris. Briining says it was made to the Ambassador
by Henderson. The Government has been doing everything it could
to prevent [the] Germans from going to Paris and having an ultima-
tum presented by the French. Henderson has thwarted us. F[oreign]
Olffice] here is furious.*

Although he was at odds with his Prime Minister, Henderson had clearly
been in an awkward position. MacDonald was pressing for the London
Conference to begin at once, yet Henderson realised that the French
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would not attend without a preliminary meeting with the Germans.
Had the Berlin visit gone ahead there would not have been enough
time for Franco-German discussions before 20 July. In terms of having
the London Conference meet on that date Henderson’s was probably
the more realistic approach. However, by being ‘economical with the
truth’, he had certainly deceived the Prime Minister and the Foreign
Office which undoubtedly helped to strain further the relations between
MacDonald and Henderson. Apart from their difficult personal relation-
ship, MacDonald and Henderson also differed on their attitudes towards
France. Henderson had been converted to the necessity of good rela-
tions with Paris, and the need for Franco-British co-operation in order
to achieve the continuing pacification of Europe. MacDonald, however,
entertained the most serious reservations concerning French motives.
He once wrote,

I do my best to have confidence in [the] French, but I am
always defeated. They seem to be incapable of disinterested diplo-
macy ... The diplomacy of France is an ever active force for evil in
Europe.®°

Despite his refusal to allow Leith-Ross to join Henderson in Paris, and his
warning to the Foreign Secretary that the discussions in Paris must not
degenerate into a full scale conference, MacDonald remained worried
that Henderson would fall in with French plans to hold the conference
in Paris. Accordingly, and almost certainly springing from the concerns
of Downing Street and the Treasury, Rex Leeper of the Foreign Office
News Department, telephoned The Times’ leader writer, A.L. Kennedy,
at about 6.00 pm on 17 July. Leeper asked Kennedy to announce in his
columns that there would be a meeting of the Cabinet on 20 July. This
announcement was designed to forestall any French designs to hold an
alternative conference in Paris, and also to prise the Foreign Secretary
out of the hands of the French. ‘The whole point is that Henderson’,
Kennedy wrote in his journal,

has gone to Paris, and in the opinion of the F[oreign] Ol[ffice] and of
MacDonald, apparently, he has been nobbled by Briand, and there is
a danger of the Conference being held in Paris instead of London.5!

Under intense pressure from London, Henderson, along with Stimson,
made it clear to the French that the meetings in Paris could not be
regarded as a substitute for the meeting in London, and no discussions
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could be entered into in Paris with the aim of anticipating the decisions
to be reached in London.®* Laval was prepared to accept these condi-
tions but insisted that if agreement in principle was not reached with
the Germans when they arrived in Paris on 18 July, the French would
not proceed thereafter to London.

The French hope that the Germans would accept a moratorium on
political action in return for a large French loan were dashed at the first
Franco-German meeting on 18 July. However, once Laval was satisfied
that the London Conference would discuss only the issue of financial
aid to the Reich, he was prepared to acquiesce in a French presence.®

The French had been suspicious of German and British motives
throughout the period following the announcement of the Hoover
Moratorium. While the French were working to secure the uncondi-
tional annuities under the Young Plan during the Franco-American
negotiations, Berthelot, the Secretary General of the Quai d’Orsay, had
learnt that the ‘British Treasury acted constantly in Washington...and
preached an uncompromising attitude and worked against the uncon-
ditional and [sic|] reparations’.®* The French also feared that the British
would attempt to use the London Conference to force the abandonment
of the Franco-American agreement and demand the application of the
Hoover Moratorium in its entirety.%® The Laval government entertained
similar fears regarding the German attitude. However, once it became
clear that the London Conference would not discuss the whole question
of debts and reparations, the French were prepared to accept the invi-
tation to attend. Unfortunately, the Franco-German discussions in Paris
on 18 July had precluded any large settlement of Germany’s financial
difficulties. The Germans would not accede to French political demands
and without this the French would not offer financial assistance to the
Reich.

The negotiations in Paris and the Proceedings of the London Confer-
ence itself were to demonstrate the differences between the Treasury and
the Foreign Office. These differences had arisen due to a change of atti-
tude on behalf of the Treasury. In November 1930 both departments had
been united in their approach to the question of German reparations.
In the crisis of June—July 1931 the Treasury reversed its stand of the pre-
vious November and attempted to secure an end of reparations and war
debts, or at least a drastic downward revision of both. While Henderson
pressed for a political moratorium tied to a further large international
loan to Germany, the Treasury under Philip Snowden, and following the
advice of the Governor of the Bank of England, Montagu Norman, dep-
recated the idea of a further loan to Germany and sought to pressurise
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the French directly, and indirectly through Washington, into abandon-
ing the Franco-American agreement worked out in Paris. Henderson,
on the other hand, concentrated his efforts on getting the Germans to
make some contribution to a settlement. It was small wonder then that
when Henderson returned from Paris on 19 July and met MacDonald
and Snowden, the conversation was described as ‘a bit spiky’.%

In spite of the tremendous efforts which had gone into the convening
of the London Conference, it produced little tangible result, at least in
its immediate aftermath. The Conference’s major achievements were its
recommendation that the financial institutions should agree to main-
tain their credits in Germany, and the decision to empower the BIS to
establish a committee to investigate Germany’s credit needs.®” This com-
mittee, the Wiggin-Layton or Basle Committee, as it came to be known,
was to have an important impact on the future development of the repa-
rations issue and the lead up to the Lausanne Conference on reparations
in June and July 1932.

The London Conference also witnessed the defeat of the policies
which the Treasury and Foreign Office had been pursuing. Snowden,
the Chancellor of the Exchequer, received a public rebuff at the Con-
ference from his own Prime Minister when, at the third meeting of
the conference on 22 July, he attempted to introduce the question of
reparations. He accused the Conference of failing to tackle ‘the funda-
mental causes of the trouble from which Germany is suffering at the
present time’. In his view ‘it was quite impossible for Germany to main-
tain her internal economy and at the same time have to meet the huge
drain of political reparations.” MacDonald’s reaction to this outburst
was to pass a note to Stimson saying, ‘I know nothing of this.”®® Cer-
tainly Snowden’s intervention flew in the face of French and American
views expressed during the Paris conversations the week before. Both
had insisted that the London Conference should confine itself to the
issue of returning Germany to financial stability. Stimson attempted to
undermine Snowden’s argument by pointing out that the Chancellor
had already agreed that Germany’s financial stability had to be estab-
lished first before any other measures could be contemplated. No further
reference was made to reparations and the conference moved to discuss
the standstill agreement.*

Henderson was altogether more circumspect in the advancement
of his policy. On 21 July Curtius and von Biilow called at the For-
eign Office to discuss the postponed visit of British ministers to Berlin
with the Foreign Secretary. The German Foreign Minister hoped that
MacDonald and Henderson would be able to go to Berlin at the end of
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that week, or during the following one. He regarded the visit ‘as most
important’, there being questions which he wanted to discuss, such as
disarmament.”® For his part Henderson was anxious to know what had
passed between the French and German ministers when they met in
Paris. When it became clear that Briining and Curtius had not been
able to accommodate French wishes, Henderson expressed his hope
that he might be able to take action if he was informed of the differ-
ences between the two countries rather in the fashion of Sir Austen
Chamberlain after the signing of Locarno. ‘In his opinion’, Henderson
told Curtius, ‘it was necessary to issue some declaration which would
have the effect of restoring confidence throughout Europe’.”! Foiled in
his attempt to press the idea of a political truce on the Germans during
his planned trip to Berlin the week before, Henderson now pushed the
idea on the Germans in London and was firmly rebuffed.’“The idea of a
declaration involving a political moratorium’, Curtius told Henderson,
‘was impossible in the present state of German opinion’. Henderson
attempted to persuade Curtius by pointing out that Germany would not
be asked to abandon any of its rights under the peace treaty, merely
to place them in abeyance for a period. At this Biilow asserted that
‘abeyance would amount to the same thing’ as abandonment, which
German opinion would never accept. This flat rejection of his proposal
provoked Henderson'’s temper. He accused the Germans of adopting ‘an
impossible position” which ‘amounted to nothing else than fiddling
while Rome was burning’. Later the same day Henderson had a fur-
ther meeting with Curtius covering much the same ground, and again
Curtius insisted Germany could not ‘make any concession towards the
elaboration of a formula which would give satisfaction to the French.’
With that exchange the idea of a political truce died.”

In September when referring to the idea, Vansittart highlighted the
fundamental difficulty that had prevented its realisation:

What the French want, as Sir H. Rumbold has recently pointed out,
is that Germany should accept the Treaty of Versailles as it stands, in
other words capitulate: in fact that Germany should alter her entire
mentality.

Despite this Vansittart remained hopeful that ‘something on the lines of
the political truce may become possible’.”

Sir Austen Chamberlain once told the Imperial Conference that he
‘regarded the spirit of Locarno as more important than the treaties
themselves’. Locarno, he argued, had restored the ‘peace mentality’ to
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Europe and this, rather than the theoretical obligations Britain had
undertaken to defend the inviolability of the demilitarized Rhineland
zone and the frontiers of Germany, France and Belgium, remained at
the core of Britain’s Locarno diplomacy.”* Put simply, if the ‘peace
mentality’ Chamberlain spoke of disappeared then the resolution of
the differences between Germany and the Allies which had character-
ized the period 1925 to 1930 would be replaced by increasing tension
between France and Germany. No one could be quite sure how that
tension would manifest itself, but a return to the instability of the
immediate post-war period was conceivable. Should this happen then
the British guarantee enshrined in Locarno might be called upon. This
of course would represent the negation of Britain’s Locarno diplomacy
because the European Great Powers would have divided and poten-
tially cause Britain to choose sides. Many people believed that such
divisions in Europe had helped to bring on war in 1914. From this per-
ceptive the maintenance of Locarno diplomacy offered real advantages
to Britain. Instability in Europe directly affected Britain’s ability to act as
a global power and if the European powers were at each other’s throats
Britain’s own security could be called in to question. Indeed, Locarno
appeared to underpin Britain’s security because it obliged the German
army to remain east of the Rhine and thereby protected the English
Channel.”

Given the distinct advantages Locarno offered to Britain it was not
surprising that British diplomats pursued the idea of a political truce in
1931. Under the impact of the Great Depression with the financial and
economic turmoil that event brought forth, relations between the lead-
ing European powers came under great strain. The rise of intense nation-
alism, most evident with the emergence of the Nazi Party in Germany
as the second largest party in the Reichstag following the September
1930 elections, drew countries back from international co-operation
upon which Locarno diplomacy was predicated. For France in particu-
lar, the Nazis’ anti-Versailles, anti-French propaganda, was alarming and
undermined confidence in Germany. Indeed, the decision of German
politicians to attempt to push revision unilaterally with, for exam-
ple, the Austro-German customs union project sprung on the world
in March 1931, persuaded France that Germany had turned against
Stresemann’s policy. Simultaneous German initiatives on the issues of
reparations and disarmament heightened French fears of German inten-
tions. With France and Germany dividing over a range of political issues
the core of Locarno diplomacy was undermined. The idea of a political
truce was designed to prevent the further drift to greater Franco-German
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tension. Perhaps the idea was unrealistic from the start but the effort to
achieve a truce reflected Britain'’s fears for the gains it had received from
Locarno and it also reflected Britain’s weakness in the crisis of 1931.
London came under increasing financial pressure in that year and even-
tually it brought down the second Labour government and led to the
establishment of a National government coalition. National financial
weakness and a rising tide of nationalism in Europe limited British influ-
ence and made the successful pursuit of a political truce highly unlikely.
It may have been impossible to achieve a political truce, but the attempt
did demonstrate the commitment of Britain to Locarno diplomacy.
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‘Leaving Us in the Lurch’

The British Government, the First DRC
Enquiry and the United States, 1933-34

Peter Bell

The failure of the United States to play a more active role during the
1930s in the containment of international aggression remains an impor-
tant issue for historians interested in whether World War II could have
been prevented; and is intimately connected with the debate concerning
Britain’s ill-fated policy of appeasement — whether misguided capitula-
tion to German, Italian and Japanese expansion, or pragmatic response
to insuperable burdens contingent upon British decline. Could more
have been done by the British government to establish a closer associa-
tion with America, and thereby deter war? Did London miss the chance
to follow leads from Washington, confounding Franklin D. Roosevelt’s
attempts to wean Congress away from isolationism? Or was Britain’s
desperate, febrile policy towards potential enemies — consequence of
ineluctable constraints — further weakened by America’s persistently
ambiguous posture: one that, if aligned with, risked antagonising hos-
tile powers without providing the practical support necessary to justify
such risk? Did British policy, thus, merely help entrench isolationism,
or was the latter itself one of the determinants of appeasement?
Central to this debate is the reputation of Neville Chamberlain - still
contentious, despite four decades of frequently favourable reappraisal.!
As an unusually influential Chancellor of the Exchequer, and as Prime
Minister, his presence dominates the 1930s.? Churchill’s charge in his
notoriously unreliable memoirs that Chamberlain ‘waved away the prof-
fered hand stretched across the Atlantic’, casting aside ‘the last frail
chance to save the world from tyranny otherwise than by war’, met
with ready approval after 1945, in an era wise with hindsight, keen to
distance itself from past mistakes.® It was not seriously challenged by
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historians until the revisionist debate that emerged in the 1970s, with
the opening up of the British archives under the 30-year rule — though
Keith Feiling’s sympathetic 1946 biography, based on Chamberlain’s pri-
vate papers, had already offered generous assessment, not least regarding
his attitude towards the United States.* Churchill’s view, however, dies
hard, especially among politicians and the public; and indeed, in recent
years, has undergone something of a resurrection among historians, a
major contention of counter-revisionists being the alleged mishandling
of America. According to this thinking, better strategies, were, if admit-
tedly imperfect, nevertheless available, but subverted by Chamberlain’s
blinkered leadership. However, counter-revisionists have yet to prove
that viable alternatives existed sufficient either to counter isolationism
or to create an Anglo-American front capable of deterring Germany, Italy
and Japan; they have done little more than reaffirm the Churchillian
myth, even the ‘Guilty Men’ thesis of Cato.®

Britain’s cautious handling of America, moreover, cannot be
attributed to the supposed prejudice of one man; for scepticism regard-
ing the Unites States’ reliability had a long and well-justified history
in London. Ever since the United States’ refusal in 1919 to join the
League of Nations and underwrite the Treaty of Versailles, isolationism
remained an awkward political reality that no British government could
ignore; a difficulty intensified after 1929 by global economic crisis and
the breakdown of stability in Europe and the Far East — crowned by
the alarmingly restrictive neutrality laws enacted by Congress during
1934-37. Even if it be accepted that the isolation of the United States is
a misconception understating the nation’s and Roosevelt’s true interna-
tional posture; and that by insisting on ‘specific, presumably military,
commitments’, Chamberlain applied a ‘self-defeating test’,° the fact
remains that no policy was proposed by Washington, throughout the
1930s, sufficient to reassure any responsible British leader. That Britain
could not risk a multi-theatre war without American assistance was an
axiom shared by almost everyone within the government, whatever var-
ied nuances emerged as to its likelihood; on the other hand, pending
any credible commitment, Britain had perforce to conduct policy unilat-
erally, prioritising her own security against burgeoning threats, however
unpalatable to Washington.

The period of this study is that of the Defence Requirements Com-
mittee (DRC) of 1933-34: the official interdepartmental investigation,
representing The Foreign Office, the Treasury and the Military Depart-
ments; the ministerial discussions and decisions within Cabinet and its
Disarmament Committee; and the wider platforms of debate impinging



66 ‘Leaving Us in the Lurch’

on the enquiry, notably those pertaining to the forthcoming 1935
Naval Conference. The DRC enquiry - the first major review of Britain'’s
global strategy since World War I — was established in response to the
emergence of a double danger from Japan and Germany. It was the
most significant threshold in interwar planning, not only in addressing
Britain’s gravely depleted defences — consequence of financial con-
straints, domestic and international pacifism and the absence of serious
enemy danger until 1931 - but in defining a strategy appropriate to a
rapidly worsening global scene, where an obsolete British Imperial hege-
mony was under challenge from hostile, militarised ‘have-not’ powers,
and when no strong, reliable ally was assured.

The basic facts are well known: the designation of Germany as ulti-
mate potential enemy; the placation of Japan by diplomacy while
‘showing a tooth’ by completing Singapore; Russia as a third poten-
tial enemy in India; the rearrangement of defence priorities, favouring
the RAF, defender of the homeland, over the Army and a continental
commitment and over the Navy and Imperial Defence. Less well recog-
nised is that the enquiry led to a changed emphasis in policy towards
the United States. Hitherto resigned to working around ambiguous and
frustrating American forays on the world stage, London resolved for the
foreseeable future not to allow the objective of preserving good rela-
tions with America to override more immediate security needs against a
menace from two — and after 1935, with the alienation of Italy, three —
aggressive, well-armed opponents. Far from the image of laxity por-
trayed by critics of the National Government, a working strategy evolved
towards isolationist America, which enjoyed the support of almost all
senior officials and the Cabinet. The aim was to mend relations if pos-
sible with Japan, so as to prioritise preparations against the longer-term
German threat; and to try to achieve this without wholly alienating the
United States, whose assistance would be critical in the event of another
global conflict. A diplomatic tightrope, indeed it was, one of several
the British had to walk in the 1930s, as they struggled to pitch inade-
quate resources against overwhelming odds — not least the imponderable
policy of Washington.

In this context, comment must be passed on the role of the allegedly
anti-American Chancellor of the Exchequer, Neville Chamberlain, who
was instrumental in instigating the DRC, influencing its terms of debate
and arbitrating on its final recommendations. Chamberlain’s pervasive
influence over all aspects of defence and foreign policy — stemming
from the weakness of senior colleagues, his own determination and
the inherent power of the Chancellor in a government mandated to
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prioritise economic and financial recovery — should not obscure the
fact that, regarding the United States (as indeed on the whole matter
of appeasement) he commanded a broad consensus. The following dis-
cussion exemplifies the range of dissatisfaction, suspicion, frustration,
wariness and under-confidence vis a vis America permeating the official
mind in London, which cannot be attributed to the supposed prejudice
of one man. Indeed, as part of this consensus, Chamberlain displayed
not prejudice but pragmatism: in recognising that, however vital for
ultimate security, a firm Anglo-American front was, as things stood, no
more than a chimera, the pursuit of which was liable to worsen rather
than improve Britain’s strategic predicament.

The DRC deliberated against the backdrop of a rapidly deteriorating
international scene, notably the collapsing disarmament and secu-
rity talks on Europe and the departure of Japan and Germany from
the League of Nations. It also met in the shadow of two notorious
disagreements between Britain and the United States: first, the con-
troversies associated with war debts, reparations, trade and the World
Economic Conference, setting Chamberlain and the newly elect Presi-
dent Roosevelt at odds; second, the quarrel between the US Secretary of
State, Henry Stimson, and the British Foreign Secretary, Sir John Simon,
over the handling of Japan in the Far Eastern Crisis. Both events cast a
long shadow over Anglo-American relations throughout the remainder
of the decade and have been seen as factors entrenching a predisposition
to negative thinking in London, in particular, in Chamberlain’s mind -
which effectively thwarted any chance of an alliance being constructed
or seriously considered with Roosevelt’s America.” What must also be
stressed is that the reason for the long currency of such bad feeling was
due not to prejudices formed at that time, from which the protagonists
were unable or unwilling to revise, but to the continued validation of
suspicion by the constant uncertainty of America’s foreign policy.

While economics and finance soured relations, it was the Far Eastern
Crisis that focused London’s attention on the dilemma of balanc-
ing between immediate, unilateral steps to avoid war and pleasing a
half-heartedly committed Washington. With Britain’s skeleton forces
incapable of resisting Japan, and the League of Nations a toothless
hound without America, Britain had to ask which came first: protect-
ing interests by compromise with Japan or preserving long-term security
by aligning with Stimson’s provocative proposal for a naval display and
verbal condemnation. Simon defined the quandary, warning the Prime
Minister, Ramsay MacDonald, a staunch pro-American, that Britain
risked ‘falling between two stools, offending Japan without completely
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satisfying America’.® Sir John Pratt, the Far Eastern Department’s expert
on China, stressed the need to avoid ‘rebuffing America’ and simulta-
neously ‘incurring the hostility of Japan’.® Deputy Undersecretary, Sir
Victor Wellesley, in a memorandum sufficiently prescient to be tabled
at Cabinet, warned against ‘a definite Anglo-American anti-Japanese
attitude’, which Tokyo would regard as ‘abandonment by her old ally’.?

The Foreign Office’s impatience was aggravated by parallel frustration
with America’s unhelpful stand at the Geneva Disarmament Confer-
ence, which had opened against the adverse background of Japanese
bombardment of Shanghai. The Permanent Undersecretary, Sir Robert
Vansittart, complained that despite careful cultivation of cordiality,
Britain had been let down: ‘when it came to deeds rather than words’
collaboration with Washington had proved ‘little easier than with the
Quai d’Orsay’;'! a view shared by Chamberlain, who, as well as criticising
the French for being ‘as difficult as can be’, professed himself infuriated
with the ‘idiotic Yankees’ cynically advising ‘what we should and should
not do with sole regard to their own party politics’.’> Chamberlain,
likewise, worried about the Far East, confessing himself ‘nervous’ at
the Prime Minister’s belief that he had ‘special influence’ with the
Americans.'® Though exasperation with Washington was also enhanced
by war debts, the Lausanne Conference on reparations, and the World
Economic Conference in London, it is misleading to speak of a specific
‘Treasury view’, anti-American and pro-Japanese, for subsequent debates
reveal a more complex alignment of opinions.

Though nominally reviewing service deficiencies, the DRC could not
divorce them from the foreign political conditions underlying defence
strategy. Chaired by the Cabinet Secretary, Sir Maurice Hankey, with rep-
resentatives of the Services, it specifically included the Foreign Office
and the Treasury; it was destined from its inception to become a broad
strategic, diplomatic and political review. Proposing what would become
the DRC at the Cabinet’s Committee of Imperial Defence in November
1933, Chamberlain stressed the grave world situation, emphasising the
Nazi menace and consequent need to insure against the hostility of
Japan,'* a view that would be later endorsed and developed through-
out the enquiry. The perilous situation inevitably raised questions about
the reliability of America; indeed, it became, after the assessment of
Germany and Japan, the most dominant political question. The matter
was first raised by Sir Warren Fisher, Permanent Undersecretary to the
Treasury, who insisted that fruitless pandering to America over the past
decade represented one of Britain’s ‘worst deficiencies’.' So large did the
issue loom, and so obsessively was it canvassed by Fisher, that Hankey
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eventually ruled it beyond the terms of reference.'® This was, however,
not simply an attempt to muzzle the obdurate Fisher; it made sense
to refer such a dominating issue to wider ministerial review, especially
as the ensuing Naval Conference would soon present a stark choice
between conciliating Japan and backing the United States. That the DRC
Report did include as a ‘governing consideration’ a paragraph on Anglo-
American relations testifies to that factor’s gravity in its deliberations.
It stated: “There is much to be said for the view that our subservience to
the United States of America in past years has been one of the princi-
pal factors in the deterioration of our former good relations with Japan,
and that, before the Naval Disarmament Conference, 1935, we ought
thoroughly to reconsider our general attitude.”” This was advice of cru-
cial significance to future British policy; for the Cabinet was effectively
being invited to reconsider relations with Washington in the context of
Britain’s worsening strategic predicament.

Fisher’s tirade against America, developed in three substantial
memoranda, arose from a conviction that the emergent Nazi men-
ace dictated agreement with Japan, a priority eclipsing conciliation
of, as he saw it, the treacherous Americans: driven by ‘profiteering
instincts plus some “Rule Columbia” thrown in’, it suited their com-
mercial ambitions in East Asia for Britain to become embroiled with
Japan. It was vital, therefore, to remove the impression that the British
were ‘morally spineless sycophants of the USA’, and to escape a ‘pol-
icy of subservience’; the worst of our deficiencies was ‘entanglement
with the USA with all its dangerous consequences’.'® Fisher’s vexation
with America, like that of the Chancellor, was certainly conditioned by
the recent financial differences; but it would be an injustice to ignore
the wider geopolitical anxieties conditioning his view. In common with
Vansittart, he recognised the menacing potential of the new Germany
and the consequent need for cautious handling of Japan. It was the lat-
ter priority as much as financial pique that fuelled his ire at America.
Like Chamberlain he deplored how surrender to the American agenda
in East Asia since 1919, notably the termination of the Anglo-Japanese
Alliance, had alienated Japan, transmuting her into a potential enemy,
with no compensating security from Washington. The USA, he declared,
had ‘bamboozled’ us into renouncing the ‘invaluable asset’ of the old
Alliance; satisfactory terms with Japan could never be achieved unless
we were ‘emancipated’ from America. In like vein, he condemned the
Naval Treaties of 1922 and 1930, with Japan'’s inferior ratio, as instru-
ments of American dominance that drove a wedge between Tokyo and
London."
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A more sober and constructive, yet critical, view of America was
presented by Vansittart. Despite the two officials’ common geopoliti-
cal outlook and their shared anxiety about Britain’s strategic problems,
there was significant difference of emphasis regarding the United States.
Vansittart agreed with much of Fisher’s critique of America, but was
sceptical at his simplistic solution; and he displayed a more astute sus-
picion of Japan, reflecting his absorption of the many qualms held at
departmental level within the Foreign Office. Resurrection of the Anglo-
Japanese Alliance, or anything resembling it, which Fisher seemed to
be implying, Vansittart considered ‘quite outside the range of prac-
tical politics’.?® There was, he believed, a fundamental disharmony
between British and Japanese ambitions in China; and although he
shared great frustration toward America, felt that to fall out with her
would ultimately harm British security, not least because of this coun-
try’s dependence, in the event of a long war, on a well-disposed America.
Already he had advised the Committee that while Anglo-American rela-
tions were disappointing, it would be unwise to discard any benefits of
recent progress, however limited, by chasing Japan.?! There was much
sense in his argument. At Geneva, where Britain was mediating between
a revisionist Germany and an intransigent France, tolerable relations
with the USA prevailed despite their continuing failure to underwrite a
security guarantee, and notwithstanding the irritating Norman Davis;
and in the Far East, despite the Stimson-Simon row, a dialogue still
existed, crucially important for the forthcoming Naval Conference.

Fisher, by contrast, was unprepared to acknowledge either value or
progress in Anglo-American relations, refusing even to accept that in a
war America’s support, or even benevolent neutrality, would be likely.
The Americans, he urged, would never help us in another conflict;
far from trusting to her benevolence, he suggested they might well,
as had occurred before 1917, impair a British blockade.?? According
to this logic, there could be no advantage in placating the USA if it
were at the price of mending fences with the Japanese — and the conse-
quent improved insurance against Germany. Complete severance with
America, however, was a position no other official or minister was will-
ing to countenance, including Chamberlain; and it singles out Fisher
as the only truly anti-American voice. Nevertheless, it is testimony to
the Committee’s sympathy with his basic premise, that relations with
America had caused serious problems and conferred few advantages,
that the Report’s conclusion should have so closely followed his choice
of words.
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Fisher’s extremism, though there was sympathy with his grievances,
was countered by Hankey, Vansittart and the Chief of Naval Staff,
Sir Ernle Chatfield - though the Army and Air Force Chiefs, Sir
Archibald Montgomery-Massingberd and Sir Edward Ellington, as on
most issues, remained silent. Hankey was worried about undermining
traditional policy, stressing the Prime Minister’s ‘very warm spot for the
Americans generally, and President Roosevelt in particular’.?® Chatfield,
like Hankey, was anxious not to alienate the United States, Britain’s
only feasible naval ally in a war against Japan; though he did endorse
much of Fisher’s case.** In contrast to the Euro-centric focus of Vansittart
and Fisher, Chatfield and Hankey prioritised imperial defence, consid-
ering Germany a lesser urgency than Japan. On Chatfield’s mind was
the gloomy prospect for the Naval Conference, where Britain would
have to balance between probably incompatible Japanese and American
positions, with the likely worst contingency of falling out simultane-
ously with a rearming Japan and a disgruntled United States. For the
Admiralty, improved relations with Japan could only be a good thing —
if practicable (and which would subsequently be endorsed by the First
Lord of the Admiralty, Sir Bolton Eyres-Monsell, until he recognised the
corollary of reduced naval expenditure).? On the other hand, Japan’s
vast potential for immediate devastation of the British position in the
Far East reinforced the case for continuing to court America, a view
shared by Sir Robert Craigie, Foreign Office expert on naval matters
and Head of the American Department, a leading advocate of a firm
Anglo-American front at the Conference.?®

Vansittart’s carefully qualified position on the United States, expressed
not only in the Committee but in numerous Foreign Office memoranda,
reflected the wide spectrum of departmental indecision, itself a symp-
tom of the conundrum presented by Washington. Internal opinion was
pessimistic about both Japan and America, the latter frequently the
object of trenchant criticism, notably from Far Eastern Department offi-
cials, still smarting at Mr Stimson. Pratt deplored America’s ‘deep seated
hostility’ to Japan and tactless ‘criticism and condemnation’. She often
suggested ‘as a common policy’ actions capable of ‘no ameliorative
effect’ yet likely to cause ‘dangerous tension’. Having induced others
to participate, she was liable to ‘drop out and leave her associates to
pursue it alone’. As he succinctly noted: ‘We may sail the same general
course but we should at all times retain full control of our own vessel.’?
Sir Francis Lindley, Ambassador to Tokyo, shared the frustration, tersely
defining the problem: there was much to be said for an Anglo-American
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front if ‘cemented by a hard and fast military alliance’, otherwise it
was ‘a particularly foolish policy’.?® Conviction of the inevitability of
war with Japan, on the other hand, made Charles Orde, Far Eastern
Department Head, anxious lest an overfriendly approach to her cause
a ‘virtual breach’ with the United States.? The most optimistic gloss on
America was offered by Craigie, who suggested her currently unhelp-
ful attitude might not last indefinitely. He warned that to draw closer to
Japan risked provoking an adverse reaction across the Atlantic.** Deputy
Undersecretary Wellesley gloomily summarised the predominant view,
that the United States was ‘an entirely uncertain factor’.?!

Even as the Committee deliberated, American representatives con-
tinued to behave in a typically obtuse manner, in relation both to
the Far Fast and Europe. Sir Eric Phipps, British Ambassador to Berlin,
reported disquieting conversations with American diplomats, William
E. Dodd and William C. Bullitt. Seeking American support for the fal-
tering Geneva Conference, Phipps was told by Dodd that Roosevelt was
inclined to make closer collaboration with Britain in Europe ‘contin-
gent upon greater cooperation with the USA in the Far East’. Bullitt
said the President wanted Britain to use all her influence with Japan
to prevent further encroachments in China.?? As Orde acidly minuted,
this was ‘rather nonsensical for we haven'’t the faintest idea what the
United States Government wants us to do’.>* The matter was further
complicated by the frequently prevailing uncertainty as to whether such
observations represented official policy or stemmed from the undisci-
plined ideas of the American diplomats; a problem that equally irritated
Chamberlain.?* The events typified the perplexity of trying to do busi-
ness with the Americans at a time when the storm clouds of danger were
gathering over Britain and the Empire. Phipps’ report goaded Vansittart
into sharp criticism of America, prefiguring his comments to the DRC;
his somewhat convoluted assessment accurately reflected the situation’s
complexity and the dilemma regularly posed by Washington.

Vansittart urged great care, even obstinacy, regarding American
requests for cooperative action in the Far East; they wanted us rather
than them to get in wrong with Japan and would ‘let us down at
every turn’. ‘We cannot afford such a luxury (given the state of our
defences)’, he argued, ‘as American “cooperation”’, in which role they
had proven ‘mostly futile or disloyal’. Cooperation might come but the
United States made it presently impossible. No-one desired good Anglo-
Americans more than he and no-one had worked harder for them, but
a point had been reached where, if they wanted more, they must make
the running. Failing that, the aim should be ‘good relations, of course,
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but not undue sacrifice to the present myth of cooperation’. On the
other hand, he did not wish ‘to sacrifice any of the ground gained with
the USA during the last decade — ground for good relations though not
for effective cooperation — by any tardy recourting of Japan’. He there-
fore urged a balanced policy, with immediate emphasis on exploiting
Tokyo'’s currently friendly overtures. Over the next five years — when it
was essential to prepare against Germany — we should be ‘more preoccu-
pied in keeping Japan as friendly, i.e. as non-dangerous as possible, than
in endeavouring to better our existing relations with the USA, which
are as good as that unreliable will or can allow them to be.”®> This was
indeed a delicately poised policy; much would depend on the outcome
of the Naval Conference, let alone the course of Japanese ambitions in
China. But at least it was grasping at a policy suited to Britain’s predica-
ment. This he developed in the DRC, and further refined in the context
of the Ministerial Committee on the Naval Conference.

That Committee, created to prepare for the Conference, furnished
a further platform for continuing debate about America throughout
1934-35, among ministers and advisers, with Hankey, Chatfield, Fisher
and Vansittart in high profile. America figured prominently also in
the Cabinet and its Disarmament Committee, theoretically address-
ing European disarmament but ironically increasingly concerned with
rearmament and war; it served as the principal forum for discussion
of the DRC Report. Hankey regarded prospects for the Conference
as ‘extremely gloomy’.>¢ Although the Admiralty shared Washington’s
wish to maintain existing naval ratios against Japan’s demand for parity,
it disagreed over tactics: the British wishing to deal cautiously behind
the scenes with Tokyo, the United States favouring a joint rebuttal of
Japan - raising echoes of the Stimson-Simon storm. Lord Stanhope, Par-
liamentary Undersecretary at the Foreign Office, thought a slim chance
of agreement possible if we approached Japan independently, but ‘not
a hope’ hand in hand with America.?” Chatfield warned the Commit-
tee to not give ‘the impression that an Anglo-American agreement had
been arrived at in advance of consultation with Japan’.*® When Simon
told the Committee of Washington'’s preferred approach Chamberlain
hoped the government ‘would do nothing of the kind’.*

Washington’s insensitivity to Britain’s predicament was further shown
in conversations during March and April between Simon and the
US Ambassador to London, Robert Bingham, as well as with Davis.
Bingham urged joint resistance to Japan’s ‘inadmissible and unreason-
able’ agenda. According to him, Simon reported, ‘the present situation
was one in which a policy of cooperation between the United States
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and ourselves for promoting the peace of the world, or at any rate for
limiting the area for conflict if conflict broke out, was worthy of special
consideration.”®® Davis, true to form, proved equally capricious: asked
by Simon if America might be willing, as he had implied the previ-
ous May, to support a European security scheme, he vaguely replied
it was ‘not impossible’; then immediately changed the subject, stress-
ing the importance of close cooperation against Japan: if she refused to
agree terms at the Conference, then Britain and America should main-
tain their own parity and adjust their forces ‘in unison’ as the situation
demanded.*! It was the usual combination of hot air and finger wag-
ging, both diplomats confirming the worst fears about doing business
with the Americans. The ‘real trouble with the Yanks’, as Chamberlain
acidly remarked later in the year, was that they could ‘never deliver the
goods’.*

Comparably pessimistic information reached the Foreign Office from
East Asia. Admiral Sir Frederick Dreyer, Commander of the China
Station, reported a worrying conversation with Admiral EB. Upham,
US Commander of the Asiatic Fleet. Upham talked of America’s prob-
able withdrawal from the Philippines; he doubted she needed a fleet in
the China Seas; it was awkward having the Japanese-controlled League
mandates on the flank of her advance from Honolulu; and Manila was
so vulnerable to air attack it would be better for the Americans to get out
‘before they were kicked out’. He even insinuated — with striking igno-
rance of conditions at Singapore — that Britain could more easily police
the region in view of the base’s ‘magnificent strategic position’ com-
pared to Manila; and when Dreyer mentioned the threat to the Dutch
East Indies, Upham’s complacent response was: ‘Oh, the British will look
after them.” Even if these were the Admiral’s personal views, Dreyer
warned, he must be to some extent informed about future US policy
in the Pacific; it was ‘not a pleasant prospect if they intend to do what
he said, i.e. leave us in the lurch’. Dreyer concluded on an all too famil-
iar note: ‘I am very much afraid that we shall never be able to rely on
American support in emergency, or at any rate not until sufficient time
has elapsed after a crisis has developed, for the American people to be
educated in the Pacific situation.”*® This was prophetic, given the events
leading up to Pearl Harbor.

Further corroboration of a possible withdrawal from the Far East was
furnished by Sir Ronald Lindsay, the British Ambassador to Washington,
covering a report on US press opinion by the British Naval Attaché,
Captain A.R. Dewar: the Roosevelt administration was under pressure
to make drastic concessions, such as relaxing immigration controls,
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waiving extra-territorial rights in China, conceding Japan'’s position in
East Asia and abandoning Philippine naval bases. Though even Congress
would reject such extremes, he thought Americans were ‘at the moment
in a mood to shed their direct political commitments overseas as fast
as they can’.** Nevertheless — and despite Bingham’s airy reassurance
to Simon as to Roosevelt’s ‘extraordinarily strong position in Congress’,
the most ‘solid backing’ in US history — such a mood was worrying, and
would soon not seem so far-fetched with the enactment of the neutral-
ity laws.*® It could not but fuel fears that Britain would indeed be ‘left
in the lurch’ if trouble ensued with Japan.

The Naval Conference Committee allowed Fisher to reinforce his cri-
tique of America, which he feared was being sidestepped. Chamberlain,
having digested the DRC's advice, had reasserted his conviction on the
need to conciliate Japan, whatever the attitude in Washington. Though
the Chancellor had not endorsed Fisher’s outright anti-Americanism,
the Treasury Chief drew succour from a seeming identity of view. He was
vehemently opposed by Chatfield and Vansittart. Fisher traversed famil-
iar ground: as Britain could neither fight a two-front war nor afford a
two-power naval standard, imperial security depended on protection of
the homeland first, with the corollary of negotiating friendly terms with
Japan. There was everything to gain and nothing to lose by seeking an
agreement ‘in substance though not in form’ like the former alliance;
but it would be essential to dispel Japan’s impression of the British as
‘servile adherents’ of Washington. Japanese friendship would be less
urgent if American support were not ‘the very last thing in the world’ to
be counted on; it was ‘singularly ill-advised’ to jeopardise her goodwill
‘by paying any regard to the United States’. Japan would respect inde-
pendent British overtures, convinced ‘we proposed to order our own
doings instead of having them ordered from Washington’.*

Fisher’s case, which offered the seductive lure of the easy solution,
had grave flaws, identified by the Admiralty, the Dominions Office, the
Foreign Office and various members of the Cabinet, as well as its Secre-
tary. Although the Admiralty had long been irritated by what it regarded
as the United States’ selfish naval agenda, and the negative impact on
Anglo-Japanese relations, it remained its objective to handle the 1935
Conference in a manner that maintained cordiality with both nations.
Indeed, it shared the US determination to preserve the existing ratios —
the sole brake on Japanese aggression, given their immense strategic
privileges, and pending completion of Singapore. Where it differed from
the Americans was over tactics: while the latter wished to tell Tokyo at
the outset that equal ratios were not on the table, the British preferred
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a diplomatic approach, in which the final goal would hopefully emerge
from preparatory discussions, which might render possible the placa-
tion of Japan by other concessions. This, for Fisher, was not enough:
the Admiralty’s resistance to Japanese parity still smacked too much
of appeasing the Americans; and, in fairness, the Admiralty’s hopes
looked - and proved to be — wishful thinking. In contrast, Chatfield
contended that whatever naval deal Britain might reach with Japan
would not moderate demands determined by her rivalry with America.*’
In the absence of any certainty that Japan could be conciliated, in rela-
tion to naval matters or China, by diplomacy, the Admiralty believed
that Britain could not risk antagonising the United States, without
whom any prospect of defeating Japan would be questionable. Fisher
saw this position as inconsistent with the logic of designating Germany
as the principal enemy — which the Chancellor was busy translating
into practice in the Disarmament Committee by prioritising resources
towards metropolitan air defence — but Chatfield was backed by Hankey,
Eyres-Monsell, Sir Edward Harding, Permanent Undersecretary at the
Dominions Office, and to an extent by Vansittart. None wished to snub
a potential ally in a Far Eastern conflict or to countenance uncontrolled
naval building. On the other hand, was their really any prospect of
American help in the Far East? As Harding put it, while unlikely Britain
would stand alone in a European war, she ‘might or might not’ be allied
to the USA in conflict with Japan.*® The naval lobby was trapped in its
own dilemma: the possibility of war with Japan necessitated US sup-
port, and although evidence denied its certainty, it was dangerous to
slam the door in Washington’s face by conciliation of Japan, especially
as there was only frail hope it would moderate her ambitions or fore-
stall a collision with Britain. The dilemma matched Vansittart’s parallel
concern lest American benevolence be sacrificed with regard to a poten-
tial European war. This underlined a fundamental truth, apparent since
the US intervention in World War [, reinforced by the subsequent alien-
ation of Britain’s former Far Eastern ally, Japan: that without something
resembling an alliance with America, there would be little hope of
successfully conducting simultaneous war in Europe and East Asia.
Fisher’s intervention was considered by Craigie to be so ‘based on a
misconception of the facts’ that he persuaded Vansittart to make clear
the views of the Foreign Office.* In a letter to Fisher, also proposed as a
brief for the Foreign Secretary at the Conference Committee, Vansittart
set down his ideas — in what amounted to a brief for the conduct of
relations with Washington for the rest of the decade. He emphasised
‘fundamental reasons’ why no British government, despite frustrations,
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could ‘treat Anglo-American relations with anything but considerable
respect when it comes to a showdown’. He supported Chatfield, affirm-
ing his contention that Japan’s Conference agenda was decided by
comparison with the US Navy, rather than Britain. He accused Fisher
of oversimplifying the ‘formidable’ obstacles to rapprochement with
Japan, notably the necessary respect for America. While deploring ‘an
ostentatious parade of Anglo-American cooperation in the Far East, with
a free use of the “big stick”’, he cautioned against forfeiting the ‘use-
ful and marked advance’ achieved with difficulty over the past decade;
Britain had paid for what she had got and should not waste what she
had already bought. On balance, Japan would be less likely to risk war if
existing Anglo-American relations prevailed than if they deteriorated.
Britain should not make sacrifices merely to retain America’s friend-
ship; but, although ‘little reliance’ could currently be placed on her,
antagonising her would harm British interests. He gave four reasons.
First, public and press opinion in Britain and the Dominions would
oppose any breach with America. Second, it would weaken Britain’s
dwindling capacity to satisfy French security demands at Geneva, which
were ‘dependent on some degree of American cooperation — or at least
benevolent neutrality’; British influence in Europe depended ultimately
on good relations with Washington. Third, he stressed the commonality
of interests and objectives shared by Britain and America — greater than
between any other powers. Finally, and most important, he warned that
if Britain were ever engaged in another major conflict it would again be
vital to obtain from across the Atlantic ‘the sinews of war’. Commercial
greed alone would ensure this, ‘notwithstanding Senator Johnson and
all his works’, but only if the two countries remained friends.*°
Throughout the middle of 1934 intensive ministerial discussions took
place on the related topics of the DRC Report, the Naval Conference
and the Disarmament Conference, in Cabinet and in the Ministerial
Committees on Disarmament and on the Naval Conference. The dilem-
mas defined by their official advisers were echoed, and assumed more
pointed form as ministers tried to translate the advice into coherent
policy. Largely driven by Chamberlain, the Cabinet endorsed the order
of priority that placed Germany first; indeed, within a less costly pro-
gramme than that recommended by the Committee, conditioned by
continuing caution about economic recovery, the Chancellor tilted the
bias still further towards the Nazi menace by extra air force spend-
ing, in which he took the cue from Vansittart.®® Chamberlain willingly
accepted the logic which, placing Germany first, carried the corollary
of defusing the Japanese threat by diplomacy; though not a return
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to the old alliance, it corresponded to a degree with Fisher’s view.
It differed from that of Vansittart only in holding more sanguine
hopes. As regards America, Chamberlain’s position corresponded more
closely to that of Vansittart than that of Fisher. If anything, there
was a Chamberlain-Foreign Office axis, rather than a distinct Treasury
position.

The United States loomed large in the discussions. The strongest
pro-American voice was MacDonald — though frequent illness-related
absences had all but eliminated his influence. The Prime Minister wor-
ried lest agreement with Japan compromise Anglo-American relations,
lest it be perceived in the United States as an alliance.5> Even he, how-
ever, shared the general frustration, complaining about her obsession
with a navy second to none, dismissed as ‘really a toy and not essen-
tial’.*® Stanley Baldwin, Deputy Prime Minister, also much out of touch,
cautioned against jilting the Americans, towards whom he maintained
residual confidence: ‘Whilst he blamed America for many things which
had happened since 1918, nevertheless he thought it possible that
American feeling might be tempted to undertake a naval war against
Japan. Although they would not do it for love of us, yet he thought
it hard to believe that America would leave us alone to bear the full
weight of Japanese attack.”* Canada’s sensibilities and her alignment
with the United States placed Dominions Secretary, ].H. Thomas, in the
same camp.>® Eyres-Monsell, the First Lord, was tempted by the possibil-
ity of an Anglo-Japanese political agreement easing naval negotiations,
and perhaps impressing Washington with our influence in Tokyo; on
the other hand, with a view to the long term, he feared snubbing the
Americans at the Conference.*

The Foreign Secretary could offer little escape from the dilemma.
Indeed, Simon’s indecision was a matter of irritation to Chamberlain,
who thought him ‘temperamentally unable to make up his mind to
action when a difficult situation arises’.>” Adept, like the excellent lawyer
he was, at balancing the different sides of an argument, he tended to
pour cold water on all options. Bruised by his encounter with Stimson,
he was ever on guard against ‘putting her [the Unites States’] nose out of
joint’.’® He prevaricated on the proposed strategy towards Japan, simul-
taneously endorsing its desirability and disputing its practicality; it was
into this breach that Chamberlain stepped. The Foreign Secretary recog-
nised the need to balance between America and Japan, but made no
definite counsel. In fairness to Simon, it may well be that his was the
most accurate analysis: for the government was addressing a problem
that was well-nigh insoluble - indication of the terrible predicament
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that Britain was facing by 1934; but something had to be done, and
this was left to Vansittart and Chamberlain. It is notable that Anthony
Eden, then Junior Minister at the Foreign Office — soon to become chief
critic of Chamberlain’s American policy — shared at this stage in the gen-
eral scepticism, warning that America would expect ‘sacrifices’ for closer
relations; it was difficult, he said, ‘to place implicit confidence in her’.>

Chamberlain, certainly, emerged from his early financial dealings
with the United States and from the Far Eastern Crisis, deeply mistrust-
ful of America. He had little patience in ‘flirting’” with US diplomats,
especially ‘that detestable Norman Davis’, or ‘those unofficial Americans
who always seem to hang around their official representatives’.®® A prac-
tical politician, anxious for solutions, he disliked their inconsistency,
their habit of exceeding their brief, airing policies later disowned by
Washington. As the Ministerial Committee concluded its discussion of
the DRC report in July, he privately noted — with prescient accuracy in
view of Pearl Harbor: ‘we ought to know by this time that USA will
give us no undertaking to resist by force any action by Japan, short
of an attack on Hawaii or Honolulu. She will give us plenty of assur-
ances of goodwill especially if we will promise to do all the fighting
but the moment she is asked to contribute something she invariably
takes refuge behind Congress.’*! Regarding Europe, he expressed equal
distrust. The Far Eastern Crisis had demonstrated the League’s impo-
tence without American participation in sanctions; thus when Simon
optimistically suggested, a propos the security plans under debate at
Geneva in March 1934, that the United States ‘would probably give it
her blessing’, Chamberlain stressed the futility of sanctions without def-
inite US involvement.®? Already, in October 1933, he had complained
that the Americans were ‘chiefly anxious to convince their people that
they are not going to be drawn into doing anything helpful to the rest
of the world’.%® Roosevelt he found ‘a dangerous and unreliable horse in
any team’.%*

Chamberlain’s advocacy of agreement with Japan, even at the risk of
upsetting America, stemmed from recognition that, without any definite
policy from Washington, and given Britain’s rapidly worsening predica-
ment, it was vital to formulate an independent strategy. Indeed, he saw
agreement with Japan and British policy at Geneva as complementary
aspects of a ‘general pacification’.®> Introducing the idea of agreement
with Japan in late 1933, he deplored the lack of compensation for hav-
ing acquiesced in America’s wish to end the Anglo-Japanese Alliance.®
Favouring an agreement with Japan in which naval difficulties would
be subsumed, he deprecated aligning with the United States at the
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Conference, where it should be clarified we ‘could not pull the chestnuts
out of the fire for them’.” Most of the Cabinet actively agreed. Viscount
Sankey, Lord Chancellor, voiced the common view: he ‘wondered what
we had to lose’. Only the Prime Minister - whom Chamberlain thought
‘timid’ about America — demurred, fearing its perception in Washington
as an alliance.®® Although subsequent discussions raised qualms about
a pact’s practicability, it related more to China than America. Indeed,
one minister, Walter Elliot, anxious at rumours of possible withdrawal
from the Philippines and the improbability of US assistance in the event
of trouble with Japan, even suggested consideration of an alliance with
Russia — though eliciting no support.®

The DRC enquiry of 1933-34 established in a variety of respects
a blueprint for Britain’s international policy up to the outbreak of
World War II. Germany had been accurately identified as the princi-
pal enemy, liable to present immediate danger by 1939; as had the risk
that Japan, or other hostile powers, would be disposed to exploit that
threat in pursuit of policies also inimical to Britain; while they in turn
tempted Germany. The enquiry underlined a truth that had remained
disguised during the peaceful 1920s: that the British Empire, seriously
ill-defended, beset by multiple enemy threats, lacking a powerful and
reliable ally, in an era of unprecedented financial constraint, was in the
words of the First Sea Lord, ‘highly vulnerable’ and arguably not ‘in real-
ity strategically defensible’.’”® In these circumstances the government, as
Vansittart put it, could no longer afford the ‘luxury’ of ‘cooperation’
with the United States — unless this translated into a meaningful com-
mitment, whether to deter Japan or underwrite a security guarantee
in Europe. At the very least she would have to acknowledge Britain’s
right to make unilateral arrangements for her own security, however
unpalatable. As Chamberlain put it, ‘we must not sacrifice our own vital
interests to the hope, probably very meagre, of conciliating American
opinion’.”" This led, however, neither to indecision, nor to a rejection of
Washington; Fisher’s anti-Americanism advice was overruled. The policy
pursued henceforth towards the United States — prioritising unilateral
security, while continuing to work where opportunity arose for good
relations with Washington — was defined by Vansittart, endorsed by
Chamberlain and enjoyed, amidst officials and ministers alike, a wide
consensus.”?

Ironically, in view of their later, more notorious disagreement over
appeasing Germany, Chamberlain and Vansittart shared a common
view concerning Britain’s strategic predicament - that would soon
be reinforced vis a vis Italy — belying the conventional idea of a
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Treasury policy imposed against the wisdom of the Foreign Office.
Certainly, there were different emphases, notably regarding the prob-
ability of achieving agreement with Tokyo. It is wrong, however, to see
Chamberlain’s subsequent dogged pursuit of such a goal as indicative
of Treasury myopia, defying the clear-sighted objections of the Foreign
Office.”? Chamberlain, note, never entertained as a price the total rejec-
tion of America, or concessions at the expense of China.”* That the
idea of rapprochement with Japan should at least be explored, even if
unappealing to Washington, was generally supported, not least by the
Foreign Office.

American policy into the later 1930s continued to vindicate the anx-
ieties voiced earlier in the decade. When the Naval Conference met,
London’s worst fears were confirmed: proceeding, in Chamberlain’s
words, ‘on the assumption that we two honest-to-God Anglo-Saxons
would deal kindly but firmly with the little yellow men’.”> Advocat-
ing a placatory approach to Japan, Vansittart noted: ‘We have Germany
to consider as well. The Americans haven’t.””® The laws enacted by
Congress from 1934 to 1937, designed to forestall the scenario that
precipitated the United States’ intervention in 1917, made it look ever
less likely, even as dangers multiplied, that Britain could expect direct
assistance or benevolent neutrality in another conflict. Despite the
efforts of the pro-American Foreign Secretary, Anthony Eden, no com-
mon action proved negotiable even when ships of both nations were
attacked in the ‘Panay’ incident; indeed US press opinion called for
withdrawal from the Far East. At the Brussels Conference the Americans
opposed firm action, yet chose to denounce Japan in a declaration with
‘five or six pages of indictment’, recalling their provocative yet inef-
fective policy in the first Far Eastern Crisis.”” Regarding Italian and
German aggression, Washington persistently enunciated high-sounding
condemnation, more likely to provoke than deter, with little sensitiv-
ity to the grave predicament facing Britain and the paramount necessity
to reduce, as the Service Chiefs constantly urged, the number of poten-
tial enemies. Roosevelt’s ostensible efforts to push America into a more
proactive international role, particularly the so-called ‘initiative’ of early
1938 — which Chamberlain was unwilling to embrace but did not reject
outright — must be seen in the preceding context.

Hindsight creates mythologies of lost opportunity. Churchill’s mem-
oirs spawned the myth of an Anglo-American alliance in waiting,
thwarted by Chamberlain’s misguided pursuit of appeasement and anti-
American prejudice. Recent accounts have shown that during the 1930s
far more constructive dialogues were emerging at departmental level
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than supposed, which later proved essential foundations of Anglo-
American cooperation in World War II and the ‘Special Relationship’;
it is implied, however, that Chamberlain’s purblind anti-American prej-
udice blocked trends that could have established a more robust Anglo-
American partnership.’® Yet there is no evidence to suggest that, at the
highest level in Washington, any alternative scenario to that prevailing
could have emerged, whatever valuable contacts were being developed
at lower levels, or whoever was Prime Minister in London. Roosevelt’s
wish to reform the neutrality laws was perpetually stymied until Britain
lay naked before the might of a German-occupied Europe, and arguably
not until Japan’s attack on Pearl Harbor and Hitler’s gratuitous decla-
ration of war on the United States. Roosevelt’s agreement in 1938 to
the Ingersoll mission to London, to discuss contingency planning for
Anglo-American naval cooperation in event of a Far Eastern war, is
instructive: as it had to be conducted in secrecy to avoid antagonis-
ing Congress.”” Likewise, the visit of the British King and Queen to
Washington in June 1939, while contributing greatly to public sympa-
thy for the British, did not achieve Ambassador Sir Ronald Lindsay’s
objective of assisting Roosevelt’s struggle with Congress over neutrality
legislation.®

Throughout the 1930s the United States chose to speak loudly but not
to carry a big stick: the British would have preferred fewer words and
greater force. In the circumstances they were driven down a unilateralist
road that would terminate in appeasement, an attempt by a weakened
empire to fend off multiple threats by whatever resources of diplomacy
and deterrence were available. Chamberlain believed that an Anglo-
American alliance would be the greatest benefit to world peace; but
the pragmatist in him recognised there was little imminent prospect.®!
The frustrations of dealing with Washington were neatly captured by
Craigie, a convinced pro-American; who complained to Davis that while
the Americans wished to register ‘moral indignation’ the British pre-
ferred to ‘get on with the business of finding some practical means of
preventing things from going from bad to worse’.%?
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Chamberlain, the British Army and
the ‘Continental Commitment’

G.C. Peden

Field-Marshal Montgomery had no doubt that the British army was
totally unfit to fight a first-class war on the continent of Europe in
September 1939, and that successive governments in the inter-war
period were to blame. He pointed to their belief in the 1930s that
Britain’s contribution to a future war with Germany should be made
mainly through air and sea power, and remarked: ‘how any politician
could imagine that, in a world war, Britain could avoid sending her
army to fight alongside the French passes all understanding.’! No politi-
cian did more to delay the commitment to send a British expeditionary
force to the continent than Neville Chamberlain, who was Chancellor
of the Exchequer from 1931 to 1937 and Prime Minister from 1937 to
1940.2 There was no Ministry of Defence in the 1930s, and policy was
laid down by the Cabinet after discussions by ministers in Cabinet com-
mittees or in the Committee of Imperial Defence (CID), which brought
together ministers and the professional heads of the armed forces (the
Chiefs of Staff) and senior civil servants. It was Chamberlain who per-
suaded the Cabinet in 1934 to give a lower priority to the army than
to the Royal Air Force (RAF). It was he who initiated a review of the
defence departments’ programmes that resulted in a Cabinet decision at
the end of 1937 that the army’s first priority should be the air defence of
Great Britain, and that the expeditionary force, or field force, as it was
then known, should be equipped on a scale sufficient only for opera-
tions in defence of British territories and interests outside Europe. It was
not until February 1939 that he reluctantly agreed that the army must
be prepared to fight alongside the French. Sir Michael Howard, in his
seminal book, The Continental Commitment, describes Chamberlain as
‘implacably hostile’, prior to that date, to any idea of involvement in
Europe.®> On the other hand, Chamberlain’s most recent biographer,
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Robert Self, believes that Chamberlain consistently regarded the army
as ‘an insurance’ if the primary deterrent provided by the RAF bombers
should fail.* This chapter looks first at the evidence for Chamberlain
having ever imagined that it would be possible to avoid fighting on
land alongside the French in a world war, and then considers briefly the
extent of his responsibility for the shortcomings of the British army in
France and Belgium in 1939-40.

Both as Chancellor and Prime Minister, Chamberlain thought about
the army within the contexts of foreign policy, the economy and public
opinion. As David Dilks points out, Chamberlain believed in preparing
for the worst while hoping for the best.> Defence policy was intended to
deter aggression while diplomacy removed potential causes of war; con-
sequently the scale of the armed forces created by rearmament had to
be no larger than what the economy could sustain over however long a
period might be required to appease Europe. The National Government
had been formed to deal with a financial crisis and mass unemployment
in 1931, and until early 1939 the Cabinet accepted Treasury arguments
about the need to maintain long-term economic stability and therefore
the need to make choices regarding priorities in defence expenditure.
Prior to 1939 even the Chiefs of Staff advised against military conversa-
tions that would lead the French to assume that the British were morally
committed to them (as was believed to have been the case in 1914)
and which would, therefore, limit Britain’s freedom of action to decide
what form of intervention she should take if and when war broke out.®
The issue between Chamberlain and the Chiefs of Staff down to Febru-
ary 1939 was whether and when Britain should have the capability to
despatch an expeditionary force.

As regards public opinion, the army had less support in Parliament
or the press than the RAF and the navy. For example, in 1934 Stanley
Baldwin, the leader of the Conservative party, told ministers considering
defence programmes for future years that there were ‘semi-panic’ condi-
tions regarding the danger of air attack, and they ought also to bear in
mind possible activities of the Navy League.” No such support was forth-
coming for the army. Even Winston Churchill, the leading advocate in
Parliament of greater rearmament, was chiefly concerned with the gov-
ernment’s failure to fulfil its pledge, first made in 1934, that parity would
be maintained with Germany in the air. In July 1936 he advised Baldwin,
who was by then Prime Minister, against a repetition of pre-1914 plans
to commit the British army to a European campaign, and said that it
should be made clear to France and Belgium that they would have to
make their own arrangements to defend their frontiers, with any British
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contribution being additional and dependent upon what Britain was
able to do. In March 1938, five days before the German occupation of
Austria, Churchill told the House of Commons that ‘the army is not at
the present time a prime factor in our safety.”® It is not surprising that
Chamberlain found it easier to persuade his Cabinet colleagues to agree
to economies in the army’s programmes than in those of the other two
services.

The deficiency programme, 1934

Debate on defence priorities began in November 1933 when the Defence
Requirements Sub-Committee (DRC) of the CID, comprising the Chiefs
of Staff, the Permanent Secretary of the Treasury, the Permanent Under-
Secretary of the Foreign Office and the Cabinet Secretary, was asked
to prepare a programme for dealing with the worst deficiencies in the
armed forces. The DRC reported at the end of February 1934 that imme-
diate steps should be taken to improve Britain’s position versus Japan,
but that the ultimate potential enemy against whom long-range defence
policy must be planned was Germany. In relation to the German men-
ace, the most important deficiency in the army was stated to be the
expeditionary force. The DRC identified the independence of Belgium
and Holland as a vital interest, especially as regards the air defence of
Great Britain. The situation in 1934 was that only single divisions could
be despatched in each of the first two months of a war, followed by
a third in the fourth month and the remaining two divisions at the
end of the sixth month, and the DRC recommended that the regular
army should be capable of fielding four infantry divisions, a horsed cav-
alry division and a tank brigade within one month. The report added
that the army’s fifth infantry division should not be included in the
expeditionary force but should instead be used to provide reserves and
help to train the Territorial Army (TA). The TA lacked modern weapons
and training was normally limited to 30 evening drills and two weeks’
camp each year. During the DRC’s discussions, the Chief of the Impe-
rial General Staff (CIGS), Sir Archibald Montgomery-Massingberd, had
said that four TA divisions would be needed to support the regular
expeditionary force four months after the outbreak of war, but he had
not given an estimate of their cost, remarking that ‘the full bill for
TA requirements would be enormous’.’

The CIGS had good reason for being coy. The DRC report gave the cost
of making good the army’s deficiencies as £36.23 million spread over
five years (in addition to the 1933/4 level of expenditure). Of this figure,
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£25.68 million was for the capital cost of the expeditionary force and
only £1.25 million was for the TA.!"° Major Henry Pownall of the CID
secretariat thought that to produce an expeditionary force and prepare
the TA properly would require £145 million over five years, a figure that
he described as ‘impossible...and dangerous too’, for if ministers were
presented with it they might decide that the army was too expensive
and that the RAF would give better value for money.'! Even after the
omission of almost all of the potential cost of the TA, the army’s share
of the deficiency programme drawn up by the DRC was 40 per cent,
compared with 13.5 per cent for the RAF.

Chamberlain’s principal adviser at the Treasury was Sir Warren Fisher,
the Permanent Secretary. Participation in the DRC’s discussions had
made Fisher aware that the deficiencies programme did not include the
full cost of the TA, and that the reason why the army’s programme for
anti-aircraft guns and searchlights was spread over eight years, instead
of the five-year period of the rest of the deficiency programme, was
the CIGS’s fear that the additional money required to complete air
defence programme in five years would be found at the expense of
the expeditionary force.'? Fisher consulted Lord Trenchard, the for-
mer Chief of Air Staff (CAS), to whom he sent a copy of the DRC
report. Trenchard’s advice was that the items in the first order of pri-
ority included anti-aircraft guns and searchlights for England south of
the Wash; an increase in the RAF based in Britain to 100 squadrons
(compared with the 52 recommended by the DRC); and what Trenchard
called ‘the “spearhead” expeditionary force for securing continental air
bases’, but of these three items the first two were the most urgent.'
Trenchard believed that two-thirds of the RAF’s squadrons should be
bombers, but the bombers in service in 1934 lacked the range to attack
Germany effectively from British bases. What he was advocating was
that the army should act as an auxiliary to the RAF, and presumably this
advice reached Chamberlain via Fisher.

Nevertheless, when the army’s programme was first discussed in the
Cabinet’s Disarmament Committee on 3 May, Chamberlain made no
mention of this auxiliary role for the army. Instead he challenged the
need for another British expeditionary force along the lines of 1914,
when four regular divisions of infantry and one of cavalry had been
sent to France within 12 days, followed by a further two regular infantry
divisions about a month later. He argued that the strength of the French
frontier defences and the nature of trench warfare would make it impos-
sible for the German army to make progress, whereas the German air
force could fly over the French defences. In these circumstances, he
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claimed, the best contributions that Britain could make to the defence
of the west would be air power and sea power. When the Secretary of
State for War, Viscount Hailsham, responded that a British expeditionary
force was required to deny the Germans air and submarine bases in
Belgium and Holland, Chamberlain asked whether a British force could
reach these countries in time to prevent them being over-run. Rather
than send troops, could Britain not instead finance the frontier defences
that Belgium had planned but not yet built? Would the French be con-
tent with an air contribution from Britain?'* Robert Self is unwilling
to accept my suggestion that on this occasion Chamberlain was proba-
bly acting as the devil’s advocate rather than expressing his own fixed
opinions.'® However, a literal reading of Chamberlain’s arguments and
questions about the need for any expeditionary force would seem to
support Howard’s belief that he was implacably hostile to a continen-
tal commitment, rather than Self’s belief that he saw the army as an
insurance should deterrence fail. In fact Chamberlain’s role as Chancel-
lor was to challenge proponents of a large-scale and, in the case of the
TA, indefinite expenditure to prove their case.

When ministers resumed their discussion on 10 May Chamberlain
admitted that he had previously misunderstood the proposal regarding
the expeditionary force. He now realised that it was not proposed to cre-
ate an expeditionary force out of something that did not exist, but rather
to prepare the army’s existing field force to act as an expeditionary force.
He was still not convinced that Germany would be prepared to go to war
in 1939, or that it would be necessary to have an expeditionary force
ready by that date to go to Belgium and Holland within a month. Min-
isters agreed with Chamberlain that the Chiefs of Staff should be asked
to consider whether the Germans could be prevented from making air
attacks on Britain from continental air bases if the RAF was superior to
the German air force. In reply the Chiefs of Staff advised that the suc-
cessful defence of Belgium and Holland was the best means of mitigating
air attacks on London, but on 15 May Chamberlain said he remained
unconvinced that it would be possible to transport land forces from
Britain in time to prevent the Germans overrunning Belgium. He was
prepared to accept in principle the DRC’s recommendation on mod-
ernising the army, but he had reservations on how much of it should
ready to go overseas at any given moment, and how quickly it should
be re-equipped.'®

On 20 June Chamberlain produced what he described as his personal
conclusions based on the discussions in the Disarmament Committee,
financial limitations, and the probable reactions of public opinion. Since
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he did not believe that the public would agree to pay for the whole of the
deficiencies programme, he urged that priority should be given to prepa-
rations against Germany rather than those against Japan. He therefore
proposed to cut the navy’s programme, much of which was intended for
the defence of Britain’s territories and interests in the Far East. As regards
the German threat, the committee’s discussions had, he said, brought
out ‘two salient facts’: first, the danger of air attack; second, the exclu-
sion of Germany from Belgium and Holland was essential to Britain’s
security. The best defence policy would be to create a deterrent, which
he defined as an air force based in Britain ‘of a size and efficiency cal-
culated to inspire respect’. Should that deterrent fail, Britain’s defences
would take the form partly of the enlarged RAF, partly in the completion
of anti-aircraft defences, and ‘finally’ in the ‘conversion of the army into
an effectively equipped force capable of operating with allies in hold-
ing the Low Countries’. These second thoughts, in contrast to the views
expressed in May, do support Self’s belief that Chamberlain saw the army
as an insurance policy. In order to build up a deterrent, the Chancellor
proposed that the RAF should have more money than had been allotted
to it by the DRC, but that the army’s deficiencies programme should be
spread over a longer period than five years.!”

Ministers were too concerned about the threat from Japan to accept
Chamberlain’s cut in navy’s programme, but after some debate they
increased funding for the RAF by more than he had proposed. As regards
the army, Hailsham pointed out that Chamberlain had reached a figure
of £19.1 million for the five financial years 1934/5 to 1938/9 by includ-
ing in his calculation the DRC's proposals for anti-aircraft defence and
coastal defences for the naval base at Singapore, but only a small
residuum for the expeditionary force. Chamberlain argued that some
kind of arbitrary cut was necessary on financial grounds, and that
only the time scale of the army’s deficiencies programme was being
altered, with most of the expenditure being delayed until after 1938/9.18
Hailsham gained little support from his colleagues, who agreed with
Chamberlain that the public would not favour expenditure on the army,
and on 31 July the committee merely rounded up the army’s allocation
for the five years to 1938/9 from £19.1 million to £20 million." The
Chancellor was doubtless content as regards the RAF and army since, as
he had told his sister Hilda on 1 July, he had pitched his proposals ‘on
purpose a little high’.?°

The debate on the deficiencies programme well illustrates
Chamberlain’s style within government. He pushed the Chiefs of Staff
hard to ensure that they had really thought out strategic issues rather
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than merely come to a harmonious agreement on the basis of existing
allocations of funds between them. He did not simply take the advice
he received from Trenchard via Fisher, but ultimately, in the light of dis-
cussion in the Disarmament Committee, accepted that an expeditionary
force would be necessary if war came. As he told his sister, ‘we shall be
more likely to deter Germany from mad dogging if we have an air force
which in case of need could bomb the Ruhr from Belgium.’?! The delay
imposed on the army’s programme also reflected Chamberlain’s belief
in 1934 that Germany would not be ready to attack in the west within
five years.

The rearmament programme, 1936

There was growing evidence in late 1934 of German rearmament.
Following intelligence reports early in 1935 on the scale of German bor-
rowing, and on Fisher’s suggestion, the Treasury agreed in principle to a
defence loan to supplement revenue from taxation. Thereafter the abil-
ity of industry to fulfil defence contracts, and the effects of rearmament
on the economy, rather than the Chancellor's annual budget, deter-
mined the pace of the departments’ programmes. The Cabinet agreed
that rearmament should not interfere with normal trade, and it was
only after the German occupation of Austria in March 1938 that this
condition was relaxed to any great extent. Detailed Treasury control
of expenditure continued to be used to enforce priorities as between
departments: in particular, the RAF had first call on new industrial
capacity; and the army’s expeditionary force had the lowest priority
until 1939.22

In July 1935 the DRC was authorised by ministers to work out a
rearmament programme on the assumption that by April 1939 each
armed service should be as ready as possible ‘in relation to the needs of
national defence and within the limits of practicality’. Despite warnings
from the Permanent Under-Secretary of the Foreign Office, Sir Robert
Vansittart, the Chiefs of Staff were not disposed to think that war was
likely in 1939. Montgomery-Massingberd estimated that the Germans
would still be inferior in numbers on land to the combined French and
Belgian armies in 1939, and he thought that if the Germans decided
to go to war before 1942 they would be taking a bigger risk than they
had done in 1914. The main differences between the army’s propos-
als in 1935 compared with 1934 were the inclusion of the TA’s 12
infantry divisions to reinforce the regular expeditionary force, and the
mechanization of the cavalry division, which was to be combined with
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the tank brigade in a new mobile division (renamed 1st Armoured
Division in April 1939). In a discussion on air defence on 3 October
Montgomery-Massingberd admitted that the TA units that would oper-
ate the anti-aircraft guns and search lights were ‘in a bad way’, but the
army’s contribution to the air defence of Great Britain was only ‘to be
in sight of completion’ in five years. According to the Master-General
of the Ordnance - the officer in charge of the army’s equipment — the
army’s deficiency programme as a whole was too big to be completed in
three years with existing industrial capacity.?®

In the DRC’s proposed programme submitted to the Cabinet on
21 November more money was allocated to the army than to the RAF
(see Table 5.1). However, ministers, led by Chamberlain, were much
more concerned about air defence, and army expenditure rose more
slowly than the RAF’s (see Table 5.2). As in 1934, Chamberlain was a

Table 5.1 Army’s and RAF’s shares of DRC programme of
21 November 1935

Financial year Army RAF
£000s % £000s %
1936/7 54,000 31.1 45,000 25.9
1937/8 62,000 29.4 60,000 28.4
1938/9 72,000 31.8 64,000 28.2
1939/40 72,000 33.9 50,000 23.5
1940/1 82,000 39.2 44,000 21.0

Source: DRC 37, CAB 16/112.

Table 5.2 Army’s and RAF’s shares of actual defence expenditure

Financial year Army RAF

£000s % £000s %
1935/6 44,647 32.6 27,496 20.1
1936/7 54,846 29.5 50,134 26.9
1937/8 77,877 29.7 82,290 31.4
1938/9 121,361 31.7 133,800 35.0
1939/40 242,438 33.7 294,834 41.0

Sources: Cmd 6232, Parl. Papers 1939-40, x, 367, and (for 1939/40 only) Robert
P. Shay, British Rearmament in the Thirties (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University
Press, 1977), p. 297.
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member of the Cabinet committee — the Defence Policy and Require-
ments Committee (DPRC) — which considered the DRC report. He had a
powerful ally in his friend Lord Weir, the businessman and former Sec-
retary of State for Air, who was advising the government on how best
to secure industrial capacity for rearmament, and who was a full mem-
ber of the DPRC. Weir warned at the committee’s first meeting on 13
January 1936 that the programme recommended by the DRC could not
be carried out on schedule without imposing on industry controls of a
nature that he (and ministers) believed would be unacceptable except
in wartime. However, he did not limit himself to his industrial brief. He
argued that the army was the most expensive and least effective way of
helping allies, and that it would take longer for an expeditionary force
than the RAF to reach the scene of action.?* Weir was evidently influ-
enced by Basil Liddell Hart’s articles in The Times, which had suggested
that the offensive role of an expeditionary force should be entrusted to
the RAE*

Chamberlain’s arguments and the responses to them in the DPRC
in January 1936 followed similar lines to the discussions in the Disar-
mament Committee in 1934. He now believed that the Germans had
already established a lead in rearmament and that it would take a long
time for the British to catch up. He thought it was vitally important to
find a deterrent, and that the threat of an air offensive would perhaps be
a more effective deterrent to German aggression than defensive action
on the part of land forces. He was prepared to accept that the army could
not be left in its present condition, and that the TA must be revived, but
the army’s programme made the heaviest demands on industry. If it
were decided to concentrate on the RAF’s bomber force, it might be
possible to reduce these demands. The Secretary of State for War, now
Duff Cooper, circulated a memorandum by Montgomery-Massingberd
which argued that Germany’s superior industrial organisation meant
that Britain was bound to lose an air armaments race, and that the vul-
nerability of London to air attack placed Britain at a disadvantage in
air warfare. European nations, the CIGS believed, were primarily inter-
ested in land warfare, and a failure to send an expeditionary force would
be interpreted by France and Belgium as tantamount to abandoning
them to their fate. Most ministers, however, were primarily interested in
reports that German aircraft output was greater than British output, and
were disposed therefore to give the RAF priority. Duff Cooper success-
fully resisted a suggestion (whether by Chamberlain or Weir is not clear)
that the size of the expeditionary force should be reduced. Instead, on
16 January, he accepted a compromise put forward by Baldwin whereby
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the War Office would be authorised to bring the regular units of the
expeditionary force to as high a level of efficiency as possible within
five years, and to provide the TA with modern equipment, but no war
reserves, pending a review three years hence or whenever the industrial
position had changed. Duff Cooper tried, but failed, to persuade the
committee to take a decision in principle on the continental role of the
TA infantry divisions; that question was reserved for later decision.?®

Chamberlain was not prepared to wait. On 19 October 1936 he told
Sir Thomas Inskip, who had been appointed Minister for Co-ordination
of Defence in March, that there must be an early decision on the
future of the army, and what he (Chamberlain) thought the decision
should be. At this stage Chamberlain still believed that the RAF’s bomber
force could provide the ‘most formidable deterrent to war’, but he also
spoke in public of having an army which, although ‘trifling in num-
bers beside the vast conscript armies’ of Europe, would be ‘equipped
with the most modern weapons and mechanical devices that science
can give us’.*”” This force would comprise four infantry divisions and
one mobile division of the regular army, with the necessary drafts to
maintain its strength. Chamberlain believed that this was all that Britain
could provide for a European war if it came, since there would not be
enough manpower to produce all the munitions required for a million-
man army. He was aware that Britain and her allies had come to rely
upon imports of munitions from the United States in 1914-18 and that
American isolationism made such imports doubtful in future. In these
circumstances, the role of the TA, he thought, should be confined to
anti-aircraft and home defence.?®

These ideas were very much Chamberlain’s own. Indeed, after hearing
them, Fisher produced a memorandum on 23 October which was both
a defence of the DRC’s recommendation that the 12 TA infantry divi-
sions should be properly equipped and a claim that 17 divisions (the
regulars plus the TA), or about 600,000 men, should be Britain’s maxi-
mum commitment for war on the European continent. Fisher believed
that the British people would never again consent to be conscripted by
the million for service in the trenches, and that, even if they were, air
power would be a better use of resources. He tried to win the support of
the Cabinet Secretary, Sir Maurice Hankey, for these views, but Hankey
replied that, if at a future date the German army had six million men
and the French only two million, the British would have to mobilise
their millions, for the Germans would never allow Britain to achieve
decisive air superiority.?? Hankey’s views were important because Inskip
lacked a department of his own and relied on Hankey for advice.
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Inskip took up Chamberlain’s idea that the expeditionary force should
be limited to five divisions with the CIGS, now Sir Cyril Deverell,
and Vansittart. Vansittart believed that diplomacy could secure some
easement of American neutrality legislation, so that the difficulty of
maintaining in the field an army of half a million to one million was
not as great as Chamberlain believed. Deverell said that Britain could
not enter a Furopean war with any limitation of liability. Inskip took
the view that he was not in a position to controvert these expert opin-
ions and told Chamberlain on 5 November that the size of the army in
war could not be determined in advance.*

Inskip was also coming under pressure from Duff Cooper for a deci-
sion on the role of the army, since the Treasury used the fact that the
Cabinet had not approved the DRC'’s recommendations for the TA’s
infantry divisions as a reason for holding up any plans for industrial
capacity beyond what was required for the regular army. Inskip agreed
that an early decision was necessary for the efficient planning and exe-
cution of the rearmament programme and he encouraged Duff Cooper
to make his case in Cabinet.?! While the Secretary of State for War was
still preparing his Cabinet paper on the role of the army, Chamberlain
consulted Fisher on what seemed to the Chancellor to be two separate
questions. First, should the War Office proceed with the DRC plan to pre-
pare to send 17 divisions to Europe on or within a limited time after the
outbreak of war? — to which Fisher replied: ‘As an ultimate policy I think
yes.” Second, should resources be used to equip the TA rather than in
strengthening the RAF? — to which Fisher replied: ‘No. Air strength
should be an absolute priority, accompanied by naval development.’3?
On this view, what could be done about the army would depend upon
Britain’s progress compared with Germany’s in air rearmament.

Duff Cooper’s paper on 3 December argued that war could not be
fought on the principle of limited liability, and that the maximum effort
should be made with the minimum delay. It followed, he claimed, that
the TA should be available to support the expeditionary force as soon
as possible after the outbreak of war, and that a start should be made
in placing orders and expanding industrial capacity to enable at least
part of the TA to be ready within two years.>* In Cabinet discussion on
9 December Inskip gave Duff Cooper support from the point of view of
the need to let the army’s contractors know the scale of orders they
should prepare for, but Chamberlain told Inskip that as Minister for
Co-ordination of Defence he had a responsibility for strategy as well
as supply, and that he (Chamberlain) doubted the wisdom of equipping
the TA for the trenches.?* In a Cabinet paper of 11 December, replying
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to Duff Cooper, Chamberlain denied that he was suggesting that war
could be made on the principle of limited liability; but he also pointed
out that resources were not unlimited and that choices would have to be
made as to the best use of air, sea and land power at the outbreak of war.
What readjustment of the national effort would be required during a war
would depend upon circumstances that could not be foreseen. Although
the Cabinet, in approving the rearmament programme, had agreed that
there should be no interference with normal trade, there were already
signs that industry was being diverted from exports to rearmament, and
overseas markets once lost would not easily be recovered. Any substan-
tial addition to the programme approved by the Cabinet in February
would, he believed, lead to a breakdown of the whole scheme. He sub-
mitted that, before a decision was taken on TA contingents for the
expeditionary force, the alternative use of resources by the RAF, the
navy and the TA units responsible for air defence should be surveyed
by ‘the competent authorities’.>> The Cabinet decided on 16 December
that Inskip should conduct an inquiry into the role of the army after
consultation with the three Chiefs of Staff, but Chamberlain told Inskip
that he doubted if the Chiefs of Staff alone were sufficient for the task,
and asked him to consider including in the inquiry someone who could
put the point of view which he had urged. Hankey’s tart comment was
that if someone was to put Chamberlain’s point of view it would have
to be the Chancellor himself for he (Hankey) knew of no one else who
shared it with sufficient conviction to put it forward.3¢

In fact Chamberlain was not alone in his views. The head of the Trea-
sury’s division dealing with defence expenditure, Edward Bridges, sent
the Chancellor a note before the Cabinet meeting of 16 December say-
ing that he personally could conceive of the Treasury agreeing to a small
but highly effective and modern expeditionary force limited to the five
regular divisions, but not a larger force including several TA divisions
equipped to the same standard as the regulars. Bridges, who had served
as an infantry officer on the Western Front from 1915 to 1917, pointed
out that the War Office had not explained how the part-time soldiers in
TA divisions could be trained in peace-time up to the necessary level of
efficiency so as to be available for service in Europe on, or soon after,
the outbreak of war. He himself doubted if that were possible, given the
greater complexity of military equipment compared with 1914.%7

The Chiefs of Staff’s report on 28 January 1937 on the role of the
army said that it would take four months’ intensive training after the
outbreak of war before the TA would be fit for service overseas. The only
land forces available immediately would be the five regular divisions,
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all of which could be landed on the Continent within 15 days. While
they might not arrive in time to take part in the initial fighting, their
moral and material effect might prove to be of great importance for
potential allies. Experience in 1914 had shown the need for reinforce-
ments, which could only come from the 12 TA infantry divisions, some
of which might also be required for imperial defence against first-rate
military powers (Japan, Russia and Italy were mentioned). The Chiefs of
Staff therefore recommended that the ultimate aim should be to equip
the TA on a scale that would enable it to be ready to proceed overseas
four months after the outbreak of war, and that industrial capacity avail-
able to the War Office should be increased.?® Hankey drafted a letter for
Inskip to send on 1 February to Chamberlain in which it was pointed
out that the Chiefs of Staff recognised that the development of the RAF,
the mechanisation of the army, and the uncertainty of the availability
of supplies from the United States ruled out an army on the same size as
in the last war, some 70 divisions. On the other hand, the letter noted,
European countries attached great importance to armies, and the Chiefs
of Staff believed that Britain must be able to send an expeditionary force
to support France and Belgium in a war with Germany as soon as circum-
stances permitted. While Trenchard had said that a stronger air force
would make it possible to limit the expeditionary force to the regular
divisions, Hankey thought it was impossible for ministers to prefer the
former CAS'’s views to those of their official advisers. He added that the
evidence of recent warfare in China, Abyssinia and Spain did not sug-
gest that air power alone could be decisive against infantry in defensive
positions. Through Inskip, he warned: ‘It would be a terrible responsibil-
ity, after the experience of the late war, if we had to send an ill equipped
army or were unable to sustain it with war material, or to reinforce it
within a reasonable time.”*’

On 3 February the Cabinet adopted Inskip’s suggestion that the reg-
ular army and the TA’s two anti-aircraft divisions should be provided
with the most modern and complete equipment, and the rest of the
TA should receive enough equipment for training purposes, which
would be the equivalent of equipment for two divisions. Chamberlain,
however, insisted on knowing the cost, which the War Office was
not able to provide until April. When the Cabinet met on 28 April
Chamberlain pointed to the rising cost of rearmament as all three ser-
vices added to their original programmes. In the army’s case, the figure
in the DRC Report of February 1934 had been £146 million, which
the Cabinet had cut down to £100 million; by December 1936 it was
£177 million, and now it was over £204 million (excluding the 12
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TA divisions). The War Office was now asking for £9 million for train-
ing equipment for the TA and a further £33 million for equipment and
war reserves for four TA infantry divisions. It was this last item which
the Cabinet cut at a further meeting on 5 May. Chamberlain said he
was challenging the advice of the military advisers because the matter
was not purely military: the country was being asked to increase the size
of the navy and RAF, as well as an army for use on the Continent. He
believed that if Britain had to fight it would be with allies who had in
any case to maintain large armies, and the British contribution on land
should be on a limited scale. At his suggestion, the Cabinet remitted the
question of the role of the army to one of its committees, the Defence
Plans (Policy) Committee, which was already considering proposals for
a new standard of naval strength.*

The Inskip Report, 1937

Chamberlain became prime minister on 28 May 1937, greatly strength-
ening his influence over defence policy. In the concluding weeks of
his chancellorship Treasury officials had already begun a study of how
to re-impose financial control over defence expenditure. On 30 June
the Cabinet agreed to a proposal put forward by the new Chancellor,
Sir John Simon, that the defence departments should work out how
long it would take to complete their approved programmes; what their
annual expenditure would be over that period, taking account of the
rising trend of prices; and what their normal expenditure would be
once rearmament was complete. In the light of the figures produced,
ministers would fix maximum limits to each department’s expenditure.
Meanwhile decisions on major additions to the approved programmes
were to be postponed.*' Consequently, when Leslie Hore-Belisha, whom
Chamberlain had appointed as Secretary of State for War in place of
the intransigent Duff Cooper, submitted a plan to the Defence Plans
(Policy) Committee on 13 July for new equipment for four TA infantry
divisions, Simon was able to point out that a proposal which would
increase expenditure on the army from £204 million to £250 million
was not consistent with the Cabinet’s decision a fortnight earlier.
At Chamberlain’s suggestion the committee deferred a decision until
the review of all the defence programmes was complete, but agreed that
the four TA divisions should be included in plans for the allocation of
industrial capacity.*?

Hore-Belisha looked to Liddell Hart for alternative advice to what he
was receiving from the CIGS (Deverell) and other members of the Army
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Council. Liddell Hart believed that modern weapon developments had
increased the superiority of defence over attack in land warfare, and that
an expeditionary force made up mainly of infantry divisions would be
drawn into offensive operations, in which they would have little effect.
What were required, he said, were one or two mechanised (armoured)
divisions.*® It would seem to have been preconceptions arising from this
advice that led Hore-Belisha, following a visit to the French manoeu-
vres in September 1937, to tell the Cabinet that in the event of war
the French wanted the British to send two mechanised divisions rather
than a large number of infantry divisions. Hore-Belisha’s understand-
ing was that France’s frontier defences (the Maginot Line) could be
held by a garrison of 100,000 men, releasing the bulk of the French
army for mobile operations. Chamberlain thanked Hore-Belisha for this
statement, but the latter had almost certainly misunderstood what he
had heard in France, his French not being good enough for military
conversations.* According to Inskip, no one in the Cabinet believed
Hore-Belisha’s report to be well founded.*

Chamberlain too was impressed by Liddell Hart’s ideas. On 29 October
he told Hore-Belisha that he had been reading Liddell Hart’s book, Europe
in Arms, and recommended the chapter on the role of the British army.
Hore-Belisha replied two days later that he had immediately read the
chapter and was impressed by Liddell Hart’s theories.*® In Europe in Arms
Liddell Hart argued that Britain should give up the idea of sending an
expeditionary force to France or Belgium and should develop an air force
that could intervene from British bases at the outbreak of war. ‘The
promise of such help’, he wrote, ‘would be more comfort to a threat-
ened neighbour, and more deterrent to a would-be aggressor, than any
force of the 1914 pattern — a mere drop in the bucket of a Continen-
tal struggle between mass armies’.*” Inskip thought that Chamberlain
had been ‘bitten’ by Liddell Hart and described the Prime Minister as ‘a
bitter opponent’ of a continental role for the army.*® That may be so,
but Chamberlain did not dictate what the role of the army should be;
he left the task of making recommendations on defence policy to the
responsible minister, Inskip.

By 27 October the Cabinet had the revised figures for the cost of
rearmament. On the basis of approved programmes, estimated defence
expenditure over the five financial years 1937/8 to 1941/2 would be
£1,470 million, but if additions which the Admiralty and Air Ministry
wanted were included, the total would be £1,717 million.** The Trea-
sury had calculated that the money available over the period, on the
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existing basis of taxation and within the level of borrowing authorised
by the Defence Loans Act of 1937, would be £1,500 million. The Cabinet
decided to refer the problem of reconciling these figures to Inskip, who
was advised by senior officials, including Hankey and Bridges. Inskip
and Hankey accepted the Treasury’s argument that maintenance of the
country’s economic stability was a ‘fourth arm’ of defence, which would
confront an aggressor with the prospect of a long war in which, as the
Chiefs of Staff had advised earlier in the year, Britain and France, with
their naval power, were likely to have the advantage.® On 23 November
Hankey suggested to Inskip that the order of priorities for defence
policy should be: (1) security of the United Kingdom; (2) safeguard-
ing of sea communications; (3) defence of British territory overseas;
(4) co-operation in defence of any allies Britain might have in war. The
expeditionary force required such large resources of ammunition and
stores for its continental role that he would in any case have been com-
pelled, if reluctantly, to recommend that the Cabinet should place it low
in the order of priority. Hankey then claimed that events had occurred
that justified a change in policy. First, (echoing Hore-Belisha) he said
that France no longer looked to Britain to provide an expeditionary
force on the scale hitherto proposed. Second, the German government
had guaranteed the neutrality of Belgium, and the vulnerability of the
Ruhr to attack across Belgian territory suggested that the Germans had
sound motives for not violating the guarantee. Third, the increasing
cost of aircraft made it more difficult to provide a large army as well.
Fourth, the Empire might absorb the whole of Britain’s military forces
in a major war.’! (In 1914 there had been no Italian danger to Egypt;
Japan had been an ally; and there had been no commitment compara-
ble to Palestine, where at the end of 1937 three brigades were deployed
to maintain British authority.)

Hankey’s suggestions formed the basis of Inskip’s interim report on
defence expenditure in future years which was presented to the Cabinet
on 22 December. Inskip recommended that provision for co-operation
in defence of the territories of allies should only be made once the
first three priorities of protecting the United Kingdom and its trade
routes, and British overseas territories had been met. The primary roles
of the regular army were now to be the air defence of Great Britain and
the defence of the Empire. The latter role would still require modern
armaments, but not the scale of reserves of munitions or the industrial
capacity necessary for taking part in European warfare from the out-
break of war. Inskip made clear that he made this recommendation with
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reluctance and asked his Cabinet colleagues to share responsibility for it
with their eyes open:

If France were again to be in danger of being overrun by land armies, a
situation might arise when, as in the last war, we had to improvise an
army to assist her. Should this happen, the Government of the day
would most certainly be criticised for having neglected to provide
against so obvious a contingency.>?

The Cabinet nevertheless accepted his proposals.

Inskip produced a second report in February 1938, making financial
allocations between the departments and spelling out the implications
for their programmes. Previously it had been planned that the regu-
lar army would be able to disembark on the Continent four infantry
divisions and one mobile division within 15 days of mobilisation. Now
it was proposed to have two infantry divisions and one mobile divi-
sion with full reserves of munitions, ready to complete disembarkation
within 21 days, and two infantry divisions with war equipment but
only half scales of reserves of munitions, ready to begin embarkation
in 40 days. The army also wanted to have a pool of equipment to
enable either two TA divisions or two further regular divisions to take
the field after four months. It was assumed that this force would be
called upon to operate in an ‘Eastern’ theatre, with the defence of Egypt
the most likely commitment, and substantial reductions were made
in planned provision of tanks and reserves of ammunition compared
with a European campaign.’® In a separate paper on the army Hore-
Belisha remarked that the expeditionary force should be despatched
to Europe only if the situation in the rest of the world permitted.**
Howard comments that ‘what was generally termed a policy of “lim-
ited liability” in continental warfare had now shrunk to one of no
liability at all.”ss

The Inskip report did not in fact preclude a continental commitment
at some future date. When briefing the Chancellor for a discussion
in the CID of Hore-Belisha’s proposals, Bridges commented: ‘it now
appears...that the reserves of ammunition for [the first three| divi-
sions would, as it so happens, be to all intents on a Continental scale!
This is what we always suspected and feared, namely that the War
Office...are still, in effect, clinging to an Army capable of fighting in
the Continental role.”> At the CID meeting on 17 March Hore-Belisha
urged that, notwithstanding the priority for air defence, the War Office
should be allowed to place orders for field guns and howitzers as well
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as anti-aircraft guns. Chamberlain asked for information and the CIGS,
now Lord Gort, explained that the field guns were of a 1905 pattern and
the howitzers were also outranged by foreign artillery. The CID therefore
agreed that the War Office could allocate new capacity for gun produc-
tion to the requirements of the expeditionary force. It was also agreed
that the War Office could accumulate reserves and allocate industrial
capacity in peace time to enable the seven divisions to be sent abroad at
the dates specified in Hore-Belisha’s paper, the reserves being adequate
for defensive warfare in Europe.®’

In terms of Self’s analogy of Chamberlain seeing the army as an insur-
ance if deterrence should fail, it could be said that the premium was
reduced in 1937 so that it was uncertain if and when the expeditionary
force would be available for continental service. Moreover, the nature of
Britain’s deterrent had changed. British aircraft production was lagging
behind that of Germany and the Inskip Report marked the beginning
of a greater emphasis on fighter aircraft rather than a bomber deterrent.
Deterrence now meant facing Germany with the prospect of a long war
in which British economic stability and naval blockade would be deci-
sive. To make such a deterrent credible, the United Kingdom had to be
proof against a ‘knock-out’ blow from the Luftwaffe. Only once Britain’s
air defences, including the army’s anti-aircraft guns and search lights,
were in better shape than they were in 1937, or indeed throughout 1938,
was priority likely to be given to preparing the expeditionary force to
fight alongside the French.

Continental commitment, 1939

The French had good reason to be disappointed by the news in February
1938 that the largest force that the British could send to their aid would
be two incomplete infantry divisions (the mobile division was still being
formed). The French Chief of the General Staff General Maurice Gamelin
reported in April that he had only 80 of the 88 divisions required simply
to defend France’s frontiers against the 92 that Germany could rapidly
deploy against her, and account had also to be taken of the Italian
army.*® With the loss of the Czech army after Munich the balance of
power swung further in favour of the Axis powers and French pressure
for a greater effort on land by Britain became insistent. The Chiefs of
Staff warned in December 1938 that Britain’s very existence would be
threatened if the Germans established air and naval bases in Holland,
Belgium and Northern France, which they were in a position to do. Intel-
ligence reports at the beginning of 1939 that Germany might occupy
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Holland alarmed British ministers. Pownall, now Director of Military
Operations and Intelligence at the War Office, noted in his diary on
23 January: ‘The French know we regard the Low Countries as vital to
our security and they are using that as a lever to put a bit of ginger into
us. More power to them!’?

Inskip’s second report in February 1938 had said that there should
be a further enquiry in 1939 as to whether, in the light of the inter-
national situation, higher defence expenditure should be authorised.
By January 1939 it was clear that Munich had not brought about the
improvement in Anglo-German relations for which Chamberlain had
hoped. On 25 January 1939 the Foreign Secretary, Lord Halifax, told the
Cabinet that Germany’s economic problems arising from rearmament
were such that it seemed likely that within the next 12 months Hitler
would have to go to war to secure the vast supplies of raw materials
that Germany could no longer pay for by exports.®® In these circum-
stances Chamberlain and Simon were the only ministers who attached
much importance to maintaining long-term economic stability as a
fourth arm of defence. When Hore-Belisha presented the case in Cabi-
net on 2 February 1939 for equipping the army for service in Europe,
Chamberlain still hoped that the French could be persuaded that it
would be in the common interest that Britain should not attempt to
expand her land forces in addition to the ‘gigantic effort’ she was
making in the air and at sea. He insisted that Inskip’s successor as Min-
ister for the Co-ordination of Defence, Lord Chatfield, should have
time to consider Hore-Belisha’s proposal for the expeditionary force
alongside War Office plans for increased expenditure on air defence.
However, by 22 February the Prime Minister had been persuaded, reluc-
tantly, that most of Hore-Belisha’s proposals, which were supported
by the Chiefs of Staff, should be accepted. Thus the mobile division
was to be organised into two smaller divisions; the equipment and
reserves of four regular infantry divisions were to be brought up to
the scale required for continental warfare, with the first two being
ready to embark in 21 days after mobilisation and the second two
after 60 days; and four TA divisions were similarly to be made ready
to embark six months after the outbreak of war, with the remain-
ing eight or nine TA infantry divisions receiving training equipment.
Although these measures would add £67 million to the cost of the army,
Chamberlain accepted that there was no alternative, given the feeling
in France that Britain must make some contribution on land.®' Never-
theless, apart from the reorganisation of the mobile division, the size of
that contribution would be no greater than what the DRC had proposed
in 1935.
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Then on 28 March, 13 days after the German seizure of the rump of
Czechoslovakia, and the day before Anglo-French staff talks were due
to begin, Chamberlain suddenly altered the whole scale of British mili-
tary planning. He was due to address the 1922 Committee that evening
and he wished to say something about how the recent increase in the
number of men wishing to join the TA was to be utilised. There had
been reports that volunteers were being turned away because the units
in which they wished to enlist were up to establishment. Sir Horace
Wilson, Chamberlain’s confidential adviser, wrote to Hore-Belisha ask-
ing if men could be enrolled and given some training, even if, for
the time being, equipment was not available for them. Hore-Belisha
saw the Prime Minister in the afternoon and, when told that some
action was required to show that Britain was determined to resist aggres-
sion, suggested doubling the TA. Chamberlain was anxious to have an
announcement made in the next 24 hours, and Hore-Belisha called a
meeting of the Army Council so that a plan could be presented to the
Cabinet the next day. Within hours Treasury officials were astonished
to learn that it was proposed to increase the existing establishment of
the TA of 130,000 to its war strength of 170,000, and then to double
it to 340,000 by duplicating every unit. Sir Alan Barlow remarked that
since the immediate military value of such a force would be nil, the
effect of the proposed announcement would be likely to make Hitler
think he would be better to strike at once. Sir Richard Hopkins remarked
that the proposal was unrelated to any strategic plan.®®> Even so, at the
Cabinet meeting the next day the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Simon,
agreed with Halifax that the need to impress public opinion at home
and abroad was more important than the financial aspects (capital cost
£80 million to £100 million).®* The only echo of limited liability was
that Chamberlain told Chatfield that Britain’s freedom to decide the
destination of the 26-division TA should be emphasised in staff talks
with the French in April.®

The creation of a Ministry of Supply to deal with the greatly enlarged
requirements on the army followed on 20 April. The introduction of
conscription was delayed until 26 April only because Chamberlain
feared to alienate the trade union movement at a time when it was being
co-operative over changes in industrial practices required to expedite
rearmament. Chamberlain explained this breach of earlier pledges not
to introduce conscription in peacetime by saying that, although Britain
was not in a state of war, international conditions could not be described
as peacetime in any normal sense of the word.*> However, Chamberlain
still hoped to avoid war and his purpose in increasing the size of the
army was to deter Germany, not to prepare for war in September 1939.
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Conclusion and consequences

Was Chamberlain a politician who, in Montgomery’s words, imagined
that Britain could avoid sending her army to fight alongside the French
in a world war? Was he implacably hostile to the idea, as Howard
believes, or did he consistently regard the expeditionary force as insur-
ance should deterrence fail, as Self claims? In answering these questions
it is important to distinguish between the role of the army at the out-
break of war and what might happen later. Chamberlain focused on
what could be done to deter Germany, and to prevent defeat in the early
stages of a war if deterrence failed, rather than on what might happen
in a prolonged war. Thus in 1934 Chamberlain wanted priority to be
given to the RAF’s bombers, but he accepted that a small, well-equipped
army had a role to play in securing continental air bases. With Inskip’s
report of December 1937 deterrence changed to take the form of abil-
ity to outlast Germany in a long war. The prospect of the army being
able to fight alongside the French at the outbreak of war was delayed
sine die until Britain’s air defences, trade routes and overseas posses-
sions were secure. Even in 1938, however, Chamberlain agreed that the
expeditionary force must be able to fight the army of a first-class power,
and the difference between a force equipped for continental warfare
and one equipped for imperial defence lay mainly in the reserves of
munitions required for what was assumed to be more intensive fighting
in Western Europe than in Egypt or elsewhere. The decisions in early
1939 first to prepare the regular army to fight in Western Europe at
the outbreak of war, and then to double the size of the TA, threatened
the stability of the economy and represented a new kind of deterrence
designed for a period of about 12 months. In short, Montgomery’s and
Howard’s criticisms contain an element of truth, but seem to exaggerate
the consistency of Chamberlain’s opposition to a continental commit-
ment. Self likewise exaggerates Chamberlain’s consistency in regarding
the army as insurance at the outbreak of war; Chamberlain was flexible
in his views as he responded to changes in the international situation,
the economy and public opinion.

It is hard not to sympathise with Montgomery, who, as a divisional
commander in the British Expeditionary Force in 1939-40, saw its defi-
ciencies at first hand, and who heard from Chamberlain’s own lips
the latter’s belief as late as December 1939 that the Germans had no
intention of attacking.®® The army paid a high price for political deci-
sions to hold back its rearmament until air defence and sea routes had
been made secure, and then to increase its size as a vain attempt at
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deterrence. Lack of up-to-date equipment made realistic training diffi-
cult even for the regular army. The enlarged TA of 1939 was short of
equipment and instructors for its raw recruits and there was little time
in which units could learn to work together. Even so, hasty and incom-
plete rearmament was not peculiar to the British army. In April 1939 the
German army faced similar problems: 34 of its divisions were only half
equipped; reserve units had only 10 per cent of their rifles and machine
guns; and the total amount of ammunition was estimated to be suf-
ficient for only 15 days’ fighting.®” What the German army had and
the British army lacked was effective armoured divisions. It is not clear
that financial restraint was wholly responsible for this deficiency. It was
not until early in 1939 that the British army settled on tank designs
for mass production and on the organisation of armoured divisions.®
Bond points out that, had it not been for the Cardwell system, whereby
roughly equal numbers of cavalry and infantry battalions were sta-
tioned at home and overseas, the regular army could have devoted more
resources to armoured forces and could also have had more than five
divisions available for the expeditionary force.® David French argues
convincingly that the British army was outthought and outmanoeu-
vred by the Germans in 1940 on account of an inflexible command,
control and communications system, defective tactical doctrine and
inadequate air support, none of which was an inevitable result of finan-
cial restraint.”® It would be quite wrong, therefore, to assume that the
British army’s deficiencies were wholly the result of Chamberlain’s influ-
ence. That said, Chamberlain was too easily impressed by the claims
made by Trenchard and the Air Staff in favour of the bomber, and
by Liddell Hart’s belief that air power could be a substitute for an
expeditionary force. In the event, the RAF was largely ineffective against
the German army in France and Belgium in 1940, and even in strategic
bombing until 1942.7
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Eden, the Foreign Office and the
‘German Problem’, 1935-38

G.T.P. Waddington

Of all the dilemmas that plagued the British Foreign Office during the
interwar years none was more onerous or enduring than that which
has passed into the history books as the ‘German problem’. The term
itself was an unfortunate echo of failure, a nagging reminder that the
primary objective that the British had pursued at such appalling sacri-
fice during the war of 1914-18 had not been realised. To be sure, the
defeat of the Kaiserreich had eliminated a dangerous naval competi-
tor and commercial rival, but the peace treaties had signally failed to
deliver that continental equilibrium which was considered vital to the
safety of the homeland and the promotion of British interests across
the globe. Indeed, the manifest shortcomings of the peace settlement,
the continental dominance of France, the disputes which continued to
rage between the newly emerged states of Eastern and Central Europe
and, most importantly, the severe weakening of Germany had created
a situation which was in some senses even more challenging than that
which had confronted the British before 1914. Well might they have
wished to ‘heal the wounds of war, to oppose far-reaching alterations in
the law of Europe, to return to normal’,! not least in view of their press-
ing domestic concerns and new imperial burdens, but the authorities in
London were quick to appreciate that a German revival, a contingency
not entirely undesirable in itself, if only from an economic point of view,
was merely a question of time. Thus, unlike their French counterparts,
who unrealistically aspired to keep the Reich in a state of permanent
disrepair, the British adopted a proactive policy towards Germany dur-
ing the early 1920s which was ultimately designed to facilitate the
controlled reintegration of the fledgling republic into an international
environment in which all could recover and prosper.
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Following a series of disputes with the French, culminating in a ran-
corous disagreement over the occupation of the Ruhr, this approach
appeared to be bearing fruit, reaching a high point with the Locarno
treaties of 1925 and Germany’s subsequent entry into the League of
Nations. Locarno, however, would prove to be something of an illu-
sion, for not only did it fail to usher in a lasting Franco-German
rapprochement, the crucial lynchpin of future continental stability, but
it served more to stimulate than to satisfy German ambitions. By the
time Stresemann departed the scene in 1929 even the much vaunted
‘spirit of Locarno’ was visibly crumbling as Paris and Berlin once more
locked horns over reparations and troop evacuations while Germany’s
brief flirtation with democracy began to fall victim to the world eco-
nomic crisis and the heightened appeal of radical doctrines. Neverthe-
less, the emergence of Hitler in January 1933 and the reappearance
of an overtly aggressive German nationalism brought no fundamental
departure in Britain’s approach to continental affairs. Indeed, the dan-
gers posed by National Socialism, which were fully appreciated in the
higher echelons of the British diplomatic service,” served only to pro-
vide an additional stimulus in the search for a lasting accommodation
with Germany. On the other hand, coming in the wake of the Great
Depression and the Manchurian crisis, and in the midst of the ‘long-
drawn agony’ of the Geneva Disarmament Conference,® the very nature
of National Socialism meant that the ‘German problem’ of the 1930s was
of a fundamentally different order to that which had faced the British
during the previous decade. Moreover, once the Defence Requirements
Committee (DRC) had established that Germany was the ‘ultimate
potential enemy’ against which Britain’s long-term defence planning
would have to be based, the policy agenda for Anglo-German relations
had effectively been settled: reconcile and contain Hitler or prepare for
the consequences of alienation and, ultimately, the possibility of war.*

By the time of Anthony Eden’s appointment as British Foreign Secre-
tary in December 1935 it was already apparent to the German experts in
the Foreign Office that a satisfactory settlement with Hitler was unlikely
to be achieved.® An initial attempt to open general discussions with
the Nazi regime on the basis of the legalisation of limited German
rearmament had already been thwarted by the first of the Fihrer’s
unilateral treaty violations. Moreover, despite the soothing words that
continued to issue forth from Berlin,® Hitler had steadfastly refused to
engage in any meaningful discussion on issues of arms limitation, multi-
lateral security or a possible return to Geneva, each an essential element
of the so-called ‘general settlement’ that the Foreign Office had long
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since prioritised as the foremost objective of its European policy. Ironi-
cally, the only advance of any significance that was made during 1935
was the Anglo-German Naval Agreement which was not only concluded
on terms to which the British were initially wholly opposed, but which,
by its very nature, and much to Hitler’s satisfaction, exercised a deeply
divisive influence on the powers that had only recently sought to adver-
tise their solidarity against him at Stresa. Now, six months on from the
naval agreement, and with relations between the Western Powers and
Italy severely strained as a result of the Abyssinian crisis, the new For-
eign Secretary was under no illusions as to the magnitude of the task
that lay before him in framing a constructive policy towards the Third
Reich.

Although Eden had formed a relatively favourable impression of Hitler
during their first meeting in February 1934, describing him to Jan
Masaryk as a ‘sincere fanatic’ who was not seeking war,” the subse-
quent course of German policy, most notably in Austria, coupled with
the alarming pace of German rearmament, clearly boded ill for the
future. When in March 1935 he had accompanied Sir John Simon to
Berlin in the wake of the conscription decree, the change in the tone
and demeanour of the German dictator was palpable. Confident of his
growing strength, recently affirmed by his success in the Saar plebiscite
and the feeble reaction of the other powers to his treaty violations,
Hitler was markedly self-assured and firmly uncooperative on every issue
of substance. Eden came away from the conversations deeply disap-
pointed and sceptical about the prospects of any eventual settlement.®
As he subsequently informed Stalin and Litvinov, the Germans had been
asked whether they were prepared to contribute to ‘a collective and
co-operative effort to organise European peace and security, and... the
answer was no’.? The experience clearly made a significant impression
on the then Lord Privy Seal who told Aubrey Kennedy of The Times
on the eve of Stresa that the only way to deal with Germany was to
‘browbeat’ her in the hope and expectation that a firm hand now would
produce a workable settlement at some point in the future.'

As the third British Foreign Secretary to face Hitler within the space
of a year, Eden came to preside over a crucial period in the international
relations of the 1930s from the reoccupation of the Rhineland, which
saw the strategic initiative pass decisively to Germany to the eve of the
Anschluss, the first major act of the crisis years of 1938-39. Although
his appointment was greeted with widespread approval in Britain, The
New Statesman going so far as to call it Baldwin'’s ‘Christmas present to

the nation’,!" it is impossible to dispute Eden’s own contention that
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he had succeeded to a ‘wretchedly disordered heritage’.'> As a result of
the Abyssinian imbroglio, Italy, formerly an integral factor in British
schemes for the containment of Germany, had become hopelessly alien-
ated from the Western Powers and had already begun its fatal drift into
the German orbit; Anglo-French relations were in a worse state than
at any time since the Ruhr crisis; collective security had been exposed
as an unworkable sham and British diplomacy revealed as hypocritical,
self-seeking and duplicitous. As Neville Chamberlain wrote to his sister
on 15 December, ‘nothing could be worse than our position. Our whole
prestige in foreign affairs at home and abroad has tumbled to pieces like
a house of cards.”'* While the Hoare-Laval plan had placed even greater
strains on Anglo-Italian and Anglo-French relations, the position vis-a-
vis Germany was also a source of mounting concern. On 13 December
the British Ambassador in Berlin, Sir Eric Phipps, had had an interview
with Hitler, their first encounter since the conclusion of the naval agree-
ment, the outcome of which had been, in the words of the Ambassador,
‘most unsatisfactory’. The German Chancellor had shown no interest
in any of the issues that were of concern to the British, such as the
proposed air pact and the limitation of armaments, preferring instead
to indulge in a violent denunciation of the Soviets and to voice his
criticisms of Britain’s recent policy towards Italy.'* As far as the For-
eign Office was concerned, however, the interview had been useful in
terms of providing confirmation of two important considerations which
had underpinned British policy since at least the appearance of the
DRC report. If a settlement with Germany were to be negotiated, noted
Sir Orme Sargent, ‘(a) we must be materially stronger than we are at
present; and (b) we must not be isolated politically from the other great
European Powers.”’® This latter point was not lost on the Permanent
Under-Secretary of State, Sir Robert Vansittart, who, mourning the loss
of Italy, was already toying with the idea of an improvement in Anglo-
Soviet relations as a means of redressing the balance.!'® Vansittart was
under no illusions about the tribulations which lay ahead. ‘What is
going on now’, he wrote to Phipps on 20 December:

is a very indifferent dress rehearsal of the drama that awaits us.
At present collective security is a word and nothing more. Nobody
so far has contributed but ourselves, and nobody really wants to con-
tribute even though we have been reduced to going round knocking
loudly on many doors. So far the result has been some tardy and
reluctant paper alone. This country is therefore embarked on a for-
eign policy which outruns its material means. This seems to me a
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grave danger unless it is remedied, and I had hoped that this crisis
might remedy it, but the speaking has, I fear, not been plain enough.
Next time the aggressor will be Germany, and that next time will not
now be very far off. Then will be the moment, on present form, when
all the surrounding States of Germany will have to be asked how
much they intend to contribute, and, on present form, the answer
will be ‘Nothing’."”

If the British reaction to Eden’s appointment had been largely posi-
tive, it was an altogether different story in Germany. Indeed, it was
deeply lamented in Berlin not only because of Eden’s strong identifi-
cation with the League and the support he had shown for those very
mutual assistance schemes and arms limitation proposals that the Nazis
were determined to sabotage, but also because Hitler and his acolytes
had regarded him as ideologically suspect since his visit to Moscow in
the spring of 1935. This perceived act of heresy, coupled with the deep-
seated conviction that the British Foreign Office was in any case an
endemically ‘anti-German’ institution, made the appointment a very
unattractive proposition for the Nazis.!® It was a ‘bad swop’, noted
Goebbels,' while in an interview with Leni Riefenstahl in February 1936
Hitler vilified Eden as a ‘small, vain individual’, a ‘madman’ whose lean-
ings towards the USSR would lead Britain to catastrophe.?® Coupled with
the truculent attitude adopted by Hitler during his recent interview with
Phipps, the prospects of any early breakthrough with Germany seemed
slim indeed.

Understandably enough, Eden spent his first weeks in office pick-
ing through the debris of the Hoare-Laval fiasco and seeking to
restore both domestic and international confidence in British statesman-
ship. Inevitably, however, German issues were not far from his mind;
nor could they fail to be in view of the widespread rumours about an
imminent move in the Rhineland.?! In mid-January 1936 he submitted
a paper reminding his Cabinet colleagues of the nature and magnitude
of the threat that now faced Britain across the North Sea. Aptly enti-
tled ‘The German Danger’, Eden’s succinct memorandum covered some
30 despatches from Phipps and his predecessor in Berlin, the equally
prescient Sir Horace Rumbold, which demonstrated unequivocally that
Hitler was aiming at the ‘destruction of the peace settlement and [the]
re-establishment of Germany as the dominant Power in Europe’. The
Foreign Secretary drew two conclusions from the evidence: first, that it
was vital for the British to accelerate and complete their rearmament,
and second that it would be well to consider if a modus vivendi, ‘to put it
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no higher’, could be reached with Hitler.?* A few weeks later he returned
to this latter point. Although the policy was certainly not without its
risks, he declared himself, on balance:

in favour of making some attempt to come to terms with Germany,
but upon one indispensable condition: that we offer no sops to
Germany. There must be no concession merely to keep Germany
quiet, for that process only stimulates the appetite it is intended to
satisfy. We should be prepared to make concessions to Germany, and
they will have to be concessions of value to her if they are to achieve
their object, but these concessions must only be offered as part of
a final settlement which includes some further arms limitation and
Germany’s return to the League.?

This was a timely initiative which may have been prompted by the
advice Eden had been receiving from the German experts in the For-
eign Office. From the autumn of 1935 senior figures in the Central
Department had been engaged in a comprehensive review of policy
towards Germany which had principally been triggered by consider-
ations relating to the likely repercussions of the Abyssinian crisis.?
Consultations about a short-term policy towards Germany had revolved
initially around three alternatives: an air settlement, the future of the
demilitarised zone and a League inquiry into the colonial and raw mate-
rials situation. Although Hitler was clearly reluctant to contemplate the
opening of negotiations for an air pact — on the interchangeable pretexts
that the Franco-Soviet Pact and the on-going conflict in Fast Africa made
such a course impossible — it was calculated that the prospect might be
made more appealing to him by linking it to the possible restoration of
full German sovereignty in the demilitarised Rhineland zone.* As far
as the zone itself was concerned there had for some time been growing
anxiety in London and Paris about the German propaganda campaign
against the Franco-Soviet Pact which, so the Nazi pundits claimed, was
incompatible with Locarno. In early January Ralph Wigram, head of the
Central Department, had articulated his thoughts on the matter:

The situation as regards the demilitarised zone does arouse disquiet.
Can we expect that it will last indefinitely? Is not its insecurity really
the strongest argument for getting on more intimate terms with the
Germans with the least possible delay? Of course, theoretically, it
would be better to wait until our rearmament has proceeded further.
But can we do that? It seems to go so slowly. What is important in
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the west is to keep the frontiers out of the discussion. The zone itself
may have to go. The thing is to see that it goes peacefully and by
agreement.?¢

Eden found himself in full agreement with this analysis and in the
weeks that followed he and his colleagues elaborated a scheme which
envisaged the negotiated disappearance of the demilitarised status of
the Rhineland which, it was hoped, would be bait enough to draw
Hitler into serious discussion of other and, for the British, more pressing
matters.?” These calculations were thrown into utter disarray, however,
when on 7 March 1936 German troops marched into the Rhineland in
contravention of the treaties of Versailles and Locarno.

Irrespective of its devastating strategic consequences for France and
her Eastern allies, the remilitarisation of the Rhineland was a colossal
diplomatic setback for the British, undoing in a matter of hours over
five months of painstaking deliberation. As Eden famously recorded
shortly after the coup, Hitler’s action had not only provided further
evidence of the ‘scant respect paid by German Governments to the sanc-
tity of treaties’, it had also ‘deprived us of the possibility of making to
him a concession which might otherwise have been a useful bargain-
ing counter in our hands in the general negotiations with Germany
which we had it in contemplation to initiate’.?® History had effectively
repeated itself; for it was now twice within the space of a year that
a unilateral German treaty violation had wrecked a British project to
initiate wide-ranging negotiations towards the elusive ‘general settle-
ment’. With their diplomatic strategy in tatters, Eden and his advisers
were subsequently compelled to engage in a delicate process of crisis
management, vainly searching for a German contribution towards the
pacification of the situation while simultaneously seeking to exercise a
steadying influence in Paris.” Their task was made all the more diffi-
cult not only by Hitler’s persistent refusal to accept any limitations on
German sovereignty in the Rhineland, which he immediately proceeded
to fortify, but also because Ribbentrop’s purpose in the ensuing negoti-
ations was first and foremost to persuade the British of the benefits of
an Anglo-German alliance which, so he was heard to announce, would
be for Germany ‘the beginning of the golden age’.*° It was thus no sur-
prise that Eden’s celebrated questionnaire, a somewhat ill-judged device
designed to probe the offers which had accompanied the coup, was left
subsequently to gather dust in a dark corner of the Wilhelmstrasse. Hitler
was operating on an altogether different agenda. As Phipps observed,
the Fdhrer had ‘no intention of binding himself in any way in [the]
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present fluid state of Europe’;*! on the contrary, his sights remained
firmly fixed upon the long-coveted goal of an ‘Anglo-German under-
standing, to the exclusion of third or fourth parties’.*> Indeed, in the
late spring of 1936, having long wearied of the regular diplomatic
exchanges, the Fiihrer sought to arrange a clandestine meeting with
Baldwin with the very purpose of furthering that objective.?® Naturally
enough, Eden protested strongly and the initiative was quickly stifled,
much to German chagrin.?

The combination of Hoare-Laval, the loss of the Rhineland and
Mussolini’s triumph over Abyssinia, finally confirmed by the fall of
Addis Ababa on 5 May, impacted disastrously on Eden’s hopes of bas-
ing Britain’s foreign policy on collective security and thus, in turn, of
utilising the League to contain the German threat.*® In the wake of
these developments the momentum now clearly lay with Hitler and
Mussolini which made the prospect of a satisfactory settlement with
either more remote than ever. At the Cabinet meeting on 6 July Eden
painted a depressing picture of current conditions, citing inter alia the
present weakness of France and the League, the tardy progress of British
rearmament, Germany’s growing strength and the unscrupulous nature
of the Nazi leaders as elements of an international situation that had
now become ‘so serious that from day to day there was the risk of some
dangerous incident arising’; indeed, ‘even an outbreak of war could not
be excluded’. In these circumstances the Foreign Secretary was unable
to give any guarantee that peace could be maintained ‘even during the
present year’.> The recent setbacks had clearly taken their toll on Eden
whose pessimism was echoed in the higher echelons of the Foreign
Office where the development of German policy in particular had had
a deeply stultifying effect. ‘Hitler has never meant business in our sense
of the word,” noted Vansittart angrily on 1 June. ‘The sooner the Cab-
inet realise that, the better for this long misguided country.” It would
nonetheless be necessary to ‘“play” Hitler for some time’, not least
because ‘we need time more than anyone, on account of the deficiencies
in our equipment’. In the interim it was of the utmost importance for
Britain and France to remain focused and united and to undertake no
separate initiative that might be open to exploitation by the Germans.*’

Within weeks the prospects for European stability were dealt a further
and severely damaging blow with the outbreak of the Spanish Civil War,
a development that would plague the remainder of Eden’s first tenure as
Foreign Secretary. The Spanish conflict was replete with danger not only
in view of the potential repercussions it might have for Britain’s strate-
gic position in the Mediterranean but also because of the possibility that
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it might escalate and spread as a result of the barely concealed inter-
vention of foreign powers. It was, moreover, certain to drive Mussolini
and Hitler closer together, harden the ideological fronts, particularly
between Germany and the Soviet Union, and thus intensify those very
antagonisms which the British were seeking to relax. As Eden and the
new French Premier, Leon Blum, hastened to arrange a non-intervention
agreement, this new dimension to the problems currently confronting
London was highlighted by Sir Orme Sargent. The development of rival
blocs based on ideological antagonisms, he noted on 12 August, ‘would
be a very different and far more horrible development than the creation
of national and imperialistic blocs of satisfied versus dissatisfied powers
which we have hitherto foreseen and feared, for the creation of ide-
ological blocs would not merely divide Governments far more deeply
than any political dispute, but would also cut across the domestic pol-
itics of each country’. Such a division, he continued, would probably
wreck any prospect of a new Western European security arrangement to
replace Locarno and also render ‘our own task of working for a general
settlement along present lines far more difficult and invidious’.?

As Sargent had foreseen, the problems inherent in constructing any
new security system were already becoming apparent. Although the
Germans had agreed to participate in the attempt to find a substitute
for Locarno following initial consultations between Eden and represen-
tatives of France and Belgium in London on 23 July, it soon became
clear that they would only do so at a price that the Western Powers
could not possibly afford to contemplate, if only in the interests of
their own safety. Determined to preserve absolute freedom of action
to prosecute their ambitions in the East, the Germans were markedly
unenthusiastic about the British proposal to link any new treaty to
Geneva and adamantly opposed to any mechanism being built into
the new arrangements that might accommodate the operation of the
Franco-Soviet Pact. This refusal to admit the incorporation of any spe-
cial provisions designed to cover the French alliances in Eastern Europe
was designed to render explicit what the original Treaty of Locarno had
always implied: that while Germany might be prepared to assume obli-
gations in the West she would accept no limitations of her freedom of
manoeuvre elsewhere. What the Germans wanted, noted Lord Allen of
Hurtwood, recently returned from the 1936 Nuremberg rally, ‘is safety
in the West and a free hand in the East’ where, he continued, faithfully
echoing his German mentors, it was imperative to maintain absolute
vigilance against the ‘danger of Communist agitation emanating from
Moscow’.** Any such limitations on the new security arrangements were
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clearly intolerable to the British who, although they were adamantly
opposed to undertaking any further commitments, continued to insist
on the principle that peace was indivisible. By late October Wigram con-
fessed to the fear that the putative pact would be nothing more than a
‘complete phantom’ and that the approaching negotiations would serve
no purpose other than to give ‘the corpse a highly respectable and pro-
tracted burial’.*® And so it would prove. Diplomatic exchanges on the
proposed Western Pact would continue well into 1937 only eventually
to run into the sand as a result of the irreconcilable positions adopted
by the Western Powers, on the one hand, and the emerging Rome-Berlin
‘Axis’, on the other.

In the meantime Ribbentrop’s nomination as the new German
Ambassador in London briefly raised hopes in some quarters of posi-
tive developments in Anglo-German relations.*! In the Foreign Office,
however, the German envoy’s slogans about the dangers emanating
from the Soviet Union and the need for an Anglo-German front to
stem the tide of Bolshevism fell completely on deaf ears. Moreover, the
conclusion on 25 November of the German-Japanese Anti-Comintern
Pact, a barely disguised anti-Soviet agreement to which Hitler hoped the
British would accede, was deeply lamented in Whitehall where there
was no inclination to encourage that division of Europe on ideolog-
ical lines which now seemed to be one of the chief priorities of the
Nazi leadership. German sensitivity on this issue was amply demon-
strated by an angry press reaction to the speech made by Duff Cooper
at Birkenhead in which the Secretary of State for War had announced
that Britain regarded both Fascism and Bolshevism with equal distaste.*?
While the Germans continued to couple the anti-communist message
with an increasingly aggressive attitude on the emerging colonial ques-
tion, Eden himself ventured into the public arena in order firmly to
establish in the minds of the British people, and indeed others, the
principles upon which the foreign policy of His Majesty’s Government
was based. Speaking to his constituents in Leamington on 20 November
the Foreign Secretary affirmed Britain’s attachment to the principles of
the League, explained the rationale for British rearmament, confirmed
Britain’s determination to fight for France and Belgium, if the occasion
arose, and declared that British armaments ‘may be used in bringing
help to a victim of aggression in any case where, in our judgement,
it would be proper under the provisions of the Covenant to do so’.*
Three weeks later, speaking at Bradford, he effectively dashed what-
ever lingering hopes the Germans might have been entertaining of
basing Anglo-German friendship on common ideological antipathies.
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Britain, he asserted, would have no truck with ‘dangerous doctrines
which would have us divide the world into dictatorships of the right
and left’; nor would it seek to ‘align its foreign policy with any group of
States because they support the one or the other’.*

With these sentiments ringing in his ears it was hardly surprising that
Ribbentrop was said to have returned to Berlin for the Christmas hol-
idays in a ‘very depressed and chastened frame of mind’.* As Sargent
noted, the year appeared to be drawing to a close with a series of ‘spec-
tacular failures’ for German foreign policy, for not only had Hitler failed
in his endeavour to pose as Europe’s saviour from Bolshevism, but he
had also achieved no early breakthrough in Spain or in the colonial
question.*® This analysis appeared to be substantiated by other sources.
According to a Secretary of the German Embassy in Moscow, for exam-
ple, the Wilhelmstrasse was said to be ‘thoroughly depressed’ at the
current state of affairs, particularly with regard to Anglo-German rela-
tions.*” In the bigger picture, however, there was little comfort to be
drawn from supposed German misfortunes for those relations were now
markedly worse than had been the case twelve months earlier. That
much was brought home vividly in the memorandum that Vansittart
submitted on the final day of the year. Recently returned from a visit to
Germany where he had had conversations with Hitler and other senior
Nazis, the Permanent Under-Secretary of State not only re-emphasised
the difficulties of coming to terms with Germany but also pointed to
the ‘systematic belittlement’ of the United Kingdom that was increas-
ingly coming to feature in German propaganda. Moreover, Germany,
the ‘recognised storm-centre of the earth’ had not only drawn closer to
Britain’s other potential enemies but was rearming ‘on a scale spiritually
more ferocious and materially more formidable than anything ever seen
before in this world’. If Anglo-German friendship failed to develop on
the lines desired by the leaders of the Nazi party, many of whom now
viewed Britain as the ‘greatest obstacle to German expansion and to the
“heroic conception” of life and German destiny’, the situation could
well turn ugly. In these circumstances the Foreign Office would have to
continue to play for the ‘vital’ commodity of time. ‘Our aim must be to
stabilise the position till 1939’, concluded Vansittart. ‘On present form we
cannot at all be sure of doing so.”*® In the light of these considerations,
there was obviously much force in Harold Nicolson’s observation that
1936 was drawing to a close ‘clouded by menace upon the Continent’.*

Addressing the Cabinet at its first meeting of the New Year, Eden
declared that the next twelve months were likely to be ‘critical’ in terms
of foreign affairs. The Foreign Office, he explained, was receiving many
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reports to the effect that Germany’s economic situation would prob-
ably be unable to sustain another winter, and, that being the case, it
looked ‘as though this year would determine Germany in following a
policy alternatively of co-operation or foreign adventure’. In these cir-
cumstances it was more important than ever to seek to restrain the
advocates of forward action in the Reich, an aim which, he thought,
could best be achieved by continuing ‘our present policy of being firm
but always ready to talk’. The Foreign Office, he added, would be assisted
in its endeavours by any measure that was designed ‘to show both our
determination to press forward with our armament policy and that the
programmes were proceeding satisfactorily’.’® These statements, while
confirming the essential continuity of British policy towards Germany
in the mid-1930s, would prove more significant than Eden could have
imagined. Although in comparison to the years which immediately pre-
ceded and followed it, 1937 was relatively calm, particularly in so far
as European affairs were concerned, it was a crucial year in the evolu-
tion of Anglo-German relations. During 1937 the conviction began to
crystallise in influential quarters on both sides of the North Sea that a
mutually satisfactory arrangement was not simply unlikely but impossi-
ble, a process that led to exasperation in the British Foreign Office and,
more ominously, to growing hostility and a complete reorientation of
policy towards Britain in the minds of the German leaders."!

For the moment, with the enduring stalemate in the Western Pact
negotiations and Ribbentrop’s failure to elicit the slightest British inter-
est in the Anti-Comintern Pact, it was widely anticipated that the New
Year might bring fresh developments in the colonial question.?? During
the early stages of his chancellorship Hitler had not permitted the issue
of the former German colonies unduly to encumber Anglo-German rela-
tions for fear that it would upset his plans to forge a partnership with
Britain. By late 1935, however, the political failure of the Anglo-German
naval agreement had persuaded the Fiihrer to exploit the colonial issue
primarily in an attempt to pressurise the British into compliance with
his European goals.>® In the Foreign Office the idea of using the prospect
of colonial concessions as a basis for discussions with Germany already
had its advocates, including Vansittart who for a time speculated that
it might just be possible thereby to divert Nazi expansionist ambitions
away from the trouble spots of Central and South-Eastern Europe.>*
Moreover, following the loss of the Rhineland, the former German
colonies were effectively the only asset deriving from the 1919 peace
settlement with which the Western Powers could now legitimately bar-
gain. Eden, however, was not especially taken with the idea. As David
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Carlton notes, he ‘long temporized both within the Foreign Office and
at Cabinet’ on the subject of a colonial bargain and preferred, if possi-
ble, to seek to deal with Germany’s legitimate European grievances on
the basis of controlled and measured concessions.*® Eden did not believe
that colonial revision would either satisfy or limit German ambitions,
and from the autumn of 1936 onwards he gradually inclined to the pol-
icy, already favoured by some of his chief advisors and clearly implicit
in his Leamington speech, of keeping Germany guessing about British
intentions in Europe until Britain was able to negotiate from a position
of strength.

As anticipated, the colonial claim came to feature highly on the
German agenda in early 1937. On 11 February, during a lengthy discus-
sion with Halifax, the Lord Privy Seal, then deputising for Eden at the
Foreign Office, Ribbentrop advanced arguments which had long been
familiar to the British authorities relating to the economic and psycho-
logical bases of Germany’s claim. Of far greater significance from the
British point of view, however, was his insistence that the colonial ques-
tion could never be the object of a bargain. When Halifax suggested
that a satisfactory solution of the problem partly depended upon the
linking of a colonial settlement to the ‘general stabilisation of peace’,
Ribbentrop insisted that this was wholly unacceptable to Germany for
not only was this a question of German ‘honour’, but ‘the experience
of the last few years had shown that, if the solution of one question
was always linked to the solution of another, no question at all was
ever solved’. It was time, he believed, for Britain to make a ‘volun-
tary and generous gesture’.>® This would remain the German position
on the colonial question up to and beyond Halifax’s visit to Germany
nine months later when he would hear much the same thing from
Hitler himself. The message was as clear as it was unhelpful; it served
to corroborate unsettling reports from the British Consul General in
Munich to the effect that the current opinion at the Brown House was
that Germany should seek to make as much capital as possible out of
Britain'’s alleged colonial ‘guilt’ without necessarily offering anything in
return. As St Clair Gainer reported shortly before Ribbentrop broached
the question in London:

So far indeed from offering a quid pro quo the feeling here is that
Germany can and should first make her demand without compen-
satory offers and base her future policy upon the answer she receives.
This policy might be one of ‘blackmail’...a threat to keep Europe in
a state of suspense by [a] refusal to discuss any question affecting the
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peace either of Western or Eastern Europe unless the demands are
granted — with, indeed, no specific assurance that if she gets what she
wants she will be satisfied or more prepared to co-operate with other
European nations.%’

Germany'’s refusal to accept the linkage of the colonial question with
the solution of other outstanding issues had brought the Foreign Office
up against another dead end, the third in less than two years follow-
ing previous attempts to strike a deal with Hitler over armaments and
the Rhineland. Although Eden and his colleagues on the Foreign Policy
Committee continued to examine the colonial issue in detail and while
it remained a frequent topic of conversation with Ribbentrop and other
German dignitaries, by the spring of 1937 it was becoming increasingly
difficult to see where any progress might be made in Anglo-German
relations. Hjalmar Schacht’s involvement in the colonial sphere, which
had included conversations with the French government in 1936 and
with Sir Frederick Leith-Ross in early 1937 had proved inconclusive,
raising more questions than it had answered.’® During the coronation
celebrations the principal German guest, Hitler's War Minister, General
Werner von Blomberg, had been affability itself, but his discussions with
Baldwin, Chamberlain and Eden had never progressed beyond super-
ficialities.”® Although both powers were pledged to non-intervention
in Spain, they inevitably took up opposing positions during the delib-
erations of the London-based Non-Intervention Committee; over the
proposed Western Pact Britain’s insistence on the pacification of the
continent could hardly be reconciled with Hitler’s determination to keep
his hands free for future adventures in Eastern Europe; and the British
aim to subsume the colonial question in a ‘general settlement’ stood
at complete variance with Berlin’s insistence that the former German
colonies were stolen loot that should be returned as a matter of course.

British diplomats with long experience of the Nazis had already begun
to draw the inescapable conclusions. Shortly after his transfer from
Berlin to Paris, Phipps told his American colleague that there was not
the ‘faintest possibility’ of coming to an agreement with Hitler who was
‘a fanatic who would be satisfied with nothing less than [the] domi-
nation of Europe’.®® When Bullitt suggested a further round of ‘talks
with Hitler’ in an effort to persuade him to put his cards on the table,
Phipps retorted that the only card he had caught sight of during nearly
four years in Berlin had been ‘carte blanche’.®! For his part, Vansittart
held that Germany was bent upon expansion ‘at the expense of her
neighbours, by force if necessary’. This was a ‘policy of violence and
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robbery’; Britain and Germany were separated by ‘a fundamental dif-
ference of conception, of morality’.®> Even Eden, who generally took
a less pessimistic view of German issues than Vansittart, was forced to
admit to his Austrian counterpart that the road to Berlin was ‘strewn
with obstacles’.> Commenting on Eden’s suggestion of a possible visit
to London by the German Foreign Minister, William Strang, head of the
Central Department since Wigram’s untimely death in December 1936,
confessed that he regarded the prospect with considerable misgivings,
not least because it was difficult to see where the two parties might find
common ground on any of the burning international questions of the
day. To that extent, the proposed visit, by highlighting gulfs and result-
ing in little more than an anodyne communiqué, might well do more
harm than good. Echoing Vansittart, Strang pointed out that the two
powers were separated by a ‘fundamental divergence...in their outlook
on foreign affairs’, the crux of which was that whereas Germany was
clearly being geared up for ‘drastic change’ to the European status quo,
if necessary through war, the British ultimately were seeking to ‘preserve
the “status quo” even against peaceful change if the change should be to
Germany'’s benefit’. Thus, any conversations that were initiated would
always stall on this fundamental point.®

The mantle of gloom that had descended upon the Foreign Office
about the prospects of initiating any fruitful dialogue with Germany
coincided somewhat unhappily with the assumption of the premier-
ship by Neville Chamberlain who succeeded Baldwin on 28 May 1937.
Chamberlain brought to his new office a desire and determination to
explore the possibilities for a settlement with the dictators, especially
Hitler. As he wrote to his sister shortly after assuming the premier-
ship: ‘If only we could get on terms with the Germans I would not
care a rap for Musso’.> Eden, whose personal and professional rela-
tions with Chamberlain had hitherto been both cordial and productive,
initially greeted the appointment, anticipating the new premier’s ‘ener-
getic backing’ for his policy.®® As would soon become apparent, however,
Chamberlain had his own ideas, and before long a rift began to develop
between the two which had its roots in a fundamental disagreement
over the wisdom of negotiating with the dictator states from a posi-
tion of weakness. The Foreign Secretary could have had no quarrel
with Chamberlain’s basic approach which looked to ‘the double pol-
icy of rearmament and better relations with Germany and Italy’ to see
Britain ‘safely through the danger period’.®” This, after all, had been
the essence of the Foreign Office’s own strategy since the DRC had
delivered its report and one which, certainly in the case of Germany,



126 Eden, the Foreign Office and the ‘German Problem’

Eden had originally embraced. But for Eden, not only did Chamberlain
wish to move too fast; his methods were also ill-chosen for his pur-
pose. As Keith Middlemas notes, while the Foreign Secretary advocated
a policy of ‘keeping Germany guessing long enough to give Britain
time to re-arm, so that he could negotiate from a position of strength,
Chamberlain, conscious of time running out, preferred to settle the out-
standing accounts at once, with Germany if possible but, if not, with
Italy as a lever to open doors in Berlin’.%

For almost six months Chamberlain and Eden had no major dis-
agreements in the sphere of Anglo-German relations, but matters came
sharply to a head in the autumn of 1937 when Halifax, now Lord
President of the Council, received an invitation from Goering to visit
Germany. Although the ostensible reason for the visit was to enable
Halifax to attend a hunting exhibition, it was inconceivable that he
would not avail himself of the opportunity for political conversations
with the German leaders. For Chamberlain this seemed to be precisely
the kind of opening he had been seeking, not least, as he later reflected
with misguided optimism, because it had created an atmosphere ‘in
which it was possible to discuss with Germany the practical questions
involved in a European settlement’.® The Prime Minister’s enthusiasm
for the initiative was itself an implicit criticism of the Foreign Office
which, he had written with obvious irritation only two months earlier,
was devoid of imagination and courage.’® Although he had initially cau-
tiously approved the proposed visit, Eden soon had second thoughts,
for while he and his advisers were still valiantly exploring ways of mak-
ing a fresh start with Germany, there were clearly dangers inherent in
the idea of an unofficial and essentially unmonitored exchange between
a member of the British Cabinet and the German Chancellor. More-
over, without substantial preparatory discussions, it was difficult to see
what positive issue might ensue. Speculation in the British press about
the possible results of the initiative coupled with Hitler’s insistence that
Halifax should meet him at his mountain retreat in Southern Germany,
a condition which made the visit ‘look almost like a Canossa’, vexed
and angered Eden who was determined both to play down its signifi-
cance and to avoid the impression that the British Government were
‘in pursuit of the German Chancellor’.”! The episode placed a severe
strain on Eden’s relationship with Chamberlain and, although he reluc-
tantly consented to the visit, he did so without conviction, and on the
not entirely satisfactory grounds that no genuinely compelling reason
could be found to prevent Halifax from travelling.
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The Hitler-Halifax meeting itself was a most curious affair, the gulf
between the two individuals illustrated by Hitler’s chilling remark that
the British should rid themselves of the troublesome Gandhi by murder-
ing him.”?> The German leader was sullen and uncooperative throughout
what Eden would later justifiably term an ‘aimless and therefore haz-
ardous discussion’.”® He attacked the democratic form of government
and proved as intractable as ever on the question of a general settle-
ment; such ‘shibboleths’, he declared, ‘offered no practical prospect of
a solution to Europe’s difficulties’. The colonial question constituted
the only problem between Britain and Germany and the responsibility
for its solution rested firmly with the Western Powers. As far as Cen-
tral Europe was concerned, settlements were possible over the Austrian
and Czechoslovakian questions, but it remained to be seen whether sat-
isfactory solutions would be achieved through the medium of ‘higher
reason’ or what Hitler chose to term the ‘free play of forces’. The Flihrer’s
advice that the British would be well advised to apply themselves to
‘preparations through the diplomatic channels’, a counsel that was so
glaringly inconsistent with his oft-expressed preference for ‘direct’ diplo-
macy, signalled at the very least that there was no urgency attached to
a solution of the colonial question. Of greater significance perhaps was
what was left unsaid, for the insistence that the colonial question was
the only stumbling block to an improvement in Anglo-German relations
clearly implied that the Reich’s European priorities were of no concern
to Britain.”* For his part, Halifax had acquitted himself well during a
difficult conversation, although Eden, who had instructed the Lord Pres-
ident to ‘confine himself to warning comment’ on territorial issues, was
later disturbed to learn that he had spoken of possible alterations in the
status of Austria, Czechoslovakia and Danzig.”

The results of the initiative were naturally subjected to a close scrutiny
in the Foreign Office. Predictably enough, the conclusions were less than
encouraging. ‘What strikes one in this conversation’, noted Sargent:

is that Hitler has on this occasion assumed a completely new atti-
tude. Up until now he has given the impression of trying to justify
his policy (e.g. his Peace Plan of March 1936) by concrete pro-
posals for a general settlement, and of wishing in particular to
come to a working arrangement on all outstanding questions with
Great Britain....On the present occasion he has adopted the line
that a general settlement is not practical politics, that immediate
negotiations between Great Britain and Germany are unnecessary,
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but if all the same Great Britain really wants to improve Anglo-
German relations she can do so by satisfying Germany’s colonial
claim....Hitler gave Lord Halifax no indication that he is prepared
to give anything in return for the colonies, except German goodwill.
Disarmament and Germany’s return to the League are completely
impracticable, and he seems at the same time to have made it quite
clear that he was not prepared as a quid pro quo to discuss with us,
still less give us, any undertakings with regard to the German policy
of expansion in Eastern Europe. Those were matters which Germany
would settle for herself. She did not need to buy our consent.”®

Eden subsequently pressed upon the Cabinet that the Halifax visit had
made clear that the Germans would permit no linkage between their
European priorities and the colonial question. ‘It was important to
realise this’, he stressed, ‘for if the Cabinet’s attitude was, as his was,
that Colonial concessions could only be contemplated in return for a
general settlement, this was clearly not Germany'’s view."””
Chamberlain, however, was undeterred. Convinced that the initia-
tive had succeeded in breaking the ice, he now pressed ahead with
a scheme to open discussions with Germany on the basis of colonial
appeasement. For his part Eden did not fundamentally object to this
idea, and, although he was becoming increasingly distracted by disagree-
ments with the Prime Minister over other issues, he dutifully took the
lead in working up the proposals that would eventually be presented to
Germany. However, this was hardly because he was particularly enthusi-
astic about the scheme, still less due to confidence in a positive outcome,
but because, short of hopeless drift, it was now the only constructive
policy available towards Germany until British rearmament had made
further significant progress. If nothing else, past experience alone sug-
gested that Hitler was unlikely at this juncture seriously to engage with
issues of disarmament or to contemplate a return of Germany to the
League of Nations. In fact, although Eden sought to convey a positive
impression of the prospects for European appeasement to the meeting
of the Foreign Affairs Committee which convened in early December,
his private views were clearly quite different.”® Only days after Halifax’s
interview with Hitler, Eden had effectively registered his opposition to
making any untimely approaches to the dictators in what one of his
biographers considers ‘the clearest statement he was ever to make while
Foreign Secretary of the philosophy which lay behind his distinctive
approach to foreign policy’.”” Commenting on a paper submitted by the
Chiefs of Staff which inter alia put forward the familiar view that the
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primary task of British diplomacy was to seek to reduce the number
of potential enemies, the Foreign Secretary argued that it would be
‘a mistake to try to detach any one member of the German-Italian-
Japanese bloc by offer of support or acquiescence in the fulfilment of
their aims’, for ‘a surrender to one might well be the signal for further
concerted action on the part of all three powers to secure further sac-
rifices from ourselves’. While Britain might yet have to swallow further
faits accomplis, the Foreign Secretary held that it would be:

safer, and more in accordance with our honour and our interests, to
tolerate for the time being at any rate, the present state of armed
truce, unsatisfactory as it may be, and to trust that our own armed
strength and that of our associates on the one side, and the natu-
ral hesitations and divergences of interest on the part of the three
aggressive Powers on the other (which we would, of course, exploit
whenever occasion offered), will maintain some kind of equilibrium
and make it possible for international differences, as they arise, to be
settled without war. In fact, in present circumstances, our best course
is likely to [be] the unheroic policy of so-called ‘cunctation’. For peri-
ods in the past, Europe has managed to exist, under armed truce,
without a general settlement, but without war. If this is the best we
can hope for, for some time to come, this is in some measure the
price which we and other members of the League have to pay for
our inability effectively to assert the principles of international order
against the aggressor States since 1931.8°

A tense state of uneasy co-existence waiting for the moment at which
British rearmament would permit a stronger line with the dictators was
clearly a far cry from Chamberlain’s plans for the imminent open-
ing of negotiations with Germany and Italy. Indeed, it seems fairly
certain that by the close of 1937 Eden was more sceptical about the
prospects of an Anglo-German dialogue than has sometimes been sug-
gested.®! The diaries of Sir Alexander Cadogan, for example, reveal that
the Foreign Secretary had no faith whatsoever in Chamberlain’s plans
to initiate discussions with either Rome or Berlin.®? Similarly, Oliver
Harvey, one of Eden’s closest friends and collaborators in Whitehall,
wrote bleakly that the Foreign Office expected ‘no real progress...from
our own attempts at a “general settlement” with Germany and Italy.
We only hope to gain time thereby pending our rearmament’.®* Sub-
sequent events, including the German administrative reshuffle in early
February which saw the Anglophobe Ribbentrop replace Neurath, and
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the shameless intimidation of Schuschnigg at Berchtesgaden shortly
afterwards, hardly augured well for the forthcoming approach to Hitler.
Equally, as much as Chamberlain may have been buoyed by support
from within the Cabinet for his colonial initiative, the signs from Berlin
were palpably disheartening. In mid-February, for example, Goering
assured Henderson that Germany would be prepared to give every guar-
antee of its good faith in any negotiations with Britain apart from
renouncing the Anschluss. That, he asserted, neither Hitler nor any man
in Germany could ever countenance ‘even if we offered the whole of
Africa in exchange’.®* Sure enough, when on 3 March 1938 the British
Ambassador finally broached the scheme with Hitler, the answer was
unmistakably negative. A solution of the colonial question, the Fiihrer
announced coldly, could wait up to ten years; within ten days German
troops were on the streets of Vienna.5

By that stage Eden was no longer Foreign Secretary. The details of the
final breach with Chamberlain are known well enough and need not
be recounted here.®® Not surprisingly, his resignation was viewed both
in Britain and overseas as an event of crucial significance for the future
direction of British foreign policy. ‘Wherever they may be’, Churchill
announced dramatically in the House of Commons on 22 February,
‘the friends of England are dismayed and the foes of England are exul-
tant’.%” In Paris the French leaders were said to be ‘gravely perturbed’
by the development and anxious that it portended some radical change
in the policy that had been agreed during their recent consultations in
London. The French press went further, characterising the resignation
as an event of ‘first class importance’ and one which was ‘fraught with
dangerous possibilities for France and for the cause of peace’.®® Across
the Rhine, however, it was an entirely different story. While Hitler and
Goebbels gleefully celebrated the fall of Germany’s ‘most fanatical oppo-
nent’, only Ribbentrop struck a cautionary note, predicting that Eden
would return one day as Prime Minister.®

Between 1935 and 1938 Eden and his advisors in the Foreign Office
had never been genuinely optimistic about the prospects of a satisfac-
tory accommodation with Germany. Forced throughout to negotiate
from a position of weakness due primarily to the parlous state of British
defences and the impossibility of rapid and extensive rearmament, they
had patiently but vainly pursued avenues of potential agreement with
Hitler, first over the Rhineland and later over the Western Pact and the
colonial question. As became increasingly apparent, however, the search
for a ‘general settlement’ with the Nazi regime was a futile undertaking,
not least because Hitler refused to be deflected from his goal of violent
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expansion in Eastern Europe. As Germany grew militarily stronger and
acquired powerful friends in the shape of Italy and Japan, the Foreign
Office was faced with ever dwindling possibilities in its attempts to
bring Germany to terms. In consequence, Eden’s calls for accelerated
rearmament, solidarity with France and the cultivation of relations with
the United States became ever more frequent and vociferous. By resign-
ing his office Eden demonstrated his fundamental and unwavering
commitment to the principle that it would be a fatal error to enter into
negotiations with the dictators from a position of weakness and to make
concessions without securing credible and binding guarantees in return.
His policy between December 1935 and February 1938 had been deter-
mined by a simple but inviolable axiom: ‘If we do not get: we shall not
give’.”* This basic formula had been at the core of the Foreign Office’s
concept of the ‘general settlement’ throughout the interwar years and
had become the sine qua non of a satisfactory solution of the ‘German
problem’ in the 1930s. But, as the fate of Chamberlain’s colonial initia-
tive demonstrated, by early 1938 any notion of a tolerable settlement
with Hitler, ‘general’ or otherwise, unless it knowingly consigned the
continent to Nazi domination, was little more than a fanciful delusion.
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Harold Nicolson and Appeasement

John W. Young

Harold Nicolson is remembered for many aspects of a remarkably varied
life. The son of a Permanent Under-Secretary of the Foreign Office, he
became a successful diplomat himself, with a role in shaping the 1919
Paris peace settlement. He served as far afield as Constantinople, Tehran
and, in the late 1920s, Berlin. He was a prodigious writer, his publication
list including novels, a memoir of the Paris peace conference, the official
biography of George V and two studies of diplomacy. Nicolson’s life is
peculiarly well documented thanks to his diaries, most of which have
been published, and he has been the centre of attention too because
of his unusual relationship with his wife, Vita Sackville-West — both
were bisexual — with whom he created the gardens at Sissinghurst Cas-
tle, Kent. At different times he was a journalist, broadcaster, member
of parliament and government minister, yet somehow his career never
reached the heights he hoped. Under pressure from his wife, he gave
up his diplomatic career in 1929, in favour of writing a column for the
Evening Standard, but rapidly became disaffected with the triviality of
the job and for a time was involved with Oswald Mosley, who later led
the British Union of Fascists. Nicolson was a candidate for Mosley’s New
Party in the 1931 general election, but broke with him the following year
when his fascist leanings became clear. Elected an MP in 1935 for West
Leicester, Nicolson sat in the Commons for ten years but, as a member of
the small National Labour group in the governing coalition, had limited
long-term prospects. In his whole time as an MP he made barely two
dozen speeches, while his ministerial career, as Parliamentary Secretary
to the Ministry of Information, lasted little more than a year (1940-41).!

Yet Nicolson's time in parliament was significant. His diplomatic expe-
rience meant that he carried some weight in debates on foreign policy,
he was an ally and admirer of Anthony Eden, and in 1938 spoke out
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strongly against Neville Chamberlain’s policy of Appeasement. He has a
reputation as an ‘early and consistent warner of the dangers of appeas-
ing the dictators’.? This chapter focuses on that period of his life to ask
how he might fit into historiographical debates on the subject, espe-
cially in light of the questions David Dilks and others have raised about
Chamberlain’s critics. With the outbreak of World War II, accounts of
the late 1930s became dominated by the ‘guilty men’ school, with its
condemnation of the Prime Minister for his supposedly weak-kneed
approach to the dictators. However, with the opening of official files
around 1970, Dilks and other revisionists showed that Chamberlain’s
choices were limited. With an economy recovering only fitfully from the
‘slump’, a population who ideally wished to remain at peace, a paucity
of allies and a potential risk of having to fight three aggressive powers —
Germany, Italy and Japan - simultaneously, Britain was in an unenvi-
able strategic predicament. In such circumstances it made sense to try to
buy Adolf Hitler with concessions, especially since many people believed
Germany had been treated harshly in the Treaty of Versailles and when
there was no coherent, realistic alternative to Appeasement.® The issue
of alternatives has been the focus of renewed interest in recent years, not
least in the work of Andrew Stedman.* This chapter focuses on just one
of Chamberlain’s better-known critics — Nicolson — to ask how consistent
and well-considered were his criticisms?

Abyssinia, the Rhineland and Spain

Nicolson’s dislike of fascism was clear from an early date, even as he
dabbled on its fringes. During his involvement with Oswald Mosley,
Nicolson urged his friend ‘not to get muddled up with the fascist
crowd’.’ And when Christopher Hobhouse, a New Party supporter,
returned from a visit to Germany in early 1932, Nicolson’s showed
an instinctive dislike of fascist methods: ‘Christopher...says that the
Fuhrer contends that we British Hitlerites are trying to do things like
gentlemen. That will never do. We must be harsh, violent and provoca-
tive. I do not care for this aspect of my future functions.’® Visiting Italy
with Mosley, Nicolson was impressed by the efficiency of Mussolini’s
regime ‘on paper’, but feared ‘it destroys individuality. It also destroys
liberty.”” While in Germany soon afterwards he wrote of Nazism as a
‘doctrine of despair’.® He later explained to his wife that ‘my loathing
for Fascism is due to the fact that I hate the type of mind that believes
in brute force. It is not nobility on my part but a sort of physical
loathing which I suppose is based on cowardice.” Indeed, Nicolson’s
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involvements of the early 1930s, gave him an insight into its meth-
ods that others lacked. So, when the threat of fascist aggression actually
made itself evident a few years later, he was better prepared than most to
understand its violent thirst for power and to resist this. Yet, for all that,
his will to resist was diluted by an appreciation of diplomatic realities, a
sense of loyalty to his political colleagues and an abhorrence of war, as
well as by some personal weaknesses that sometimes led him to shun
the parliamentary limelight.

Nicolson’s maiden speech in the House of Commons, on 19 December
1935, coincided with growing concern about fascist aggression and
involved the Hoare-Laval pact. This notorious agreement provoked pub-
lic outrage because it revealed the willingness of Britain and France to
strike a deal that rewarded Italy’s Benito Mussolini for his recent inva-
sion of Abyssinia (Ethiopia). As Nicolson said, ‘Many of us on Monday
last, when we read or heard of this new Paris plan, were filled with a
feeling which I can only describe as bewildered despair’. But the novice
MP, keen to make a name for himself as a parliamentarian, did not
push his criticism of government policy too far. He welcomed a reas-
suring speech from the Prime Minister, Stanley Baldwin, and praised the
former Foreign Secretary, Samuel Hoare, for ‘his public-spirited act of
self-sacrifice’ in resigning once the national outrage became apparent.
Nicolson also took a singularly unsympathetic view of the predicament
of Mussolini’s victim, declaring: ‘I do not think the main object of the
efforts of this Government or of this country should be the preserva-
tion of Abyssinian integrity.” He even said that he did not ‘consider
the terms of the Hoare-Laval pact unreasonable’, which hardly sug-
gested someone opposed in principle to handing small countries to
dictators.

In fact, apart from regretting the damage done to the League of
Nations by such a deal being struck behind its back, Nicolson’s objec-
tions to Hoare’s diplomacy were largely procedural and revolved around
two points. First, there was the supposed danger of dealing with Italian
diplomats, remarks that are worth repeating at some length because they
reveal an oddly simplistic view of the significance of supposed national
traits in international affairs:

Members would agree with me if they had had my experience — that
you must never negotiate with an Italian on his own level. It is impos-
sible to do so, because he is much more ingenious and much more
subtle than we are ourselves. It is essential, when dealing with an
Italian, to adopt an entirely different level, the level of your own
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integrity, and that level is so far removed from the Italian level that
you will be perfectly certain of not getting inveigled into his coils.

Then there was another lesson learned from Nicolson’s diplomatic
career, the dangers inherent in personal diplomacy between politicians:
‘It is a terrible mistake to conduct negotiations between Foreign Min-
isters’; international negotiations were best left to the professionals.
‘Diplomacy is not the art of conversation. It is the art of the exchange
of documents in a carefully considered and precise form and in such a
way that they cannot be repudiated later...Diplomacy by conference
is a mistake.”!° Despite the praise he received for the speech, Nicolson
realised that ‘the matter was too thin’."

In a way, there was a broad consensus within Britain’s political leader-
ship on the need for some measure of ‘appeasement’ in the mid-thirties,
in the sense of making concessions to countries who had been treated
unjustly in the past. Most accepted that Germany was harshly dealt with
in the Treaty of Versailles and that it was worth offering something to
Hitler if this would secure the peace. Nicolson met with Anthony Eden,
the League of Nations minister, in February 1936 and the pair agreed
that the key aim was to avoid war by striking a deal that involved mak-
ing ‘great concessions to German appetites provided they will sign a
disarmament treaty and join the League of Nations’.!> Whatever his dis-
like of Italian diplomatic methods, Nicolson soon focused his attention
on the potential German menace. In his diary in late February 1936, the
Conservative MP ‘Chips’ Channon recorded Nicolson giving to the For-
eign Affairs Committee ‘a brilliant address on Anglo-German relations.
It was shrewd, but alarming and we almost heard the tramp-tramp of
the troops. Harold predicted that trouble would come from the German
source in 1939 or 1940.’"® In this he may have been influenced by his
old friendship with Robert Vansittart, Permanent Under-Secretary of the
Foreign Office in 1930-37, with whom he continued to meet socially.'
Vansittart, too, focused on the German menace though, in trying to
create a strong anti-Nazi front, he may have been more ready than
Nicolson to overlook Mussolini’s misbehaviour. Indeed, the Permanent
Under-Secretary had been a key advocate of the Hoare-Laval pact.!®

On 7 March 1936, Hitler took his first step to overthrow the post-
war settlement and expand German power via a sudden fait accompli,
when he remilitarised the Rhineland. In doing so, he violated both the
Treaty of Versailles and the 1925 Locarno Pact. Nicolson later recalled
that, ‘It was not pleasant during those weeks to be a Cassandra exposing
weakness, indicating danger and prophesying disaster.”'® But if this is



140 Harold Nicolson and Appeasement

intended as a reflection on his own role at the time, it exaggerates. True,
at first he was deeply troubled and ideally wanted firm action. He told
his wife, ‘we should refuse to negotiate with Germany until she evacu-
ates the Rhineland and should force her out of it. It is really essential to
demonstrate that Treaties cannot be torn up by violence.’ But, as on the
Abyssinian question, he soon tempered his determination with a string
of second thoughts. For one thing, British public opinion was ‘terrified
of war...And the result is that we shall give way to Germany and let
down France.”'” In the Commons too, he noted, the ‘mood...is one of
fear. Anything to keep out of war.’"® By 12 March, he had doubts of his
own about military action, though they were not entirely logical. On the
one hand he felt an ultimatum unwise, because Hitler was unlikely to
back down and there would be war. Nicolson was confident ‘we shall
win and enter Berlin. But what is the good of that? It would only mean
communism in Germany and France.” (Quite why this followed was not
explained.) In any case, Nicolson simultaneously argued that the British
people would refuse to fight, so that, ‘We must swallow this humili-
ation as best we may and be prepared to become the laughing-stock
of Europe.” He argued this despite his realisation that, coming on top
of the Abyssinian fiasco, it would ‘mean the final end of the League’
on which he had previously placed such hope." Nicolson continued
in his confused state for some time. At the Foreign Affairs Committee
on 17 March, attended by more than two hundred MPs, he ‘made an
able and forceful speech reminding the meeting of the extent of the
Locarno obligation’ and urged that Britain should ‘restrain France but
not betray her’.?° Then again, his position was far from unique. As James
Emmerson remarked in his analysis of the Rhineland crisis, ‘most per-
sons who later came to be identified with anti-appeasement’ - Nicolson,
Vansittart, Robert Boothby, even Winston Churchill — accepted that the
use of force was impossible at this point. And in this, of course, they
were at one with the government, whose Foreign Secretary was another
figure later identified as an anti-appeaser, Anthony Eden.?!

In his second Commons’ speech, on 26 March 1936 Nicolson revealed
his admiration for Eden by praising a statement he had made as ‘one of
the most telling and effective. .. ever delivered in this House’. Nicolson
also betrayed a feeling that Germany’s case was not without merit,
regretting that Britain had not been more willing to resuscitate her in
the 1920s. “‘When.. .. Stresemann came into power and there was a real
chance of being able to build up all that is best in German life and
character, we did not give that encouragement which we should have
tendered ... Now, when Germany is strong, we fall upon our knees, we
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bow our foreheads in the dust, and we say “Heil, Hitler”.” But, of course,
his dislike of Nazism was reflected in the last remark and much of his
speech was devoted to arguing the need for a policy of deterring German
aggression, a policy to be carried out in close cooperation with France:

Is there any Member in the House who believes that Germany is
not a danger?...I do not advocate a definite practical alliance with
France...But I advocate...the closest relationship with France dur-
ing the critical months that are upon us...We must say, if the
frontiers of Holland, Belgium or France are crossed by any country,
especially by Germany, we will within such and such a time bring so
many forces, ships and aeroplanes in their defence.

This was clearly much stronger than his approach to the Abyssinian
crisis, even if Nicolson added the coda that cooperation with France
should only apply ‘to the West. It has nothing to do with the East.’*
Vansittart continued to influence Nicolson’s thinking and recognised
that, with the Rhineland secure, Hitler would now turn his attention
eastwards. They lunched together in late April, when ‘Van’ argued that
‘a German hegemony in Europe means the end of the British Empire’
and that ‘we have no right to buy Germany off ... by offering here a free
hand against the Slav countries.” But this came up against Nicolson’s
doubts about defending Eastern Europe — doubts already reflected in his
Commons remark that cooperation with France should only apply in
the West. He felt Vansittart ‘is right in theory but in practice it would be
quite impossible for us to get the British people to fight Germany for the
sake of the Czechs’.?* Nonetheless, a readiness to draw a line somewhere
in the sand, over which the dictators should not cross, became a theme
in Nicolson’s speeches. In late June 1936, with the fall of Abyssinia to
Italy, he was sympathetic to the government’s predicament and argued
that, “‘We League people have been shown...by our ineptitude in this
Abyssinian question that economic sanctions are not enough. We know,
as has already been said, that aggressive violence can only be restrained
by force. It is by the organisation, the co-ordination and the planning
of force that the new League of Nations must be built.”>* He did not pro-
vide, in any detail, a method to achieve such an aim and, in retrospect,
it was clear that the League was a broken reed. But, in the Commons a
few days later he came to the defence of the Secretary for War, Alfred
Duff Cooper who, while on a visit to Paris, had seemed to advocate an
alliance with France. The Opposition argued that this was out of step
with official policy but it was clearly to Nicolson’s taste.?> Meanwhile,
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his expertise on international questions was recognised when he was
asked to become Vice-Chair of the Foreign Affairs Committee, made up
of MPs who supported the government coalition. And his views on the
need for a strong stand against the dictators, backed by rearmament and
an alliance with France, were evident in his writings at the time. In an
article in the influential US journal, Foreign Affairs, in July he showed
that he now recognised the need to protect Eastern European states: he
rejected the idea ‘that we surrendered Eastern Europe to German hege-
mony and thereby secured peace, perhaps only for a single generation,
with the certainty of an eventually disastrous war’.?

Much of Nicolson'’s attention in late 1936 was absorbed by the abdi-
cation crisis and by November 1936, when he was asked to second
the Address to the Throne, the international scene was more settled.
On this occasion, when he was in any case expected to avoid con-
troversy, Nicolson’s views, apart from some jibes at Mussolini, seemed
well in line with government policy.?” During 1937 he made only a few
speeches in the Commons. His most significant remarks were about the
Spanish civil war, where he was pro-Republican (‘If I were to say in the
House what I think about Franco I should use the most turbulent lan-
guage’?®) yet opposed British intervention (partly because he feared that
this would justify Italian and German intervention on a larger scale).
The war appalled him. After the bombing of Guernica by the German
air force in April he wrote of his feeling ‘that barbarism is creeping over
the Earth again and that mankind is going backwards’.*® Aside from
Spain, the dictators created no crises but Nicolson’s diary shows that he
was concerned about their rising strength. In November he had a long
talk with Winston Churchill about the balance of air power in Europe,
which led to the conclusion that ‘we are...not in a position to go to
war without very active Russian assistance.”®! Nicolson recognised — as
the government, since May 1937 under Neville Chamberlain did - that
‘we cannot fight Germany, Italy and Japan at the same moment’. But
he was also impressed by the argument of Conservative MP Duncan
Sandys that ‘if Germany wishes to attack us, she will do so in any
case, and her present policy is to get as much as she can meanwhile
without war.”®? Yet, the situation no longer seemed pressing. Address-
ing the Foreign Affairs Committee in December, Eden said there was ‘no
imminent likelihood of war and a far better prospect of appeasement
than ever before’.*®> Major differences over appeasement — not a term
that Nicolson himself used much — would only become obvious in the
following year.
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Chamberlain and Eden

The sense of calm did not last. The event that really seems to have
turned Nicolson against the National government’s foreign policy was
not some action by the dictators but the resignation of Anthony Eden
in February 1938, after differences with Chamberlain over how best to
deal with Mussolini. As seen above, Nicolson had no liking for Italy’s
diplomatic style or its dictator; but the MP was an admirer of Eden
and regularly praised him in the Commons. In July 1937 he told the
Commons, ‘I feel that our present Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs
does represent in his person the greatest possible agreement that this
country in foreign affairs could hope to achieve.”** Early in 1938, differ-
ences between Chamberlain and Eden came to a head when the Prime
Minister was keen to enter into conversations with Mussolini and offer
concessions — notably the recognition of Italian rule in Abyssinia — while
Eden, who suspected that Mussolini was about to back a German inva-
sion of Austria, argued that there should be no precipitate concessions.
The Foreign Affairs Committee of 17 February, well aware of the dif-
ferences within the Cabinet, was sympathetic to Eden. According to
Leo Amery, Nicolson spoke ‘vigorously and... pessimistically’. His line
was that Hitler was fully in control in Germany and bent on adventur-
ism, while Mussolini had sided with the German leader. Britain should
‘keep a stiff upper lip...wait, and above all, arm’. Nicolson himself
was delighted to find that the Committee, which was also addressed
by Churchill, ‘no longer believe[s] that we can buy Germany off with
concessions’.>® The potential for a political crisis only worsened on
20 February, when Eden resigned.

But the crisis was over almost as soon as it began. Before the Com-
mons on 21 February, Eden, in Nicolson’s own words, ‘did not really
make a good speech’. He made it seem as though, by insisting that the
time was not quite right for talks with Italy, he had resigned on a point
of detail. In the ensuing debate, an angry Nicolson proved more Edenite
than Eden, insisting that in fact ‘a great question of principle’ was a
stake. He returned to his old theme that Italian diplomats had to be
handled carefully. ‘It is the problem whether a country which has con-
tinuously, consistently, deliberately and without apology, violated every
engagement into which she has ever entered can be taken back into the
fold with a smile; or whether it is better to make a few concrete con-
ditions before negotiations are resumed.’” He talked of what he called
the ‘corkscrew’ approach of the Italians: “They have a perfect system of
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inventing something that they do not want, of clamouring for the thing
they do not want, of saying they will die if they do not get it, and then
when they get it, of asking for something else.” Thus, ‘it would be fool-
ish...to re-enter negotiations with Italy without first obtaining certain
concrete guarantees.’

This time Nicolson did not pull his punches in attacking government
policy. Instead he launched into a vitriolic attack on the Prime Min-
ister, which had pre-echoes of what would be said after Munich: ‘the
Prime Minister comes here this evening and, with a gesture of triumph,
produces Count Grandi’s little note... The Prime Minister said that that
document was a splendid bit of give-and-take. So it is. We give and they
take.” All the Italian foreign minister had offered, argued Nicolson, was
to withdraw some troops from Spain, ‘where they ought never to have
been in the first place’. Ultimately, he claimed, the Italians would ask
for a share in controlling the Suez Canal. He risked losing his audience
with reflections on Italian policy that went all the way back to 1882 but
he ended on a high moral note:

The late Foreign Secretary struggled hard to preserve the rule of law
and order, the theory of the League of Nations, the belief in the sanc-
tity of treaties, and the confidence of the world — which we may lose
by this action. However weak we might be, however divided, how-
ever muddle-headed; although we might sometimes be frightened,
and sometimes misled, we never definitely defended wrong with cool
and planned deliberation as we are doing now.

Those who came up to congratulate him afterwards included Churchill
and Lloyd George.*®

Support for Eden could have proved costly for Nicolson, especially
since he abstained on Labour’s 22 February censure vote. Both the Con-
servative majority and his own National Labour colleagues condemned
him; and there was opposition from within his Leicester constituency.
‘Chips’ Channon, a loyal Chamberlainite MP, considered that in his
speech of 21 February Nicolson ‘did the cause of peace as much harm as
he could’.?” At the Foreign Affairs Committee on 25 February, the atmo-
sphere was ‘most unpleasant’. Nicolson had heard that there would be
an attempt to force the resignation of himself and the chair, Conserva-
tive MP, Paul Emrys-Evans, who had also abstained. The pair decided
that, in the circumstances, they would be better off resigning on their
own initiative, but — ironically — the pro-Chamberlain majority realised
that this could embarrass the government and so urged them to wait.®
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After these stressful events, Nicolson decided to ‘lie low for the moment’.
Such moderation upset a fellow anti-appeaser, Violet Bonham Carter,
but Nicolson now argued, curiously, that ‘Chamberlain must be given a
chance.”®® Nor, was he so much opposed to the Prime Minister as to want
to join ‘the Winston brigade’, still preferring to hope for a lead from the
more respectable Eden. Or so he told his wife.** But Nicolson remained
deeply concerned about the international situation and he did some-
times meet with Churchill and the latter’s supporters, such as Boothby.*!
On 9 March he was involved in a depressing meeting at the Royal Insti-
tute of International Affairs, where the feeling was that Britain and
France together could not stand up to the German-Italian combination.
Later he dined with another anti-appeasement MP, Edward Spears, and
Vansittart, who now believed it impossible to prevent Germany domi-
nating Eastern Europe. ‘“We are suddenly faced by the complete collapse
of our authority, our Empire and our independence.’*

Any hope that Central Europe could escape Nazi domination was
dented in mid-March when Hitler invaded Austria unopposed. On the
16th, Nicolson spoke during another debate about Spain, when he
drew together a number of points in his thinking. He spoke of his
‘very deep hatred’ for Franco and accused Chamberlain of underes-
timating the dangers of the situation. Britain might soon see ‘the
establishment at vital strategic points of Italian and German batteries
and submarine bases’ in Spain, threatening the Royal Navy’s control
of the Mediterranean. Nicolson pressed the need to look at the situa-
tion, not in emotional terms, but from a strategic perspective and he
again urged close cooperation with France. On the surface his argu-
ments seemed hard-headed enough.** But, after he had finished, a note
was passed along the benches from the Prime Minister. What, pre-
cisely, did Nicolson expect the government to do? ‘Occupy Minorca’,
was the response. At this, Chamberlain flung ‘back his head with a
gesture of angered despair’.** The reaction is hardly surprising. Violent
action by the British government at this point, would have justified
similar action by the dictators, caused confusion at home and lost the
moral high ground abroad. Nor is it clear what strategic gain would be
made from seizing Minorca, when the Royal Navy already had a chain
of Mediterranean bases. Nicolson'’s suggestion smacked of desperation
when put on the spot by the Prime Minister. Yet it was the only precise
proposal he could think of.

Chamberlain and his supporters now numbered Nicolson among
‘the insurgents’.* But Malcolm Macdonald, the National Labour leader,
worked to moderate Nicolson’s opposition to the government*® and, for
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a time, he became quiescent. In April, after weeks of pressure for him
to do so, Nicolson resigned his position as co-chair of the Commons’
Foreign Affairs Committee. Emrys-Evans resigned alongside him.*” After
that he avoided saying anything in Commons debates so that, by the
summer, ‘the general impression [is] that I have “dropped out”.’* Mean-
while, Eden too showed no sign of taking a lead against Chamberlain.
In conversation with Nicolson in May, the former Foreign Secretary
seemed worried above all by the danger of splitting the country into hos-
tile camps on foreign policy. ‘He is himself determined to do everything
to prevent such a split.”*” Nicolson was encouraged by the so-called ‘May
Crisis’” over Czechoslovakia, when Hitler seemed to back off from an
invasion of the country (though actually he had no intention of act-
ing at that point). Nicolson believed this showed ‘strength and justice’
could work and that war might be avoided if Britain rearmed. ‘Hitler
has for the first time been checked’, Nicolson wrote, which might mean
that Britain could ‘nmegotiate with the Germans on equal terms’. It is
significant that negotiation, not conflict, remained his hope.*°
Nicolson’s anti-appeasement activities went on away from the Com-
mons chamber at this time. In the first half of 1938 he attended
meetings of the so-called ‘Salter’s Soviet’ at All Souls, Oxford. Arthur
Salter, Professor of Political Theory, was a former civil servant who suc-
cessfully stood as an anti-Chamberlain candidate in a 1937 by-election.
A desire to resist the tide of dictatorship was central to the group but
they fell out over how best to achieve this, with Nicolson taking a scep-
tical view of the possibility of negotiation with Hitler while others were
reluctant to rule out talks.’! There were similar disagreements within
the National Labour leadership.>* His anti-appeasement views were also
reflected in his publications, as in a critique of the idea that German
cooperation might be secured through colonial concessions.** In June
1938 Nicolson set out his private thoughts on the international situa-
tion in his diary. Chamberlain, he feared, was ready ‘to give Germany
all she wants at the moment, and cannot see that if we make this
surrender we shall be unable to resist other demands.” He also feared
that Germany and Italy aimed to divide Britain from France. However,
if Britain stood up to Germany it could provoke a war that London
would lose, so that perhaps a policy of buying time was the best course.
An alliance with Russia was impossible because the British ‘governing
classes’ had an intense ‘hatred of the Reds’. Unsurprisingly, after such
a circuitous argument, Nicolson retired to bed ‘in gloom’.>* His prob-
lem by now was clear: he recognised that the dictators could not be
bought off with concessions; that, in other words, appeasement would
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fail. Yet he could not produce any coherent alternative to Chamberlain’s
policy.

Munich

In late August and early September 1938, Nicolson’s thoughts were
dominated by the looming Czechoslovakian crisis, as it became evi-
dent that Hitler might launch a military strike across the border. His
earlier doubts about resisting Hitler in the East had now disappeared.
He saw the new crisis as ‘the final struggle between the principle of
law and the principle of violence’, and was increasingly concerned that
Chamberlain would back down.> But when, on 14 September, it was
announced that Chamberlain would make a personal visit to Hitler at
Berchtesgaden, Nicolson wrote that the ‘first feeling is one of enormous
relief’.5¢ With his wife arguing that the Sudeten Germans had a right
to self-determination and the indecisive Eden insisting that he did not
‘wish to lead a revolt or to secure any resignations from the Cabinet’, it
is not surprising that Nicolson felt heavy-hearted.’” The Prime Minister
flew off to Germany again on 22 September, as Churchill mounted an
intense campaign against what he called ‘the complete surrender of the
Western democracies to the Nazi threat of force’.® At this point Nicolson
was involved in a number of fraught meetings with other anti-appeasers.
On the 22 September he was at Churchill’s flat to discuss possible tac-
tics against Chamberlain. Four days later, when it seemed there might
yet be war — thanks to Hitler’s increased demands in his second sum-
mit with Chamberlain — Nicolson was at the flat again along with Leo
Amery, Boothby, Harold Macmillan and others, where it was agreed
that, ‘If Chamberlain rats again we shall form a united block against
him.” Believing war to be imminent, the group wanted a coalition gov-
ernment, a blockade of Germany, national service and an approach
to Russia.® But in the Commons on 28 September, Chamberlain
announced his third and final visit to Germany for the Munich con-
ference. Nicolson was one of the few MPs to refuse to rise as a tribute,
drawing the remark from someone behind him, ‘Stand up, you brute!’
Once again, he felt a sense of relief in Chamberlain’s summit diplomacy,
‘But my moral anxieties are in no way diminished.”®® At Munich the
concession of the Sudetenland to Germany was finally settled. While
the conference was underway, Nicolson attended the meetings at which
Churchill tried to mobilise key MPs to sign a letter to the Prime Min-
ister, warning him against any more concessions to Hitler. Eden and
the Labour leader, Clement Attlee, refused to sign however, leaving
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Churchill - and Nicolson - despondent.®’ Meanwhile, the BBC and the
Foreign Office pressed Nicolson to avoid ‘alarmist’ warnings about war,
and even criticisms of Nazism, in his broadcasts for The Past Week.%?

While others lauded the Prime Minister for avoiding war at Munich,
Nicolson nailed his colours to the anti-Chamberlain mast. At first he
did so inadvertently, during a speech in Manchester on 1 October that
caused a minor storm, because it — supposedly — contained a personal
attack on the Prime Minister’s key adviser, Horace Wilson. In fact the
speech was misrepresented, because the newspapers based their reports
on a draft version released by the National Labour party.®® At the same
time, Nicolson became more closely identified with ‘Winston’s dis-
sentients’, meeting with them to discuss tactics in the Commons.*
His most famous contribution to the case against appeasement was his
speech during the Munich debate of 5 October 1938. Here he rejected
the idea that the crisis could somehow be blamed on Czechoslovakia
itself or that the country was an ‘artificial’ creation of the Paris peace
conference. He also rejected the argument that the question was solely
a procedural one, to do with the fate of the Sudetenland (indeed, he
conceded the case for separating the region): rather, ‘it is essentially
the problem whether... Germany is the dominant country in Europe.’
His logic was that Germany had now achieved such dominance. ‘That
is the essential thing, the thing which we ought to have resisted, the
thing which we still ought to resist’ It was this point that led him
to speak of ‘this defeat, this humiliating defeat, this terrible Munich
retreat’. Bulgaria, Rumania and Yugoslavia would, he argued, now strike
deals with Hitler. He guessed that the whole of Eastern Europe would
be at Hitler’s feet in three months. Nicolson wrote off the ‘piece of
paper’ Chamberlain had brought back as making ‘friends with the strong
against the weak’. For Nicolson it represented nothing less than the end
of hundreds of years of balance of power diplomacy, designed ‘to pre-
vent by every means in our power the domination of Europe by any
single Power or group of Powers’. He was not without some sympa-
thy for ‘all the excellent intentions, all the admirable courage and all
the lonely dignity which the Prime Minister displayed’, but he felt that
Chamberlain had shown ‘a lack of understanding of foreign mentality’
and he ended the speech on an emotional note: ‘I know that those of us
who believe in the traditions of our policy...are accused of possessing
the Foreign Office mind. I thank God that I possess the Foreign Office
mind.”%

When it came to the vote Nicolson joined Churchill, Eden,
Duff Cooper (who had just resigned from the government), Amery,
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Macmillan and over 20 other Conservative MPs in abstaining. ‘The
House’, he believed, ‘knows that most of the above people know far
more about the real issue than they do.” This was not mere vanity.
In similar vein Oliver Harvey, Private Secretary to the Foreign Secre-
tary, considered ‘all the good speeches were against the government’ and
listed Nicolson’s among them.® His behaviour caused renewed ructions
within his Leicester constituency but Nicolson continued to identify
with other anti-Chamberlainites.®” In November, with a dozen Conser-
vative MPs, including Amery, Duff Cooper and Macmillan, he attended
a ‘hush-hush meeting’ with Eden where they finally agreed to form their
own group - though they would not advertise it as such — meeting occa-
sionally to discuss the international situation and ‘organise ourselves
for a revolt if needed’. Yet, even now, all was not as it seemed. Nicolson
told his wife he was happy to be ‘distinct from the Churchill group’
and led by ‘wise people’ who ‘do not mean to do anything rash or vio-
lent’.%® But, once again, such moderation exposed a real weakness in his
outlook. The Eden Group lacked robust leadership from the former For-
eign Secretary, who continued to hope for a return to office. By the end
of the month, Nicolson was complaining that, ‘We still do not really
constitute a group and Anthony still hesitates to come out against the
government.”” Nicolson continued to state his own beliefs at public
meetings.”® But 1939 would see him retreat once more from an active
role in the Commons, as he had retreated in the wake of his anger over
Eden’s resignation.

The coming of war

In early February 1939, Nicolson was predictably delighted with
Chamberlain’s announcement to the Commons of a closer relationship
with France, amounting as this did to a military alliance. It seemed the
Prime Minister had ‘swung suddenly round to all that we have been
asking for’, he told his wife, ‘I think it can only mean that he real-
izes that Appeasement has failed.” Chamberlain might even become an
asset, because, ‘No ordinary German or Italian will ever believe pro-
paganda telling him that Chamberlain is a war-monger.”’! In March,
Nicolson even met his constituency chair’s wish for a statement ‘saying
that I agree with the government’s present policy. Which I do.” A letter
to his wife, however, revealed that he had few illusions about why the
‘ladies of Leicester’ needed such a statement. They were worried by the
world situation and eager to trust in Chamberlain, who ‘has rendered
cowardice and treachery respectable’.”> With the collapse of the Munich
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agreement shortly afterwards, Nicolson could have driven home the
point that the anti-appeasers had been proven right and the Prime Min-
ister wrong. But, as Hitler marched on Prague, Nicolson felt it ‘merely
renders explicit facts that since Munich were implicit’’® and his speech
in the Adjournment debate of 3 April 1939 seemed a world away from
his intervention of six months before. He began by declaring his wish
‘to add my pebble to that great bastion of support which the Prime Min-
ister must feel that he has now behind him’ and could even find some
retrospective praise for the events of the previous September. Nicolson
believed that Chamberlain had convinced the Germans of his interest in
peace and that they did not welcome the breech in the Munich agree-
ment. He also felt that Hitler’s anti-Semitic atrocities, with their ‘cold
and deliberate sadism’, had alienated many Germans. He wanted a pro-
paganda campaign to be pressed by the BBC and the British Council to
explain the British case to the German people and convince them that
peace was possible.”* In this, as Drinkwater says, he missed ‘the obvi-
ous point that, even if the majority of Germans and Italians regarded
Chamberlain as a man of peace, they were ruled by men to whom this
was irrelevant’.”s

It was not that Nicolson ceased to have doubts about Chamberlain’s
policy, but he does seem to have been ready to accept that the Pol-
ish guarantee, given by Britain in the wake of Hitler’s destruction of
Czechoslovakia, marked a real change in foreign policy.”® Behind the
scenes he continued to associate with Churchill, joining the latter in a
discussion with the Soviet ambassador, Ivan Maisky, to discuss a possible
alliance.”” And by mid-April Nicolson feared that Chamberlain, under
the influence of Horace Wilson, might already be returning to his old
belief in appeasement.”® But in the Commons he said nothing to sug-
gest such deep concern. Robert Boothby complained about his friend’s
weakness at this time, only to receive the reply that ‘old queens like
myself are capable of hysterical heroism but are not good at the con-
stant fight.””® As his fears grew about ‘another Munich over Danzig’, any
desire Nicolson might have to put his head above the parapet was prob-
ably deflated by Eden, who continued to miss ‘every boat with exquisite
elegance’ when it came to criticising the Prime Minister.®

On 31 July 1939, in his last Commons speech before the outbreak
of war, Nicolson seemed bent on securing peace both at home and
abroad. His logic was that ‘the way of appeasement...is dead’ and that
‘the way of peace’ had now become the ‘proper focus’. He began by
defending Eden: ‘seldom in the history of any political controversy, any
political disagreement, has such moderation been shown, such extreme
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consideration been displayed, such reticence, almost, been exercised, as
has been shown by my right honourable Friend in the unhappy con-
troversy that arose after his retirement.” At home Nicolson hoped to
abolish ‘this ridiculous duality between appeasers and resisters’, build-
ing an ‘agreement that there must be the maximum of resistance first,
and thereafter the maximum of conciliation’. Abroad, he feared that
such conciliation could prove difficult because ‘war has become a vested
interest in Germany’ and the whole economy had become geared to
armaments production. The solution was to make ‘it clear to Hitler that
victory is a physical impossibility and that peace is a physical possibil-
ity’. And as part of this policy Nicolson specifically urged that Britain
should offer loans to help Germany through a process of disarmament.
He wanted an inspection regime to oversee such disarmament and he
wanted the Nazis to withdraw from Czechoslovakia.®! It was another
odd display, as high on moral principle as it was thin on practicalities.
It showed that he still hoped for a negotiated settlement, albeit from a
position of strength. Yet, as war approached over the following weeks
he reverted to his belief that a deal with Hitler was impossible, that
Chamberlain’s attempts at maintaining the peace were wrong and that
war had to be faced.®

The outbreak of war saw Nicolson in a gloomy mood. He admitted,
‘there is a little timid, selfish side of myself that tempts me by still mur-
murings to hope that we shall reach a form of appeasement after the
Germans have conquered Poland’; but he immediately added that ‘the
real thing in me loathes and detests any such capitulation.’®® During
the phoney war he continued to criticise Chamberlain’s performance —
‘no gift for inspiring anybody’ and ‘one feels the confidence and spir-
its of the House dropping inch by inch’ were just two comments on
the Prime Minister’s speeches®* — and remained part of the Eden Group
(though Eden himself had now rejoined the government). His criticism
of Chamberlain’s diplomacy was evident once more to the public when
he authored a Penguin Special: Why Britain is at War in December 1939.
Here he likened the Prime Minister and Horace Wilson on the inter-
national stage to ‘two curates entering a pub for the first time; they
did not observe the difference between a social gathering and a rough
house’.%5 Nicolson also continued to exchange views with Vansittart®
and recognised Churchill’s gifts as a potential leader. By late Septem-
ber 1939, with the prospect of defeat heightened by the Soviet invasion
of eastern Poland, he wrote that ‘Churchill might be our Clemenceau
or our Gambetta’ and in October was involved in a discussion in the
Eden Group about his replacing Chamberlain.?” In the vote of May 1940,
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when Chamberlain’s majority crashed to only 81, Nicolson was among
those who voted against him, helping bring Churchill into office.

Conclusion

What might be said by way of an overall interpretation of Nicolson's
approach to appeasement? He gained an early reputation as an anti-
appeaser and his public line certainly embraced a certain logic. He had
a visceral dislike of dictators and saw Italian and German policy as an
ideological menace as well as a threat to British security. He hated the
Spanish civil war and was appalled by the results of Nazi anti-Semitism
in Austria. ‘We stand for tolerance, truth, liberty and good humour. They
stand for violence, oppression, untruthfulness and bitterness.’*® He also
wanted to see the government make a stand at some point. In his speech
following the remilitarisation of the Rhineland he insisted that, ‘It is no
use merely to express virtuous intentions. We must act in such a way
that the countries of Europe — Germany above all — must say, “This
time they really mean it”.” He always deeply believed in cooperation
with France, at least in terms of security in Western Europe. In his Com-
mons speeches, he said nothing specific about some of the problems that
concerned the government, such as the threat from Japan or Britain’s
economic weakness. But it is clear from his diaries and other sources that
he thought about such problems. In 1937 he considered that an agree-
ment between Britain, the US, Germany and Japan to develop China
would provide business for those factories that were diverted from arms
production, neatly combining the desire for peace, the problems of East
Asia, the need to stimulate the world economy and, it must be said, the
potential for ‘economic appeasement’.®® He was not a firm advocate of
a Soviet alliance in 1936-38, but he was friends with the Soviet ambas-
sador, Ivan Maisky; he complained about Chamberlain’s anti-Russian
outlook® and in 1939 he saw the logic of Churchill’s arguments in
favour of a Soviet alliance. He was also willing to run risks for his beliefs,
alienating other members of National Labour, their Conservative allies
and his constituency party with his criticisms of Chamberlain.
Nonetheless, a chronological look at Nicolson’s thoughts and state-
ments on British foreign policy in 1935-39 shows that, whatever his
dislike of the dictators, his attitude towards appeasement was volatile.
Down to February 1938 he did not differ substantially with government
policy. Nicolson’s rejection of military action during the Rhineland crisis
led David Carlton to refer to him merely as ‘a so-called anti-appeaser’.’!
Nicolson was not alone in being a critic of Munich, having earlier
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refused to stand up over the Rhineland. David Dutton has highlighted
Eden’s desire, as Foreign Secretary, for a modus vivendi with Hitler while
simultaneously pursuing rearmament: ‘If this was appeasement through
strength, it was appeasement nonetheless.” It was a policy supported
by another of Nicolson’s influences, Robert Vansittart.”> Of course, it is
possible to defend those who took such views at a time when Hitler
did no more than ‘march into his own backyard’. Norman Rose has
argued that, in 1936, Nicolson was reluctant to march ahead of public
opinion, reluctant to distance himself from the government (especially
with Eden as Foreign Secretary) and ‘at a loss’ to know how to deal with
Hitler.”® And, again, in this he was not alone. Besides, surely his oppo-
sition to appeasement in 1938 is what matters? By the time of Munich,
Nicolson came to see appeasement as meaning one-sided concessions
in a vain attempt to buy off the dictators and he was prepared even to
stand up for Eastern European countries. He made his position clear in
April 1939 when appeasement seemed to have collapsed: ‘I have always
contended that Germany wanted only one thing and that was power.
Now, power is an expanding ambition and it is impossible to fix its
frontiers. Chamberlain and the appeasement folk imagined that you
could.”” Yet, even during 1938 itself he showed signs, during the mid-
dle of the year, before the Munich crisis loomed, of withdrawing from
the front line, even if he remained very active behind the scenes. Again,
during the first seven months of 1939 - though he remained active as a
speaker, writer and broadcaster — Nicolson’s few parliamentary speeches
suggest a backing away from his earlier attacks on the Prime Minister,
a readiness to value him as a ‘Man of Peace’ and, perhaps more signifi-
cant, a willingness to use economic concessions to wean Hitler from his
wish for war. But for the most part he seemed to withdraw again from
parliamentary life, having nothing to say in the Commons during the
crisis over Poland, even if his dislike of Chamberlain was clear enough
to those around him.

As Derek Drinkwater has argued, Nicolson had a ‘liberal realist phi-
losophy of international relations’, rejecting utopian solutions to the
world’s problems but also appreciating the dangers of power politics.
His belief in the League of Nations in 1935-37 was based on a desire to
avoid dividing Europe into alliance blocs, such as had occurred before
1914. But, within this liberal idealist outlook, his views could range
quite widely.” Aside from an inevitable evolution in his thinking over
time, this chapter has also shown that he was influenced by events and
individuals around him. These included not only the actions of the dic-
tators or the behaviour of his own government, but also the attitudes of
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his wife and his friends, the carping from his constituency party, the crit-
icism of his fellow MPs and the behaviour of the less-than-heroic Eden.
Nicolson was determined to work with the Eden Group rather than with
Churchill and this may be one reason why he never became close to the
wartime Prime Minister. In mounting a campaign against appeasement,
Nicolson was also affected, in a negative sense, by his own self-doubt
and feelings of depression, by his decency and moderation, perhaps
by his Englishness, which he once summed up as implying a ‘habit
of compromise, gradualness and the middle path between extremes’.”
As one of his biographers has written, Nicolson lacked the ‘spirit of
leadership ... He was too soft and sentimental.”®”

Criticisms from without and self-doubt within: these explain his with-
drawals from the political fray in mid-1938 and after October 1938. He
did not have the nerve or commitment necessary for the long haul,
while the same sensitivity that made him an anti-fascist made him long
for peace. ‘What I need’, he told his wife in the wake of the Rhineland
crisis, ‘is a feeling that we shall avoid war’.”® This desire, somehow, to
avoid war made him feel powerless, as reflected in another, highly senti-
mental letter to her a few months before war came: ‘We wish only to do
good on earth. We are not vulgar in our tastes or cruel in our thoughts.
Why is it that we are impotent to prevent something that we know to
be evil and terrible?’*” In analysing world affairs he could be lucid and
intelligent, but equally he had an almost naive belief in the significance
of national traits, as in his attack on Italian diplomatic methods after
the Hoare-Laval pact.'® Above all, while confident of the need to resist
aggression, re-arm and cooperate with other nations, he never could
produce a coherent alternative to appeasement. Neither, it might be
said, did Eden or Churchill. But after his suggestion that Britain had
best occupy Minorca, it is probably understandable that Chamberlain
did not see Harold Nicolson as a source of sound advice on how best to
deal with the fascist menace.

Notes

1. For biographies see: James Lees-Milne, Harold Nicolson, A Biography (2
vols, London: Hamish Hamilton, 1988); and Norman Rose, Harold Nicolson
(London: Jonathan Cape, 2005). Also valuable is Denis Drinkwater, Sir
Harold Nicolson and International Relations: The Practitioner as Theorist
(Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005). Excellent as these are, they are
all, to my mind, rather too generous to Nicolson when it comes to dealing
with his opposition to appeasement. I am grateful to my colleague Dr Nick
Thomas for comments on an earlier version of this paper.
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Another Jewel Forsaken

The Role of Singapore in British Foreign
and Defence Policy, 1919-68

Malcolm H. Murfett

Size doesn’t always matter. Singapore may have been tiny, devoid of
mineral resources and with an insufficient water supply for its own res-
idents, but its sheltered position in Southeast Asia, one degree north
of the equator on the trade routes to Australasia and East Asia, made
it another precious economic jewel in the British crown for roughly
a century and a half in the late modern period. While it could never
claim to be as illustrious as India — which country could? — Singapore
had nonetheless developed into an increasingly alluring entrepot by
the turn of the twentieth century. Once World War I had been merci-
fully brought to an end in late 1918, however, Singapore’s value as a
promising economic hub became subordinated to that of its increasing
geostrategic significance in the eyes of HMG policymakers in Whitehall.
This enhanced military potential arose directly from the abandonment
of the Anglo-Japanese Alliance in 1921 and the somewhat begrudg-
ing acceptance of the Washington treaty system that streamlined naval
establishments around the world and supposedly brought a new reality
to bear in international relations.’

Sacrificing an alliance of 20 years to curry favour with the Americans
didn’t do the British any favours whatsoever. Worst of all it played into
the hands of those Japanese nationalists like Kato Kanji who saw in
its rejection a haughty and contemptuous Caucasian response towards
their treaty partners and one which could be used in future to justify
a set of anti-western policies.> While the Anglo-Japanese Alliance may
not have been quite the diplomatic coup that some claimed it to be,
a strategic partnership — however shallow it may have been — was still
notably better than a mutual relationship of hostility and aggression.?
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After the abrogation of that alliance at the Washington Conference,
the plain fact emerged that policing the waters of the Far East could
no longer in theory, much less in practice, be entrusted to the Impe-
rial Japanese Navy (IJN) on behalf of their erstwhile British allies. From
February 1922 onwards, therefore, the British were faced by an undeni-
able new reality: if they wished to protect their overseas investments in
the littoral states washed by these seas, they would have to find ways
and means of doing so themselves. This wouldn’t be easy and it would
be expensive. Could they afford to do so? Even if the answer was no,
what was the alternative? In a sense this was the acute British dilemma
of the entire interwar period for all those possessions east of Madras.
HMG was obliged to protect the empire its predecessors had established
in the past, but truthfully it didn’t really have the means to do so any
longer. As a result, wishful thinking often bridged the gap between ways
and means. It shouldn’t have done so since strategic planning ought
not to be based on hyperbolic best-case scenarios. Unfortunately, they
tended to be de rigueur in the Far Eastern theatre for far too long.

This regrettable situation gave rise to one of the most painful myths
of the modern era. Some naval scholars still persist in seeing merit
in the ‘Singapore Strategy’ even though it was Micawberish in theory
and abjectly failed in practice. A marriage of convenience bequeathed
by a robust Admiral Jellicoe and a subdued British government, the
‘Singapore Strategy’ became a political football between Tory and Labour
administrations in the 1920s; the former supporting investment in
imperial defence as opposed to the latter’s belief in financial restraint
and disarmament.* In essence, the Washington Conference had left the
Japanese in a very favourable monopoly position in the Western Pacific
since the United States had agreed not to build any first class naval base
closer to Japanese shores than Pearl Harbor in Hawaii and the British had
accepted a similar restriction as far as Singapore was concerned. So the
United States would not be able to use Subic Bay in the Philippines
as their main forward base in the region while the British would be
similarly denied the use of their existing naval base in Hong Kong.’

After undertaking a grand inspection mission east of Suez two years
before the leading naval powers gathered in Washington and the Anglo-
Japanese Alliance was sacrificed, Admiral Jellicoe had boldly issued a
series of recommendations to the dominion governments he had vis-
ited and to his paymasters at the Board of Admiralty. His trenchant and
undiplomatic reports were notable for their sagacity, foresight, and stag-
gering cost. If the vexatious Jellicoe could be believed, the Asia-Pacific
was unlikely to remain quiescent in future and the Japanese would
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ultimately pose a distinct threat to Western interests in the region. These
were conclusions that the stunned Board of Admiralty didn’t wish to
receive. Typically his own man, Jellicoe had exceeded his instructions,
but could the Admiralty reject his report solely on the basis of it being
ultra vires? This was annoyingly unlikely as his reports to the dominions
had ensured that the cat was out of the bag. In this case, the cat hap-
pened to be the proposal for the stationing of a major naval force in the
Far East to deter the IJN from executing any aggressive policy deep into
Southeast Asia. Jellicoe had stirred up a hornet’s nest; the Australasian
dominions, in particular, could hardly feel sanguine about the future if
the Japanese decided to build up their navy and widen their imperialist
focus beyond mainland China.®

In the rather febrile atmosphere generated by the Versailles peace con-
ference, Lloyd George’s coalition government passed a pious Cabinet
resolution in August 1919 stating that for planning purposes Britain
could reliably work on the notion that it would avoid engagement in
any major war for the next ten years.” Whether accurate or not, how
did this prediction square with Jellicoe’s warning about the prepara-
tions needed to meet a future threat from Japan? It didn’t. Something
had to give and basic economics determined that Jellicoe’s scheme for
a substantial Far Eastern Fleet would not come to pass. Nonetheless,
even if the former First Sea Lord’s warnings fell on deaf ears in London
they were unlikely to be dismissed as wildly exaggerated by either the
Australians or New Zealanders who might find themselves in direct
line of fire if the Japanese decided that the time had come to embark
upon their long anticipated nanshin-ron. To assuage the concerns of the
empire, therefore, something would have to be done. Quite what ought
to be done was the problem that the British government had to deal
with in the following years.

Whatever the Admiralty thought of Jellicoe’s crystal ball gazing, future
defence requirements in the Far East seemed to point to the establish-
ment of a naval base in the region. Where this might be best situated
was a matter of lively debate in the newly reformed Committee of Impe-
rial Defence. Hong Kong and Sydney were touted as possible locations
but both were ultimately ruled out because they were either too close
and intensely vulnerable (Hong Kong) or too far away (Sydney) from
any likely scene of confrontation with a determined Japanese foe in the
indeterminate future. In the end, Singapore won the location vote by
geographical default.?

Nonetheless, developing a naval base on the diamond shaped island
lying immediately to the south of the Malayan hinterland was a good
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deal easier said than done. First of all the existing maritime port in
Keppel Harbour was not physically large enough to cope with both
the mercantile fleet and its naval counterpart. Without a massive land
reclamation scheme, the like of which was only resorted to from the
1970s onwards, the existing Keppel resources could only serve the needs
of one or other of these fleets but not both. It had been geared for
the red ensign and that was what it ended up by continuing to serve.
By ignoring Keppel, the Admiralty advisors (surveyors and engineers)
had few realistic alternatives. Short of creating an artificial base in the
Singapore roads (Selat Sinki) that would cause more problems than it
was worth and cost a king’s ransom to build and then support on an
annual basis, the advisors limited themselves to four possibilities along
the NNE coastline of Singapore. Ultimately Sembawang, situated less
than a mile from the shore of the Malayan mainland, was chosen as
the site of the new base, but its defensive vulnerability was obvious
to the War Office from the outset. Apart from anything else, it would
need a 30-mile defensive perimeter to protect it from artillery assault or
infantry encroachment.” Would it ever get this perimeter? Judging from
the fudged size of the naval base itself, the answer was always likely
to be no.

If Sembawang was to become a first class naval base in both peace and
war it would need to be able to handle the requirements of a substan-
tial capital ship fleet. Unquestionably, the ‘Green Scheme’ that Leopold
Savile, the Admiralty’s leading civil engineer, designed for the naval base
would have met that objective, but the cost of doing so was considered
by the Treasury mandarins as being far too high to be economically
sustainable. Their concerted opposition ensured that Savile’s proposal
was summarily rejected in March 1923 in favour of a much inferior
alternative — the ‘Red Scheme’. Instead of being able to service the needs
of a full battle fleet as Savile’s original ‘Green Scheme’ would have done,
the much cheaper ‘Red Scheme’ was supposed to only ever cater for a
peacetime force roughly one-fifth the size of the full battle fleet.!® Why
20 per cent is a moot point. It made no sense whatsoever if Jellicoe’s
prediction should ever come to pass and the IJN did eventually sweep
south seeking its date with destiny.

Surely under these circumstances, a relatively small British peacetime
fleet was more likely to serve as a magnet rather than as a deterrent to the
Kido Butai and its accompanying forces? Admiralty war planners were
not fazed by such complications because they had a compelling way
of cutting the Gordian knot. In essence it lay in persuading the British
government to send its Main Fleet to Singapore in the event of war with
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Japan. While the ‘Singapore Strategy’ became the ubiquitous answer to
the perennial strategic question of the day in the Far East, what the Main
Fleet was supposed to do once it had reached Southeast Asia was one of
the great imponderables of the age. Apart from anything else, the naval
base would never be large enough to receive the full complement of
British warships that were supposedly being sent to it! Quite what those
elements of the fleet that couldn’t be accommodated within the naval
base were supposed to do while they waited for a wharf in the dockyard
to be vacated was not obvious in the original script.!!

Should this surprise one? I suppose the answer should be a categori-
cal yes, but the closer one looked at the ‘Singapore Strategy’ the more
porous it became. So much was unclear and open to change depending
upon the circumstances of the war that the Japanese would be waging at
the time. Reactive rather than proactive, the entire British strategic doc-
trine left much to be desired. Spontaneity may on occasion be extremely
desirable but like many things it can be massively overdone. It was in
this case.

Accountants and economists have much to answer for when it comes
to strategic planning; cheaper options often carry the day politically but
not where it matters most on the battle front if war results. Looked at
in terms of its location and projected size, therefore, one does not need
to be a Cassandra to assess the choices relating to the Singapore naval
base as being at best strategically injudicious and at worst fatally flawed.
Singapore was not destined to be another Malta. Expecting it to hold out
for weeks or months at a time was unreasonable unless the British were
prepared to lavish substantial sums on defensive preparations in Johor
and had sufficient forces throughout Malaya to thwart the ambitions of
a determined enemy intent on territorial aggrandizement.

General Jan Smuts was never a fan of the ‘Singapore Strategy’ and
always remained a sceptic. He couldn’t see how the British govern-
ment could afford to let its Main Fleet steam off to a base more than
8,000 nautical miles away for perhaps months at a time if the situa-
tion in Europe, the Mediterranean or the Middle East was unsettled and
threatening.'> He was right. Why so few other leading statesmen and
politicians couldn’t see the wisdom in his opposition to the ‘Singapore
Strategy’ almost defies belief. Whatever the reason — perhaps a mix of
complacency, overconfidence and wishful thinking — the support of
the conservative political/diplomatic establishment for the ‘Singapore
Strategy’ remained typically vibrant both at home and around the Com-
monwealth long after the honeymoon of Locarno had been replaced
by the eerie 1930s when extremism often trumped moderation in
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international relations. For some supporters of the equatorial strategy
apparently ignorance was bliss.

Accordingly, money was stumped up for the construction of the base
from a variety of sources and some preparatory drainage work began in
the mid-1920s. Despite the fact that progress on the Sembawang base
was glacial over the next few years, the project still managed to survive
all efforts to sabotage it. Ramsay MacDonald tried and failed to sink it in
both his stints at the head of a Labour administration in Downing Street
(1924 and 1929-31), and Winston Churchill, in his unlikely capacity as
Chancellor of the Exchequer, damaged it still further by slashing expen-
diture on the inferior ‘Red Scheme’, thereby ensuring the future naval
base would bear little or no relation to the first class structure that the
Washington Treaty had allowed HMG to construct in 1921.13

Once the Japanese had begun to fulfil Jellicoe’s predictions by
renouncing Taisho democracy and embracing a militant imperialism
in the early 1930s, the ‘Singapore Strategy’ that had been designed
to thwart those ambitions was still years away from being a credible
proposition. Work on the Sembawang base accelerated somewhat in the
post-Manchukuo phase, but much still needed to be done to enable it to
receive a fraction of the Main Fleet should it ever be sent east of Suez in
an emergency.'* This fact was of singular importance once disarmament
was seen to have shot its bolt by 1934 and the world began witnessing
a more assertive foreign policy by Italy and Germany, the leading dicta-
torial powers of Europe. When Spain threatened to be added to that list
from 1936 onwards, the British government was confronted by a poten-
tially hostile coalition of forces on its continental doorstep with a barren
League of Nations and few realistic options at its immediate disposal
to tackle the problem. Collective security was by now a broken reed
and the French, who had never really trusted the concept in any case,
showed precious little interest in mounting anything other than a defen-
sive posture hitherto in international relations. If the French couldn’t be
lured out from behind their Maginot Line, what other friends could be
expected to help pick up the slack on the United Kingdom'’s behalf?
Expecting active assistance from the Americans who had spent the post-
war years disengaged from Europe and the wider world in an isolationist
frame of mind was unlikely to say the least and legislatively compli-
cated by the neutrality legislation it had wrapped itself in from 1935
onwards.’”> Commonwealth states had their own problems to deal with
and those lying to the east of Suez were focused upon the increasingly
bellicose activities of the Japanese who after the Marco Polo Bridge inci-
dent of July 1937 were intent on subjugating the Chinese and seemingly
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anyone else who came in their way. As for linkage with the Soviet Union,
the Baldwin and Chamberlain governments were deeply suspicious of
socialism in all of its forms — a view echoed by the French Far Right in
1936: ‘Better Hitler than Blum’.®

Despite sterling efforts by Anthony Eden, the British Foreign Sec-
retary, to interest the Americans in a joint naval demonstration of
force against the Japanese in the aftermath of the Panay incident of 12
December 1937, President Roosevelt preferred to keep his powder dry.
Talks between naval representatives of the two sides were arranged but
they neither amounted to much nor plugged the gap in dealing with the
Japanese threat in the Far East.!” It didn’t surprise the experienced diplo-
mat Sir Ronald Lindsay in the least. He observed tellingly a few months
before: ‘Anglo-American relations are fool-proof and are only in danger
when attempts are made to improve them.’!8

Forestalled on one front, the British fell back upon their own lim-
ited resources. On 15 February 1938 — exactly three years to the day
before the fall of Singapore to the Imperial Japanese Army - the King
George VI dry dock at Sembawang was opened by Sir Shenton Thomas,
Governor of the Straits Settlements. While still not fully operational,
the naval base (a truncated version of the ‘Red Scheme’) was now basi-
cally in place." Tronically, as it came on stream the commitment to the
‘Singapore Strategy’ became increasingly endangered by the crises now
surfacing in Europe. Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain responded to
these threats by promoting the policy of appeasement. He hoped that
consensual diplomacy would trump military aggression and that Hitler
and Mussolini would see reason if the democracies showed good faith
and indulged them to some extent. An expedient policy, appeasement
may have bought Chamberlain et al. a little time, but it did so at con-
siderable cost to the Czechs and subsequently to the Slovaks as well.
By March 1939 the architect of this deeply flawed policy went before his
own constituents in Birmingham and admitted that all had not gone
according to plan.?® Herr Hitler’s promises had proven as bankrupt as
the Austrian Creditanstalt had been in the Great Depression.

While appeasement was manifestly dead, what could replace it short
of aresort to war? If there was another alternative, Chamberlain, for one,
didn’t know how to grasp it. Confronted by what FDR described as the
three bandit nations (Germany, Italy and Japan), the United Kingdom
was left with little option other than to prepare for the worst and hope
for the best.>! Where Singapore now figured in this strategic equation
was anyone’s guess. Once described as a keystone of imperial defence,
the supposed fortress of Singapore had seen better days. In June 1939 the
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official ‘period before relief’ was raised to 90 days. It would be doubled
to 180 days once the Germans, buoyed up by the signing of the Nazi-
Soviet Pact on 23 August, poured across the Polish border eight days
later to start the European phase of World War I1.22

It was all very well having a ‘period before relief’ set at 6 months, but
how realistic was it to expect that the British would be able to accom-
plish what could easily turn out to be a formidable military objective in
that time frame? Was the defensive structure in place to ensure that
Singapore could survive that long without adequate reinforcements?
Judging from the relative inadequacy of the Sembawang base and the
failure to make good the defensive limitations in Johor exposed by
Major-General Sir William Dobbie when he was GOC Malaya from 1935
to 1939, the prospects were not propitious.?® Even if the Royal Navy
or a large part of it could be sent off to the Far East when the United
Kingdom was at war in Europe — a seminal question in itself given the
fact that the war at sea had been anything but phoney from the outset —
could the Main Fleet be certain of defeating the IJN wherever it was
in the region and be successful in raising the siege of the island fortress
from those intent upon its destruction? What if the IJN was conspicuous
by its absence and the danger to Singapore was posed by significant ele-
ments of the Imperial Japanese Army? How long would the Main Fleet
be expected to remain in the region if it couldn’t bring the IJN to bat-
tle and subdue it? These and a whole range of other sobering questions
about the ‘Singapore Strategy’ needed to be addressed by those advocat-
ing the policy since they cut to the heart of its feasibility. Frustratingly,
however, many of these probing questions simply couldn’t be answered
in advance regardless of how many Far East Appreciations were drawn
up by the Chiefs of Staff in London. As such, the ‘Singapore Strategy’
remained in abeyance with no resolution on whether it was practical
or impractical, possible or impossible. This didn’t stop people from all
walks of life in Singapore and beyond putting their trust in it, but their
faith in the implementation of this strategy would be severely put to the
test in the coming months.

Once the phoney war was over with the German attack on Denmark
and Norway in April 1940, the chances of the British government imple-
menting the ‘Singapore Strategy’ appeared to get slimmer by the day.
After the attack on France and the Low Countries on 10 May and
the Italian declaration of war a month later, the prospect of a Far
Eastern demarche was profoundly unlikely. By the time the French had
called for an armistice later in June the likelihood of the Main Fleet
going anywhere beyond Alexandria was so remote as to be unworthy
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of contemplation save by the foolhardy. Churchill’s government hoped
that this point would become self-evident to those members of the
Commonwealth who were relying upon the British to fulfil their earlier
strategic promises and come to their rescue if need be.?* Somehow, how-
ever, the penny didn’t drop. Those needing help continued to assume
it would be forthcoming and the British wouldn’t turn their back on
them.®

If the strategic picture in continental Europe looked bleak in the sum-
mer of 1940, the global picture proceeded to get a good deal worse as
the autumn drew on. Japanese aggression extended beyond mainland
China into Tonkin on 22 September and the announcement five days
later of the Tripartite Pact linking the governments in Tokyo with those
in Berlin and Rome seemed even more ominous.?® Clearly the dictator-
ships were on the march and the war looked set to widen and assume
an Asian dimension in the not too distant future.

That epochal event was still more than 14 months away, however, and
within that time frame the isolated British, aided and abetted by a partial
but non-belligerent United States, just about held their own against the
Germans in home waters and the North Atlantic and did more than that
to the Italians in the Mediterranean and Red Sea.?” Providing this situ-
ation continued to prevail, the Admiralty hoped that something might
be done further afield in the spring of 1942, such as the build-up of
a balanced force east of Suez. Winston Churchill, who had never been
to Southeast Asia in his life and yet professed to believe he understood
the strategic picture better than his military advisors, did not want to
wait that long. Although he still regarded Singapore as a military fortress
and one that the Japanese would refrain from attacking, he sensed that
he couldn’t pin his long-term hopes for the Far East on the Americans
unless the British were prepared to show President Roosevelt and the
Commonwealth leaders that they honoured their commitments and
were prepared to show the flag in the Far East. For this reason, Churchill
returned from the ‘Atlantic Charter’ meeting with Roosevelt in August
1941 determined to show his hand and warn the Japanese that the
British meant business in the region. Rejecting the cautious approach
in the Indian Ocean offered by First Sea Lord Admiral Sir Dudley Pound
and the Admiralty, he revived the Drax-Backhouse scheme of 1938-39
of sending a ‘flying squadron’ of two fast capital ships and a carrier
escort to Singapore.”® Churchill was wrong about the Japanese; he was
wrong about Singapore; and worst of all he was wrong about the deter-
rent value of Force G. To make matters far worse, HMS Indomitable, the
carrier assigned to Force G, didn’t even survive the journey out east. She
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ran aground in the Caribbean and no replacement carrier was sent in
her stead.? If that was not bad enough, Churchill also had his hand
in the appointment of T.S.V. Phillips as the commander of the Eastern
Fleet. ‘Titch’ Phillips had been a trusted, but desk bound, figure for many
years as director of plans and subsequently VCNS. He was short of oper-
ational experience and showed it badly when the Pacific War began in
December 1941. Within two days of the attack on Pearl Harbor and the
first bombing attacks on Singapore, the Royal Navy’s latest battleship
Prince of Wales, the veteran battle cruiser Repulse and 840 of their offi-
cers and men of the ‘flying squadron’ were no more.** It was another
tragic misstep in a catalogue of misadventures concerning Singapore.
Sadly, it wouldn't be the last.

Over the past 70 years a sub-school of modern military history has
been devoted to the defence and fall of Malaya and Singapore, but this
is not the place to plough that familiar furrow again. Suffice it to say
that whereas the Japanese planned their invasion systematically and
kept their eyes steadfastly on the main prize, the British devised their
countermeasures in an indecisive, disputatious and incoherent manner.
Brian Farrell sums up the position witheringly: ‘Singapore was all but
lost before a shot was fired.”®! Seventy days after battle was joined and
20 days earlier than the Japanese had planned, Singapore fell to General
Yamashita’s 25th Army on 15 February 1942.3?

Watching the mighty British Empire humiliated by the Japanese was
a lasting shock for the citizens of Malaya and Singapore. This was not
supposed to happen and yet it had. Lee Kuan Yew who was to become
one of the most perceptive and indomitable statesmen of the twenti-
eth century was an impressionable adolescent when he witnessed the
unthinkable happening, namely, thousands of Commonwealth service-
men trudging off wearily to Changi to begin their period of captivity at
the hands of an Asian power. It made him lose respect for the British
who had promised much to the Malays and Singaporeans and yet had
demonstrably failed to deliver when the going got rough. A tough lesson
in life had been swiftly learnt by the 18-year old; don’t rely upon oth-
ers to save you. Self-defence was of paramount importance. Caucasians
often talked loud and long but, ultimately, action counted far more than
mere words. For a young man little interested in religion, this might
have been a Calvinistic epiphany. While it didn’t appear to stir his inter-
est in faith, it certainly caused him to re-think his mindset about the
dominance of the ‘white man’ and feel a certain continental pride in
the Asian people who evidently weren't going to be the footstool of the
Europeans any longer.*



Malcolm H. Murfett 169

Unhappily, trading British stewardship for that of the Japanese
brought profound misery for many Chinese and Eurasian people during
the occupation of Singapore. This accentuated the sense of betrayal felt
by the local population towards their former British rulers. It also didn't
do anything for Anglo-Australasian relations either. Whatever Churchill
might have said and felt about the scale of the military disaster that had
overtaken the British Empire, the sad fact about HMG's dereliction of
duty couldn’t be hidden. Churchill’s unfamiliarity with the region and
its peoples notwithstanding, he sensed that much had to be done to
repair the poor image of the United Kingdom in the eyes of the Com-
monwealth. It was for this reason that he was determined to recover the
Malayan peninsula and Singapore from the Japanese in the last weeks
of the war. Operation Zipper and its Singaporean equivalent (Opera-
tion Tiderace) didn’t succeed in doing that. Launched five days after the
Japanese had signed the instrument of surrender on the heavy cruiser
HMS Sussex on 4 September 1945, Zipper became nothing more than a
massive propaganda exercise that would be faithfully recorded on film
reels and shown in cinemas throughout the Commonwealth.** Since
these PR opportunities couldn’t take away the despair and violence of
the Japanese Occupation, neither the operations nor the media bombast
convinced the locals (and especially not the burgeoning nationalists) on
either side of the Causeway that the British deserved another chance to
return as the dominant colonial authority once again. And who could
blame them?

Yet return they did. After a graduated beginning overseen by the
British Military Administration and subsequently by South East Asia
Command (SEAC), the colonial administration assumed power once
again with more forces on the ground than before the war but with the
same kind of strategic problems of imperial and financial overstretch
dogging their continued existence east of Suez. How Churchill would
have dealt with this problem is unknown. He wasn’t given the chance
of restoring British power in the region because the UK electorate opted
for a radical alternative to Conservatism with both a big and a small ¢
in July 1945. To the incredulity of the victorious war leader, Churchill
was replaced as British Prime Minister by Clement Attlee at the head of a
Labour administration pledged to bring about substantial change across
the board in the immediate future.®

Attlee may have been wickedly lampooned by Churchill as ‘a sheep in
sheep’s clothing’, but the British people were inclined at the end of the
war to trust someone who wouldn’t say one thing and do another.®®
Attlee may not have been a terribly charismatic fellow — he would
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have admitted that himself — but he was sincere and far more able
than most of his detractors were prepared to admit. He saw value in
the British Empire but unlike many of his Conservative opponents, he
didn’t see it as being an end in itself. Unlike Churchill, in particular,
Attlee sensed that the time for selective decolonization was nigh and
that former promises about independence needed to be kept. He didn't
need reminding that the British were facing a stark economic climate in
the immediate post-war world and wasn’t given to sentimentality over
ends and means. He acknowledged that Malaya and Singapore needed
to be retained because they were good dollar earners, but the cost of
doing so must not become prohibitive.?” Attlee’s problem was compli-
cated because of the recent history of the territories. Could a classic
cost-benefit analysis be ruthlessly applied in this case? Surely other fac-
tors were at work here? Even if Malaya was big enough to let go at some
stage in the future, Singapore looked far too small and vulnerable to be
cast adrift on its own and so was duly established as a Crown Colony
in April 1946.%® Thereafter, devising a suitable means of keeping the
scattered British territories in Southeast Asia together once they had out-
lived their immediate usefulness to HM Treasury became an increasingly
important issue for the colonial authorities in London.

Apart from the staggering cost of implementing its radical social
legislative agenda, Attlee’s Labour administration soon found itself in
highly penurious circumstances. Six years of war had left the United
Kingdom in economic disarray with a reserve currency that was over-
valued and under pressure. Much needed to be done to rehabilitate the
basic fabric of the state. At every level from housing and factories to
roads and rolling stock, the United Kingdom needed massive invest-
ment.** Where was it to come from? Unfortunately, President Truman’s
immediate ending of Lend-Lease didn’t do the United Kingdom any
favours whatsoever. An urgent loan sought from the US Treasury by
John Maynard Keynes rather inadequately plugged the gap and actu-
ally caused more convertibility problems than it solved. A fierce winter
(it turned out to be the worst of the century) didn’t help a government
already stretched too thin to take any further economic body blows, but
they came anyway.*

It was recognized that major cuts would have to be made in public
expenditure but Cabinet ministers knew they couldn’t be applied across
the board. Some ministries would have to absorb far more than others if
the celebrated Labour manifesto of ‘Let Us Face the Future’ was going to
mean anything. Essentially, it would have to be a case of ‘robbing Peter
to pay Paul’, of course, but it wouldn't be the first time this classic device
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was resorted to by a government nor would it be the last; it just had to be
done. Financial inadequacy proved to be the stimulus the government
needed to tackle some of the Tory Party’s ‘sacred cows’ — namely, empire
and defence - in order to make substantial savings on an annual basis
in the medium to long term. Divesting themselves of Burma, Ceylon,
India, and Palestine, however, proved to be far from painless or free of
bloodshed. There was little applause and much acrimony. Labour was
accused (with considerable justification in the case of both India and
Palestine) of abandoning the principles of equity, freedom and justice
as it sought an undignified and scrambled exit from the subcontinent
and the Levant.*! It wouldn’t be the last time the charge of ‘cutting and
running’ would be levelled against a Labour government in the post-war
world.

If relinquishing parts of the empire was fraught, consolidating for-
eign and defence policy across the globe at the outset of the Cold
War had its own restless dynamic. Defence Review — whether ministe-
rial appreciations or working parties of invited experts — revealed much
to be concerned about east of Suez. According to the Harwood Report
(1949), substantial on-going savings could be made by closing both the
naval bases at Aden and Singapore.*? Attlee wasn’t a nostalgic individ-
ual. Accepting the rhythm of Harwood’s proposals, he worked on the
basis that if it made economic sense to close a famous base and wouldn't
adversely impact the UK’s position in the region, he was inclined to
do it. Almost perversely, however, just when the Labour administration
was looking to cut men and materiel in the Gulf and Southeast Asia,
the Malayan Emergency arose to concentrate the minds of the COS and
defence experts in Whitehall with what they believed was a new Cold
War reality. It now seems clear that what was thought to have been a
subversive communist plot funded from Moscow was actually more of a
nationalist uprising to expel the despised colonial authorities from the
peninsula and one that was unaided by comrade Stalin. At the time,
however, it was interpreted very differently. French problems in grap-
pling with Ho Chi Minh and the Viet Minh did much to confuse the
issue and make what appeared to be happening in Malaya seem part of a
regional struggle for ideological supremacy.*® It was this kind of mental-
ity that gave rise to President Eisenhower’s ‘domino theory’ a little later
in the 1950s. By then, of course, Mao’s communists had triumphed in
the Chinese Civil War and the Korean War had confirmed that Asia was
in turmoil.**

Attlee’s government seemed to be subject to a case of Murphy’s Law.
Despite needing to get its financial house in order and seeking a cut in
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defence spending and the shedding of some of its former territories and
surplus imperial possessions to help accomplish that goal, the Cabinet
found itself immediately buffeted by a rapidly deteriorating geo-strategic
picture in East Asia which forced it to abandon all of those plans. Instead
of shrinking its defence establishment east of Suez, therefore, it was
required to beef up its already fairly substantial resources on the equator.
By the time Malcolm MacDonald became the commissioner-general in
South-East Asia in 1948, a tri-service combined headquarters had already
been located on the island along with thousands of servicemen and even
more tons of equipment. Into the Singapore mix was also poured the top
secret British Defence Coordination Committee Far East (BDCCFE) — a
multipurpose regional COS think tank whose brief was to examine and
plan defence strategy.** It was a heady military brew and one unlikely
to be constrained by financial considerations when recommending an
appropriate defence posture for the region. One didn’t need to be in the
BDCCEFE to appreciate that a global Cold War was way beyond the mil-
itary capability of the United Kingdom. American help in Europe had
already been delivered in multiple ways during the years 1945-49 in
the shape of the Truman Doctrine and Marshall Plan; the defeating of
Stalin’s blockade of Berlin and the formation of NATO.* It would be
needed in all other theatres as well. In the Far East — or the ‘near north’
as the Australasian dominions were concerned — a pressing case for mili-
tary assistance was also required from the governments in Canberra and
Wellington. This ultimately found expression in the establishment of
the ANZAM (Australia, New Zealand and Malaya) agreement in 1950;
the signing of the ANZUS Pact in 1951 which committed American
military support to the defence of the Australasian dominions; found-
ing membership in the South East Asia Treaty Organization (SEATO) in
1954; and the creation of a Commonwealth Strategic Reserve based at
Butterworth in Malaya from 1955 onwards.*

It is difficult to imagine these expansive military demands coming
at a worse time for the Labour administration. Sticking with an over-
valued pound had done no favours for the British in the immediate
post-war years, but devaluing it as savagely as Sir Stafford Cripps, the
aesthetic Chancellor of the Exchequer, did in October 1949, however,
hurt all those countries holding sterling balances.*® Once again, the
United Kingdom was accused of letting down its friends. It couldn’t do
so again once Kim Il Sung’s troops had made their military presence
felt on the Korean peninsula with an invasion of the south on 25 June
1950. Although the possibility of such a violent demarche had been fore-
seen by the British defence community, Attlee was nonetheless horrified
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by the attack. Even so, he recognized from the outset, however, that
this distant and most undesirable commitment couldn’t be ignored. His
government was obliged with others to respond.*” Thereafter whether
Labour or Conservative governments were in power in London the focus
on being a part of the UN effort to resolve the North Korean problem
developed into a wider policy of containing the communists wherever
they sought to push the envelope and endanger the territorial integrity
of independent states or colonial possessions.*

By the time an armistice was signed on 27 July 1953 to bring the
active phase of the Korean War to an end, the United Kingdom had
changed its government ushering in another Churchill-led administra-
tion in October 1951 but had continued its predecessor’s undertaking
committing more than 90,000 troops to the conflict. An uneasy peace
may have come to Korea, but it was in many ways an unsatisfactory
stalemate and few intimately involved in attempting to resolve the con-
flict doubted that it had the potential to flare up again at any stage in the
future.®! A nuclear power in its own right (Bevin had been adamant that
the British should acquire such a capability and their first atomic bomb
had been successfully exploded in October 1952), the United Kingdom
was beginning to become wedded to a new geo-strategic orientation.
In 1952 a COS review of global defence strategy had recommended that
in future there should be less emphasis on the building up of conven-
tional forces in bases around the world and much greater reliance placed
upon the nuclear option and its value as a deterrent.? This would have
profound consequences for the British in the Middle East — particularly
in Egypt — as well as in Southeast Asia in the years to come.*

Unlike the British decision to quit their bases in the Suez Canal
zone, withdrawal from Singapore was not an option in the early to
mid-1950s. Too much instability in the region and beyond dictated a
wholly different response since the Cold War couldn’t be wished away
from either Europe or Asia and Churchill’s pro-American rhetoric dic-
tated that a close alignment with Washington be maintained without
being sycophantic towards the Eisenhower administration. This was not
an easy manoeuvre to bring off and helps to explain the somewhat
problematic birth of SEATO (South-East Asia Treaty Organization) the
mutual defence pact linking the United States with Australia, France,
New Zealand, Pakistan, the Philippines, Thailand and the United King-
dom in 1954.%* Churchill’s loathing for John Foster Dulles was real and
this complicated an already unusual relationship between the prime
minister and the president who had formerly been his military subor-
dinate during World War I1.5> While the British needed the Americans
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more than the other way round, the United States expected the United
Kingdom to hold the fort in other areas of Southeast Asia while it was
engaged in Vietnam. Quite what that meant in practical terms was at the
heart of the complicated relationship between SEATO and its individual
member states. None more so that the British whose forces operated
independent of SEATO command unless a major conflict arose when
they would be expected to be an integral part of its force structure!
It looked like a messy arrangement — a bit like the tortured relationship
with the EEC/EU in the years to come - but it served its purpose for the
time being. It also ensured that Singapore would be retained as a base
since it was the only British base large enough in the region to handle
and sustain any major operational redeployment of SEATO forces.*¢

In laying out a radical new approach for British defence policy, the
1952 Global Strategy Paper was always likely to be controversial.>’
It proved to be all of that and more as the Suez Crisis demonstrated
so vividly in the summer and autumn of 1956. Eden’s initiative in
pushing for a withdrawal of British conventional forces from the Suez
Canal zone unintentionally coincided with the rise of the opinionated
Egyptian nationalist Gamal Abdul Nasser; it was a ‘shotgun marriage’
but one in which convenience rarely featured. Already unsettled, this
partnership worsened perceptively once Eden had become premier in
April 1955. Thereafter, Eden began seeing the Egyptian colonel as both a
‘cad’ and another Mussolini.*® This in turn triggered the uncompromis-
ing revival of his default anti-appeasement attitude from the late 1930s,
thereby ensuring that meaningful cooperation between the two leaders
became increasingly unlikely. Manipulation of this tragic discord both
from within and without made the Suez Crisis worse and led inexorably
to the ill-fated invasion of October-November 1956 from which the
United Kingdom emerged with a deeply sullied reputation.’® In many
ways the ‘ghost of Suez’ would only be lifted by British success in the
Falklands War 26 years later. Meanwhile, Eden paid the immediate price
for mishandling the crisis; giving up the premiership he had striven so
long to secure. Into his place in Downing Street came Harold Macmillan,
the Cabinet colleague who had done so much to encourage Eden’s bel-
ligerence in the first instance and yet who had been the first minister to
defect when the Americans began to play rough by threatening a run on
the pound.®

Despite his less than winning performance on Suez, Macmillan for
a time became an inspired prime minister. His short spell at the Trea-
sury had been sufficient to convince him that the United Kingdom
was living well beyond its means, but he didn’t need reminding that
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imposing grim austerity packages on the British taxpayer would make
the Tories even more unpopular with the electorate than they already
were. Macmillan’s answer was to provide the public with the means
of obtaining previously scarce consumer items through the easing of
credit while making major cuts in overseas expenditure. It became
known as the ‘you’ve never had it so good’ era and for many it was.¢!
Quite whether the defence establishment felt similarly on the subject
was, however, a moot point. In seeking a radical overhauling of the
nation’s defence expenditure without surrendering its military capabil-
ity, Macmillan evidently wanted the best of all worlds. He aimed to get
it by masterfully passing the buck to Duncan Sandys, a rather imperious
member of the party’s right-wing who also happened to be Churchill’s
son-in-law.%?

Sandys was an intemperate fellow who knew his own mind and
judged it to be far sharper than any of his opponents on either side
of the political divide. His 1957 Defence White Paper, which the press
dubbed ‘the Sandys Axe’, did all that Macmillan desired of him and
then some. Apart from phasing out the commitment to national ser-
vice, Sandys sought to elevate the nuclear option at the expense of
conventional forces and the RAF over the Royal Navy; overseas bases
were naturally vulnerable to this kind of strategic thrust and many were
considered expendable.®® In the end, however, for all the bombast from
Whitehall, the strategic requirements of the Far East — with a Cold War
that showed no signs of disappearing and every likelihood of escalat-
ing in intensity in the future — dictated that a British military presence
would be preserved in Singapore for some time to come. Quite how long
into the future that would be was, of course, the key question, but as
long as there was a need for a supply and logistics centre in the region
Singapore looked to be the safest and best choice of all the available
options to assume that role.**

So ‘the Sandys Axe’ was not ruthlessly applied to the British terri-
tories in Southeast Asia. Instead Macmillan’s government found itself
more involved than ever. While Malaya was given its independence on
31 August 1957, the British were still linked militarily with the new state.
Apart from the existence of the Commonwealth Strategic Reserve, the
Anglo-Malayan Defence Agreement (AMDA) added a level of bi-lateral
security on 12 October 1957 (which was further enhanced by the addi-
tion of Australia and New Zealand a couple of years later and Singapore
in November 1961), but it still didn’t persuade Tunku Abdul Rahman,
the Malayan Prime Minister, to join SEATO at any price. He didn’t trust
the organization’s combative style and with good reason.®®
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He was rather inclined to see Singaporean politicians in much the
same way. In this he wasn’t entirely alone. Back in Whitehall the
problem of what to do about Singapore had caused successive British
governments’ some passing concern. It seemed too small and resource-
less to become fully independent; the internal threat posed by Chinese
communists appeared palpably real — a matter of no small significance
to its northern neighbour across the Johor Strait — and to complicate
matters still further the desire for self-government from leading political
figures of the island state was growing shriller as time passed.®® Since the
British needed to retain their military presence in Singapore to comple-
ment their regional defence policy and satisfy the Americans that they
were whistling the same tune when it came to the Cold War, a com-
promise solution had to be arranged with the Singaporean politicians.
A measure of limited self-government had been fashioned in 1955,
but not enough to satisfy David Marshall, the mercurial Chief Minister
appointed under that constitution, who resigned in the following year
describing the British offer to increase local power without yielding full
internal self-government as ‘Christmas pudding with arsenic sauce’.®

Marshall’s brinkmanship was not imitated by his resourceful succes-
sor Lim Yew Hock, whom the British found distinctly more to their taste
when it came to negotiating a way forward. Despite this advantage, Lim
wouldn’t become the beneficiary of the constitutional change he had
overseen as Chief Minister. By 1959 the tough line he had taken against
the local Chinese communists had backfired upon him and his hold on
power had been wrenched aside at the national elections by Lee Kuan
Yew, another bright and argumentative lawyer about whom the British,
fearing another Marshall, were distinctly less enamoured.®® Could the
brash, populist Lee, who saw union with Malaya as his preeminent
goal, be trusted to navigate the domestic shoals wherein the commu-
nists lurked? Neither the urbane Tunku nor the resilient Macmillan was
certain about the young and gifted Singaporean Prime Minister and yet
if he couldn’t be trusted both would suffer. What couldn’t be allowed to
happen, of course, was the growth of another Cuba in Southeast Asia.®

They needn’t have worried. Lee was no Fidel Castro. He knew what he
wanted and it wasn’t close engagement with, let alone loyal servitude
towards, Beijing or Moscow. His objectives were not shared, however,
by either the left-wing activists of his party or by a vociferous Chinese-
language educated student body that eschewed any desire for union
with Malaya - the Tunku’s bastion of anti-communism lying discon-
certingly a short distance away to the north. From the outset, therefore,
Lee had been forced to be Machiavellian in the pursuit of his goals.
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It was a high stakes game of risk which could easily have gone wrong.
It didn’t because he was adept at playing it, but at times Lee’s hold
on power within his own party looked distinctly fragile.”” Viewed from
Kuala Lumpur, the potential for disruption from Singapore looked dis-
concertingly real if Lee’s left-wing rivals triumphed for they looked even
more menacing than he did. This may help to explain the Tunku’s even-
tual decision to put aside his initial reservations about Lee and begin
to offer him some encouragement on the prospect of a constitutional
merger as a means of bolstering the young prime minister’s position
within Singapore.”!

As the months passed, Lee’s grasp of internal politics and external
realism was sufficient to convince the British government that, after
all, he was a man with whom they could do mutually satisfactory busi-
ness. Veteran statesman though he was, Macmillan seemed to prefer to
negotiate with much younger leaders. He found the charismatic Presi-
dent Kennedy more appealing than Dwight Eisenhower and Lee’s energy
and enthusiasm, if tapped properly, could be another force for good.”
Despite his growing influence, Lee was not the crucial figure for the
British to cultivate. His fellow Cambridge graduate the Tunku was the
vital cog in this particular wheel. Without his support, the idea of some
‘Grand Design’ linking the former British territories in Southeast Asia
together under an expanded Malaysia wouldn’t materialize. This con-
cept had been floated back in the late 1940s by Malcolm MacDonald
when he was commissioner-general for Southeast Asia, but it didn’t have
much traction with the authorities in Whitehall because the suffocating
economic climate in the United Kingdom at that time was such that
Malaya’s primary products — an important source of foreign exchange
earnings — were considered too important to lose. By the early 1960s,
however, the allure of rubber and tin had lost some of its early appeal
and Macmillan, looking for ways of saving significant sums on overseas
expenditure, had come to see the virtues of a ‘Greater Malaysia’.”

In supporting this concept the British prime minister was notice-
ably ahead of many of his own officials and some of those intimately
involved in the plan. Negotiating such a constitutional outcome was,
therefore, always likely to be a long drawn out and vexatious affair
(and so it proved to be), but it would be made far worse because
both Indonesia and the Philippines, large and important neighbours,
regarded ‘Greater Malaysia’ as anathema to their own schemes for ter-
ritorial acquisition in the region.”* While the Tunku and Lee settled
uneasily on a plan for merger, the Sultan of Brunei wavered and the
British were left hoping for the best but well aware that the worst was



178 Another Jewel Forsaken

never likely to be far away. It was a sentiment borne out by a series
of upheavals on the regional stage beginning with an armed revolt in
Brunei in December 1962. Although the anti-Malaysia rebels, facilitated
by covert Indonesian support, were swiftly routed by the British military
operating out of Singapore in its new guise as Far East Command, the
attempted coup did nothing to convince the Sultan of the oil rich terri-
tory to put his faith in the Tunku or his dream of an enlarged Malaysian
federation.”

Another formidable obstacle to circumvent on the road to a ‘Greater
Malaysia’ was President Sukarno. A complex individual of many dis-
cordant parts, he loathed the concept as an overt expression of neo-
colonialism, even though he himself entertained grandiose ideas of
forming a ‘Greater Indonesia’ at some stage in the future.”® If he saw
any inconsistency in his approach to these matters, Sukarno never let it
bother him. After the uprising in Brunei had been suppressed, therefore,
his focus turned towards confronting those forces that were under-
pinning the move towards a ‘Greater Malaysia’. Despite Subandrio’s
announcement of Konfrontasi on 20 January 1963, the British couldn’t
be certain whether it was a rhetorical flourish from the Indonesian for-
eign minister or something more ominous.”” As the weeks went by they
discovered that it wasn’t merely grandstanding. Several acts of aerial
provocation were the precursor for cross border raids from Kalimantan
into Sarawak that began in April on the island of Borneo. This came
as a severe blow to Macmillan’s government which had hoped to save
money rather than spend a vast amount more on defending its terri-
tories in Southeast Asia from hostile forces. Konfrontasi ensured that
any kind of frugality remained a pipedream for another three years.
Instead the British decided that it wasn’t sufficient merely to parry
the Indonesian thrusts but to engage and inflict collateral damage on
Sukarno’s forces in ways that might give the president and his Cabinet
pause for thought.”

While Indonesia’s guerrilla forces were stirring the pot on the ground,
its government was flirtatiously engaged in a series of diplomatic nego-
tiations with the Tunku and Diosdado Macapagal, the President of the
Philippines, about the establishment of a proposed regional confedera-
tion. Supported by the Americans and the Australians as a progressive
means of keeping the peace, Maphilindo became all the rage for a few
weeks in mid-summer.” Despite the clamour for consensus, Maphilindo
held no appeal for the British who saw it as some kind of Trojan horse,
and the scheme swiftly outlived its usefulness to the Indonesians as
well when the Tunku finally set his reservations aside and brought the
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Federation of Malaysia into being on 16 September 1963. It was not all
that he and the British had hoped for originally since it didn’t include
oil-rich Brunei, but it did give the hard-bargaining Lee much of what he
wanted to the exasperation of many in Kuala Lumpur.®°

Malaysia’s confinement had not been trouble-free and its birth was
even more problematic. Whether a rent-a-mob or not, 10,000 activists
appeared magically on the streets of Jakarta when news broke of the
emergence of the new constitutional state in their midst and it was
very apparent that they were not deliriously happy about this lat-
est regional development. Frustrated even more once they discovered
that the Malaysian ambassador was out of town, the assembly swiftly
became riotous and took their fury out on the newly-built British
Embassy nearby which swiftly became a building site again with every
window pane smashed beyond redemption and any sense of diplo-
matic immunity ignored. In the aftermath of this shambles, Malaysia
broke off diplomatic relations with both Indonesia and the Philippines
on 17 September and the frenzied mob returned again to the British
Embassy to burn and ransack it.®' Thereafter, Konfiontasi couldn’t be
disputed and would need to be addressed. Once again either ironically
or perversely, just when the United Kingdom wanted to cut overseas
expenditure the opposite happened. For over two years another vast
stream of money would flow into Singapore and Malaysia to combat the
Indonesian menace.®? Although the British war effort was remarkably
successful in coping with Konfrontasi, the problem of dealing with the
mercurial Sukarno on a long-term basis left the Macmillan government
bereft.®

By the time Major-General Soeharto strode onto the stage to sup-
ply the answer in the last quarter of 1965, much had changed both
in the United Kingdom as well as in Southeast Asia. Macmillan, whose
premiership had collapsed into a sorry heap tainted by sleaze and per-
missiveness, had resigned in the autumn of 1963 fearing he had a
terminal health condition (he didn't, it was shamefully misdiagnosed);
his successor — the Earl of Home - relinquished his peerage to secure the
premiership but lasted less than a year before having to give it up again
when the General Election of October 1964 brought 13 years of Tory
rule to a timely end. Barely victorious, the Labour Party took over the
reins of government from the retreating Conservatives and was immedi-
ately confronted by a stunning balance of payments deficit that was far
larger than Harold Wilson and his colleagues had feared it would be.®*
Determined not to devalue even though it should have made the most
sense to the former Economics don at Oxford, Wilson sought a series
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of solutions elsewhere. None of them provided the Treasury with the
answer it was seeking and they ended up costing the UK a billion pounds
over the course of the next three years before Callaghan et al. reached
the forlorn conclusion that devaluation could no longer be postponed.’

Long before the bell tolled for the overvalued pound and at some
8,000 miles distance from the City of London, Malaysia had its own
cathartic moment in early August 1965 when the Tunku expelled
Singapore from the Federation.®® Somehow British intelligence became
more than a little oxymoronic by failing to warn Wilson’s government
in advance of this possibility.®” Appalled by the banishment of Singapore
and the precipitous decline of the ‘Grand Design’, Wilson’s Cabinet was
forced to re-examine its regional defence policy. What this meant in
effect was that Denis Healey, the robust secretary of state for Defence,
was required to make sense out of the chaotic mess that had sud-
denly fallen into his lap. It’s not immediately clear that he knew the
answer to that riveting question. For a start, the United Kingdom had
to take into account the views of the Americans who were incontro-
vertibly on the front line against communism in Vietnam and whose
money the British needed to shore up their faltering economy. Presi-
dent Johnson was always known to drive a hard bargain and the least
he expected from Wilson’s government — a SEATO partner after all —
was a commitment to hold the fort in the rest of Southeast Asia if he
couldn’t persuade it to send troops to assist the United States in the
war itself. This obviously meant remaining an active presence in the
region based in Singapore and not one that replicated the interwar
pattern of promising from afar what in reality it couldn’t provide.®
In addition, of course, the British had obligations to the Commonwealth
states directly involved in the regional conflict whether in Malaysia
or Vietnam. This appeared to leave Healey with very little room to
manoeuvre until a very murky episode in Indonesian politics changed
the dynamic fundamentally.

Who knew in advance about the Untung coup in Jakarta on 1 October
1965 remains shrouded in mystery more than four decades later. What
is emphatically clear, however, is that Major-General Soeharto became
the major beneficiary of the coup at Sukarno’s expense, while the forces
of anti-communism in Indonesia slaughtered the PKI and as many of
their personal rivals as they could in the weeks and months to come.®
Although this savagery definitely helped Healey since it led to the
scaling down of Konfrontasi and ultimately its end in August 1966,
no ‘smoking gun’ has ever been found linking the UK’s Ministry of
Defence to the coup. In an age in which conspiracy theories are a growth
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industry, it’s still too much of a stretch to believe that the British acted
as an agent provocateur to the plotters or counter plotters.

While the diminishing influence of the mercurial Sukarno and the
marked reduction in military costs resulting from the winding up of
Konfrontasi left the Wilson government much better off than before, it
didn’t solve the Cold War equation that the Johnson administration had
posed for its trans-Atlantic partners the year before. In receiving $1.4
billion from the United States to tide it over its latest economic crisis in
the summer of 1965 the British had consented to a 10-year defence com-
mitment east of Suez.*® Pre-Untung it looked a good deal and infinitely
preferable to joining the Americans and their ANZUS allies in fighting
the communists in Vietnam. After the rise of Soeharto, however, the
deal with Washington looked decidedly different from London’s per-
spective. By then Wilson’s precarious wafer-thin majority government
had already been transformed into a secure and dominant presence by
its commanding performance in the British General Election of March
1966, but a costly seamen’s strike and further damaging attacks on ster-
ling by speculators over the summer months had left Callaghan and the
Treasury needing to adopt harsh deflationary measures including major
cuts in public expenditure to restore some semblance of stability to eco-
nomic affairs and lessen the suffocating air of crisis that enveloped both
the City and sterling.”® Within the £500 million Treasury reduction tar-
get was a sum of £100 million which was to be pruned from the defence
budget. Those on the left-wing of the Labour Party had few doubts as
to where those cuts should be administered and weren’t shy in artic-
ulating their disdain for a military presence east of Suez. Healey and
Wilson had already told an anxious Lee Kuan Yew in late April 1966
that while they were prepared to keep troops in Singapore they wouldn’t
outstay their welcome in the region.”> When Healey next met Lee three
months later he was less coy about the future and told his Singaporean
host that the economic pressures at home dictated that military cut-
backs were essential and significant troop withdrawals would proceed
now that Konfrontasi was over to all intents and purposes.”® Unfortu-
nately that wasn’t the end of the matter because the Treasury — now
in the ascendancy - revisited the defence estimates shortly thereafter
and demanded further cuts of £200 million to £300 million. Healey
could neither hold out against these demands nor find the extra sums
easily. Since piecemeal economies would no longer apply, radical solu-
tions were required. Working closely with the choleric George Brown at
the Foreign Office seems to have brought about some kind of ‘Eureka’
moment for the far from sanguine Healey and as a result of their
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engagement the defence secretary began to recommend a series of steep
cuts in British forces overseas (including a 50 per cent cut in Far East
Command). He even went so far as to suggest that a total withdrawal
from the Far East might also be on the cards in the not too distant
future.®

By the time a Defence Review had been hastily completed in March
1967, Healey had become a zealous new convert to the cause of with-
drawal. He let Wilson know that in order to match the savings insisted
upon by the Treasury, British force levels in Malaysia and Singapore
would have to be halved by 1970-71 and all troops withdrawn from
the two states by 1975-76.°> While this might appease the Treasury, it
was unlikely to be popular in Singapore where 25 per cent of its GDP
was dependent upon British military investment in the republic or with
the Johnson administration whose recent financial aid had been con-
ditional on the British maintaining an active presence east of Suez.”
Early signs that a 50 per cent cut back in force levels was unlikely to be
hugely contentious in foreign capitals were, therefore, welcome to the
emissaries sent to pass on this information, but could the same be said
about a total withdrawal from the region? Although Brown was unchar-
acteristically phlegmatic about the task ahead, his confidence that all
would be well was seriously misplaced. Lee Kuan Yew and his combative
ministerial colleague Goh Keng Swee were not alone in seeing a total
British withdrawal from one degree north of the equator as being a step
too far. They came to London to dispute the pull out describing the
intended withdrawal as a reckless abandonment of the UK’s Cold War
obligations to the free world, but found that they had precious few bar-
gaining chips at their disposal.’” Timing is a political art and for once the
Singaporeans had got it wrong. By the time they undertook their mis-
sion to make the British think again, the Six-Day War had been waged
in the Middle East disrupting international trade and heaping further
pressure on sterling.”®

Against the backdrop of a rather febrile economic environment,
Healey calmly left the Singaporean delegation in no doubt as to what
was being planned. He revealed that by 31 March 1971 there would
only be 32,000 British troops left in Singapore and all of these would
have departed over the course of the next four years.”” Shorn of ground
troops, military aircraft and anything larger and more dynamic than
small-scale naval amphibious units to protect his nation, Lee was
not surprisingly furious. His complaints were anticipated and gravely
acknowledged (save by those left-wingers like Richard Crossman who
trenchantly proclaimed that the United Kingdom couldn’t be expected
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to pull the chestnuts out of the fire for Singapore any longer), but the
high-octane anger and strident appeals to conscience from Lee didn’t
change the overall plan even if it may have increased the compensation
that HMG was willing to provide in lieu of its exit from the equator.!®

It appeared that the die had been irretrievably cast, but there were
further dramatic twists in this sad tale to come from the British side.
After an autumn bedevilled with further industrial unrest and a set of
wretched trade figures for October, the pressure on sterling returned
with a vengeance in November. This time there would be no escape.
Callaghan and Wilson were left with little recourse other than to
devalue - the very thing they had been determined not to do for the
past three years.!! It was a shattering blow to their morale and the chan-
cellor felt duty bound to resign. His premier did not. Into the Treasury
was parachuted another Balliol man — Roy Jenkins — who had never
been wistfully drawn to the east of Suez policy entertained for so long
by his college contemporary Denis Healey.'? Deflationary policies were
the order of the day; ministries with large budgets, such as defence, were
obvious targets for a radical chancellor seeking to balance the books.
Jenkins didn’t disappoint. By the middle of December he had reached
the conclusion that the United Kingdom couldn’t afford an east of Suez
policy that stretched into the middle of the next decade. Instead he
wished to see the withdrawal of all British forces from Southeast Asia
brought forward by several years to 1970-71. Healey and Wilson were
rapidly converted to this new timeframe as was the Cabinet, but few
doubted that the other powers most affected by this earlier withdrawal
would be as amenable to change.!®

They were right. George Thomson and George Brown were deputed to
take the disagreeable message to the Commonwealth states east of Suez
and to the US administration respectively in January 1968 and both suf-
fered at the hands of their hosts who let them know in no uncertain
terms that the United Kingdom had reverted to type and was disgrace-
fully letting its friends down yet again. Thomson found his reception
in Kuala Lumpur frosty enough; it proceeded to get much worse when
he flew down to Singapore.!®* A tortuous evening - the worst and most
sustained diplomatic assault Thomson could ever remember — was spent
with Lee’s Cabinet lambasting the secretary of state for his government'’s
dereliction of duty, but Brown’s hostile reception at the State Depart-
ment in Washington a few days later was little better.!” Dean Rusk
didn’t bother to hide his true feelings about the many shortcomings
of the feeble Wilson government. Brown, who loathed being lectured to
by anyone, found the entire experience ‘bloody unpleasant’.!%
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How could it not have been? American dismay that the Wilson gov-
ernment had connived and dissembled in order to get financial aid only
to backtrack from its promises once it had obtained the money was felt
by the entire Johnson administration.'”” A quid pro quo is what it is or
at least should be. By ignoring it, the Wilson government was imper-
illing the ‘Special Relationship’ which Macmillan had resurrected with
Eisenhower and Kennedy from 1957 to 1963. Who could trust Wilson'’s
word any longer? It was a question that was being posed on both sides
of the Atlantic as well as in Southeast Asia.

Lee, having dispensed with Thomson on his home ground, now
sought to tackle his old friend, the talented but flawed, Wilson away
in London. One may see this as a variation on the familiar theme of
the organ grinder and the monkey. His visit was not the best New Year’s
present that Wilson had received in 1968, not least because the resolute
Singaporean prime minister meant business and would cause a great fuss
if he didn’t get his own way. In the end, to quell the Lee storm and to
satisfy the needs of his own Cabinet, Wilson hit upon a compromise
solution - the military withdrawal would be put back nine months to
31 December 1971.1%8

Lee departed with both the pregnant concession and the knowledge
that the delay meant another General Election would have to be fought
in the United Kingdom before the military deadline had been reached.
Since Wilson'’s policy wasn'’t in any sense bi-partisan, Lee could still hope
that the British electorate might come to his aid by abandoning Labour
at the polls. If that was to happen a new Conservative government under
Edward Heath might cancel the east of Suez withdrawal and retain a
military foothold on the equator for years to come.'” It would prove
to be a fanciful but vain hope. Despite much sound and fury from the
Opposition front bench with talk of ‘scuttle’ and ‘ratting’ on commit-
ments in the debate following Wilson’s announcement of the military
withdrawal in January 1968, the Tories spent the next two years edging
ever closer to Healey’s plan without ever actually endorsing it.!'° By the
time that Labour did fall out of favour with the electorate and lost the
General Election of June 1970, Lee and his Cabinet were well aware that
the Tories were not going to put the clock back to where it was before
devaluation. Far from it — it soon became clear that the rundown of
Far East Command (40 per cent less than it had been in April 1968)
would continue.''" Moreover, Lord Carrington, Healey’s successor at the
Ministry of Defence, seemed intent on scrapping the AMDA (Anglo-
Malayan Defence Agreement) and sharing the burden of defence among
the five Commonwealth powers that had a direct or abiding interest in
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the continued security of Malaysia and Singapore.!'? This manoeuvre
looked in tune with the Tory precedent adopted by Sir Robert Peel more
than a century before and practiced often since of one political party
stealing its opponent’s ideas and claiming them as their own!''* What-
ever Carrington might say about the unique features of his plan, they
looked remarkably like those that Healey had been promoting to the
same set of disgruntled Commonwealth statesmen only a few months
before!

Realists rather than romantics, the Malaysians and Singaporeans
grudgingly accepted the fait accompli that had been given them and
sought to make the best of it, driving as hard a bargain as possible to
gain the maximum concessions out of the new security deal that was
being offered to them by the Heath government and its companion in
arms the Australian and New Zealand administrations. A tough series of
protracted negotiations and some ill-temper preceded a final agreement,
but ultimately the various powers accepted that both time and economic
costs had finally caught up with the AMDA and Far East Command.
In their place would come a Five Power Defence Agreement (FPDA) that
would begin operations on a far more modest basis from 1 November
1971.114

In conclusion, in late 1967 when the British decided to quit Singapore
in the aftermath of the devaluation crisis, they did so not to empower
the emerging Commonwealth state but in order to save money for their
own beleaguered economy. When the Wilson government revealed they
were leaving the metropolitan city state within three years there was
no guarantee that the island republic would survive the withdrawal
unscathed. On the contrary, few, if any, of the leading experts in London
could have imagined it would have done as well economically as it has
done in moving from a tiny Third World Commonwealth dependency
in the early 1970s to joining the behemoths of the First World in the fol-
lowing four decades. It says much for the resourcefulness and resilience
of the people and the vibrant forward-thinking policies enacted by Lee,
Goh and the other old guard leadership in what has become colloquially
known as ‘one north’. Whatever one feels about the political rigour of
the PAP government and the manner of their control over Singapore
since they came to power in 1959, their story is still an astonishing
one.!s

Unfortunately, the same cannot be said of the British who for the
second time in less than three decades had been proved wanting as a
Commonwealth partner. On the first occasion they had been compre-
hensively defeated by the Japanese military; on the second they had
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been decisively beaten by their own economic fragility. In 1942 they
had surrendered to force majeure; in 1967 all the force had been applied
from within the United Kingdom. Despite the radically differing cir-
cumstances prevailing in war and peace, a distressingly similar result
had occurred - Singapore had been essentially left to fend for itself. It's
no wonder, therefore, that after being let down twice within a gener-
ation by the same foreign power, Lee and his colleagues subsequently
shared a deeply-held conviction that in future they couldn’t count upon
anyone else to save them other than themselves.!'® As for the British
political establishment, the hand-wringing embarrassment of 1941 was
not much in evidence 30 years later and it had disappeared completely
by the time the last British soldier left Singapore in 1976."7 By then a
harder edge was evident in its foreign and defence policy; dictated by the
bottom line, there was precious little room for old world sentimentality
when it came to balancing the books.

From henceforth, therefore, any burnishing of the old jewel of
Singapore would have to come from the locals and those expatriate
businessmen who possessed the foresight to work closely with them.
Their combined success has been remarkable and underlines the fact
that under favourable influences old jewels can still gleam anew!
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Quadruple Failure?

The British-American Split over Collective
Security in Southeast Asia, 1963-66

Brian P. Farrell

David Dilks devoted a lifetime to exploring the history of British foreign
policy, especially during the twentieth century. Naturally that led him
to consider the historical experience of dismantling the British over-
seas empire, formal and informal. The other side of that coin was the
decline, relative and absolute, of British power in the world. Dilks began
one of his more influential volumes by citing celebrated public com-
ments made by Dean Acheson, retired former American Secretary of
State, on 5 December 1962. Acheson asserted that ‘Britain has lost an
empire and not yet found a role’, a dilemma aggravated by the fact that
the British effort to maintain their role as a global power by leverag-
ing ‘based on a “special relationship” with the United States...is about
to be played out’.! The controversy this speech provoked, especially in
the United Kingdom, was quickly addressed by President John Fitzgerald
Kennedy’s (JFK) administration, which two days later formally declared
‘US-UK relations are not based only on a power calculus, but also on
deep community of purpose and long practice of cooperation ... “Special
relationship” may not be a perfect phrase, but sneers at Anglo-American
reality would be equally foolish.”> The very next day, 8 December 1962,
Acheson'’s assertion, and the quick ‘clarification’, were challenged by an
event in Southeast Asia that severely tested British power and policy,
and the British-American strategic relationship.

On 8 December 1962, units of the Tentara Nasional Kalimantan
Utara (TNKU) [North Kalimantan National Army] launched coordi-
nated attacks against government, police and oil industry facilities in
the British protectorate of Brunei. The TNKU was the military wing
of the Partai Rakyat Brunei (PRB) [Brunei People’s Party], the largest
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political organisation in a Sultanate still governed autocratically by
Sultan Omar Ali Saifuddien III. A.M. Azahari, leader of the PRB, launched
the armed revolt mainly to prevent the consummation of a plan to
merge the British protected and administered territories in Borneo —
Brunei, Sarawak, and British North Borneo — with Malaya and Singapore,
to create a new federal state, Malaysia. This ‘Grand Design’ had evolved
as British policy for managing political change and decolonisation in
Southeast Asia. The larger federation was intended to establish a stronger
and thus more viable post-colonial state — one that would secure each
individual territory in a larger critical mass, remain within the Com-
monwealth, preserve British economic interests, enable the British to
continue supporting Western collective security in the region from their
existing military facilities within Malaysia, but at the same time allow
them to pass on a heavy internal security burden to this new ally. The
populations of the three Borneo territories were at best ambivalent about
this new federation, many preferring to foster closer relations between
themselves before considering any merger with Malaya and Singapore.
But the British were managing the political process of ‘selling’ Malaysia
to the peoples involved - until the TNKU revolted.?

The PRB and TNKU saw themselves as leading an anti-colonial liber-
ation struggle. To them the British ‘Grand Design’ was a neo-colonial
plot to preserve British dominance in the territories. They turned for
help to a neighbour presenting itself to the world as a leader in the Afro-
Asian struggle to decolonise: Indonesia, by now a ‘Guided Democracy’
led by its charismatic President, Sukarno. Azahari personally fostered
close ties with leading figures in the Indonesian government, military
high command and intelligence agencies. Those ties helped him per-
suade Indonesian government and military agencies to provide training,
equipment and even recruits, as well as sympathy and moral support.
The British Far East Command (FEC) had little trouble putting down the
TNKU revolt, chasing the survivors into the jungle, and restoring the
Sultan’s government.* But the revolt helped detonate a much greater
problem.

The TNKU uprising reinforced fundamental changes in attitude tak-
ing shape in Jakarta. Indifferent at first to the Malaysia project, the
Indonesian government now turned against it. On 20 January 1963,
Subandrio, Indonesian Foreign Minister and head of the Badan Pusat
Intelijen (BPI) [Central Intelligence Agency], publicly declared Indonesia
would follow a policy of ‘Confrontation’ against Malaya, to retaliate for
its behaving ‘as the henchman of Neo-Imperialism and Neo-Colonialism
pursuing a policy hostile to Indonesia’.
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Senior Indonesian military officers made similarly bellicose state-
ments. British intelligence reported that the Tentara Nasional Indonesia
(TNI) [Indonesian National Army] was deploying combat forces in
Borneo, and providing training and other support to the TNKU, as well
as dissident groups from Sarawak who opposed the Malaysia project.
This convinced the British government that Indonesia would try to
abort the consummation of Malaysia, by methods including force of
arms.® This transformed the situation.

Indonesia was the fifth most populous country in the world, with a
population of 98 million, and by far the largest state in Southeast Asia.
Indonesian territory pressed on the British protected and administered
territories all the way from northern Malaya to the southeastern border
of British North Borneo. No lasting political or security arrangements
could be made in the region against determined Indonesian opposition.
And Indonesia was governed by a regime that saw itself as the champion
of national liberation and anti-colonialism, the leader of the so-called
Non-Aligned Movement, also referred to as the Afro-Asian bloc, and an
exponent of radically different approaches to international relations and
the states system. Indonesian hostility turned the Malaysia project from
a British exit strategy into a major threat to British power and policy in
Asia.® What made this potentially much worse was that the British and
American governments struggled to see eye to eye about how to handle
this grave new problem.

Confrontation with Indonesia from 1963 to 1966 became a major
test of the British-American strategic partnership, and of the UK’s abil-
ity to leverage that relationship in order to sustain a larger strategic
role, beyond Europe. British-American discussions about Confrontation
led to larger four power discussions, bringing in Australia and New
Zealand, about how best to maintain effective Western-led collective
security in Southeast Asia. More acutely than anywhere else, the prob-
lems of decolonisation and Cold War merged in Southeast Asia into a
fundamental challenge to Western efforts to manage change and con-
tain communism. Too long eclipsed in scholarship by the giant shadow
cast by the war in Vietnam, it was the problem of dealing with a hostile
Indonesia that actually exposed a cardinal fact: the British and American
governments did not in fact agree about how to wage Cold War, and
manage change, in Asia.

Confrontation forced the British to consider, earlier and more inten-
sively than they expected, whether or not they could still remain a
military power on a wider stage. When American military interven-
tion in Vietnam coincided with a Commonwealth military commitment
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to defend Malaysia against escalating Indonesian pressure, the combi-
nation forced the British to also consider just how strong any ‘deep
community of purpose’ really was, regarding collective security in
Southeast Asia. Those investigations played out through a recurring
series of reviews, assessments, decisions and debates both within and
between the British government and one, two, or often all three of
its closest Western allies committed to the region: the United States of
America, Australia and New Zealand. Both military burdens and politi-
cal discussions revealed how completely the British now depended on
American support to play any meaningful strategic role in the region,
if not indeed anywhere at all. This dependency prompted the British to
try to navigate through drastic changes in their global defence policy
and grand strategy by persuading the Americans to underwrite arrange-
ments whereby a four power ‘inner circle’ of Western allies could concert
policies, and pool resources, to prosecute a very different approach to
collective security in Southeast Asia. This tested the 1962 claims that
when push came to shove a ‘deep community of purpose and long
practice of cooperation’ would keep such allies working together effec-
tively as strategic partners. This chapter will explain how and why
Confrontation presented this test; indicate why ‘quadrilateral’ discus-
sions indicated, in 1966, that for Southeast Asia at least the answer was
‘no’; and discuss why any of this mattered, to the British or anyone else.

This problem in Southeast Asia really began in spring 1954. The two
great geopolitical forces shaping the post-war world order were decoloni-
sation and the Cold War. One pit declining European overseas empires
against rising post-colonial national feeling and aspiration, in Africa and
Asia. The other became a global struggle to define the trajectory of world
politics between two inveterately hostile ideological blocs, the commu-
nist bloc led by the Soviet Union and the liberal democratic or Western
bloc led by the United States. Both profound forces collided in Vietnam,
in a war that began as a struggle between Vietnamese nationalism and
a desire by France to restore colonial rule. That war was transformed by
one of the decisive events of the Cold War: communist victory in civil
war in China and the establishment of the People’s Republic of China
(PRC), which ‘tilted to one side’ and lined up alongside the Soviet Union
in a now global Cold War. The PRC also recognised the Vietnamese
forces fighting France for independence, the Democratic Republic of
Vietnam (DRV), led by Ho Chi Minh and what was in fact, if no longer
in name, the Communist Party of Indochina.” Those developments pro-
voked two crucial American reactions. First, American politics at home
became poisoned by the accusation that the Democratic Party and the
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Truman administration ‘lost’” China, and were soft and unreliable in
what was now seen as an existential challenge to American security:
to contain the global expansion of malignant aggressive communism.
This made American decision makers very sensitive to charges of failing
to stand firm against the ‘red menace’, adding greatly to the burdens of
making American strategic foreign policy in a more highly charged situ-
ation at home. Second, and in that context, the Truman administration
decided France was now fighting not an imperial but an anti-communist
war in Vietnam, and committed the United States to underwriting that
struggle, to draw the line of containment in Southeast Asia. The out-
break of the Korean War, and Chinese intervention in that conflict, only
deepened this new American commitment to using military force to halt
the threat posed to the Western position in Asia by ‘Red China’.® Things
went well in Korea — but not in Vietnam.

Despite formidable American financial and equipment support, the
French lost control of their war in Vietnam. By 1954 a French plan
to bait their Viet Minh enemy into a set-piece battle backfired when
superior communist forces besieged the French garrison in the valley
of Dien Bien Phu. This dramatic military showdown led towards a sum-
mit conference of the great powers arranged for Geneva, bringing the
Americans, Soviets, British, French and communist Chinese together
to discuss the problems of both Korea and Indochina. The Eisenhower
administration reluctantly agreed to attend a conference with their
Chinese adversary, and became gravely concerned at the prospect of
a spectacular French defeat at Dien Bien Phu. That April, President
Dwight Eisenhower publicly discussed two themes which, for the next
15 years, shaped American policy towards Southeast Asia. At a press
conference on 7 April, Eisenhower declared that the West could not
lightly accept defeat by communist forces in Vietnam, because it would
set off a chain reaction throughout the rest of the region, compromis-
ing efforts to build stable non-communist states. Eisenhower coined the
now notorious ‘domino theory’: ‘You have a row of dominoes set up,
you knock over the first one, and what will happen to the last one
is that it will go over very quickly. So you have a beginning of a dis-
integration that will have the most profound influences.” Combining
external aggression with internal subversion, communist forces would
push forward from their new base in Vietnam to overrun the rest of the
region, local communist parties drawing support and direction from the
PRC. The President also, however, accepted a condition already spelt out
by Congress regarding any military intervention to rescue the French
at Dien Bien Phu: the United States would not take on such a burden
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by itself. Other Western allies must also participate, in what came to
be called ‘united action’. That meant, in practice, the British, the only
other Western power with appreciable military strength in the region.
But the British government refused to participate in any military inter-
vention in Vietnam, so no such action ensued.’ The British reaction
exposed, instead, ominous disconnection between British and American
approaches towards the region.

The disconnect started with China. Whereas the United States treated
‘Red China’ as a menace beyond the pale and refused to recognise the
PRC or its government, the British pragmatically decided to accept an
accomplished fact and recognise both. London agreed the communist
Chinese were a major new Cold War threat to Western interests in
Asia, but strongly disagreed with the ‘emotional’ American reaction to
the new threat, and became concerned that American strategy would
provoke an avoidable wider war with China. The British preferred to
approach containment in Asia by a more varied strategy. The line had
to be held militarily in Korea, but the British drew from that conflict
the conclusion that the Western allies should avoid committing ground
forces to any conflict on the mainland of Asia in which the Chinese
could readily intervene. British forces were of course at that time heavily
committed to a counterinsurgency campaign against a communist chal-
lenge in Malaya, but geography allowed them to isolate this war from
outside military interference. The campaign was going well by 1954,
but was also expensively pinning down large British military forces. The
government led by Winston Churchill agreed that communist China
posed a serious threat to Western interests in Southeast Asia, but did not
think treating China as an enemy with whom a major war was unavoid-
able was the right way to contain that threat. They also felt the French
position in Vietnam was beyond rescue, and the best the Western allies
could now do was regroup and reorganise, using diplomacy to work out
a position on the mainland from where China could still be contained.
Senior American officers and officials became irritated by British reluc-
tance to ‘stand up to China’; senior British officers and officials became
worried by American readiness to do so. This however posed a truly
grave problem for the British, because they agreed the communist bloc
did pose an existential global threat to British and Western interests,
and knew that containment could not work, either in Europe or Asia,
without determined American commitment and leadership. How then
to manage this disagreement with the Americans over how to handle
‘Red China’, define British and Western vital interests in Southeast Asia,
and secure American commitment to protect such interests?'°
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The answer in 1954 was to accept the American warning expressed by
the ‘domino theory’, and use diplomacy both to regroup in mainland
Southeast Asia and anchor an American commitment to lead collec-
tive security in the region. That however required the British to make
commitments of their own. The French lost both Dien Bien Phu and
Vietnam, losses confirmed in Geneva by the conclusion, in July, of a
series of Agreements. Laos and Cambodia were recognised as indepen-
dent states. Vietnam was temporarily partitioned at the 17th parallel.
The northern region was handed over to the Viet Minh, the southern
region placed under the administration of the French-created State of
Vietnam. Arrangements were made for population transfers, military
withdrawals, international supervision, and for nationwide elections to
reunify the country to be held in two years. The American delegation
refused to engage the Chinese, glowered sullenly at the Agreements, did
not sign but ‘took note’ of them, and reserved full freedom to act if any
party violated any of them. The Soviet Union and the United Kingdom
agreed to act as supervising Co-Chairmen of the Conference, the Agree-
ments, and their implementation. The difference between British and
American positions was very thinly veiled indeed: the British regarded
the Agreements as a way to ease the Western Powers out of Vietnam
so as to regroup more effectively elsewhere, whereas the Americans
regarded the partition line drawn at the 17th parallel as the front line
on which to contain communism from spreading any further in South-
east Asia. To help conceal and manage this difference, the British added
to their commitments by spearheading the negotiation of a new, formal
collective security alliance to defend Southeast Asia.!!

The price for refusing to intervene in Vietnam was the Manila Pact,
leading to the Southeast Asia Treaty Organization (SEATO). While this
formalised an American commitment to leading collective security in
Southeast Asia, it did so by adding further hostages to fortune to a dis-
connect between the British and the Americans. SEATO was expressly
aimed to prevent the spread of communism in Southeast Asia, to
prevent it from being dragged into other disputes such as the feud
between Pakistan, which joined, and India, which did not. At American
insistence the organisation was loosely structured and members’ com-
mitment to respond to any challenge left vaguely defined, to preserve
maximum freedom of action. But the Americans also insisted on adding
a Protocol to the Pact which designated Vietnam, Laos and Cambodia
as Protocol States, which SEATO would consider defending if they suf-
fered any communist aggression, direct or indirect. Through SEATO, the
United States thus declared it would resist communist expansion into
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Southeast Asia by drawing the line at the partition line of Vietnam, but
would not make advance commitments as to how it might respond
to any situation, nor consider itself bound to respond to any non-
communist threat to Western interests. It also pledged to support its
allies, but clearly expected this to be reciprocal.'? That, for the British,
was the nub of the problem.

The United Kingdom needed SEATO. It was the only instrument that
linked the Americans to all other Western Powers with continuing inter-
ests in the region; it thus cut across the exclusion of the British from the
ANZUS Pact by which the signatories pledged to help defend Australia
and New Zealand from external aggression; it amplified a recent but
emphatic Australian and New Zealand shift in strategic priority towards
a strategy of ‘forward defence’ in Southeast Asia; it provided some assur-
ance the United States would not stand aloof if such challenges as the
Malayan Emergency got out of hand. But it also signalled American
intent to contain communism in mainland Southeast Asia by force
if necessary, and underlined the American diagnosis that Chinese-led
and inspired expansionism was the principal threat to the region. This
threatened to pull the British into any future trouble in Vietnam, an
area they were inclined to write off as compromised. It also challenged
a growing British view that the strongest political force in the region
was nationalism, not communism. It was a force they tended to define
as an irresistible rise in feelings of national aspiration or irredentism.
This force had to be handled very carefully, as its principal target was to
remove what was left of the European colonial presence in the region.
But it could also admittedly be exploited and hijacked by communism,
as happened in Vietnam. The British felt they were fending off just
such a threat in Malaya, where the Emergency officially came to an
end in 1960. But British authorities concluded that victory in Malaya
against the communists relied heavily on their willingness to accept
fundamental political change: to appease national feeling by decolonis-
ing Malaya and granting independence to the country in order to win
the war, not after the fact. The UK thus turned Malaya into an ally,
one which, with Singapore, remained the principal host of the contin-
ued British military presence in the region. Willingness to bend before
such ‘winds of change’ made the British more disposed to focus on
managing change as their most vital interest in Southeast Asia. When
armed struggle resumed in Vietnam in 1960, the British government
worried that the Americans were more determined to prevent rather
than guide change — and that American policy might push the Western
Powers onto the wrong side of emerging national feelings in the region,
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thereby playing into communist hands. The ‘common purpose’ was still
defined as containing communist China by protecting Southeast Asia
from further communist expansion — but it now seemed very vulnerable
to this potential disconnect between the two principal Western Powers
as to how best to manage communism, nationalism, decolonisation and
collective security.!?

One final British conclusion only deepened the problem. The British
government entered the 1960s determined to dismantle what was left of
their formal empire in an orderly manner, one that left behind friendly
successor states staying inside the Commonwealth and aligning with
the West in the Cold War - yet also to remain a military power with
global reach. But this was now dangerously expensive. Despite ‘never
having had it so good’ the British taxpayer’s economy struggled to adjust
to changing times while still supporting a triple burden in defence: an
independent nuclear deterrent; significant contributions to NATO and
collective security in the West; and strong forces deployed overseas,
protecting British and Western interests. British officials reminded them-
selves that the United States was the only other nation managing such a
triple burden, which it did with far greater resources. Searching inquiries
concluded by 1961 that British economic interests in Southeast Asia
were too small to warrant the large and expensive military forces sta-
tioned in the region to protect them, and by the end of the decade
the government would have to reduce this burden. The same inquiries
also indicated that changing political conditions in the region would
further undermine the British military presence, which might perhaps
become so unpopular to emerging nationalism as to become a liabil-
ity. This prompted preliminary considerations of possible alternative
bases, such as Australia. But finally, inquiries also indicated that the most
vital British interest of all, globally, was to preserve as much influence
on American policy and strategy as possible. This clinched decisions
in 1961 and 1962 to maintain military forces in Southeast Asia and
remain committed to SEATO - indeed, to deploy nuclear weapons to
the region to enhance that commitment.' In this context, the British
‘Grand Design’ to reduce burdens by midwifing Malaysia provoked trou-
ble with Indonesia — just as the Americans found themselves pulled more
deeply into the war in Vietnam.

The strategic partnership became strained by Indonesia’s decision
to ‘confront’ Malaysia when important American officials, especially
in the State Department, blamed the British for provoking what they
thought was an avoidable and dangerous conflict. The threats of January
escalated from April 1963 onwards into cross-border incursions by
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armed men into the Borneo territories, especially Sarawak. Indonesian
authorities denied their regular armed forces were involved, but openly
supported these operations by ‘the forces of liberation’, which emanated
from their province of Kalimantan. Summit diplomacy in June and July
then produced what appeared to be room for possible rapprochement.
The Prime Ministers, Presidents and Foreign Ministers of Malaya,
Indonesia and the Philippines agreed to stop publicly denouncing each
other, and to establish a loose confederation, called Maphilindo. The
three states would remain fully sovereign but, within this larger group-
ing, they would strive to operate by consultation and consensus, to
harmonise policies and stabilise the region. In return, Indonesia and
the Philippines would agree to accept the mergers that would create
Malaysia, provided ‘an independent and impartial survey’ confirmed
this was what the peoples of the Borneo territories wanted.'’> How-
ever, these agreements threatened to solve old problems by creating
new ones.

One provision of these Manila Agreements annoyed the Americans
and alarmed the British, by declaring that the three states would shoul-
der responsibility for ‘peace and security in the region’, would ‘abstain
from the use of arrangements of collective defence to serve the particu-
lar interests of any of the big powers’, and that foreign military bases in
the region could not be allowed to subvert national independence, and
must be regarded as ‘temporary in nature’. Such claims seemed aimed
directly at SEATO, and could be taken to indicate that sooner rather than
later Malaya/Malaysia would demand the British abandon their exten-
sive military facilities, especially in Singapore — the facilities that enabled
significant British and Commonwealth military forces to operate in the
region.'® And the Agreements themselves threatened to expose some
very real internal fault lines which made the whole Malaysia project so
delicate in the first place. The most serious was the awkward relationship
between Malay and Chinese communities in Malaya and Singapore.

The Chinese were a commanding majority in Singapore and, if com-
bined alone with Malaya, would make that community the plurality in
a larger Malaya. The threat of radical subversion in Singapore persuaded
Tunku Abdul Rahman, Prime Minister of Malaya, that it was safer to
include rather than exclude Singapore from the post-colonial state —
but this troubling ethnic and ideological friction also made it neces-
sary to include the Borneo territories and turn Malaya into Malaysia,
in order to contain communal friction by ensuring the Chinese did
not become numerous enough to challenge Malay political ascendancy.
The Chinese-dominated government of Singapore, led by Lee Kuan
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Yew and his People’s Action Party (PAP), could accept this, in return
for compensating economic and other advantages from merger into
Malaysia. Maphilindo, however, was a very different story. The Singapore
government adamantly rejected the concept, fearing that any such
confederation of the whole Malay archipelago would atomise scat-
tered Chinese diaspora minorities and compromise the very nature of
Singapore. There were also legitimate concerns about lukewarm public
opinion in the Borneo territories, which certainly went no further than
reluctantly being willing to accept Malaysia if the British insisted on
leaving. In this volatile situation the Singapore and British governments
insisted they would brook no delay, demanding Malaysia must be con-
summated as and when planned. Rightly concluding it was bound to
provoke a serious backlash whichever choice it made, the Malayan gov-
ernment gave in to intense British pressure and agreed to consummate
Malaysia as planned, in order to establish the entity before any addi-
tional strains could arise. This however clearly reneged on the Malayan
commitment to confirm the wishes of the people of Sarawak and British
North Borneo before Indonesia and the Philippines agreed to recog-
nise Malaysia.!” When Malaysia duly declared itself on 16 September,
before the Secretary General of the United Nations, U Thant, could
submit his report about public opinion in Borneo, Sukarno immedi-
ately denounced this as a slap in the face to Indonesia. The Indonesian
government refused to recognise Malaysia, severed relations with the
government in Kuala Lumpur, and palpably escalated confrontation
on all fronts, military, diplomatic, economic, propaganda and political.
It was this turn of events which provoked some senior American — and
Australian - officials to react in exasperation, and blame the British gov-
ernment for at the very least giving Sukarno a good excuse to stir up
trouble, if not for provoking the whole conflict by being impatient and
abrasive.'® These American reactions were also fuelled, however, by con-
siderations that did much to complicate this new and most unwelcome
challenge.

Those considerations revolved around American views of Indonesia,
and its role in international relations. The American government knew
it would be difficult if not impossible to secure and stabilise a decolonis-
ing Southeast Asia without a friendly or at least benign Indonesia. Sheer
size of population, territory, and potential economic wealth dictated
this, even without considerations of politics, ideology or Cold War.
Such considerations only made things more complicated. Separatist
stresses and strains provoked two regional rebellions in Indonesia in
1958 which the American Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), assisted
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by their British counterparts, unwisely supported. When these covert
operations were outed, Sukarno denounced them as proof the Western
Powers opposed his most important goal: to complete the territorial
unification of the archipelago, to cement Indonesia as a unified and ful-
filled state that would step forward to play a leading role in the region.
Sukarno’s ‘Guided Democracy’, announced in 1957, emphasised from
1959, looked like a turn away from democracy towards authoritarian-
ism at home, just as his leadership in what the Americans considered the
‘so-called’ Non-Aligned Movement looked like a dangerous tilt towards
the Communist bloc abroad. The Indonesian government emphasised
the ‘national revolution” and national unity, to consolidate the sprawl-
ing archipelago and its diverse populations into a unified and dynamic
state. Sukarno reinforced this vehement nationalism by emphasising the
need for social revolution at home, which brought him closer to the
growing Parti Kommunis Indonesia (PKI) [Communist Party of Indonesia],
and international revolution abroad - pitting ‘new emerging forces’, led
by Indonesia, against the ‘old established forces’ of the imperial and
colonial powers. This all looked and sounded distinctly anti-Western."?
Indonesian irredentism and revolution now focused on the for-
mer colonial master. Dutch economic interests were expelled. The
Indonesian government then demanded the transfer of the last remain-
ing Dutch controlled area in the archipelago, Western New Guinea, to
Indonesian sovereignty, and openly adopted a strategy of ‘Confronta-
tion’ to pressure the Dutch to withdraw. The strategy included large
scale purchases of sophisticated modern weaponry from a very will-
ing Soviet Union, to increase Indonesian naval, air and military power.
This turn to the Soviets alarmed the Western Powers, as did this new
strategy of ‘Confrontation’. The British FO defined the strategy as com-
bining ‘public invective, economic blockade, piracy, subversion, and
direct armed aggression’.?® Throw in relentless diplomatic pressure, in
all forums ranging from the UN to direct discussions with the adversary,
and this defined very well the modus operandi Sukarno and his colleagues
used to try to drive a wedge between the Dutch and their American
allies — and then later to try to disrupt the formation of Malaysia. The
Kennedy administration finally decided, in autumn 1961, to lean on the
Dutch, to accept what in practice would become Indonesian annexation
of the territory. JFK signed off on this policy because his administra-
tion was now very worried that Sukarno would drift completely into the
communist camp, at home and abroad, and turn Indonesia into a major
new Cold War adversary. This would be bad enough in its own right.
Meanwhile, however, the DRV resumed the armed struggle in Vietnam,



Brian P. Farrell 205

and the American government found itself pulled into a political and
military commitment to defend the partition line of 1954 and its ally
the Republic of Vietnam (ROV). The communist ‘insurgency’ in South
Vietnam coincided with renewed outbreaks of military and political
trouble in Laos. By the end of 1961 the situation in Indochina was seri-
ous enough to become the focal point of American Cold War concerns
in Asia. Should Indonesia now turn hostile, the combination seemed
likely to jeopardise the entire Western strategic position in Southeast
Asia.?!

Two prominent considerations rounded off the American approach
to this new regional problem. One was a widespread tendency to see
China as playing a driving role in both Vietnam and Indonesia, work-
ing through communist parties on the ground. The other was a pretty
strong feeling that Indonesian nationalism could be reinforced strongly
enough to head off this apparent turn towards communism, at home
and abroad. The American government decided to support the cre-
ation of Malaysia, as a legitimate expression of regional opinion - and
a probable Western ally. This recognised the fact that the Americans
wanted continued British support in the region, and the British were
committed to Malaysia. Not surprisingly the British complained about
continued American miscellaneous economic and military support for
Indonesia, after it escalated Confrontation. Such considerations limited
how far the Kennedy administration could go to try to mollify Sukarno
and his government. American officials duly warned the Indonesian
government, in increasingly blunt terms, that if it continued to ‘Con-
front’ Malaysia aggressively there would be serious consequences for
Indonesian-American relations.?> However, because many American
officials in Washington and Southeast Asia, especially the American
Ambassador in Jakarta, Howard Jones, believed the British had pro-
voked Sukarno, they felt he could still be prevented from drifting
into a communist embrace, at home and abroad, by continued polit-
ical engagement and economic inducement. Close professional and
personal ties between the TNI and the American Army also fuelled opti-
mism in American military circles that Indonesia could be kept ‘on
side’, because the TNI saw the PKI as a grave threat to their future
vision for Indonesia. This all made continued American engagement
with Indonesia seem necessary.

Unfortunately for Jones in particular, Jakarta did not respond as
desired. Judging by their public statements and actions, senior Army
officers seemed just as committed to Confrontation with Malaysia
as Sukarno, Subandrio, and the PKI, if perhaps for different reasons.
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Sukarno was not impressed by economic considerations, tilted closer to
the PKI, and continued to complain about the 1958 intervention, as well
as the Malaysia ‘slap in the face’. And the PKI leaned towards the PRC in
the ever more obvious feud between the Soviet Union and the PRC - a
feud defined to a large degree by Chinese calls for more aggressive policy
towards the West, especially in Asia. It thus seemed, by late 1963, that
Confrontation with Indonesia had the potential to provoke real trouble
between an American government, that now had a Cold War crisis in
Vietnam on its hands, and a British government that it might blame for
provoking Indonesia to turn hostile in that same Cold War.?* But fate
then intervened, as it often does.

On 19 October 1963 Alec Douglas-Home became Prime Minister
of the UK, when Harold Macmillan retired. On 2 November, Ngo
Dinh Diem was toppled by a coup in Saigon and murdered in the
process. On 22 November, JFK was assassinated in Dallas. These lead-
ership changes brought confusion to Southeast Asia and Lyndon Baines
Johnson (LBJ) to the White House. They also provoked reassessments of
British and American policy. After a false start, the British achieved what
they saw at the time as a real breakthrough, an agreement that cleared
the air and redefined a solid ‘common purpose’ between the allies in
Southeast Asia. All too soon, however, events exposed British policy for
the dangerous calculated risk it really was.

LBJ did not share his predecessor’s desire to be gentle with Sukarno
and Indonesia, but at first was not inclined to rock that boat until he
could settle in and test the waters. To do just that, he agreed to State
Department suggestions to send a high level emissary to try to bro-
ker a ceasefire between the warring parties in Confrontation, to allow
negotiations to resume. Playing the emotional card, the new adminis-
tration sent the Attorney General, Robert F. Kennedy, the late President’s
brother, to Asia in January 1964. Grinding their teeth behind closed
doors, the Malaysian and British governments agreed to a ceasefire — but
the agreement contained a crucial flaw that both made it unworkable
and opened a door for LBJ. The Malaysians, understandably, wanted
the ceasefire to be conditional on the withdrawal back across the bor-
der of all groups of armed men who had penetrated into their territory.
The Indonesians refused. Weeks of bickering over the issue ran both
the ceasefire and a subsequent round of negotiations between Foreign
Ministers into the ground.*

As the initiative visibly faltered, Douglas-Home visited Washington.
On 12 February 1964, the British delegation conferred with the President
and senior advisers at the White House. Secretary of State Dean Rusk
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told the President that ‘good progress had already been made by repre-
sentatives of the two governments in a common approach to Southeast
Asian problems’. The two heads of government then endorsed a piv-
otal agreement. The British would publicly support American policy in
Vietnam, which now included escalating military support to the new
government in Saigon. In return, the Americans would publicly support
British efforts to defend Malaysia against Indonesia. The public commu-
nique duly made the references, which in fact sealed a larger strategic
bargain. LB] accepted the British argument that Indonesia posed a threat
to larger Western interests, which must be met by containment more
than engagement. He also agreed that because Malaysia was a British
responsibility, the Americans would regard its defence as the principal
British contribution to the collective Western effort to contain Cold War
aggression in Southeast Asia. In return, they would regard British public
support for American efforts in Vietnam as sufficient.?®

This bargain did relieve some pressure on the British in their efforts
to defend Malaysia. But it also helped provoke Sukarno and Subandrio
into stepping up Confrontation, not backing away. And it created a very
dangerous situation. The agreement with LBJ to define the conflicts in
Southeast Asia as one connected and common problem, and to tackle
that problem by a division of labour and leadership, made British policy
a hostage to fortune in both Indonesia and Vietnam. And things did
not go as hoped in either situation. Worse, this all began to expose an
underlying British premise that ran dangerously contrary to the bargain
made in the White House.

The outline of the problem publicly appeared that same month,
February 1964, but from a different quarter. French President Charles
De Gaulle grandly announced that the only realistic solution to the Cold
War in Southeast Asia was to ‘neutralise’ the region. His rather broad but
emphatic argument rested on two rationales: that China was indeed the
root of the problem from the Western point of view; and that in main-
land Southeast Asia at least, if not all over the region, the combination
of national feeling and proximity to China meant that using Western
military power as the primary instrument of containment ultimately
could not succeed, and might well backfire. China should be engaged
diplomatically, to at least try to orchestrate wider agreements that would
expand on the 1962 Geneva Agreements to ‘neutralise’ Laos.?”” The New
Zealand government dismissed the arguments as naive. The Australian
government angrily reacted the same way. The American government
summed up a consensus: De Gaulle might well be expressing French
resentment at being pushed out of the region, and at best was naive
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about the ability of governments in the region to survive any politi-
cal compromises with communists, both internally and with the PRC.
The Commonwealth governments’ reactions were heavily influenced by
grave concern that any such change in Western strategy would shat-
ter their whole strategy of ‘forward defence’. The American government
regarded the Laos agreements as at best a holding action to freeze an
exposed position they could not easily maintain, not an example on
which to expand. After the sobering experience of Soviet political aggres-
sion through coalition manipulation and subversion in Eastern Europe,
in the late 1940s, precious few senior American decision makers were
prepared to agree that neutralising Southeast Asia might actually be a
viable strategy to contain communism - at best, the PRC would provide
enough support to local communist parties to help subvert and shatter
one state after another, from within. Shades of Czechoslovakia, Poland
and the whole Eastern bloc.?® In London, however, some people in high
places thought De Gaulle had a point.

By 1964 British governments, particularly permanent officials, were
closing in on two decades of continuous political decolonisation. That
accumulated experience persuaded many, especially in the Foreign
Office (FO), that the real force behind the ‘winds of change’ so famously
identified by Macmillan was the force of nationalism, especially aspi-
rations for national independence. National feeling, if not addressed,
could easily be channelled in hostile directions. The argument that true
and profound change could come only through expelling the economic
and social system built by the colonial power, as well as by regaining
control of government and administration, seemed all too attractive
all too often. Ho Chi Minh and the DRV might have been the poster
boy for this argument, but many British officials feared that this awk-
ward combination of a European overseas colonial presence, resting
on market economics, played all too readily into communist propa-
ganda. There was a palpable sense, certainly within the FO, that in the
battle for rhetorical appeal the communist position was dangerously
attractive to the emerging states of the Afro-Asian bloc, certainly as
long as European colonial interests were seen to be dominating aspir-
ing nations. This was the very dynamic Sukarno addressed with his
rhetoric about ‘old established’ against ‘new emerging’ forces. Turbulent
transitions in India, Malaya, Kenya, Cyprus and now Malaysia all fed
these developing British views. Southeast Asia seemed to stand out. The
British decision in 1954 to reject ‘united action’ rested on the diagnosis
that the French position in Indochina was doomed. Subsequent experi-
ence only expanded this view. By 1964, the British ‘official mind’ was
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clearly sceptical that direct Western military intervention was a viable
way to contain communist pressure in Southeast Asia. Local govern-
ments seemed too fragile, communist pressures too strong. While not
expressing this view as loudly as De Gaulle, a consensus slowly evolved
in Whitehall. In essence, the West was strategically off balance and over-
stretched in the region — at the very least north of Malaysia — and would
have to find another way to contain China and communism.*

The question was obvious: was there a realistic alternative? Events
on the ground now made this issue acute, in both Vietnam and Con-
frontation. By August 1964 the Johnson administration was committed
to open-ended military intervention to help protect the ROV from
the communist onslaught, internal and external. The commitment was
sealed by the Tonkin Gulf Resolution, securing strong Congressional
support for what amounted to a free hand for LBJ to wage war in
Vietnam.?° As for Indonesia, Sukarno now seemed ready to jump into
the Cold War against the West. Trying to salvage something from the
Kennedy ceasefire mission, Sukarno claimed that Kennedy told him the
United States would not support the British if they waged open war
against Indonesia. When it became clear this was not correct, and that
American policy was stiffening, Sukarno lashed out, publicly telling the
Americans in March ‘you can go to hell with your aid’. TNI combat units
reinforced border areas in Kalimantan, leading to increased cross-border
incursions into Sarawak in particular. Disturbed by such escalation, the
British not only sent their own reinforcements but authorised ground
forces in Borneo to carry out carefully controlled counter-incursions.
The aim was to maintain the initiative on the ground at the border by
disrupting Indonesian movements, and keeping the enemy off balance.
In this dangerous climate, Sukarno delivered a particularly incendiary
Independence Day speech on 17 August, calling for greater efforts to
‘crush Malaysia’, telling his people it was time to ‘live dangerously’.
He then launched the new campaign by bitterly denouncing American
behaviour in Southeast Asia as leading the hated ‘old established forces’,
and announcing the formation of an ‘axis’ aligning Indonesia with the
PRC, North Korea, and the DRV.3!

That same evening, miscellaneous forces controlled by the
BPI launched seaborne incursions against the west coast of Malaya itself,
crossing the Straits of Melaka by small groups travelling in sampans.
This launched Operation A, a campaign aimed to destabilise Malaya and
Singapore by internal subversion, stoked by external infiltration. These
raids were followed by an audacious airborne raid in which infiltrators
were dropped by parachute into northern Johor state on 2 September;
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another seaborne raid on the west coast followed on 29 October.
Indonesian agents also stirred up already tense communal feelings in
Singapore — possibly helping provoke race riots in July, certainly doing
so in a second round in September. Such pressure not only prompted
the British to send still larger reinforcements of ground, air and naval
forces, they also induced more concrete discussions, with the Americans
and Australians, about what now seemed to be a serious threat of open
war with Indonesia.*?

These discussions indicated that the American government now
realised the Commonwealth allies might have to escalate military oper-
ations against Indonesia, if Indonesian provocations did not abate. Rusk
actually encouraged contingency planning, advising the British that if
open war did erupt ‘we would be much better advised to do so in a
positive manner rather than to rely on defensive and long drawn out
scrapping in the jungle’.?®* But what seemed arguably justified in the
disputed territories of Borneo looked like naked aggression against the
established sovereignty of Malaya and Singapore. The raids backfired
badly by alienating world opinion, undermining Indonesia’s diplomatic
campaign to denounce Malaysia as a neo-colonial front. This made
Sukarno even angrier. Combining his stronger rhetoric with the new
front opened by Operation A, Far East Command argued that it must be
prepared to face a possible surprise Indonesian strike against their vital
air and naval bases in Singapore and Malaya. A much larger war, one the
British government and its military advisers emphatically did not want
to fight, seemed dangerously close.

This escalation in both Vietnam and Indonesia fostered a sense of
crisis in the region, which to some degree drew the British and their
Western allies closer together, at least regarding contingency planning.
But the strain of sending such powerful forces to Southeast Asia pro-
voked concerns that cut across department lines in Whitehall. The
Treasury blanched at the increased cost. The FO fretted at the greater
danger of war in the region. And the newly unified Ministry of Defence
worried about the need to drain both the strategic reserve, and forces
committed to NATO, just to be able to deter, or if necessary defeat,
Indonesian armed forces that could now deploy sophisticated Soviet-
produced weapons. Did the danger of wider war offset any gain from
greater American sympathy? Before these new problems could be closely
evaluated, however, fate once again chose October to intervene.

On 15 October the Labour Party returned to government in the UK,
after 13 years in opposition. The next day, the PRC successfully deto-
nated its first nuclear weapon. The British election brought to power a
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government hanging on by the precarious majority of four seats in the
House of Commons, leading a party hungry for innovation at home but
divided over how to relate to the rest of the world. The Chinese nuclear
test, coming earlier than expected, helped focus the Johnson adminis-
tration’s growing concern over the struggle to contain communism in
Southeast Asia. The result was a collision between the efforts of a new
British government to maintain a smaller, yet still effective, strategic role
for Britain beyond Europe and NATO, and the Johnson administration’s
decision to wage war in Vietnam, as the focal point for collective security
and containment in Southeast Asia. The British government resorted to
quadripartite discussions to try to persuade their allies to underwrite a
smaller, yet still acceptable, British military presence in the region. They
failed.

The new British government led by Harold Wilson took office deter-
mined to stand firm in Confrontation, and maintain Britain’s wider
role in the region and the world. Wilson and his Defence Secretary,
Denis Healey, both championed this agenda. But Wilson also initiated,
not unreasonably for a party so long out of office, a full scale review
and reconsideration of British policies, defence, economic and foreign.
From these discussions between ministers, officials and departments
in London, as well as diplomats and military advisers abroad, there
emerged what became an annual effort to resolve a cardinal problem:
how to harmonise effective policies to reinvigorate the economy, and
erase the current account deficit in the balance of payments in trade,
yet still meet British strategic commitments. The central theme became a
recurring Defence Review, which evolved in stages. Departments battled
over how to forge an overall British policy. That policy was then dis-
cussed with the UK’s closest allies, to try to persuade them to accept and
align accordingly. The main problem was clear: the connection between
the current account deficit and the strength of the currency on the
one hand, and strategic commitments on the other.*> This could not be
resolved without working out effective agreements with the Americans.
And it became most acute over Southeast Asia.

By spring 1965 the British government was ready to start selling
its changing defence policy to its closest allies. Three fundamental
principles were identified, as the basis for this revised policy. First in
importance was cost. The Treasury successfully argued that the best way
to reduce burdens the British economy should no longer bear was to
impose a flat absolute ceiling on total defence spending. That ceiling
was expressed as annual defence spending not more than £2 billion
by 1970 as calculated in current value, a reduction from the previous
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government’s readiness to spend £2.4 billion every year. This arbitrary
approach, based on total financial capability rather than overall strategic
need, had the virtue of being very clear. But it also forced Whitehall to
decide just what to cut, and why. And such decisions could not be made
without arguing about strategic priorities. That led to the second fun-
damental principle: henceforth, the United Kingdom would no longer
accept any unilateral military commitment against any other power that
could deploy sophisticated weapon systems. British armed forces would
only fight alongside capable allies. The third principle was that British
bases would no longer be maintained in places where the local political
climate did not support their presence.?® All three principles were heav-
ily influenced by Confrontation with Indonesia, and all bore directly on
any future British military role in Southeast Asia.

The real problem posed by Confrontation was not so much the mili-
tary strain of fighting this low intensity undeclared war against a volatile
but disorganised foe, but rather the military deterrent required to pre-
vent the conflict from escalating to open war. British military strategy
for the war at hand called for maintaining the initiative and keeping the
enemy off balance by aggressive covert cross-border counter-incursions
into Kalimantan. This required larger and more intensively trained and
prepared ground forces, as well as an extensive and expensive array
of support to keep them mobile and responsive, drawing heavily for
example on helicopter and transport aircraft units. But in order to cope
with the credible danger of escalation to open war, against a TNI whose
sheer size — including some 132 infantry battalions — posed a real
threat, as well as an air force equipped with modern Soviet-supplied jet
bomber and fighter aircraft, and a navy that deployed Soviet-supplied
submarines, frigates and missile patrol craft, the British government
felt compelled to reinforce FEC strongly enough to allow it to pre-
vail in any scenario. This amounted, by spring 1965, to more than
63,000 personnel deployed in theatre, a larger force than the suppos-
edly higher priority British Army of the Rhine forces committed to
NATO. By that time - counting only British and Gurkha units com-
mitted to the Confrontation theatre of operations, thus excluding the
Hong Kong garrison plus Australian and New Zealand units operating
under its direction — FEC had under its operational control 12 infantry
battalions, 15 RAF combat and transport squadrons, five Army and Navy
helicopter squadrons, and 13 major surface combat vessels, including
two aircraft carriers. By comparison, the combined total of units then
committed to NATO or in reserve in the United Kingdom amounted to
21 infantry battalions, 47 combat and transport squadrons, four Army
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and Navy helicopter squadrons — none left in Germany - and 32 major
surface combat vessels, including only one aircraft carrier. FEC had more
than doubled in size, in order to deter Indonesian escalation.?”

Such expensive concentration of force turned FEC into the most
financially costly British overseas military commitment, as well as drain-
ing the strategic reserve and drawing important resources, such as
helicopter squadrons, away from NATO forces. This compromised the
UK'’s ability to take on any other serious military commitment, as long as
it was required to maintain such a strong deterrent to protect Malaysia.
And it all happened as a result of Indonesia’s reaction to the ‘Grand
Design’ exit strategy meant to reduce the British military burden in
Southeast Asia, while at the same time securing British military facilities
in the region in friendly territory. The best laid plans.... So something
now had to give. The plan was to use the palpable consequences of Con-
frontation to persuade the allies the British military role in the region
must change and they must help, not just agree — whether they liked it
or not.

The persuasion campaign really began when Wilson led a large del-
egation to Washington, DC, in December 1964, to consult in person
with a safely re-elected LB]. The British Prime Minister got straight to the
point: ‘Our main purpose was to make clear our defence problems and to
prepare the ground for further more detailed discussions; this was estab-
lished.” This was correct — but. Wilson made the connection between
defence spending overseas and the current account balance of payments
problem, stressed the need to revitalise the British economy and keep
the pound sterling strong, and made the point about Britain’s strate-
gic overstretch. Reporting after the fact to his New Zealand counterpart,
Keith Holyoake, Wilson then spelt out the crux of the matter:

I said that we wanted to secure the necessary reductions in our overall
defence expenditure in cooperation with the United States and our
other allies, by a rather more equitable sharing of the burden than
there is at present. We wanted, therefore, to discuss with them how
they might contribute in such a cooperative enterprise.

The British Prime Minister summarised his report optimistically, noting
‘This was only the first stage in a continuing process of consultation,
and I feel very satisfied that we have opened up a fruitful dialogue
with the Americans.”*® The optimism was however at best premature.
Wilson certainly got the American President’s attention, establishing
three points in the process: the British needed American help to
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make necessary changes in defence and economic policy; because these
changes affected American interests they expected support; but in order
to make such changes effective they would consult in detail with the
American government, before making final decisions. Wilson was right
to assume the Americans were sympathetic about British economic and
fiscal concerns, but badly misread the real American concern regarding
defence.

At the White House, Rusk pressed Wilson hard to maintain Britain’s
global military role and presence, calling it a force multiplier that helped
the United States project its own power. Wilson’s ready agreement that
he intended to do so suggested the basis of a good consensus. But when
LBJ cautiously suggested it would be helpful if the British could deploy
a token military force to help the war effort in South Vietnam, Wilson
parried the request by making two points. The British were fully pinned
down by Confrontation, which, as agreed, was their principal contri-
bution to collective security in the area. And as regards Vietnam, the
British position as Co-Chair of the Geneva Agreements had to be pre-
served, so that it might be useful should negotiations become possible
or desirable. To avoid conflict of interest, the United Kingdom should
refrain from even token official involvement. The public communique
of 9 December seemed satisfactory:

the President and the Prime Minister recognised the particular impor-
tance of the military effort which both their countries are making
in support of legitimate governments in South-East Asia, particu-
larly in Malaysia and South Vietnam, which seek to maintain their
independence and resist subversion.

But the message concealed more than it revealed. LB] was by now
personally committed to breaking the communist effort to destroy
South Vietnam, but, responding to growing domestic political pressures,
sought ever more earnestly to legitimise the increasing American mil-
itary burden there by securing visible coalition military support. The
President was carefully briefed by his advisers, who informed him that
while Wilson’s government was eager to find ways to maintain a British
military role east of Suez, early indications suggested they were thinking
more of an arms-length role emphasising naval and air forces — whereas
what the American government most needed was tangible proof of
‘united action’ on the ground, at the sharp end. Wilson did not oppose
American policy in Vietnam, but realised there was neither public nor
official support in the United Kingdom for sending in ground forces, and
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worried that American escalation might put his government in a diffi-
cult political position at home. Johnson kept his patience, which lulled
Wilson into thinking the President was not really distressed by either
the British refusal to send a token force or their effort to shield behind
the Co-Chair role, to keep the request at bay.?* All the Prime Minister
really did was alert the Americans to the fact that this new British gov-
ernment was going to be making major changes they did not really like,
but probably not offering anything they wanted in return. And if Con-
frontation either escalated, as then seemed possible, or ended, which
sooner or later had to happen, what then?

Because the answer to that question depended so heavily on the
war in Vietnam, it was just as well for that first summit meeting that
Wilson did not spell out, in any detail, the underlying political ratio-
nale now guiding British deliberations regarding Southeast Asia. That
rationale was summarised in a memorandum presented by the FO to
the Defence and Overseas Policy Committee (OPD), the inner circle of
senior Cabinet ministers which steered defence and foreign policy, in
mid-November. The paper represented the distilling of years of delibera-
tions by officials, both anticipating and responding to events, over what
to do regarding Southeast Asia. Traces of 1954, let alone the reviews of
1961, stand out sharply in its paragraphs. That underlines an important
point: what the Wilson government went on to overhaul for the next
two years relied heavily on themes already well-crafted before it came
into office. When the OPD accepted the paper as written, the FO justi-
fiably construed this to indicate broad agreement. The paper was used
accordingly as a basis for subsequent discussions, in London and South-
east Asia, about ‘British Policy Towards South-East Asia’, its title. The
13 page paper was summarised by a ten-part conclusion. The real mes-
sage however was two-fold: the United Kingdom could not abandon a
strategic role in Southeast Asia, but the Western allies must drastically
change their approach to collective security in the region — and the con-
junction of these two points should shape changes in British policy and
strategy.*’

The paper summarised the argument that the British must remain
committed to Southeast Asia as follows: (my paraphrasing as well as direct
quotes)

Southeast Asia did not matter economically to the UK but did matter
politically, for three reasons: it was threatened by communist aggres-
sion and subversion, which if successful would compromise Western
global security; Australia and New Zealand would be compromised
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by any collapse in the region, and as ‘old Commonwealth allies’
they remained a vital British interest; but above all, because the
region mattered to the Americans the British absolutely must ‘make
a respectable contribution’, in order to retain any influence on
American policy. Retaining such influence was essential, otherwise
the UK could not ‘keep our position as a world power and the United
States’ principal partner’. And that role underpinned UK security
itself. Britain could not lose American confidence.

But the whole Western approach to collective security in the region must
change. That argument went as follows:

In the long run the only way to keep communism at bay from the
region was to neutralise it within the Cold War, by either tacit or
formal agreement. Relying on Western military forces would alienate
local nationalism sooner or later; but regional Non-Alignment would
orient local political feeling against communism, or at the very least
against Chinese dominance, just as predictably.

The problem must however be nuanced, otherwise changes in Western
policy could do more harm than good. The gist of that final argu-
ment was:

The French were right about the long run, but not about the moment;
Western military power must stand firm until the correlation of forces
stabilised. Once they did, Western policy should distinguish between
Continental and Archipelago Southeast Asia, for strategic purposes.
Continental Southeast Asia was too vulnerable to Chinese inter-
vention, so Western military commitment there would ultimately
backfire; the aim should be to see the eventual emergence of gov-
ernments non-threatening to both Cold War blocs. Island Southeast
Asia was less vulnerable, but must still become more cohesive in order
to withstand communist subversion. To help make that happen,
Western military forces and bases must sooner or later withdraw.

The paper could not, however, persuasively apply its ultimate rationale
to the crises of the moment. On Confrontation there was reasonable
clarity: the fight must be seen through to success, before British forces
could withdraw from the region; but once it was, they should go. But on
Vietnam it was helpless. Noting that a head on collision had developed
between American commitment and communist aggression, it could
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only conclude, pathetically, ‘but it is not at all impossible that, with
time, this situation could change’. Once it did, the region should be
neutralised and Western military forces withdrawn.

De Gaulle would have been as receptive to this paper as LB] would
have been infuriated by it. But the only new or even recent considera-
tions it contained were the nuances regarding the situations in Vietnam
and Confrontation. The ‘big ideas’ were all familiar: Indochina, or at
least Vietnam, could no longer be saved; but the region could not
be abandoned; so Western policy must change, by agreement and in
lockstep, as soon as possible. Familiar too were other principles now
emerging through British discussions at home and abroad. As early as
February 1959 the Macmillan government reviewed a lengthy paper dis-
cussing ‘The Prospects of Retaining our Present Bases in South-East Asia’.
Much of it could have been recycled in 1964: military planning must be
coordinated and improved, through ongoing quadripartite discussions
with the Americans, Australians and New Zealanders; British military
forces should plan and prepare to operate only as part of a coalition, not
on their own or even necessarily in the lead; the British strategic role in
the region should stress naval, air and nuclear forces over ground forces;
American confidence must be retained; local political conditions would
sooner or later jeopardise British bases in Malaya and Singapore; the log-
ical alternative was to relocate British forces and facilities to Australia,
to underpin a reoriented collective security commitment to the region.
Clearly, the Wilson defence overhaul was now being sifted through ideas
long percolating in Whitehall, brought closer to boiling point by the
strains of Confrontation and the stress of Vietnam.*!

Australian Prime Minister Sir Robert Menzies grew concerned about
indications the new British government was considering major changes
to collective security in Southeast Asia. Such indications seemed all the
more worrying given developments in January 1965. Sukarno osten-
tatiously withdrew Indonesia from the UN, celebrating his ‘axis’ with
Beijing; less dramatically but of more direct concern, more TNI com-
bat units deployed within striking distance in both Kalimantan and
Sumatra. The military moves provoked the British government to autho-
rise FEC to conduct more aggressive covert cross-border incursions in
Borneo, and approve contingency plans for destroying Indonesian air
and seapower by sustained strategic bombing, should open war break
out. They also provoked the Australian and New Zealand governments
to commit combat forces to Borneo, to reinforce their Commonwealth
allies; their forces had already engaged Indonesian raiders in Malaya.
Meanwhile Menzies and his government were seriously considering
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committing Australian combat forces to Vietnam. This spike in tension
prompted Menzies to suggest the four Western allies should urgently
review the situation ‘on the political level’, in order to ‘get the balance
and priorities right in Southeast Asia’. Quiet discussion along the side-
lines of the state funeral for Winston Churchill at the end of January
pointed towards the SEATO Council meeting, scheduled for London
in early May. The Foreign Ministers and Secretary of State could hide
behind this wider gathering to have their own private discussions,
unobtrusively.*?

Subsequent events made such a meeting seem useful. At the policy
level, British deliberations moved along. But in the region, communist
attacks on American installations in South Vietnam provoked President
Johnson to initiate, in March, Operation Rolling Thunder, a strategic
bombing offensive involving systematic air strikes on multiple targets
in North Vietnam. This was significant escalation from the retaliation
strikes the Americans had already delivered. Its aim was to make it
impossible for North Vietnam to continue sending men and materiel
south to wage its war to destroy South Vietnam.* This direct attack
on North Vietnam provoked instant and lasting controversy in many
countries, including the United Kingdom. For the British this turned
out in fact to be a game changer, although such a judgment can really
only be made in retrospect. Both the Labour Party and the country as
a whole were so aroused by the American bombing campaign against
North Vietnam that this feeling imposed, henceforth, a political live
wire regarding Vietnam, one Wilson dared not cross. LBJ provided what
looked like some wiggle room in April, when he publicly declared
that the American war aim was to convince the DRV government the
United States would not allow the ROV to be destroyed, and therefore
to resume negotiations about a political settlement. This allowed the
Wilson government to hold out the prospect of playing some useful
role in such negotiations, as a basis for British policy regarding Vietnam.
On the other hand the Australian government stepped up the pres-
sure by declaring, on 29 April, that it would commit an Australian
infantry battalion to military operations in Vietnam.** All this made
quiet quadripartite talks seem timely indeed. Wilson helped confirm
the meeting by urging LBJ, in late April, to support ‘a greater degree
of four-power planning in relation to the defence of Asia and the Far
East generally’. The President’s broad agreement enabled just such ‘infor-
mal’ discussions to take place in London in early May, covered by the
SEATO Council meeting.*
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This gathering was the first of five rounds of high level but quiet
quadripartite discussions, stretching from May 1965 into October 1966,
through which the four Western allies tried, and failed, to weave
changes in British policy into that ‘deep community of purpose and
long practice of cooperation’ that JFK publicly hailed in 1962. From this
first quiet four-cornered gathering in London the roots of the problem
could clearly be seen. The British wanted to step back militarily from
Southeast Asia as soon as possible — their allies however were doing the
opposite.

The discussion in London on the evening of 2 May reached only two
agreements: that the strategic chal